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Message from the Chair and Lead Governor 2016/17 

Welcome to the Trust’s annual report for the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. 
 
This has been a year of increasing challenge and considerable change for the NHS as a 
whole and also for our Trust.  There are increasing demands across all our services as well 
as significant financial and workforce pressures; however, as a Trust we believe we are in a 
good position to weather these challenges and to be resilient maintaining our focus on the 
quality and continuous improvement of the services we deliver.  Throughout the year, we 
can all be proud that we have maintained our values at the forefront of what we do.  We trust 
that our reputation amongst the people who use our services, our staff and our stakeholders 
and partners is testament to this. 
 
Our staff and the work they do are our most important assets and, in a climate where the 
NHS comes in for much media criticism, what often goes unreported is the fantastic work 
people do on a day-to-day basis and the real difference this makes to people’s lives.  What 
we achieve is based on the loyalty, hard work and endeavour of our staff, working in 
partnership with service users, carers and volunteers.  For this we offer heartfelt thanks to all 
our staff.  We find it particularly heartening when they are recognised for the work they do 
and the following is just a small selection of where our staff have been recognised nationally: 
 
• Our women’s pathway team was chosen as the winner in the ‘Improving care through 

innovation or improvement’ category of Yorkshire and Humber Academic Health Science 
Network’s Innovation, Improvement and Impact awards. 

• The Kirklees police liaison scheme was judged by the West Yorkshire Police assistant 
chief constable’s panel and awarded a special commendation. The scheme was also 
shortlisted in Health Services Journal (HSJ) awards for innovation in mental health. The 
police liaison scheme involves mental health nurses working alongside officers at Halifax 
and Huddersfield police stations to recognise the signs of mental illness.  

• Sheffield Smokefree service was shortlisted in the ‘improving value through innovative 
financial management or procurement category’ of the HSJ Value in Healthcare awards. 

• Kirklees recovery college was commended for its volunteering by being given the 
Kirklees Volunteering Quality Award. 

• Katie Yockney, practice educator in our end of life care team, picked up the palliative/end 
of life care gong in the regional Great British Care Awards 2016.  

• Kate Markham, a health visitor from Barnsley was nationally recognised for her work to 
provide an inclusive and supportive health visiting service to vulnerable, hard to reach 
families in the district by being the shortlisted in the ‘Celebrating Public Health 
Excellence 2016’, which celebrates unsung public health heroes who make a difference 
every day to health and wellbeing in their communities. 

• RightCare Barnsley won a HSJ ‘Value in Healthcare’ award in the clinical support 
services category. 

• The Trust was recognised for customer-centred care re-accredited against the 
Government’s Customer Service Excellence (CSE) standard for the fourth year in a row.  

• Calderdale and Wakefield (Briarfields) electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) units were 
accredited for 8th consecutive year by ECT Accreditation Service (ECTAS) following a 
review by specialist practitioners throughout the UK. 

• Kirklees memory service was reaccredited following an interim review up to January 
2018. 

 
This year has seen changes throughout our organisation, including for our Trust Board.  In 
2015/16 our Chief Executive, Steven Michael retired and Alex Farrell stood in as Interim 
Chief Executive until the appointment of a successor, Rob Webster from May 2016.  Alex 
herself retired in May 2016. During this period, Jon Cooke stood in as Interim Director of 
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Finance until the appointment of Mark Brooks from 1 June 2016.  Through robust interim 
arrangements, we have managed the transition period effectively and efficiently.  Thank you 
to both Steven and Alex for their years of service. 
 
We also want to take this opportunity to thank all of our governors for the work they do and 
the excellent contribution they make and support they provide.  They continue to become 
more and more involved in the governance and accountability of the Trust (see page 64).  
During the year we appointed a new lead governor and offer the previous lead governor, 
Michael Smith from Calderdale, our very best wishes and grateful thanks on behalf of our 
Trust. 
 
We believe we are open, honest and transparent as an organisation and welcome external 
challenge. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) carried out a full inspection of the trust in 
March 2016 and rated it overall as ‘Requires Improvement.  A re-inspection took place in 
November 2016 to January 2017 and the trust has now received an overall ‘Good’ rating.  
Part of their immediate feedback during both visits was that they found our staff to be, 
without exception, kind, caring and compassionate.  It is something of which we are proud 
and that we have always been confident of but it gives us immense pride to have it 
confirmed independently. 
 
The second CQC report following the re-inspection, was published in April 2017 and will help 
to accelerate the programme of improvements we are in the process of making, as well as 
bring new insights into areas that we need to focus on.  This will help shape our quality 
improvements for the coming year.  We know that there is a lot to do – our annual report and 
Quality Accounts show how we are getting better and the areas where we must keep 
pushing.  As a self-determining, confident organisation, we will continue doing what is right 
for our patients, carers and the people we serve as well as for our staff.  We will only 
succeed by working together with our partners across the health, social care and other 
sectors.  While it isn’t mandatory we will be bringing key partners back together for a Quality 
Summit in June 2017 as we believe it would be beneficial to consider the outcome of the re-
visit collectively and to co-produce our action plan for continuous improvement.  In 2016/17, 
our internal auditor undertook a review of the action taken against areas identified for 
development, which received significant assurance. 
 
In 2016/17 in what is a very challenging financial climate we achieved a small surplus of 
£0.8m before “one-off” items.  Achievement of this control total enabled us to receive 
additional funding from the Department of Health of £2.5m.  The reason our Trust targets a 
financial surplus is to invest in improving and developing our services.  Through our capital 
programme we invested in the creation of community hubs in Halifax, Pontefract and 
Wakefield which are fully open and utilised.  Our Laura Mitchell health and wellbeing centre 
in Halifax won an award for the innovative design of their building, in collaboration with IRV 
Construction.  Work is also underway on the £16.1m investment in non-secure in-patient 
services on the Wakefield site which the Board approved in 2015/16. 
 
Looking ahead, we face significant challenges.  We remain confident that we have a strong 
future and that we will continue to enable people to reach their potential and live well in their 
community. 
 
Thank you for taking the time to read this report; we hope you find it interesting and 
informative. 

  
Ian Black   Andrew Hill 
Chair    Lead Governor 2016/17  Date: 25 May 2017 
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Section 1 – Performance Report 

Section 1.1 Overview of performance 

Review of 2016/17 – Chief Executive Reflections 
Section 1 of this report reflects a challenging and successful year for the Trust.  We have 
continued to work towards and achieve our objectives, putting our values at the heart of 
everything we do.  This is reflected in an improving picture on quality, staffing, performance 
and the achievement of our financial control total. I would highlight: 
 
This year has seen changes throughout our organisation, including for our Board.  
We have seen changes to the Executive and Non Executive and managed this well. In 
2016/17, an internal audit was also conducted on the Trust’ corporate governance 
arrangements which received significant assurance. 
 
We improved the quality of care and were re-rated as ‘Good’ by the CQC.  In June 
2016, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) rated 70% of the domains within our 14 service 
lines as ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’, with an overall rating of ‘Requires Improvement’. They 
revisited us from November 2016–January 2017. They found improvements and in 2017 
rated 90% of domains were ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’, with our overall rating changing to 
‘Good’. The CQC noted that all staff were seen to be kind, caring and compassionate – as 
well as respectful and warm; and care plans were personalised and holistic, with good 
evidence of patient involvement and participation. 
 
We became a better place to work with improvement in staff surveys (see page 60).  Our 
2016 NHS Staff Survey results showed statistically significant improvements in our 
procedures for reporting incidents and communication with senior management.  Internally, 
we improved communication and engagement with our staff with 83% of staff felt like they 
were kept up to date with what’s happening across the Trust (57% in 2015). 
 
We came together when we needed to focus on a particular issue, such as our success 
in meeting our flu vaccination target. We went from 33% of staff vaccinated in 2015/16 to 
77% in 2016/17 which put us in the top 5 most improved Trusts across the country.  
 
We came together in the face of adversity, such as the fire on our Trinity 2 ward in 
November 2016. The CQC commented that “the Trust, staff teams and all the support 
services had worked together to ensure that the service continued with minimum disruption 
in a challenging new environment”. 
 
We came together to improve when pressures in the system mounted, such as the 
significant increase in out of area placements. Working collectively across mental health 
services resulted in the management of significant pressure and a return to a reasonable 
level of performance.  
 
We focused on being ready for tomorrow with major developments, significantly 
improving our infrastructure through the development of new service hubs in the heart of our 
communities, including Drury Lane in Wakefield and Baghill House in Pontefract. We also 
provided better support for agile working across the organisation and changed the way 
thousands of our staff work every day. 
 
We won bids and tenders and worked in partnership, moving towards a broader, system-
wide role for many services under our transformation programme as highlighted under 
service developments (see page 22). 
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We gained recognition for many of our excellent services and initiatives, including 
awards as highlighted in the message from the Chair and Lead Governor (see page 5).  We 
were endorsed by national bodies with our autism friendly environments checklist endorsed 
by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and our Mental Health 
Museum was made an affiliate of The Happy Museum scheme, funded by Arts Council 
England.  We also shared our best practice with our Barnsley Integrated Community 
Equipment Service was highlighted on BBC’s The One Show, running a sell-out conference 
on harmful sexual behaviour in young people, and showcasing Creative Minds at the Health 
and Care Innovation Expo, and as part of the national Realising the Value programme.  
 
We supported an innovative and creative environment with our Recovery Colleges, 
Museum, Creative Minds programmes and the development of the crowd sourcing platform 
“i-hub” across the Trust. 
 
We faced great challenges and remained resilient. Services were decommissioned or 
transferred out of the trust, performance was affected by significant pressures, costs and 
finances were stressed and temporary staffing remains an issue. We managed all of this and 
the key issues and risks identified in the following section. 
 
The whole organisation played a part and achieved our control total surplus of £750k.  
We received an extra £250k Sustainability and Transformation Fund monies because we 
achieved our control total, along with a £750k bonus from NHS Improvement.  
 
This whole report is a testament to the staff who work here and what they do each and 
every day. 
 

Brief history of the Trust 
We are a specialist NHS foundation trust providing community, mental health and learning 
disability services to the people of Barnsley, Calderdale, Kirklees and Wakefield.  We also 
provide medium and low secure services across Yorkshire and the Humber. 
 
The Trust was established in April 2002.  The period since has seen great change, growth 
and achievement.  In May 2009, we became a foundation trust.  Foundation trusts are still 
part of the NHS and operate according to NHS principles (free care, based on need, not 
ability to pay) but they are run locally and are accountable to their members. 
 
In April 2011, we moved from being a specialist mental health and learning disability provider 
to an integrated and partnership-based provider of community and mental health services.  
This followed the transfer of a range of services to the Trust in Barnsley, Calderdale and 
Wakefield. 
 

Purpose and activities 
Over 1 million people live in Barnsley, Calderdale, Kirklees and Wakefield across urban and 
rural communities from a range of diverse backgrounds.  We aim to match our communities’ 
needs with locally sensitive and efficient services.  We work with other local NHS 
organisations to provide comprehensive health care to people in our area.  We also work 
closely with local authorities (social care) and with other government departments and 
voluntary organisations.  Working in partnership is very important to us and is vital if we are 
to continue to deliver high quality services for local people.  Working in partnership also 
means working with our members, who have a say in how we run the Trust and how they 
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wish our services to be developed.  Around 14,600 local people (including many of our staff) 
are currently members.   
 
The Trust now employs around 4,475 staff and, to provide the flexible, individually tailored 
care that local people have told us they want, we provide services from over 50 main sites.  
The majority (98%) of the care we provide is in the local community, working with people in 
their own homes or in community-based locations.  Our community-based services are 
supported by in-patient services for people who need care or assessment in a hospital 
setting.  In a typical month we make more than 40,000 mental health and learning disability 
contacts and 45,000 community health service contacts. 
 

Our mission, values and strategic goals 
Our mission is to help people reach their potential and live well in their community.  To 
do this, we will: 
 
• focus on recovery and self-care, working in partnership through, for example, our 

recovery colleges, Creative Minds and Altogether Better programmes; 
• deliver service transformation and efficiency, reviewing our service offers to ensure we 

offer high quality, consistency and efficiency; 
• make sure our support services are efficient and effective, for example, by ensuring we 

make best use of technology and invest in our estate; and 
• work in partnership, offering integrated services based around local communities. 
 
Our values underpin our mission and support us to create the common sense of purpose, 
uniting our services and our staff.  They guide us each day to ensure we provide the best 
possible care for local people and underpin the approach of our staff in providing this care.  
Our values reflect the openness and transparency of the organisation, clearly and succinctly. 
 
• We put people first and in the centre and recognised that families and carers 

matter. 
• We are respectful and honest, open and transparent, building trust and acting with 

integrity. 
• We improve and aim to be outstanding so we can be relevant today, and ready 

for tomorrow. 
 
Our strategic approach is built on our values and on the partnerships we foster and develop 
with the people who use our services, our staff, our stakeholders and our wider partners.  It 
is founded on the principles of developing and delivering person-centred approaches to our 
services tailored to individual need, providing greater control for individuals with an emphasis 
on recovery and positive outcomes for services users.  This includes developing and 
delivering improved quality at reduced cost, providing care closer to home based on 
innovative models of service provision, which use research-based best practice as their 
basis leading to safe, effective and efficient services.  Our three strategic objectives for 
2016/17 were: 
 
1. Improve people’s health and wellbeing 
2. Improve the quality and experience of all that we do 
3. Improve our use of resources 
 
Partnership is essential to our mission and vision.  We operate across five local clinical 
commissioning groups and four local authority areas, as well as regionally across Yorkshire 
and the Humber for our low and medium secure (forensic) services.  Our main service areas 
reflect the NHS single definition of quality, that care should be effective and safe, and 
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provide as positive an experience as possible.  Nationally, parity of esteem (where mental 
health and physical health care are seen as equal) for people with mental health needs is 
recognised as a priority.  This and the need to work with people in a holistic recovery-
focused way are central to the way we deliver and develop services. 
 

Key issue and risks 
The key risks that impact on the Trust in the delivery of its objectives are set out in detail in 
the Annual Governance Statement. The Board Assurance Framework, Organisational Risk 
Register with mitigating actions are reported to Trust Board on a quarterly basis set in the 
context of the Boards risk appetite statement. Other key issues identified through the 
quarterly Board Investment appraisal reports and PESTLE (Political, Economic, Sociological, 
Technological, Legal, Environmental) and SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, 
and Threats) analysis are set out below: 
 
We identified: Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) quality and access 
concerns. 
We acted: We have improved access to our CAMHS through more effective working and the 
targeting of resources by the Trust in Calderdale and Kirklees, which has resulted in 
significant progress to reduce waiting times and improve access, as demonstrated through 
improvement in our Friends and Family performance scores. This was also recognised in the 
CQC, with the service rated as ’Good’. 
 
We identified: Imbalance of demand and capacity for mental health beds leading to an 
increase in out-of-area treatment and a reduction in quality and efficiency. 
We acted: In 2016/17 we have reduced the number of out-of-area treatments.  We will 
continue our focused work on this area including the to transformation of both mental health 
acute and community pathways to ensure more effective working and easier access to 
intensive home-based treatment, focusing on a plan for every individual who uses our 
services. 
 
We identified: Income and skills lost through contract tendering processes, which erodes 
capability, operating efficiency and sustainability. 
We acted: We have developed a revised, proactive approach to marketing and relationship 
management, put in place more effective bid management processes and provided 
enhanced training for staff and through further development of service line and Board  
reporting, better understand the risks of tendering for opportunities. 
 
We identified: The pressure and pace of change eroding staff engagement, leading to a 
reduction in delivery and quality. 
We acted: Through a revised Communication, Involvement and Engagement Strategy 
involving Trust wide team briefing, Chief Executive weekly staff meetings (“huddles”) and 
greater visibility of Trust Board members, we have seen a positive increase in staff survey 
responses, with staff saying they feel more engaged and involved. 
 

Going concern disclosure 
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  For this 
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts. 
 
In making this assertion the Trust Board has taken a number of factors into account.  The 
Trust prepared a two year financial plan which was approved by the Trust Board and 
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submitted to NHS Improvement for review.  For 2017/18, the detailed operational plan 
covers a two year time scale.  As part of the plan preparation and approval process the Trust 
Board has considered in detail the trust’s position, reviewing the financial viability of the 
organisation in the challenging economic climate. 
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Section 1.2 Performance analysis 

Our performance 
In addition to measuring performance against our quality priorities we monitor our 
performance against a range of other key performance indicators (KPIs).  A number of these 
are reported to our Trust Board and others are reported and acted upon internally.  A range 
of performance data is also shared with our commissioners.  The KPIs represent a mix of 
nationally and locally set targets. 
 
Business Strategic Performance - impact and delivery     

  KPI Target 
Year-End 

Performance 
NHS Improvement Compliance Single Oversight Framework rating 2 2 
Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) 

CQC quality regulations 
(compliance breach) Green Green 

Infection Prevention 

Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus 
aureus (MRSA) & Clostridium 
difficile (C.Diff) cases 6 1 
C.Diff avoidable cases 0 0 

Outcomes 

% service users on Care 
Programme Approach (CPA) in 
employment 10% 6.3% 
% service users on CPA in settled 
accommodation 60% 61.2% 

Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation (CQUIN) 

CQUIN Barnsley Green Amber 
CQUIN Calderdale Green Amber 
CQUIN Kirklees Green Amber 
CQUIN Wakefield Green Amber 
CQUIN Forensics Green Green 

 
At the end of the year we achieved all the KPIs set by our regulator, NHS Improvement, with 
the exception of “data completeness” priority metrics for mental health and number of CPA 
service users on CPA in employment.  The data completeness metric records such items as 
patient employment, ethnicity and accommodation.  This was a new measure introduced in 
2016/17 and whilst we did not meet the target we did make progress during the year 
 
We are pleased to report that compared to last year we have seen a strong improvement in 
access to our services for Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT).  
Achievement of the vast majority of NHS Improvement metrics reflects very positively on our 
staff and the focus we place on ensuring we meet the high standards expected from our 
services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13 of 91 



 

Operational effectiveness: NHS Improvement metrics   

KPI Target 
Year-End 

Performance 
Max time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment - 
incomplete pathway 92% 98.4% 
Maximum 6 week wait for diagnostic procedures 99% 100% 
% Admissions gatekept by Community Recovery Service (CRS) 
teams 95% 99% 
% SU on CPA followed up within 7 days of discharge 95% 97.6% 
Data completeness: Identifiers (mental health) 95% 99.7% 
Data completeness: Priority metrics (mental health) 85% 61.1% 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) - proportion of 
people completing treatment who move to recovery 50% 50.2% 
IAPT - Treatment within 18 weeks of referral 75% 86.4% 
IAPT - Treatment within 6 weeks of referral 95% 99.4% 
Early intervention in psychosis - 2 weeks (NICE approved car 
package) clock stops 50% 69.3% 
% clients in settled accommodation 60% 82.9% 
% clients in employment 10% 8.8% 

 
As previously stated, in order to ensure there is a balanced approach to monitoring 
organisational performance a range of other metrics are reviewed regularly at both Trust 
Board and other forums.  These include the Executive Management Team meeting on a 
monthly basis, as well as our Operational Management Group and within each of our 
Business Delivery Units (BDUs).  Examples of these metrics include quality (see page 17), 
customer focus and workforce. 
 
Customer Focus 

  

 
KPI Target 

Year-End 
Performance 

Complaints 
% of feedback with staff attitude as an issue <=20% 13% 
Complaints closed within 40 days 80% 21% 

Service User  Friends and Family Test - Mental Health  80% 83% 
Experience Friends and Family Test - Community 95% 98% 

 

Staff FFT survey - % staff recommending the 
Trust as a place to receive care and treatment 80% 80% 

 

Staff FFT survey - % staff recommending the 
Trust as a place to work 

Not yet 
identified 66% 

Compliments Number of compliments received 
Not yet 

identified 222* 
Duty of 
Candour Number of duty of candour applicable incidents 

Not yet 
identified 328 

 
Duty of candour - number of stage one exceptions 

Not yet 
identified 2* 

 
Number of stage one breaches 0 1* 

* Collection began in October 2016 
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Fit for the future: workforce     

 
 KPI Target 

Year-End 
Performance 

Sickness Sickness absence (year to date) <=4.4% 5.1% 
Appraisal Appraisal rate Band 5 and below >=95% 94.9% 
  Appraisal rate Band 6 and above >=95% 93.6% 
Mandatory  Aggression management >=80% 76.6% 
training Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation >=80% 73.9% 
  Clinical Risk >=80% 62.2% 
  Equality and diversity >=80% 88.2% 
  Fire safety >=80% 82.7% 
  Food safety >=80% 82.1% 

  
Infection prevention and control and hand 
hygiene >=80% 83.4% 

  Information governance >=95% 96.1% 
  Moving and handling >=80% 81.7% 
  Mental Capacity Act >=80% 64.1% 
  Mental health Act >=80% 47.9% 
  Safeguarding adults >=80% 89.1% 
  Safeguarding children >=80% 85.6% 
Safer Staffing Safer staff fill rates 90% 110% 
 Safer staffing % fill rate registered nurses 80% 93.7% 

 
Our focus on mandatory training is strong.  For the majority of training we are meeting the 
target established. Following a recommendation from the Care Quality Commissioning 
(CQC) we agreed to make training of the Mental Capacity Act and Mental Health Act 
mandatory during 2016/17.  Whilst we have not yet achieved the target of 80% we have 
made good progress by training over half of our staff to date and we expect to reach the 
80% target during the first quarter of 2017/18. 
 
We compare favourably with other trusts of our type when it comes to sickness absence.  
However we are always striving to improve and we are working closely with our staff and 
staff-side representatives to improve the health and wellbeing of our staff such that we can 
improve upon the sickness absence rate of 5.1%. 
 
Very encouragingly we are performing well in respect of our safer staffing fill rates. 
 

Strategic Goals 
During 2016/17, the trust undertook an exercise to review and refresh the organisational 
strategy in the context of a rapidly changing external environment. External changes include 
the emergence of greater collaboration between health and social care, including through 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships and associated local place based plans 
linked to the Health and Wellbeing Boards of each local authority. 
 
The strategy refresh exercise included listening events with the public and specifically with 
those people who use and work within the services which the Trust provides. Through these 
discussions the following key themes emerged which were subsequently tested by the Trust 
Board; 
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• We will take a place-based approach to the delivery of care, except where a service 
based approach over a wider area is more appropriate e.g. forensic mental health.   

• We will continue to be a combined provider of care with expertise in prevention, 
physical healthcare, learning disabilities and mental health. 

• We will act as a system integrator, and in some places we may host accountable care 
partnerships. We will do this alongside our service delivery activities. 

• We will become an exemplar of co-production, valuing both the service user and 
clinical perspectives. 

 
These themes have guided our work in 2016/17 and will continue to do so over the next few 
years in pursuit of our consistent mission to enable people to live well in their 
communities. We remain focused on our three key strategic objectives which are aligned to 
the same broad ‘triple aim’ as our partners in the health and care system.  
 
In 2016/17 we made the following progress against the achievement of our three strategic 
objectives: 
 

Improve health outcomes 
Suicide prevention 
The Trust has led the development and implementation of a suicide prevention strategy, 
drawing together partners across STP areas and in each locality.  
 
Holistic care 
The Trust is focused on the delivery of holistic care delivered in partnership through 
integrated locality teams. One example is the new integrated 0-19 service in Kirklees in 
which we provide children and adolescent mental health services in conjunction with 3rd 
sector partners, schools and health care providers. 
 
In addition we have introduced clinics to check the physical health of long term mental health 
service users. This has led to the earlier identification and treatment of long term conditions, 
and will help reduce health inequalities 
 
Partnerships for well-being 
In 2016/17, we entered into an exciting new partnership with the third sector in Wakefield for 
the provision of social wellbeing support to people, delivered in community settings linked to 
existing support networks. This approach maximises the assets of the community to be well 
and improve population health outcomes. 
 
Our smoking cessation services have continued to innovate to reach more people and 
address one of the biggest public health challenges facing our communities. In Sheffield the 
relocation of the service into the regenerated market hall has improved accessibility and 
improved use of resources. 
 

Improve quality of all that we do 
Care Quality Commission – ‘Good’ rating 
The Trust is proud to have been recently recognised by the Care Quality Commission as a 
provider of good services. This achievement reflects the hard work of staff in all services to 
deliver improvements in care quality throughout the year, with specific emphasis on 
addressing the learning highlighted to us in our previous CQC inspection in March 2016.  
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Service specific quality improvements 
In Barnsley, our integrated locality model of neighbourhood nursing has been successfully 
launched. This enables multi-disciplinary teams of community nurses and primary care staff 
to enhance their responsiveness to needs, targeting those requiring greater coordination of 
complex care needs. 
 
Our Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) teams have been enhanced during 2016/17, 
providing improved speed of access and a wide range of proven interventions to meet the 
needs of younger people experiencing psychosis for the first time. Nationally mandated 
targets for access have been consistently exceeded by our EIP teams.  
 
We have led the way in the development of street triage and police liaison mental health 
services. This has been shown to improve the experience and speed of response 
experienced by people in a crisis, to develop compassion and capability amongst police 
colleagues, and to reduce the use of section 136 detentions.   
 

Improve use of resources 
In 2016/17, the Trust has made significant progress in addressing two key areas impacting 
on our use of resources; 
 
Use of out of area placements 
By improving flow through our urgent care system, and intervening earlier to reduce 
escalation of acuity, we have reduced our demand for out of area placements in mental 
health during the latter part of the year following higher usage of such placements between 
September 2016 and January 2017. This improves outcomes and experience for people 
using our services, and also reduces expenditure. 
 
In 2017/18, the elimination of out of area placements for general acute mental health needs 
remains a key area of focus. 
 
Use of agency staff 
During 2016/17, we have made positive progress on agency spend with spend reducing 
quarter on quarter.  However this is still in excess of the Trust’s agency spending cap, and 
will remain an area of focus in 2017/18 balanced with the need to maintain safe and effective 
staffing of all clinical services.  Reducing the proportion of workforce expenditure on agency 
staff, as opposed to Trust employees, enables us to enhance the impact of our workforce 
spend, diverting more into direct clinical care. 
 
Achievement of Financial Control Total 
During 2016/17, we over-achieved against our financial control total of £0.5m target set by 
NHS Improvement, delivering £0.75m before “one-off” .costs and income.  This entitled us to 
access additional funding of £2.5m. 
 

Quality and quality governance 
Improvement and innovation for quality is about making healthcare safe, effective, service 
user centred, timely and efficient. Our key driver is to ensure that we should systematically 
improve quality throughout our services, strive to support our services users to achieve 
positive outcomes and live life to the full and reduce unnecessary clinical variation. 
 
We believe strong clinical leadership, supported by opportunities for innovation and robust 
governance arrangements will help us deliver a culture where high quality services will 
flourish. 
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Quality improvement is a priority at Board level and throughout the Trust. Quality 
improvement is routinely reported to our Trust board through the recently revised Integrated 
Performance Report.  The Executive Lead is the Executive Director of Nursing and Quality. 
The Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee is led by the lead Executive Director 
and a Non-Executive Director. This Committee reports directly to the Trust Board (see page 
45). A number of standing sub-groups who cover quality and safety matters are chaired by 
the Medical Director, Director of Nursing and Quality or their deputies and report directly to 
the Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee. 
 
In 2016-17, we have aligned our strategic objectives, priorities and programmes and quality 
initiatives and we will use these as a framework to focus improvement, innovation and 
monitor assurance. In addition we will ensure all our improvement efforts will make the best 
use of expertise and resources.  Throughout 2016-17, we measured activity against each of 
our quality priorities and reported them to our Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety 
Committee. Our progress against these priorities can be found in our Quality Account 
2016/17.  Below is a a summary of our performance against 2016/17 quality priorities: 
 

 No. of 
priorities RAG rated summary of performance 

Safe 8 4 rated green, 1 rated amber, 1 rated red, 2 awaiting data 

Effective 6 3 rated green, 2 rated amber, 1 rated red 

Caring 9 5 rated green, 3 rated amber, 1 rated red 

Responsive 4 4 rated green 

Well Led 5 4 rated green, 1 awaiting data 

Total 32 20 rated green, 6 rated amber, 3 rated red, 3 awaiting data 

 

Our financial performance 2016/17 
This section and the accounts have been prepared in line with appropriate guidance 
including the Group Accounting Manual for NHS Foundation Trusts 2016/17 and under 
direction issued by NHS Improvement under the National Health Service Act 2006.  The 
Trust has also complied with the cost allocation and charging guidance issued by HM 
Treasury.  The Trust continues to prepare Group accounts.  This means that the Trust’s 
charitable funds are included as part of the Group accounts.  The Trust accounts can still be 
viewed in isolation 
 

Income 
The Trust had an annual income of £229.9m in 2016/17, which was very similar to its annual 
income in 2015/16.  £214m (93%) of this income is provided from CCGs, NHS England, 
Local Authorities and other NHS bodies for the provision of healthcare services.  Other 
income relates to such items as Education and Training, Research and Development, and 
the Sustainability and Transformation Fund.  The majority of contract income is 
commissioned as a fixed payment; however 2.5% (£4.5 million for 2016/17) is based on the 
achievement of key quality indicators.  The Trust has provisionally achieved 86% of these 
quality indicators. 
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Income & Expenditure Performance - 2016/17 Year Ended 
31 March 

2017 

Year Ended 
31 March 

2016 
  £000s £000s 
  

 
  

Income from activities 213,967 213,233 
Other operating income 15,940 13,329 
Operating Income from continuing operations 229,907 226,562 
Operating Expenses of continuing operations (227,203) (226,149) 
Operating surplus/(deficit) 2,704 413 
  

 
  

Finance income 66 90 
PDC Dividends payable (3,110) (2,990) 
Net Finance costs (3,044) (2,900) 
Gains/(losses) on disposals of assets 9 2,743 
  

 
  

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year (331) 256 
  

 
  

Impairments (186) (30) 
Revaluations 465 3,325 
  

 
  

Total Comprehensive Income (Expense) for the year (52) 3,551 
 
In total the Trust delivered a deficit of £0.3m in the year.  It is important to note some key 
factors that contributed to this performance, including a revaluation of a number of fixed 
assets resulted in asset impairment of £3.7m.  This basically reduces the value of some of 
our properties and is treated as an operating expense.  Secondly the Trust received 
Sustainability and Transformation Funding (STF) from the Department of Health of £2.5m 
given the fact that we achieved our financial targets for the year.  Excluding these two “one-
off” items a surplus of £0.8m was achieved. 
 
In light of the continued financial pressure in the NHS and wider public sector combined with 
ongoing increases in demand for our services this is a good financial result in the year and is 
reflected in the approach taken by all our staff of managing financial resources as effectively 
as possible. 
 

Operating Expenses 
Our operating expenses were £227.2m, which compares to £226.1m in the previous year.  
£171m of this cost is attributable to employee costs, which is in line with the level of spend in 
the previous year.  As with any year a number of events and issues materialised which led to 
variations in financial performance across the year.  One such example is the usage and 
associated cost of out of area bed placements.  From September through to February there 
was a significant increase in both usage and cost, which ultimately resulted in an overspend 
of £2.1m.  Whilst not the only reason, this issue was compounded by a fire that occurred at 
our Priory facility at Fieldhead which resulted in the temporary loss of 22 beds.  Through the 
hard work and dedication of our staff we have been able to increase our bed capacity 
elsewhere in the Trust to compensate for 10 of the bed losses.  Much work has also taken 
place to identify the reasons for the increase in out of area bed usage and a number of 
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actions have been implemented to reduce this requirement.  We will continue to focus on 
this and to keep people as close as possible to home, which also results in lower costs. 
 
Another notable area of spend is that of temporary staffing.  NHS Improvement issues each 
Trust with an expenditure ceiling for 2016/17 which provided a target to reduce spend on 
agency staffing year on year.  Actual agency costs in 2015/16 were £8.4m.  Our ceiling for 
2016/17 was £5.1m.  Actual spend for 2016/17 closed at £9.8m which was 93% above our 
ceiling.  Much focus is being applied to temporary staffing usage and cost with the aim of 
managing it to an appropriate level, whilst ensuring we maintain quality of care.  We were 
able to progressively reduce our expenditure on agency staff each quarter during 2016/17. 
 

Cost Savings 
In order to achieve our financial targets in-year savings of £10.1m were planned for.  
Savings of £9m were delivered, meaning a shortfall against plan of £1.1m.  Of the £9m 
achieved £7.3m (81%) was delivered in line with plan, with a further £1.7m achieved non-
recurrently through replacement schemes and specific mitigations such as reducing 
discretionary spend. 
 

Capital 
Our capital budget for the year was £12.3m.  Ultimately we incurred expenditure of £10.5m.  
The focus of the programme included Fieldhead Non Secure re-development (£4.4m), our 
new hubs at Pontefract and Wakefield (£2.7m), and a range of minor capital works across 
our estate and IT improvement schemes.  The work on the Fieldhead Non-Secure re-
development continues into 2017/18. 
 

Cash 
The closing cash position was higher than plan at £27.1m.  This was largely due to lower 
than expected capital expenditure and earlier than planned receipts from asset disposals.  
Cash is expected to reduce next year as major capital development work progresses. 
 

Outlook 
2017/18 will not be any easier in terms of the financial challenge for the Trust and wider 
NHS.  Income growth is minimal, whilst demand and cost inflationary pressures continue.  
For 2017/18 close to £9m savings need to be delivered in order for the Trust to achieve its 
financial plan.  To achieve this we need to focus on how we can continually be more 
efficient, eliminate waste and work closely with our partners to re-design service models and 
pathways. 
 

Evidence of good practice in financial management 
Treasury Management 
As a Foundation Trust we are able to generate income by investing cash.  During 2016/17 
the Trust has invested with the National Loan Fund (NLF).  This is a low risk form of 
investment when compared with many alternatives, but typically provides a higher rate of 
return than maintaining all cash balances with the Government Banking Service (GBS).  In 
total £66k interest income was earned during the year compared to £90k in the previous 
year. 
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The Trust makes payments in line with the NHS Better Payment Practice Code and in the 
year 95% of creditor payments were made within 30 days.  The Trust was not required to 
make any payments to suppliers under the late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 
1988. 
 
The Trust’s cash balance was sufficient to meet its operational and capital outgoings 
throughout the financial year. 
 

International Financial Reporting Standards 
As part of its annual work programme the Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting 
policies applied in 2016/17.  These were updated for any changes in national guidance.  
There were no significant changes which impacted on the Trust’s reporting requirements or 
disclosures in the 2016/17 accounts. 
 

Valuation of assets 
In line with the Trust’s accounting policies, a periodic review of Trust estate has been 
conducted in 2016/17.  In doing so, the appropriate impairment (re-valuation impact both 
positive and negative) have been reflected in the Trust’s accounts. 
 

Recording of investment property 
Estate which the Trust Board has declared surplus to requirements is recorded as 
investment property under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and its value 
is updated annually to the current market value.  As at March 2017 this is related to one 
Trust asset. (Southmoor Land – next to Poplars in Wakefield). The Trust also has a number 
of assets held for sale including Castleford and Normanton District Hospital (CNDH) with 
sales expected in 2017/18. 
 

Pension Liabilities 
The accounting policy for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out in Note 8 to the 
accounts.  Details of senior employees’ remuneration can be found in Note 39 (the 
remuneration report) of the accounts as well as in the Remuneration Report section of the 
annual report. 
 

Auditor’s Remuneration 
Audit fees (inclusive of VAT) were £62,000.  This covers both the annual report and 
accounts, and Quality Accounts.  The fee for the independent examination of the charitable 
funds was £1,000.  A further £24,000 was expended for additional work involving 
professional evaluation of the Trust’s RiO7 upgrade. 
 

Directors’ Statement as to disclosure to auditors 
The Directors of the Trust can confirm that all relevant information has been made available 
to the Foundation Trust’s auditors, Deloitte LLP, for purposes of its audit and, in addition, 
that they have taken all steps required to ensure their Directors’ duties are exercised with 
reasonable care, skill and diligence. 
 
At the time this report was approved, so far as any Director is aware, there is no relevant 
information of which the Trust’s auditor is unaware.  Each Director has taken all the steps 

Page 21 of 91 



 

they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Trust’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 

Our Charitable Funds 
The Trust is a Corporate Trustee for its own charitable funds and is governed by the law 
applicable to Trusts, principally the Trustee Act 2000 and the Charities Act 2011.  Its 
charitable funds include the Creative Minds funds and the Mental Health Museum-linked 
charity.  Its objective is to promote the effective administration and management of the 
Trust’s Charitable Funds, ensuring that access to those funds meets the expectation of the 
original donors.  The Trustee’s actions are guided by a commitment to ensure: 
 
• funds are accessible for the purpose for which they were donated;  
• accurate documentation of donor wishes;  
• compliance with Charities Commission guidance; and 
• accountability for all monies received or expended. 
 
Further information can be found in the Charitable Funds Annual Report for the year ended 
31 March 2016, the latest year for which information is available, on the Trust’s website.  
The annual report for 2016/17 will be produced later in the year. 
 
The Charitable Funds Committee, formed in 2003, manages the Charity on behalf of the 
Corporate Trustee, chaired by a Non-Executive Director of the Trust.  The day-to-day 
operations of the Charitable Funds are administered by the Trust. 
 

Service developments 
Our transformation programme is one of the ways in which we are ensuring our services are 
fit for today and ready for tomorrow reflecting our values and mission to move towards a 
broader, system-wide enabling role for many services.   
 
The aim of our acute and community (mental health) workstream is to support our vision 
to provide services that are safe and person-centred, encourage greater control for 
individuals, and emphasise recovery and positive outcomes.  Our work is re-designing 
services to deliver care to people who use our services in a more effective and efficient way 
to improve quality at reduced cost, increase links to alternative community-based services, 
promoting partnership working, optimise the use of technology, and use evidence-based 
best practice.  This past year has seen the introduction of a new model of mental health 
delivery within our community services.  
 
The aim of our rehabilitation and recovery workstream is to ensure our services support 
people needing longer-term rehabilitation as part of their recovery to live in their own 
community as far as possible.  Where specialist in-patient facilities are required these will be 
clearly focused on recovery and as close to home as possible.  We have an agreed 
community model, which establishes an intensive community rehab support service to 
deliver intensive rehabilitation support for people in their own communities, integrated within 
existing community teams in an enhanced pathway.  Work continues with our 
commissioners to ensure people can be supported in the community and to determine an 
appropriate model for in-patient facilities.   This year has seen the successful move of 
services from an inpatient rehabilitation facility into the community. 
 
The older peoples’ transformation work stream has focussed on both community and 
inpatient elements of the service.  It is anticipated that the new service model will be 
implemented this year.  
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The implementation of the new models of service for people with learning disabilities, 
commenced in the early part of 2016/17.  The new model of service has been based on 
extensive public stakeholder engagement and is designed to meet the vision of timely and 
effective specialist health services for people with learning disabilities who need extra help to 
live safely and well.   
 
Good progress has been made under the general community services workstream.  For 
the Neighbourhood Nursing Service, a full implementation of a revised Service Model 
developed and agreed jointly with Barnsley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has taken 
place in 2016/17.  The CCG has commented on this implementation in positive terms e.g. 
“….heart lifting as examples of delivery, remediation, inspiration and most of all team 
working fell from people’s lips.”  
 
A review of administrative support arrangements (phase 1) has been completed and 
implementation is underway.  
 
There are a number of major service changes/developments/service reviews that have been 
initiated jointly with Barnsley CCG in 2016/17, which will be implemented in 2017/18. These 
include: intermediate care service; musculoskeletal service (MSK); care navigation service; 
respiratory service; diabetes service. Several of these are system changes working with 
partners, and will form part of a new Alliance Contract in 2017/18. 
 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection 
The Trust received a full inspection visit from the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in March 
2016 and re-inspection in November 2016 to January 2017.  They focused on services that 
were previously found to have elements that ‘Requires improvement’. The CQC revisited 
seven services and conducted a ‘well-led’ review of the Trust in the middle of winter. They 
found significant improvements during a time of additional pressure.  In delivering a ‘Good’ 
rating, the CQC found that, without exception, our staff were caring and compassionate as 
well as respectful and warm towards patients.  We’re proud of our staff who work hard every 
day to help people reach their potential and live well in the community - and we’re glad that 
this was recognised by the CQC.  The CQC highlighted some notable areas of good practice 
that they had seen: 
 
• All staff were seen to be kind, caring and compassionate - as well as respectful and 

warm. 
• We’ve reduced the number of areas rated as requiring improvement from 30% to 10%. 
• Care plans are personalised and holistic with good evidence of patient involvement 

and participation. 
• There’s been a positive change in our culture. 
• Staff know our values and direction of travel. 
• We’ve improved our approach to performance, governance and risk. 
• We’ve improved communication and engagement with our staff. 
• All teams in community mental health services for older people had access to crisis 

services 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  
• Our senior leaders are more visible. 
• We have tackled problems with our electronic patient record system. 
• Our operational trios (a general manager, a clinical lead and a practice governance 

coach) are having a positive influence. 
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The CQC also highlighted a number of areas that require improvement: 
 
• We are still completing actions around breaches in waiting times including 

psychological therapies and specialist community mental health services for young 
people. 

• We need to do more work in some services around the understanding and application 
of the Mental Capacity Act. 

• We need to improve our recording of staff supervision. 
• Some new roles and systems have only just been introduced and need to be 

embedded, e.g. Freedom to speak up guardians and systems to identify and review 
mortality incidents. 

 
While this isn’t mandatory, we are now looking to bring key partners back together for a 
Quality Summit in June 2017.  We believe it would be beneficial to consider the outcome of 
the re-visit collectively and to co-produce our action plan for continuous improvement. 
 

Working in partnership with our stakeholders 
The Trust is an active participant in two Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships 
(STPs) covering South and West Yorkshire. Through these partnerships we work with health 
and care providers and commissioners to improve outcomes, quality and use of resources.  
 
In the past year we have collaborated with other mental health providers and commissioners 
to initiate the development of new specialist community perinatal mental health services, 
improve mental health liaison services in general hospitals, develop alternative places of 
safety in crisis, enhance police liaison and street triage, and to further develop IAPT services 
(improving access to psychological therapies). 
 
In addition our work with STP partners extends to the development of place based plans 
closely linked to the Health and Wellbeing Strategies established by the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards in each local authority area. These place based plans will help us to enact 
our strategy to deliver integrated holistic care in partnership, and to shift our emphasis 
towards prevention and early intervention. 
 
In some of the places in which we work, we are engaged with local partners in the 
development of new models of care and new contractual and organisational arrangements.  
 
• In Barnsley work is progressing towards the establishment of an accountable care 

system which will unite the provision and planning of care across current provider and 
commissioner boundaries in order to take responsibility for the achievement of 
improved outcomes for the local population within the available resources. To date an 
alliance of providers has been established and an alliance contract is now in place that 
aligns organisational incentives, and several key service redesign initiatives are 
underway – intermediate care, diabetes, respiratory care etc. 

• In Wakefield an alliance of providers has been established and in conjunction with both 
local authority and NHS commissioners we are working towards the development of a 
new model of care (multi-speciality community provider) which will create more holistic 
and locality based approach where teams are aligned around communities and 
individuals, with more care delivered out of hospital. This builds upon the two 
successful ‘Vanguards’ in Wakefield which have tested new ways of working in 
localities around primary care and through enhanced multi-disciplinary team working 
for people living in care homes.  

• In Calderdale we are working with social care and health partners to build on the 
Vanguard to develop an accountable care system that (as above) will create a system 
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focused on staying well, and enabling people and communities. We are part of the 
Vanguard Board shaping this key development. 

 
Our partnership work continues in relation to the local delivery of the Learning Disabilities 
Transforming Care agenda – helping more people to live well in their communities, and with 
the Children and Mental Health Service (CAMHS) Future in Mind Programme through our 
Local Delivery Plans. 
 
We have maintained and learned from our collaborative service delivery arrangements with 
other providers. For example our delivery partnership with Leeds Community Healthcare 
NHS Trust through which we deliver integrated physical and mental health care to the 
children’s and young people’s secure estate in Yorkshire. We continue to build on this theme 
with emerging partnerships with providers and commissioners regarding community forensic 
CAMHS and the coordination of the South Yorkshire Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion 
alliance.  
 

Social, community and human rights issues 
We aim to ensure that everyone who needs to, can access Trust services and that we have 
a workforce which represents the communities we serve, that is free from discrimination and 
harassment in line with our values.  
 
Delivery against this agenda is regularly monitored by the Trust’s Equality and Inclusion 
Forum. The Forum was established to support a values based approach to equality and 
inclusion, rather than a traditional compliance based approach. It is chaired by Ian Black, 
Trust Chair. The Forum receives regular updates and reports on our progress around the 
Equality Delivery System 2 and the Workforce Race Equality Scheme, together with 
feedback from other sources such as staff surveys to allow the Trust to build on its strengths 
and to put in place action plans to address any weaknesses.  
 
Our Annual Equality Report and other policies recognise that equality and diversity is core to 
the way we work and provide services.  We must maximise people’s potential through 
valuing their diversity and treating them equally.  We acknowledge that people who come 
into contact with our services, or who work for us, are individuals and are not defined by one 
aspect of their lives, whether this is their race, gender, sexual orientation, religion or any of 
the other protected characteristics.  
 
Over the past twelve months, we have continued to undertake equality impact assessments 
to ensure our services take account of need, especially where services are developing and 
changing.  We have also progressed work to embed the equality objectives based on the 
four equality goals from the Equality Act 2010 and the Department of Health’s Equality 
Delivery System 2 (EDS2).  These are better health outcomes for all, improved patient 
access and experience, empowered, engaged and well-supported staff, and inclusive 
leadership at all levels. The Trust has human resources policies in place, which can be 
found on the Trust’s website, which promote equality of opportunity in employment. We have 
worked with our commissioners, service users and carers to evaluate our progress in each 
of these areas, which has been graded as developing. Further detail can be found in our 
Annual Equality Report to Trust Board on 19 July 2016 on the Trust’s website. 
 
The Trust has recently revised and approved its Human Rights Statement and Guidance, 
Public authorities in the UK have obligations to promote and protect human rights, and all 
public authorities must act in a way that is compatible with the European Convention on 
Human Rights. This means treating individuals fairly, with dignity and respect, whilst also 
safeguarding the rights of the wider community. South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 
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Foundation Trust is committed to ensuring all its services respect human rights, treat people 
fairly and equitably, recognise the needs of the diverse communities we serve and meet 
local needs. Although the Trust is not classed as a “commercial organisation” for the 
purpose of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, we have taken a number of steps to ensure that 
slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in any of our supply chains or in any part of 
our business to the best of our knowledge, through recruitment and payroll processes and 
the inclusion of statement in contracts we enter into with providers that states that the 
supplier agrees that it is responsible for controlling its own supply chain and that it shall 
encourage compliance with ethical standards, human rights, health and safety and 
environmental standards by any subsequent supplier of goods and services that are used by 
the supplier when performing its obligations under this Agreement.  Further information in 
relation to compliance with the Supplier Code of Conduct can be found under the Modern 
Slavery Act section (see page 73). 
 

Looking ahead – our strategy objectives 
Our strategic objectives in 2017/18 will focus on three aims: improving people’s health and 
wellbeing; improve the quality and experience of all we do; and improve our use of 
resources. 
 

Improve people’s health 
and wellbeing 

Improve the quality and 
experience of all we do 

Improve our use of resources 

1. People first 

• Enhancing liaison 
services 

• Improving people’s 
experience 

• Recovery based 
approaches 

• Physical / mental health 

3. Safe services, outstanding 
care 

• Patient safety 
• Older people’s 

transformation 
• Improving autism and 

ADHD 
• Perinatal mental health  
• West Yorkshire work - 

CAMHS, forensics, 
suicide prevention 

• Quality priorities 

5. Operational excellence  

• Flow  and out of area 
beds 

• Workforce - sickness, 
rostering, skill-mix and 
agency 

• Effective use of  supplies 
and resources 

• CQUIN 
• Financial sustainability 

and CIP 

2. Joined-up care 

• Supporting place-based 
plans 

• Accountable care in 
Barnsley and  
Wakefield 

• New models of care 
and vanguards 

4. Values-based leadership  

• Leadership 
development 

• Change and quality 
improvement 

• Membership 

6. Digitally enabled   

• Clinical record system 
• Digital health  
• Data driven 

improvements and 
innovation 

 
The Trust’s plan for 2017/18 sets out an in-year planned surplus (pre Sustainability and 
Transformation Funding) of £1 million which is in line with the control total set by NHS 
Improvement.  Our approach to the control total is that we will endeavour to work towards it 
subject to our Board being satisfied it can be delivered without compromising patient safety. 
 
Achievement of our planned surplus of £1 million means that we will need to deliver a 
challenging cost improvement in 2017/18.  Our financial plan assumes cost savings of £9 
million.  All are subject to a quality impact assessment and significant programmes will be 
established with robust project management arrangements. 
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For 2017/18, there are a number of key areas of focus which will help drive financial 
improvement: 
 
• Out of area beds: We experienced an increased demand for bed usage between 

September 2016 and January 2017, leading to a number of people unfortunately being 
placed out of area.  We’ll take the learning from measures we have put in place as well 
as that from other trusts that have been successful in the respect to reduce to reliance 
on out of area bed placements and deliver a financial saving.,  

• Agency spend: A number of actions are in place to reduce our agency spend, 
including recruitment and retention, effective rostering and a focus on reducing 
sickness absence. This is a key part of our cost saving plans. 

• Workforce: There continues to be firm focus on workforce, particularly staff in non-
clinical roles.  Additional savings are possible and are being factored into our savings 
plans.  Wherever possible we will utilise vacancies to reduce staffing, to minimise 
disruption and redundancy costs.  

• Estates: By delivering our estates strategy, approved in 2012, we have much 
improved  and reduced estate with staff working agilely. We will now maximise use of 
our estate and continue to reduce the number of buildings we use. We’ll make sure 
we’re using our estate as efficiently as possible.   

• Non-pay and contracts: We will place greater emphasis on achieving non-pay 
efficiencies. There are also some elements of our contracts which are incurring 
sizeable overspends.  One example is the use of continence products where demand 
growth was not matched with a funding increase. We’ve addressed this through 
contracting. 

• Service transformation: This is a key part of our plans. We know that substituting 
services through alternative provision – such as Recovery Colleges’ role in CMHTs – 
can provide good outcomes at lower cost.  

 
 
 
 
 
Rob Webster 
Chief Executive    Date:  25 May 2017 
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Section 2 – Accountability Report 

Section 2.1 Directors’ report 
This section of our annual report supports the performance report setting out our governance 
arrangements and how these have operated over the last year.  The framework for these 
arrangements is set out in the Trust’s Constitution, which is supported by the Trust’s 
standing orders, standing financial instructions and scheme of delegation. 
 
The Directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the relevant Sections of the 
Companies Act 2006 and appropriate regulations, as well as making the additional 
disclosures required by NHS Improvement in its Annual Reporting Manual and other 
disclosures as appropriate. 
 
The Directors of the Trust consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, are 
fair, balanced and understandable, and provide the information necessary for people who 
use our services, regulators and other stakeholders to assess the Trust’s performance, 
business model and strategy. 
 
Our Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction and associated priorities for the 
organisation to enable it to deliver appropriate, high quality, safe, effective and efficient 
services to our service users and their carers whilst remaining effective, sustainable and 
viable.  The Board ensures effective governance for all services and provides a focal point 
for public accountability.  It also has overall responsibility for probity (standards of public 
behaviour) within the Trust and is accountable for monitoring the performance of the 
organisation against its strategic direction, and ensuring corrective action is taken where 
necessary.  Trust Board has a variety of individual skills and experience, which Directors 
bring to bear on the work of the Trust.  Each director’s experience is described in the table 
on pages 30-38. 
 
The composition of the Board is in accordance with the Trust’s Constitution, providing a 
structure to enable it to fulfil its statutory duties and functions, and to ensure the Trust 
continues to meet the conditions of its Licence. 
 
Declaration of interests 
The Trust’s Constitution requires Board members to declare any personal or business 
interests which may influence or be perceived to influence their judgement and in 
accordance with the Standing Orders those interests that are declarable are any which are 
relevant and material.  The Board receives assurance that there is no conflict of interest in 
the administration of its business through an annual declaration exercise and the 
requirement for the Chair and Directors to consider and declare any interests at each 
meeting.  As part of this process, the Board considers any potential risk or conflict of 
interests.  If any should arise, they are recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Information 
on Directors’ interests as at 31 March 2017 can be found on the Trust’s website. 
 
Non-Executive Director declaration of independence 
Monitor’s (now NHS Improvement) Code of Governance requires the Trust to determine 
whether it considers all Non-Executive Directors to be independent in character and 
judgement and whether there are any relationships or circumstances which are likely to 
affect, or could appear to affect, the Director’s judgement.  This Trust considers all its Non-
Executive Directors to be independent and the Chair and all Non-Executive Directors have 
signed an annual declaration to this effect. 
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Fit and proper person requirement 
There is a requirement for members of Boards of providers of NHS services to make a 
declaration against the fit and proper person requirement for directors set out in the new 
fundamental standard regulations in the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated 
Activities) Regulations 2014, which came into force on 1 April 2015.  Within the new 
regulations, the duty of candour and the fit and proper person requirements for Directors 
came into force earlier for NHS bodies on 1 October 2014.  Although the requirement is in 
relation to new Director appointments, Trust Board took the decision to ask existing Directors 
to make a declaration as part of the annual declaration of interests exercise.  All Directors 
have signed the declaration stating they meet the fit and proper person requirements.   
 
The Trust considers that the balance and membership of Trust Board is appropriate and has 
the balance of skills, experience and knowledge it needs to act as an effective unitary board 
of a foundation trust.  It regularly reviews the balance, completeness and appropriateness of 
the Board to meet such requirements.  Where appropriate, the Trust will look to recruit 
and/or retain individuals with certain skills and experience to ensure that this is maintained.  
The Trust involves its Members’ Council in this process through the Nominations Committee. 
 
The make-up of Trust Board and other directors at 31 March 2017 is as follows. 
 
 Total Male Female 

Non-Executive Directors 6 3 (50%) 3 (50%) 

Executive Directors 5 5 (100%) 0 

Other Directors (non-voting) 6 1 (17%) 5 (83%) 

 
No Executive Director serves as a Non-Executive Director in another NHS Trust or NHS 
Foundation Trust. 
 
Individual performance of members of Trust Board is assessed as follows. 
 
• The Deputy Chair/Senior Independent Director, with support from the Board and the 

Members’ Council, has a process in place to appraise the Chair annually.  The 
outcome of this appraisal is reported to the Members’ Council.  The outcome of the 
Chair’s appraisal for 2016/17 will be reported to the Members’ Council at its meeting in 
July 2017. 

• The Chair of the Trust undertakes annual reviews with Non-Executive Directors. 
• The Chair of the Trust undertakes annual reviews with the Chief Executive. 
• The Chief Executive undertakes annual reviews of performance against objectives with 

Executive Directors and his Executive Management Team. 
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Trust Board 2016/17 

Role/name/appointment Experience Public Board 
attendance 

2016/17 

Chair 
Ian Black 
 
 
 

 

• Chartered Accountant and management consultant. 
• 20 years at Halifax plc/HBOS with a series of director roles in finance, IT, 

operations, risk and customer service in the UK, Europe and Australia. 
• Particular areas of experience are financial management, risk and 

funding/investment. 
• Chair, Family Fund UK charity. 
• Variety of charitable interests nationally and locally, including blood bikes. 
• Non-Executive Director, Benenden Insurance. 
• Chair, Keegan and Pennykid Insurance Brokers. 
• Non-Executive Director, Seedrs (FSA authorised internet crowdfunding 

investment).  
• Experience as a school governor, pension fund trustee and FE college 

governor.  
• Formerly chair and treasurer of Scope (UK disability charity).  

8 / 9 

Appointed as designate 20 March 2008 
Substantive from 1 May 2008 to 30 April 2012 
Deputy Chair from 1 June 2010 to 31 January 2012 
Acting Chair 1 February 2012 to 30 April 2012 
Chair 1 May 2012 to 30 April 2015 
Re- appointed 1 May 2015 to 30 April 2018 

 

Non-Executive Director 
Laurence Campbell 
 
 
 

 

• 20 years’ experience as Finance Director of large corporate businesses 
including two Public Limited companies, all with significant international 
operations.  

• Very interested in the development and implementation of strategy, and the 
balance between risk and opportunity. 

• Treasurer and Trustee of Kirklees Citizens Advice and Law Centre. 

9 / 9 

Appointed 1 June 2014 
Re-appointed 28 April 2017 to 31 May 2020 

 

Non-Executive Director 
Rachel Court 
 
 
 

 

• 23 years’ experience at Yorkshire Building Society involving a wide range of 
roles including operations, customer service, risk management, sales, 
product development, HR, staff engagement and communications.  

• The last 8 years were spent as a member of the Executive Team responsible 
for the overall strategy of the organisation, and involved overseeing 4 
successful mergers and integration projects with other organisations and 
major programmes of organisational change. 

8 / 9 
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Role/name/appointment Experience Public Board 
attendance 

2016/17 

Appointed 1 October 2015 to 30 September 2018 • Other current NED, charitable & voluntary roles include Chair – NHS Pension 
Board, Chair – Leek United Building Society, including Chairing Nominations 
Committee and being a member of Remuneration Committee, Chair – 
Invesco Perpetual Pensions Ltd, including being a member of Risk and Audit 
Committee, NED – Invesco UK Ltd, Governor – Calderdale College. 

• Magistrate in Calderdale. 
• Chair – PRISM – a Charity providing alternative education to children 

excluded from mainstream schooling. 

 

Non-Executive Director 
Charlotte Dyson 
 
 
 

 

• Marketing Consultant.  
• Formerly Non-Executive Director for Calypso Soft Drinks.  
• Formerly Non-Executive Director Leeds Teaching Hospital. 
• Particular area of expertise in strategic brand marketing.  
• Lay member for Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh and chair for 

Advisory Appointments Committee for Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust. 
• Member of the National and Local Advisory Committee for Clinical Excellence 

awards. 

9 / 9 

Appointed 1 May 2015 to 30 April 2018  

Deputy Chair 
Julie Fox 
 
 
 

 

• Leadership, management and partnership in criminal justice. 
• Senior manager in residential offender services and contract management, 

for example, accommodation, education, training and employment.  
• Positive diversity achievements both strategic and operational. 
• Previously in probation and youth justice inspection, working closely with 

other inspectorates such as HM Inspectorate of Constabulary, HMI Prisons, 
Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission and equivalent Welsh 
inspectorates. 

• HR experience in recruitment and staff development. 
• Four years restaurant ownership. 

8 / 9 

Appointed 1 August 2011 to 31 July 2014 
Re-appointed 1 August 2014 to 31 July 2017 
Deputy Chair/Senior Independent Director from 1 
August 2015 to 31 July 2017 
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Role/name/appointment Experience Public Board 
attendance 

2016/17 

Non-Executive Director 
Chris Jones 
 
 
 

 

• Qualified accountant with previous experience in public and private sectors 
including the NHS. 

• Seven years as Principal and Chief Executive of Calderdale College. 
• Formerly a member of the Calderdale Safeguarding Children Board. 
• Trustee of Children’s Food Trust. 
• Interested in leadership and governance and the impact on service standards 

and organisational performance. 

8 / 9 

Appointed 1 August 2015 to 31 July 2018  

Chief Executive 
Rob Webster 

 

• Joined Trust from the NHS Confederation, where he was chief executive for 
over two years.  

• Worked in healthcare since 1990, including national roles at the Department 
of Health on policy, transformation and delivery and has been a director for 
both the Prime Minister’s Delivery Unit in the Cabinet Office and a national 
public/private partnership. 

• Also spent seven years as a successful chief executive in the NHS in West 
Yorkshire, running a commissioning organisation (NHS Calderdale) and a 
provider organisation (Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust).  Has been a 
trustee at Leeds Mencap and has chaired formal national networks including 
cancer, primary care, community services and learning disabilities. 

• As well as leading the Trust, is also leading the work of the West Yorkshire 
sustainability and transformation plan (STP), bringing together West 
Yorkshire health and care leaders, organisations and communities to develop 
local plans for improved health, care and finances over the next five years. 

• Defined by a values-based approach to leadership with a history of effective 
partnership working and a strong commitment to system leadership.  

• Visiting professor at the school of health and care at Leeds Beckett University 
and an honorary fellow of both the Queen’s Nursing Institute and the Royal 
College of GPs.  Also a fellow of the Royal Society for the encouragement of 
Arts, Manufactures and Commerce. 

8 / 8 

Appointed 16 May 2016  
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Role/name/appointment Experience Public Board 
attendance 

2016/17 

Medical Director / 
Deputy Chief Executive 
Adrian Berry 

 

• 19 years’ experience of clinical care as consultant forensic psychiatrist and of 
training specialist registrars. 

• Leader of clinical management team 1999-2003. 
• Associate medical director and Trust Board member 2003-2005. 
• Program director for specialist forensic training in Yorkshire and Humber 

2006-2009. 
• Clinical project lead for a number of capital projects and service 

developments. 
• Contract management and negotiation experience with specialist 

commissioning team. 
• Development of a Yorkshire Clinical Network for Forensic Services. 

8 / 9 

Appointed Director of Forensic Services 1 November 
2010 
Medical Director 1 October 2014 
Deputy Chief Executive from 1 October 2016 

 

Director of Nursing and 
Quality 
Tim Breedon 

 

• Over 30 years’ experience in the health and social care market with both 
public and private sector experience. 

• Executive Director experience in both public and private sector environments, 
including Managing Director of a Long Term Health Care PLC. 

• Significant senior management experience in both local authority and 
charitable sector at key points in career. 

• Five years’ experience as a self-employed management and training 
consultant. 

• Director level responsibility for PLC acquisition and merger plan. 
• Significant experience in contract negotiation and delivery on contracts, 

including the delivery of capital investment programme to support growth. 
• Lead professional adviser on learning disability policy, strategy and 

commissioning for both PCT and local authority. 
• Well documented history of partnership working, including the chairing of 

multi-agency partnership boards. 
• Nurse leadership roles in a variety of care and support settings. 

9 / 9 

Appointed District Director for Wakefield 1 November 
2010 
Acting Director of Nursing from 16 July 2012 
Director of Nursing from 17 December 2012 
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Role/name/appointment Experience Public Board 
attendance 

2016/17 

Director of Finance and 
Resources 
Mark Brooks 

 

 

• 8 years’ experience in the NHS. 
• Chartered management accountant and a fellow of the Chartered Institute of 

Management Accountants. 
• Experience working in community and mental health organisations. 
• Experience in corporate governance, procurement, estates and IT. 
• Experience in UK and international senior finance roles and chief financial 

officer. 
 

8 / 8 

Appointed 1 June 2016   

Director of Human 
Resources, 
Organisational 
Development and 
Estates 
Alan Davis 

 

• 34 years’ experience of HR in the NHS. 
• 19 years as an Executive Director of this Trust. 
• Human Resource Management. 
• Leadership and Workforce Development. 
• Business Planning. 
• Staff Side/Staff Engagement/Consultation. 
• Chair Childcare Information Service Ltd 10 years (charity providing services 

to local authorities). 
• Employee Relations. 
• Investor in People. 
• Member of the Director team leading FT application for SWYPFT and major 

acquisition. 
• 2009 runner up in NHS HR Director of the Year: nominated by Chief 

Executive and Staff Side Organisations. 

8 / 9 

Appointed 1 April 2002 
(Interim Deputy Chief Executive 1 April to 31 August 
2016) 
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Other Directors* 

Role/name/appointment Experience Public Board 
attendance 

2016/17 

Director of Corporate 
Development (Company 
Secretary) (non-voting) 
Dawn Stephenson 

 

• Over 20 years’ experience at Board level as an NHS Director. 
• Knowledge of community, primary care and acute through previous 

experience as Director of Finance, Contracting and Information and Chief 
Executive in an integrated trust and primary care trust. 

• Experience in strategic financial management, contracting and IM&T strategy. 
• Experience in Board governance and risk management. 
• Experience in public involvement, communications and partnership working. 
• Experience in acquisitions. 

9 / 9 

Secondment 8 February 2010 
Substantive appointment from 1 April 2011 

 

District Director – 
specialist services (non-
voting) 
Carol Harris 

 

• Broad clinical experience as a nurse in both inpatient and community settings 
• Previous experience in professional and operational leadership at Board 

level.  
• Worked with service user and carer stakeholder groups in all aspects of 

service change. 
• Led a number of transformation programmes both within mental health 

services and working with acute and third sector providers. 
• Provided mentorship to candidates on leadership programmes.  
• Supported the development of the foundation degree programme for 

assistant practitioner trainees with Manchester Metropolitan University. 

N/A * 

Appointed 21 March 2016  

Director of 
Communications, 
Engagement and 
Commercial 
Development (non-
voting) 
Kate Henry  

• Successful track record in health care communications, PR and marketing. 
• 14 years’ NHS experience working in both local and national NHS 

organisations. 
• 9 years working in NHS marketing / communications / PR roles. 
• Experience in mental health, acute and improvement organisations. 
• Particular roles focusing on communicating biomedical research, 

improvement science, innovation, adoption and spread. 

N/A * 

Secondment 26 May 2015 to 31 March 2016 
Fixed term contract 1 April 2016 to 30 June 2017 
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Role/name/appointment Experience Public Board 
attendance 

2016/17 

District Director – 
Barnsley and Wakefield 
(non-voting) 
Sean Rayner 

 

• Over 25 years’ experience in the NHS, with 13 years’ experience as an 
Executive Director. 

• Barnsley Transition Director in support of SWYPFT acquisition process. 
• Experience in leadership, business planning, and contract management in 

multi-agency environments. 
• Partnership working over 20 years, including chairing and leading service 

user/carer Partnership Boards. 
• Experience in project management, including capital projects and LIFT as a 

premises procurement vehicle.  
• Experience in GP engagement and accountable officer in a Primary Care 

Group. 
• Experience of working in a voluntary capacity in not for profit sector, and a 

member of HMP Wealstun Independent Monitoring Board (IMB). 

N/A * 

Transitional post as District Director, Barnsley from 
22 February 2011 
Substantive from 1 April 2012 

 

District Director – 
Calderdale and Kirklees 
(non-voting) 
Karen Taylor 

 

• Over 30 years NHS experience in clinical and managerial roles. 
• Director level positions held since 2007. 
• Experience of establishing and managing partnership arrangements with the 

local authority and third sector organisations. 
• Strong operational management background up to Director level. 

N/A * 

Interim appointment 9 January 2012 
Substantive appointment 1 April 2012 

 

Director of Strategy 
(non-voting) 
Salma Yasmeen 

 
 

• Former director of nursing services and transformation in Saudi Arabia 
Former deputy director at a NHS Foundation Trust with responsibility for the 
mental and physical health care of older people. 

• Former chief executive of Bradford-based third sector organisation. 
• Mental health nurse. 
• Experience in transformation and innovation. 

N/A * 

Appointed 12 January 2017  

* Only voting Directors and the Director of Corporate Development, in her role as Company Secretary, attend all Trust Board meetings.  
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The following members left office during 2016/17: 
 

Name/role/appointment Experience 

Non-Executive Director 
Jonathan Jones 

Appointed 1 June 2010 to 31 May 2013 
Re-appointed 1 June 2013 to 31 May 2016 
Re-appointed 1 June 2016 to 31 May 2017 (Left 31 
December 2016) 

• Member of Squire Patton Boggs, a major international law firm.  
• Specialises in corporate finance law (with particular experience in private equity).  
• Clients come from a variety of sectors including healthcare.  
• Issues confronting the legal profession at present include estates, people and technology and he 

has applied his experience of those to his involvement in the Trust. 

Interim Director of Finance 
Jon Cooke 

Secondment (Yorkshire and the Humber 
Commissioning Support Unit) 4 January to 31 May 
2016 
Interim Director of Finance (4 January 2016 to 31 
May 2016) 

• Qualified chartered management accountant with 22 years post qualification experience in the 
NHS. 

• Experience at a senior level across commissioning and provider organisations. 
• 4 years’ experience as a Director of Finance working in Commissioning and Commissioning 

Support.  Track record in strategic planning and delivery through innovation and joint working. 
• Significant experience of change management within the healthcare sector. 
• Experience in strategic financial planning and management, contract negotiation, development of 

estates and capital business cases (including establishment and delivery of NHS LIFT), developing 
IM&T Strategy and implementation of performance framework based on balanced scorecard, and 
implementation of integrated governance and change management. 

• Delivery of turnaround within NHS organisations. 

Deputy Chief Executive 
Alex Farrell 

Appointed Director of Finance 7 September 2009 
Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Finance from 
March 2010 to 3 January 2016 
Acting Chief Executive 1 October 2010 to 31 January 
2011 
Deputy Chief Executive from 4 January 2016 
(Interim Chief Executive 1 April to 15 May 2016) 
(Retired 31 May 2016) 

• Qualified medical doctor. 
• Re-trained in private sector as Chartered Accountant. 
• Re-joined NHS in acute sector and has worked in acute trust, health authority, PCG and PCTs in 

senior management. 
• Ten years’ experience as a Director of Finance.  Portfolio experience in strategic financial planning 

and management; contract negotiation and healthcare tenders; developing Estates Strategy and 
capital business cases; developing IM&T Strategy and implementation of performance framework 
based on balanced scorecard; implementation of Integrated Governance and Change 
Management. 

• Bring a drive for continual improvement, integrated working and change management linked to 
good understanding of commissioning, business development, performance management and 
governance to support the development of the foundation trust. 
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Name/role/appointment Experience 

Director of Health Intelligence and Innovation 
(non-voting) 
Diane Smith 

Interim appointment 9 January 2014 
Substantive appointment 1 January 2015 to 31 
December 2016 

• Qualified Biomedical Scientist with an early career in research in academia. 
• Moved into NHS management in Public Health in 1991, working in a District Health Authority as an 

Epidemiologist and in Senior Management at Regional level in both the NHS and Civil Service. 
• Progressed into NHS senior leadership as the Chief Executive of a PCG, followed by Director 

posts in a Strategic Health Authority, Ambulance trust and PCT and latterly senior management in 
NHS England. 

• Portfolio experience in implementing transformational change; developing organisations; business 
planning and organisational development; project and programme management; health research 
methods and analysis; assurance and risk management and working in partnership. 
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Well-led governance review 
In 2014, Monitor (now NHS Improvement) stated its expectation that all foundation trust 
boards would carry out an external review of their governance arrangements every three 
years given that: 
 
• good governance is essential in addressing the challenges the sector faces; 
• oversight of the Trust’s governance arrangements is the responsibility of Trust Board; 
• governance issues are increasing across the sector; and  
• regular reviews can provide assurance that governance arrangements are fit for 

purpose. 
 
As a result, guidance was issued to support Trusts in ensuring they are ‘well-led’.  The 
framework supports the NHS response to the Francis Report and is aligned with the 
assessment the Care Quality Commission (CQC) makes on whether a foundation trust is 
well-led as part of its revised inspection regime.  The framework has four domains, ten high-
level questions and a description of ‘good practice’ that can be used to assess governance.  
The four domains cover: 
 
• strategy and planning – how well the Board sets the direction for the organisation; 
• capability and culture – whether the Board takes steps to ensure it has the appropriate 

experience and ability, now and into the future, and whether it positively shapes the 
organisation’s culture to deliver care in a safe and sustainable way; 

• process and structures – whether reporting lines and accountabilities support the 
effective oversight of the organisation; and  

• measurement – whether the Board receives appropriate, robust and timely information 
and that this supports the leadership of the Trust. 

 
Following a decision by Trust Board to undertake an independent review of the Trust’s 
governance arrangements in line with Monitor’s (now NHS Improvement) well-led framework 
for governance reviews (which replaced Monitor’s quality governance framework and the 
board governance assurance framework), Deloitte undertook the review in April 2015.  
Following a robust and thorough review and scrutiny of the Trust’s governance 
arrangements, which included interviews and focus groups with Trust Board, key 
stakeholders, the Members’ Council and staff, the review concluded with presentation of the 
key findings to Trust Board and a workshop with the Members’ Council.  There were no 
‘material governance concerns’ arising from the review.  There were a number of 
developmental areas where Deloitte recommended further work which formed the basis of 
an action plan with timescales. An update on the progress against the action plan was 
presented to Trust Board in 2016 and internal audit undertook a review of implementation as 
part of its audit work for corporate governance arrangements in 2016.  This audit received 
significant assurance. 
 
In December 2016, NHS Improvement undertook joint consultation with the CQC on draft 
framework for the use of resources and well-led assessments.  Results of the consultation 
have not yet been published. 
 
In November 2016-January 2017, as part of the CQC re-inspection, the CQC revisited seven 
services and conducted a ‘well-led’ review of the Trust.  The Trust has worked hard over the 
year to improve services since the inspection in March 2016 through the implementation of 
our action plan.  Their findings were published in April 2017 with the Trust rated as ‘Good’ 
overall.  Our new ratings chart shows that 90% of the ratings within our service lines were 
found to be ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ with all 14 areas under the well-led domain rated as 
‘Good’. 
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Governance arrangements 
Trust Board discharges its responsibilities through a number of Committees.  Trust Board 
has established four risk committees.  The membership and work of the Audit, Clinical 
Governance and Clinical Safety, and Mental Health Act Committees are outlined below and 
the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee in the Remuneration Report.   
 
The Director of Corporate Development attends all Committee meetings, with the exception 
of the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee, as part of her role as Company 
Secretary.  The Chair of the Trust and the Chair of the Audit Committee attend at least one 
meeting of each Committee during the year as part of the review of the effectiveness of Non-
Executive Directors individually and of Committees.  The Audit Committee reviews the 
effectiveness and integration of Trust Board Committees on an annual basis and presents 
the outcome of this review in its annual report to Trust Board.  This was presented to Trust 
Board in April 2017.  The Committee provided assurance that Committees are effective and 
integrated and that risk is effectively managed and mitigated through the assurance that 
Committees are meeting the requirements of their Terms of Reference, that their work plans 
are aligned to the risks and objectives of the organisation, which are within the scope of their 
remit, and that they can demonstrate added value to the organisation. 
 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee’s prime purpose is to keep an overview of the systems and processes 
that provide controls assurance and governance within the organisation, as described in the 
Annual Governance Statement, on behalf of Trust Board, and to ensure that the systems 
and processes used to produce information taken to Trust Board are sound, valid and 
complete.  This includes ensuring independent verification of systems for risk management 
and scrutiny of the management of finance.  The Committee met five times in 2016/17 and 
its membership was as follows: 
 
Name/role Attendance 2016/17 

Laurence Campbell, Non-Executive Director (Committee Chair) 
 5 / 5 

Chris Jones, Non-Executive Director 
 5 / 5 

Jonathan Jones, Non-Executive Director  
(until 31 December 2016) 2 / 4 

Julie Fox, Deputy Chair of the Trust  
(from 1 January 2017) 1 / 1 

 
The Director of Finance and Resources is in attendance (as lead Director) at meetings.  The 
Director of Corporate Development also attends meetings as the duties of the Company 
Secretary are encompassed in her role.  Representatives of internal and external audit are 
also invited and expected to attend.  The Chair of the Trust, the Chief Executive, other 
Directors, and relevant officers attend the Audit Committee by invitation.  
 
The Audit Committee has a number of responsibilities in relation to financial reporting.  
These are set out on the following table with information on how these have been addressed 
during 2016/17.  There were no significant issues in relation to the financial statements 
during the year. 
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Financial reporting Progress 
The Committee has responsibility for approving 
accounting policies. 

The Committee considered and approved minor 
changes to accounting policies at its meeting in 
January 2017.  These changes were supported 
by the Trust’s external auditor. 

The Committee has delegated authority from 
Trust Board to review the annual report and 
financial statements, both for the Trust and 
charitable Funds, and the Quality 
Accounts/Report and to make a recommendation 
to the Chair, Chief Executive and Director of 
Finance on the signing of the accounts and 
associated documents prior to submission. 

The Committee approved the annual report, 
accounts and Quality Accounts at its meeting on 
23 May 2016 prior to submission to NHS 
Improvement.  This included the Trust’s 
charitable funds.  The Committee also approved 
the stand-alone annual report and accounts for 
charitable funds in July 2016. 
As part of the consideration of the auditor’s 
report, the Committee received and reviewed the 
Use of Resources Assessment for 2015/16. 
The Committee also reviewed the external audit 
report on the production of Quality Accounts for 
2015/16.  (It should be noted that the scrutiny of 
the preparation, development and final content of 
the Quality Accounts is the responsibility of the 
Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety 
Committee.) 

The Committee also ensures that the systems 
for, and content of, financial reporting to Trust 
Board are subject to review so as to be assured 
of the completeness and accuracy of the 
information provided. 

The internal audit programme includes routine 
testing of the Trust’s financial reporting systems; 
however, financial reporting and scrutiny remains 
with Trust Board, including any review of the 
adequacy of reporting. 
The Committee receives a regular report on 
treasury management and reviews the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Policy on an annual 
basis (January 2017). 
The Committee also receives a detailed report on 
procurement activity, which monitors non-pay 
spend and progress on tenders, and progress 
against the Procurement Strategy and associated 
cost improvement programme. 
The Committee’s agenda includes a standing 
item to review progress towards implementation 
of service line reporting and currency 
development.  This has included assurance on 
operational implementation and use from BDU 
Directors. 
The Committee is also required, on behalf of 
Trust Board, to approve the methodology for 
determining the Trust’s reference cost 
submission.  This was considered at its meeting 
in April 2016. 
The Committee received and reviewed the Use of 
Resources Assessment for 2015/16. 

The Committee also: 
- reviews proposed changes to the Trust’s 

Standing Orders, Standing Financial 
Instructions and Scheme of Delegation; 

 
 
 
 
 

- examines circumstances associated with each 
occasion Standing Orders are waived; 

 
Changes to the Trust’s Standing Financial 
Instructions were approved by the Audit 
Committee and Trust Board in October 2016. 
Changes to the Trust’s Constitution (including the 
Standing Orders) and Scheme of Delegation 
were considered by the Committee in January 
2017 and approved by the Trust Board in January 
2017 and Members’ Council in February 2017. 
The Committee scrutinised all occasions when 
Standing Orders were waived in 2016/17, 
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Financial reporting Progress 
- reviews the schedules of losses and 

compensations on behalf of Trust Board. 
challenging as appropriate. 
The losses and special payments report is 
received by the Committee at each meeting and 
items scrutinised, with follow up actions as 
appropriate. 

 
As part of its external audit plan, Deloitte tested risks relating to CQUIN income recognition 
property valuations, management override of controls, accounting system upgrade and 
Community hub project as part of its review of the 2016/17 financial statements.  All controls 
around these risks were found to be appropriate and in line with Deloitte’s expectations.  
Recommendations following the audit have been made in relation to asset valuations, 
finance risk register and third party assurance.  These have been accepted by management 
and actions will be put in place to address each of them. 
 
The Audit Committee has a number of responsibilities in relation to the Trust’s external 
auditor.  These are set out in the following table with information on how these have been 
addressed during 2016/17.   
 
External audit Progress 
Consideration of the appointment and 
performance of the External Auditor, as far as 
Monitor’s (now NHS Improvement) rules permit. 
 

Following a re-procurement exercise during 2015, 
the Members’ Council approved a proposal to re-
appoint Deloitte as the Trust’s external auditor 
from 1 October 2015 for a period of three years.  
The Lead Governor for the Members’ Council 
was involved in the tender process. 

Discussion and agreement with the External 
Auditor, before the audit commences, of the 
nature and scope of the audit as set out in the 
Annual Audit Plan, and ensure coordination, as 
appropriate, with other External Auditors in the 
local health economy. 

The Audit Committee has received and approved 
the Annual Audit Plan (October 2016).  Progress 
against the plan is monitored at each meeting. 

Discussion with the External Auditors of its local 
evaluation of audit risks and assessment of the 
Trust and associated impact on the audit fee. 

The fee for Deloitte was approved as part of the 
re-appointment process in 2015. 
A formal audit plan was presented to and 
approved by the Committee in October 2016.  
This included an evaluation of risk, which is 
summarised under section 3.1 above. 

Review of External Audit reports, including 
agreement of the annual audit letter before 
submission to Trust Board and any work carried 
on outside of the annual audit plan, together with 
the appropriateness of management responses. 

The Audit Committee received and approved: 
 the statement for those with responsibility for 

governance in relation to 2015/16 accounts; 
 final reports and recommendations as 

scheduled in the annual plan. 
Develop and implement a policy on the provision 
of non-audit services by the External Auditor. 

The Trust Board have agreed to a change in the 
terms of reference of the Audit Committee with 
respect to the provision of non-audit services to 
be formally approved. 

 
The Audit Committee has a number of responsibilities in relation to the Trust’s internal audit 
and counter fraud functions.  These are set out in the following table with information on how 
these have been addressed during 2016/17. 
 
Counter Fraud Progress 
Consideration of the appointment of the Trust’s 
Local Counter Fraud Specialist, the fee and any 
questions of resignation or dismissal. 

See 3.2 above.  The Trust’s contract for internal 
audit services with KPMG includes provision of 
counter fraud services. The contract for counter 
fraud services has been retendered and has now 
been awarded to the Audit Yorkshire.  

Page 42 of 91 



 

Counter Fraud Progress 
Review the proposed work plan of the Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist ensuring that it 
promotes a pro-active approach to counter fraud 
measures. 

KPMG presented a programme of work to the 
Committee in April 2016, which was approved.  
The Committee receives a Counter Fraud update 
report at each meeting to identify progress and 
any significant issues for action. 
The Trust undertook a self-assessment against 
NHS Protect’s Standards for Providers, the 
outcome of which was reported to the Committee.  
The Trust achieved an amber rating, which 
demonstrates that the Trust meets the standards 
and had no red ratings.  The outcome against the 
standards has also been used as a baseline to 
prioritise counter fraud activity supported by 
responses to the staff counter fraud awareness 
survey and built into the counter fraud annual 
plan. In February 2016, the Committee received a 
further update following a review by KPMG.  In 
the main, the ratings remain as previously with no 
red ratings.  An action plan was put in place and 
was monitored by the Committee during 2016 
demonstrating improvements around staff 
communication and the approval of an anti-fraud, 
bribery and corruption policy in line with NHS 
protect guidance. 

Receive and review the annual report prepared 
by the Local Counter Fraud Specialist. 

The Committee received an annual report for 
2015/16 in July 2016. 

Receive update reports on any investigations that 
are being undertaken. 

These are included in the progress reports to the 
Audit Committee. 

 
Internal Audit Progress 
Consideration of the provision of the Internal 
Audit service, the cost of the audit and any 
questions of resignation and dismissal. 

In February 2016, the Committee approved a one 
year extension to KPMG’s contract to 30 June 
2017 given the changes within the organisation at 
a senior level and the desire to minimise 
unnecessary risk to the Trust. 
Following due process the Trust appointed new 
Internal Auditors 360 Assurance who will replace 
KPMG at the end of their contract period. 
 
Under the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 
all internal audit service providers are required to 
develop an internal audit charter, which is a 
formal document that defines the activities, 
purpose, authority and responsibilities of internal 
audit at the Trust.  It also ensures the internal 
audit service provided to the Trust meets the 
requirements of both Professional Internal 
Auditing Standards and KPMG’s own Internal 
Audit Manual.  This was approved by the 
Committee in July 2016. 

Review and approval of the Internal Audit 
strategy, programme of work, ensuring that this is 
consistent with the audit needs of the 
organisation as identified in the Assurance 
Framework. 

The Internal Audit Annual Plan for 2016/17 was 
presented to and approved by the Committee in 
April 2016.  The plan provides a risk-based 
analysis of the Trust’s operations, utilising the 
Trust Board assurance framework, reflecting the 
Trust’s corporate objectives, priorities and areas 
identified for improvement. 
Progress against the plan is reviewed at every 
meeting and this includes reports on the Trust’s 
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Internal Audit Progress 
progress against actions identified to address 
recommendations made by internal audit.  
Regular meetings are held with the Director of 
Finance to monitor progress against the work 
plan. 

Consideration of the major findings of internal 
audit work (and management’s response) and 
ensure co-ordination between the Internal and 
External Auditors to optimise audit resources. 

The Committee receives audit reports and audit 
findings in line with the audit plan.  The 
Committee ensures recommendations are 
followed up to ensure actions are taken in line 
with the action plans agreed.  From April 2016 to 
January 2017, 16 internal audit reports were 
presented to the Committee.  Of these, there 
were: 
- Two significant assurance opinions; 
- Seven significant assurance with minor 

improvement opportunities; 
- Seven partial assurance reports (job planning, 

medicines management, clinical record 
keeping/data quality, agile 
working/digitalisation, IT capability, Patients’ 
bank) 

- No ‘no’ assurance opinion. 
Management action has been agreed for all 
recommendations.  These are reported to the 
Committee and, where appropriate, progressed 
by KPMG.  In the main, there are no significant 
outstanding actions. 
The Committee also requested a return visit by 
internal audit in relation to an internal audit 
conduction on patients’ property in 2014.  While 
improvements were seen there were still some 
ongoing issues.  The Director of Finance advised 
further checks would be undertaken for a review 
internally and an update was provided to the 
Audit Committee in January 2017. 
The Audit Committee reviewed and received the 
Head of Internal Audit Opinion as part of the final 
accounts process for 2015/16.  This provided 
significant assurance with minor improvement 
opportunities. 

Ensure the Internal Audit function is adequately 
resourced and has appropriate standing in the 
organisation. 

 

The ongoing adequacy of resources is assessed 
as part of the review of the internal audit plan and 
monitoring progress.  No significant issues have 
been raised in-year. 

An annual review of the effectiveness of internal 
audit. 

KPMG has identified a number of performance 
areas against which the Committee can assess 
its performance.  Performance against these is 
reported to the Committee through the internal 
audit progress report at each meeting and a 
summary included in the internal audit annual 
report, received in May 2016. 
The Audit Committee and other relevant staff 
have also completed an established internal audit 
questionnaire to obtain feedback on the 
performance of internal audit. 
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In line with recommended best practice, the Audit Committee provides the following 
assurance to Trust Board. 
 
• The Annual Governance Statement is consistent with the view of the Committee. 
• Whilst the committee is not responsible for overall risk management within the Trust, it 

is satisfied that the system of risk management in the organisation is adequate. 
• The Assurance Framework is reviewed by Trust Board quarterly and is considered to 

be fit for purpose.  The Committee can assure Trust Board that it believes the 
processes for consideration and approval to be adequate.   

• There are no areas of significant duplication or omissions in the systems of 
governance in the organisation that have come to the Committee’s attention, which 
have not been adequately resolved.  

 

Non-NHS income disclosures 
The Trust has met the requirement under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012) that requires that the income from the provision of goods and services 
for the purposes of the health service in England are greater that the Trust’s income from the 
provision of goods and services for any other purposes.  There has been no impact from 
‘other’ income on the Trust’s provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health 
service in England. 
 

Statement as to disclosure to auditors 
For each individual who was a director at the time that the report is approved: 
 
• so far as the director was aware, there was no relevant audit information of which the 

NHS foundation trust’s auditor is unaware; and 
• the director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order 

to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
NHS foundation trust’s auditor is aware of that information.  

 

Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee 
The Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee provides assurance to Trust Board 
on service quality and the application of controls assurance in relation to clinical services.  It 
scrutinises the systems in place for effective care co-ordination and evidence-based 
practice, and focuses on quality improvement to ensure a co-ordinated holistic approach to 
clinical risk management and clinical governance is in place, protecting standards of clinical 
and professional practice.  The Committee met six times in 2016/17 and its membership was 
as follows: 

Name/role Attendance 2016/17 

Ian Black, Chair of the Trust 
 6 / 6 

Charlotte Dyson, Non-Executive Director  
 6 / 6 

Julie Fox, Deputy Chair of the Trust (Committee Chair)  
 6 / 6 

Adrian Berry, Medical Director / Deputy Chief Executive  
 6 / 6 

Tim Breedon, Director of Nursing and Quality (lead Director) 
 6 / 6 

Alan Davis, Director of Human Resources, OD and Estates 
 4 / 6 
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Name/role Attendance 2016/17 

Dawn Stephenson, Director of Corporate Development and 
Company Secretary 4 / 6 

 
District Directors and the Deputy Director of Nursing and Quality are in attendance at each 
meeting.  Clinical representatives and relevant Trust officers are invited to meetings as 
appropriate to ensure the remit of the Committee is adequately covered.  The Chief 
Executive, other Directors, and relevant officers attend the Clinical Governance and Clinical 
Safety Committee by invitation.   
 

Mental Health Act Committee 
The Mental Health Act Committee is responsible for ensuring the organisation is working 
within the legal requirements of the Mental Health Act (1983), as amended by the 2007 Act 
and Mental Capacity Act 2005, and with reference to guiding principles as set out in the 
Code of Practice and associated legislation as it applies to the Mental Health Act, the Mental 
Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Standards.   The Committee met five times in 
2016/17 and its membership was as follows: 

Name/role Attendance 2016/17 

Julie Fox, Deputy Chair of the Trust (Committee Chair to July 
2016),  4 / 5 

Chris Jones, Non-Executive Director (Committee Chair from 
August 2016)  5 / 5 

Jonathan Jones, Non-Executive Director (to December 2016) 
 2 / 3 

Ian Black, Chair of the Trust (from January 2017) 
  1 / 2 

Adrian Berry, Medical Director / Deputy Chief Executive (lead 
Director from September 2016)  5 / 5 

Tim Breedon, Director of Nursing and Quality (lead Director to 
August 2016)  4 / 5 

Dawn Stephenson, Director of Corporate Development and 
Company Secretary 4 / 5 

 
Representatives of the four local authorities, a representative of the three acute trusts 
covering the Trust’s geography, a representative from the District Directors, and one 
Associate Hospital Manager (as nominated by the Hospital Managers’ Forum) are invited to 
attend meetings.  The Assistant Director, Legal Services, is in attendance at meetings.  The 
Chief Executive, other Directors, and relevant officers attend the Mental Health Act 
Committee by invitation.  
 

Other Board-level Committees 

Charitable Funds Committee 
The Trust is a Corporate Trustee for its charitable funds.  As a result, it is required to set up 
a mechanism for the management and use of these funds to ensure it fulfils its obligations as 
a Corporate Trustee and to manage the Trust’s charitable funds in accordance with statutory 
requirements and Department of Health guidance.  The Committee was set up as a body 
separate from the Audit Committee in November 2003 following a report on the management 
of charitable funds in the NHS by the Audit Commission. 
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Due to the unique nature of this Committee, members are invited to join and must undertake 
training in the administration of charitable funds in order to discharge their duties.  The 
principle remains, however, that the Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive Director and 
membership includes other Non-Executive Directors.  
 

Other Board-level Forums 
Estates Forum 
The Estates Forum was established by Trust Board in May 2011 and its prime purpose is to 
provide assurance to Trust Board on the development and implementation of the Trust’s 
Estates Strategy.  The Forum is chaired by a Non-Executive Director and has Non-Executive 
and Executive Director membership.  Invited attendees include the Strategic Planning lead, 
Capital Projects and Estate Planning and the Head of Estates and Facilities. 
 
Equality and Inclusion Forum 
The Equality and Inclusion Forum was established by Trust Board in May 2015 and its prime 
purpose is to ensure the Trust improves the diversity of its workforce and embeds diversity 
and inclusion in everything it does, through promoting the values of inclusivity and treating 
people with respect and dignity.  The Forum is chaired by a Non-Executive Director and has 
Non-Executive and Executive Director membership.  Invited attendees include a Governor, 
Human Resources lead, Equality and Engagement lead, and a Staff Side Equality lead.  
 

Members’ Council 
For the Members’ Council role in governance arrangements, refer to section NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Governance (see page 64). 
 
Enhanced quality governance reporting 
The Trust has robust quality governance arrangements in place and our approach to quality 
reinforces the commitment to quality care that is safe, person-centred, efficient and effective.  
Our approach specifies the responsibilities held by individuals, business delivery units, the 
Executive Management Team and Trust Board, co-ordinated by the Quality Academy.  The 
Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee is the lead committee for quality 
governance.  Trust Board and the Executive Management Team receive quarterly quality 
performance reports as well as monthly compliance reporting against quality indicators.  We 
monitor performance against Care Quality Commission regulations through a quarterly self-
assessment.  External validation, accreditation, assessment and quality schemes support 
self-assessment (for example, accreditation of areas of Trust services, Care Quality 
Commission Mental Health Act visits, achievement of level 1 NHS litigation authority risk 
management standards, and implementation of Essence of Care and Productive Ward).  
Measures are implemented and maintained to ensure practice and services are reviewed 
and improvements identified and delivered, such as the Trust’s prioritised clinical audit and 
practice evaluation programme. 
 
The Trust continues to build on its existing service user insight framework to enhance and 
increase understanding of the Trust’s services, to demonstrate the quality of services and to 
show the actions taken in response to the feedback.  This has resulted in an increase in the 
number of issues raised and in the number of compliments received, which is a positive 
development in the context of the encouragement that the Trust gives to people to offer 
feedback in all its forms. 
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More information on the Trust’s approach to quality governance and its performance against 
its quality priorities can be found in Section 1 of this report and in the Trust’s quality accounts 
for 2016/17. 
 
The arrangements for internal control can be found in the Chief Executive’s annual 
governance statement later in this report.  Both the Statement and the Board assurance 
framework are subject to independent review.  An assessment by internal audit found the 
Trust’s arrangements around the assurance framework and its risk management processes 
provided significant assurance and the Head of Internal Audit Opinion is one of significant 
assurance with minor improvement opportunities given on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control. 
 
There are no material inconsistencies between the Annual Governance and Corporate 
Governance Statements, quality and annual reports, annual and quarterly Board statements 
required by Monitor’s (now NHS Improvement) Risk Assessment Framework and reports 
arising from the Care Quality Commission. 
 

Patient care 
One of the quality priorities in 2016//17 was ‘Care’. By caring, we mean that staff involve and 
treat people with compassion, kindness, dignity and respect. We believe that individualised 
personal care is essential to enable a person’s recovery. Everybody should have an 
appropriate assessment of their needs and an individualised care plan that supports them in 
achieving their goals. ‘Caring’ quality initiatives in 2016/17 were: 
 
• Friends and Family Test 
• Accessible service user experience information for people with dementia. 
• Develop volunteering strategy to support service user experience. 
• Quality of care plans 
 
Further information is within the Quality Accounts for 2016/17. 
 

Stakeholder relations 
The Trust continues to work in partnership with its staff, stakeholders and partners.  Key 
activity during 2016/17 has focussed on national initiatives and the development of 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans (health and social care organisations working in 
partnership to drive sustainable transformation in patient experience and health outcomes) 
on a regional footprint. 
 
Further information can be found under the working in partnership with our stakeholders 
performance analysis section (see page 24). 
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Section 2.2 Remuneration report 
Annual statement on remuneration 
The Trust’s remuneration policy remains that the terms and conditions for staff reflect 
nationally determined arrangements under Agenda for Change.  No provision for 
compensation for early termination is included in staff contracts and any provision for 
compensation for termination would be considered on an individual basis by the 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee.   
 
In 2014/15, the Trust introduced a local Clinical Excellence Award Scheme based on the 
previous national employer-based awards scheme.  This has continued in 2016/17.  The 
local Scheme is designed to promote and reward medical excellence linked to delivery of the 
Trust’s strategic goals and contribution to leadership and management arrangements 
remains.   
 
The Chair of the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee is able to confirm that, 
during 2016/17, there were no major decisions on senior managers’ remuneration and no 
substantial changes in-year.  
 
For the purposes of the annual report, the definition of “senior managers” is “those persons 
in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major 
activities of the Trust”.  The Chief Executive has confirmed that this includes the Chair, Non-
Executive Directors, Executive (voting) Directors and non-voting Directors. 
 

Senior managers’ remuneration policy 
The Trust’s approach to the remuneration policy for its Executive Directors is that it is fair, 
justifiable and transparent enabling the Trust to recruit and retain high calibre personnel to 
achieve its aims and objectives.  The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee is 
responsible and has delegated authority from Trust Board to set the pay and conditions of 
senior managers within the Trust and this is subject to regular review and external 
benchmarking.  The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee determined the 
remuneration policy for directors with specialist external advice. Any significant changes in 
directors remuneration is undertaken also with external specialist support. The Trust did not 
consult the employees on the formulation of the policy. 
 
The Committee took the decision in November 2015 to align non-voting Directors’ 
remuneration with Band 9 pay range under Agenda for Change in light of national 
developments in relation to Very Senior Managers’ pay.  From 1 April 2016, all non-voting 
Director appointments will reflect this arrangement and existing non-voting Directors’ 
remuneration.  Other terms and conditions for Executive and other Directors are in line with 
national arrangements under Agenda for Change with the exception that Executive and non-
voting Directors are not awarded automatic incremental progression on their salary scale but 
are subject to earned remuneration linked to the performance related pay scheme. 
 
The package for senior managers is made up of salary, pension and a performance related 
pay scheme (if eligible).  The information contained on pages 54-56 relating to the salary 
and pension entitlements of senior managers within the Trust is subject to audit and is taken 
from the Trust’s accounts for 2016/17. 
 
The Chief Executive and the Medical Director are the only senior managers paid over 
£142,500.  The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee considers both to be 
reasonable as the Chief Executive’s salary is independently evaluated on a regular basis, is 
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consistent with the Trust’s remuneration policy and is benchmarked against peers within the 
NHS.  The Medical Director’s salary is based on and benchmarked against comparative 
organisations. 
 
Details of appointment dates for Executive Directors of the Trust are included in the table 
under the Directors’ report in section 2.1 above.  There are no Executive Directors appointed 
on fixed term contracts; therefore, there are no unexpired terms and contracts do not contain 
provision for early termination of a contract.  All Executive Directors are subject to a six-
month notice period, which was considered and approved by the Remuneration and Terms 
of Service Committee in February 2015.  The notice period for other Directors remains as 
three months. 
 
 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 

Band of highest paid Director's total remuneration (£000's) 185-190 170 - 175 

Median total remuneration* £’s 27,480 28,374 

Remuneration ratio 6.7 6.1 
 
The remuneration ratio is a comparison of the highest paid director and the median 
remuneration of all staff.  The median total remuneration and the remuneration ratio do not 
include the value of pension-related benefits in their calculation. 
 

Non-Executive Director remuneration 
There has been no change to the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors during 2016/17.  
Remuneration remains at £13,250 per annum against an expected time commitment of at 
least 2.5 to 3 days per month.  This was approved by the Members Council in April 2014. 
 
Following an independent review of Chair remuneration undertaken by CAPITA, the 
Members’ Council considered a proposal to establish an incremental scale for the position of 
Chair of £42,500/£45,000/£47,500/£50,000/£52,500 per annum with movement within the 
scale based on performance informed by the Chair’s annual appraisal.  This was approved 
by the Members’ Council in July 2015.  At the same time, the Members’ Council approved a 
proposal to move the current Chair to the next incremental point of £50,000 per annum from 
1 May 2015 based on his performance appraisal and the decision taken by the Members’ 
Council to re-appoint him as Chair for a further three years. There was no change to the 
remuneration of Chair during 2016/17, however at the Members’ Council in April 2017 the 
Council approved the Chair’s progression to the maximum point with effect from 1 May 2016, 
based on the Chair’s 2016 appraisal completed by the Members’ Council in November 2016. 
 
Details of appointment dates for Non-Executive Directors of the Trust are included in the 
table in the Directors’ report at section 2.1 above.  Non-Executive Directors are usually 
appointed for a three-year term and can be re-appointed for further terms up to a maximum 
of nine years; however, it is the view of the Chair that Non-Executive Directors should serve 
a maximum of six years other than in exceptional circumstances. 
 

Performance related pay scheme 
In 2010, the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee agreed that a Performance 
Related Pay (PRP) Scheme should form part of the remuneration arrangements for 
Directors.  The purpose of the Scheme is to recognise and reward both the collective 
accountability for corporate performance and individual performance that exceeds what 
could reasonably be expected from an experienced and competent director. 
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The Scheme for 2016/2017 comprises two elements.  Firstly, three corporate gateway 
objectives designed to link to the Trust’s medium and short term strategic goals and, 
secondly, a set of individual objectives for each director against which their personal 
performance is assessed.   
 
The three elements of the gateway objectives are as follows. 
 
1. Effective financial management and planning (which would be based on the Trust 

achieves a minimum financial risk rating of 2 or above). 
 

2. Effective governance, maintaining compliance and service quality (which would include 
the outcome of Care Quality Commission inspection, and maintaining the terms of the 
Trust’s Licence). 

 
3. Living the values (which would be based on the outcome of staff wellbeing and 

engagement surveys, feedback from external stakeholders, including from the well-led 
review, and service user and carer feedback.) 

 
The overall maximum performance award for a Director is 10% of base salary with 5% 
available for gateway objectives and 5% for personal objectives, however, the Committee 
took the decision that no award could be made unless all 3 gateway objectives are achieved. 
 
The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee agreed that, if a new director joins the 
Trust part-way through the year but before 1 October 2016, they would be eligible to join the 
Scheme with an award pro-rated to the number of completed months.  Directors must have 
completed at least six months and remain employed by the Trust on 31 March 2017.  
Directors who leave prior to 31 March 2017 will not be eligible for an award. 
 
There are a number of control measures in place to ensure the Scheme continues to 
promote and reward performance but ensures pay levels remain fair, reasonable and 
justifiable. This includes regularly benchmarking to ensure any PRP payments still keeps 
remuneration in line with appropriate levels.  
 
The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee met in May 2017 after the Trust’s 
accounts were effectively closed and determined that the gateway objectives had not been 
met.  In performance reports to the Trust Board, the breach of the agency cap seems to 
indicate that gateway objective 1 Effective Financial Management and Planning has not 
been achieved and therefore on this basis no PRP awards would be made for 2016/17. 
 

Annual report on remuneration 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 
The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee has delegated authority from our Board 
to: 
 
• develop and determine appropriate pay and reward packages for the Chief Executive 

and Executive Directors, and a local pay framework for senior managers that actively 
contribute to the achievement of the Trust’s aims and objectives; 

• approve any termination payments for the Chief Executive and Executive Directors; 
• ratify Clinical Excellence Awards for Consultant Medical Staff. 
 
The Committee also supports the strategic development of human resources and workforce 
development, and considers issues and risks relating to the broader workforce strategy.  On 
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behalf of Trust Board, it reviews in detail key workforce performance issues. The Committee 
met five times in 2016/17 and its membership was as follows: 
 
Name/role Attendance 2016/17 

Ian Black, Chair of the Trust (Chair of the Committee to December 
2016, then a member)  4 / 5 

Rachel Court, Non-Executive Director (Chair of the Committee from 
January 2017)  5 / 5 

Jonathan Jones, Non-Executive Director (to December 2016) 
 3 / 3 

Charlotte Dyson, Non-Executive Director (from January 2017) 
 2 / 2 

Rob Webster, Chief Executive (non-voting Committee member) 
 5 / 5 

 
The Chief Executive and Executive Directors are appointed by the Remuneration and Terms 
of Service Committee on behalf of Trust Board.  The Chief Executive’s appointment is 
ratified by the Members’ Council.  Trust Board agrees an appropriate appointment process 
to suit the needs of the appointment and the Trust.  Directors’ remuneration is also 
determined by this Committee.  
 
Alan Davis, Director of Human Resources, Organisational Development and Estates, 
provides advice and guidance to the Committee, and the Committee is provided with 
administrative support by the Integrated Governance Manager.  No other external support of 
advice, whether from an individual or organisation, was sought by the Committee during the 
year. 
 

Nominations Committee 
The Nominations Committee is a sub-group of the Members’ Council, chaired by the Chair of 
the Trust, and the majority of members are governors.  The Chief Executive is also a 
member of the Committee and the Director of Corporate Development attends in her role as 
Company Secretary.  The Committee’s purpose is two-fold.  Firstly, to ensure the right 
composition and balance of the Board and, secondly, to oversee the process for the 
identification, nomination and appointment of the Chair and Non-Executive Directors of the 
Trust, to oversee the process for the identification, nomination and appointment of the 
Deputy Chair and Senior Independent Director of the Board, and to oversee the process to 
identify, nominate and appoint the Lead Governor of the Members’ Council.  The Committee 
met two times in 2016/17 and its membership was as follows: 
 
Name/role Attendance 2016/17 

Marios Adamou, Governor – staff elected 
 0 / 2 

Ian Black, Chair of the Trust (Committee Chair) 
 2 / 2 

Nasim Hasnie, Governor – publically elected 
 2 / 2 

Andrew Hill, Lead Governor – publically elected 
 2 / 2 

Ruth Mason, Governor – appointed 
 

2 / 2 

Rob Webster, Chief Executive 
 

2 / 2 
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The Nominations Committee works in accordance with the Trust’s Constitution and has a 
process in place for the appointment of the Chair and Non-Executive Directors.  For Chair 
and Non-Executive Director appointments, the Committee will: 
 
• review the balance of skills, experience and knowledge on the Board to ensure it 

remains fit for purpose, taking into account the needs of the organisation, the skills and 
experience within the Executive Director function and future developments that would 
affect the skills and experience required; 

• consider whether to work with an external organisation to identify candidates with 
appropriate skills and experience required for such vacancies; 

• with the support of an external organisation, if appropriate, identify suitable candidates 
through a process of open competition, which takes account of the above approach 
and the skills and experience required, which are set out in a clear person specification 
and in information for potential candidates to support the appointment process. 

 
In 2016/17, following Jonathan Jones, Non-Executive Director leaving the Trust on 31 
December 2017, the Nominations Committee supported the proposal for recruitment of a 
replacement to be paused until summer 2017.  This was due to discussions taking place 
around Directors portfolios and the end of Julie Fox’s second term on 31 July 2017.  Pausing 
the process will allow for recruitment to take place for both positions at the same time. 
 

Payments for loss of office 
In 2016/17, a redundancy payment was made to the Director of Health Innovation and 
Intelligence in line with the Agenda for Change terms and conditions of service. In 
accordance with the national terms and conditions this payment was capped at the 
maximum salary of £80,000pa and maximum reckonable years of service which is 24. This 
gave a redundancy compensation payment of £160,000.  
 

Payments to past senior managers 
In 2016/17, there were no payments of money or other assets to any individual who was not 
a senior manager during the financial year but has previously been a senior manager at any 
time.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rob Webster 
Chief Executive    Date:  25 May 2017 
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Section 2.3 Staff report 
Our workforce is our most important resource and is by far the largest area of expenditure.  
Our staff make the biggest difference to the lives of the people who use our services and it is 
their dedication, commitment and professionalism that means we can deliver services that 
enable people to reach their potential and live well in their community.  Our aim, therefore, is 
to develop a value-based culture that makes our staff feel able and capable to deliver the 
best quality services possible within the resources available.  This requires investment to 
ensure we recruit, retain, develop and motivate a representative workforce that has the right 
skills to continue to provide responsive, effective and safe mental health, learning disability 
and community services.   
 
The Trust’s Strategic Human Resources Framework recognises the need to develop and re-
design the workforce to ensure it is fit for purpose and sustainable.  The framework has 
three strategic work streams relating to workforce development and planning, staff 
engagement and wellbeing, and leadership and management development. The three 
strategic Human Resources work streams are underpinned by a value based approach to 
the management and development of the workforce a strong commitment to equality and 
diversity in the workplace.  
 
The make-up of our Board and staff at 31 March 2017 is outlined below.  Information on 
average staff numbers can be found in the accounts on page 20. 
 
 Total Male Female 

Non-Executive Directors 6 3 (50%) 3 (50%) 

Executive Directors 5 5 (100%) 0 

Other Directors (non voting) 6 1 (17%) 5 (83%) 

Staff 4475 1040 (23%) 3435 (77%) 

 
During 2016/17, on average, of 4,009 WTE, 3,538  staff are on permanent contracts, and 
471 on ‘other’ contracts.  This compares to 4,406 WTE in 2015/16 with 3,895 staff on 
permanent contracts and 511 on ‘other’.  Changes to our workforce reflect an ongoing drive 
to improve efficiency, effectiveness and productivity, and arise from our transformation 
programme, our cost improvement programme, our contract and tendering activity, and local 
and national investment priorities, such as Early Intervention in Psychosis and child and 
adolescent mental health services. 
 
The staff turnover rate for the Trust at 31 March 2017 was 11.7%%, which is above the 
target range of 5 to 10%.   
 
Trust Board set a target sickness absence rate of <=4.4%% for 2016/17; the Trust achieved 
a rate of 5.1%.  Staff sickness data as required by the Cabinet Office will be published on the 
Trust’s website. 
 
The table below shows the staff in post by the different occupation groups as at 31 March 
2017. 
 
Staff in post by occupation group  2016/17 FTE 2016/17 Heads 
Add professional, scientific and technical  277.90 332 
Additional clinical services  832.02 977 
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Staff in post by occupation group  2016/17 FTE 2016/17 Heads 
Administration and clerical 801.25 949 
Allied health professions 261.21 319 
Estates and ancillary  290.87 373 
Medical and dental 157.69 173 
Nursing and midwifery registered 1,204.09 1347 
Students  5.00 5 
Total  3,830.02 4475 
NB it should be noted that these figures will differ from those reported on page 20 of the accounts.  
The above figures are at a point in time (31 March 2017) and those in the accounts represent an 
average over the financial year.   
 
Equality and diversity 
 

Staff as at 
31 March 2017 

Age Band Females Males Total 
19 and Under 10 3 13 
20 – 24 108 23 131 
25 - 29 303 70 373 
30 - 34 372 93 465 
35 - 39 380 127 507 
40 - 44 413 140 553 
45 - 49 509 174 683 
50 - 54 604 210 814 
55 - 59 430 114 544 
60 - 64 237 60 297 
65 - 69 50 19 69 
70+ 19 7 26 
Total: 3435 1040 4475 

 
Census Group Grand Total 
Asian 4.06% 
Black 2.29% 
Chinese or Other 1.10% 
Mixed 0.99% 
White 91.56% 
Grand Total 100.00% 

 
During 2016/17, 61 redundancies were actioned by the Trust (see below).  The exit 
packages were made in accordance with nationally agreed arrangements.  Information for 
2015/16 is also included below. 
 
Exit package cost 

band 
Number of 

compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages by cost 

band 
 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 
<£10,000 7 12 22 0 29 12 
£10,001 - £25,000 8 18 1 0 9 18 
£25,001 - £50,000 6 17 0 0 6 17 
£50,001 - £100,000 7 11 0 0 7 11 
£100,001 - £150,000 2 1 0 0 2 1 
£150,001 - £200,000 2 2 0 0 2 2 
Total number of 
exit packages by 
type 

32 61 23 0 55 61 

Total resource cost £1,478,000 £2,265,000 £91,000 0 £1,569,000 £2,265,000 
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In 2016/17 there were no ‘other’ departures including contractual payments made to 
individuals in lieu of notice (23 in 2015/16). 
 
Exit packages non-compulsory departure Agreements/number Total value of 

agreements £000 
 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 
Voluntary redundancies including early retirement 
contractual costs 

0 0 0 0 

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual 
costs 

0 0 0 0 

Early retirement in the efficiency of the service 
contractual costs 

0 0 0 0 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 23 0 £91,000 0 
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or 
court orders 

0 0 0 0 

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT 
approval 

0 0 0 0 

Total 23 0 £91,000 0 
Of which non-contractual payments requiring 
HMT approval made to individuals where the 
payment value was more than 12 months of their 
annual salary 

0 0 0 0 

 
In terms of exit packages, the highest paid in 2016/17 was £160,000 and the lowest was 
£3,833.  This is against a high of £160,000 and low of £727 in 2015/16. 
 
The approach reflects the Trust’s policy to reduce management costs to protect front-line 
services, involving the streamlining of both support and operational services at senior 
management level and to introduce new management arrangements.  There were no 
significant awards made to past senior managers. 
 
During 2016/17, the Trust has reported £621,000 of consultancy expenditure in relation to 
the provision of advice and guidance outside the normal course of business.  This spend is 
broken down into the following areas: 
 
• advice and guidance to support the Trust’s transformation programme;  
• project guidance as part of the Trust’s Altogether Better programme, a programme 

designed to create healthier communities and better quality health services; and 
• advice and guidance to support the Trust’s Estates and Information Management & 

Technology (IM&T) strategies. 
 

Staff engagement 
In 2016/17, the Trust Board approved a Communications, Engagement and Involvement 
Strategy which includes the active engagement of staff.  The Trust’s approach to staff 
engagement includes the following objectives to: 
 
• create a model for staff engagement that provides a better alignment between what we 

do now, where we want to be and identifies any gaps; 
• provide a clear purpose for staff engagement activity essential to a high performing 

organisation; 
• provide a framework to promote sustainable staff engagement; 
• make clear that staff engagement is everybody’s business; and 
• identify the key processes by which the Trust will promote staff engagement. 
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The Trust has a Social Partnership Agreement which promotes active engagement and 
consultation with recognised Staff Side Organisations on employee related policies.  
Employees related policies are developed and consulted through an Employment Policy Sub 
Group which consists of Managers, Human Resources representatives and Staff Side 
Organisations. Policies are consulted with a view to agreement through the sub group and 
then agreed through the Trust wide Staff Partnership Forum.  All employment policies have a 
Equality Impact Assessment undertaken prior to agreement. This includes the impact on 
disabled employees. 
 
The Trust has locality Health and Safety groups with an overarching Health and Safety and 
Emergency Planning Trust Action Group which includes staff side, managers and specialist 
advisers. 
 
Annual health and wellbeing survey is sent to all staff and results are feedback to all staff 
and actions plans developed in response by the Wellbeing at Work Group. 
 
Staff survey 
The annual national NHS staff survey, which aims to improve the working experience of staff 
in the NHS, was carried out between October-December 2016.  The survey was sent to a 
randomly selected sample of 1250 Trust staff.  The response rate was 44%, which is 
average compared with similar NHS organisations.   
 

2015 2016 
Trust National Average Trust National Average Trust position 
50% 41% 44% 44% Average 

 
The Trusts top 5 ranking results 

Top 5 ranking scores 
2015 2016 

Trust National 
average Trust National 

average 
Trust 

Position 
Staff feeling satisfied with the 
quality of work and patient care 
they are able to deliver 

3.97 scale 
summary 

score 

3.89 scale 
summary 

score 

3.99 
scale summary 

score 

3.89 
scale summary 

score 

Above 
average 

Percentage of staff working 
extra hours 63% 72% 65% 71% Below 

average 

Percentage of staff believing the 
organisation provides equal 
opportunities for career 
progression or promotion 

91% 89% 90% 88% Above 
average 

Percentage of staff reporting 
errors, near misses or incidents 
witnessed in the last month 

91% 92% 96% 93% Above 
average 

Organisation and management 
interest in and action on health 
and well-being 

3.69 3.69 
3.79 

scale summary 
score 

3.74 
scale summary 

score 

Above 
average 
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The Trusts bottom 5 ranking results 

Bottom 5 ranking scores 
2015 2016 

Trust National 
average Trust National 

average 
Trust 

Position 
Staff motivation at work 3.84 scale 

summary 
score 

3.94 scale 
summary 

score 

3.85 
scale summary 

score 

3.94 
scale summary 

score 

Below 
average 

Percentage of staff witnessing 
potentially harmful errors, near 
misses or incidents in the last 
month 

22% 22% 27% 24% Above 
average 

Percentage of staff experiencing 
physical violence from patients, 
relatives or the public in last 12 
months 

19% 15% 18% 15% Above 
average 

Staff confidence and security in 
reporting unsafe clinical practice 3.59 3.70 

3.60 
scale summary 

score 

3.71 
scale summary 

score 

Below 
average 

Percentage of staff satisfied 
with the opportunities for flexible 
working patterns 

58% 56% 56% 58% Below 
average 

 

Changes in results since 2015 
Where staff experience has improved since 2015: 
 
• Percentage of staff reporting good communication between senior management and 

staff, this has increased from 28% to 35%, the national average is 35%. 
• Fairness and effectiveness of procedures for reporting errors, near misses and 

incidents, scale summary score increased from 3.65 to 3.75, the national average is 
3.77. 

 
Where staff experience has worsened since 2015, there were no scores where there has 
been a statistically significant negative change: 
 
• Percentage of staff witnessing potentially harmful errors, near misses or incidents in 

the last month 27%, increased from 24%. 
• Percentage of staff feeling unwell due to work related stress in the last 12 months 

40%, increased from 35%. 
 
Actions 2016 NHS Staff Survey 
The action plan will focus on the following key areas where the feedback from staff identified 
that the Trust needed to improve and where the results were below average.   
 
The percentage of staff attending work in last 3 months despite feeling unwell due to 
pressure to attend 
The Trust is committed to improving employee well-being and resilience. A key aim is to 
ensure the prevention of ill health. The Trust’s well-being at work partnership group will 
review these results and agree actions. A key focus will be preventing illness due to work 
related MSK injury and work related stress.  
 
Staff confidence and security to report unsafe clinical practice 
The freedom to speak up guardians have been appointed and work is ongoing to ensure 
their role is clearly understood by all staff and staff are properly supported to raise concerns. 
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There is ongoing work to promote the guardian role and encourage colleagues to raise any 
concerns. 
 
Reducing levels of physical violence in the workplace 
The MAV team will review these results and ensure actions are taken to reduce levels of 
aggression and violence in the workplace.  
 
Flexible working opportunities 
The Trust has guidance on flexible working options and the process of making requests for 
flexible working. Further promotion will take place to encourage managers and staff to 
review flexible working opportunities in line with service needs.  
 
Other local surveys/related workforce initiatives 
The NHS staff survey results are reviewed alongside the Trust’s wellbeing at work survey 
results, which has been administered in partnership with Robertson Cooper, occupational 
psychologists.  The next well-being survey is being launched in May 2017. 
 
The Trust agreed a Workforce Strategy 2017- 2020 and the NHS Staff Survey feedback will 
be used to review our progress in implementing our strategy.  
 

Review of the NHS Staff Survey action plan  
The Trust is developing an action plan in response to the NHS Staff Survey 2016, which will 
be overseen by the Wellbeing at Work Partnership Group.  The group will also monitor 
progress in delivery of the action plan focussing on the key areas outlined above.  Progress 
will be reviewed by monitoring NHS Staff Survey data and other relevant workforce 
information. 
 

High paid off-payroll arrangements 
The Trust is required to disclose the following information in relation to any off-payroll 
arrangements in place as at 31 March 2017 and any new arrangements entered into in 
2016/17.  The Trust’s policy towards off-payroll arrangements is that it enters into them as 
an exception and, in instances where it does so, this reflects the need to secure specialists 
undertaking short-term roles for which internal capacity or expertise is not available or 
consultancy support and advice required outside of the normal business environment. 
 
TABLE 1: For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017 for more than £220 per day and 
that last longer than six months 
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017 68 
Of which:  
- number that have existed for less than one year at the time of reporting 
- number that have existed for between one and two years at the time of reporting 
- number that have existed for between two and three years at the time of reporting 
- number that have existed for between three and four years at the time of reporting 
- number that have existed for four or more years at the time of reporting 

41 
20 
6 
1 
0  

Confirmation that all existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have, at some point, 
been subjected to a risk-based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the 
individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been 
sought. 

Yes 
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TABLE 2: For all new off-payroll engagements or those that reached six months in duration 
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 for more than £220 per day and that last for longer 
than six months  
Number of new engagements or those that reached six months in duration between 1 April 
2016 and 31 March 2017 

15 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the right to request 
assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations 

15 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 15 
Of which: 
- number for whom assurance has been received 
- number for whom assurance has not been received 
- number that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received 

 
15 
0 
0 

 
TABLE 3: For any off-payroll engagements of board members and/or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members and/or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility during the financial year 

1 

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members and/or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility’ during the financial year.  This figure should include both 
off-payroll and on-payroll engagements. 

21 

For the above, details of the exceptional 
circumstances that led to each of these 
engagements. 

One off-payroll engagement relates to one of our 
Non-Executive Directors, who is a partner in an 
international law firm (Squire Patton Boggs).  They 
allow time for him to fulfil his Non-Executive 
Director duties and the monies are paid direct to the 
Squire Patton Boggs.  The Non-Executive does not 
receive any direct payment and his tax 
arrangements are dealt with through Squire Patton 
Boggs.  This has been the case since his 
appointment on 1 June 2010.  He was re-appointed 
for a further 3 years on 1 June 2013 so the 
arrangement will effectively end on 31 May 2016. 
This arrangement ended on 31st December 2016.  
Squire Patton Boggs invoices the Trust for the 
remuneration. 
(It should be noted that Non-Executive Directors 
are not 'salaried'; they receive a remuneration for 
their work and are not employees of the Trust 
although, with this one exception, Non-Executive 
Directors are paid through the Trust's payroll.)  

For the above, details of the length of time 
each of these exceptional engagements lasted. 

4+ years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Rob Webster 
Chief Executive    Date:  25 May 2017 
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Section 2.4 NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance 
South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles of the 
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a 'comply or explain' basis.  The NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Practice, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on the 
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012.  The Trust is required to 
provide a specific set of disclosures in its annual report to meet the requirements of the 
Code of Governance.  For provisions in the Code that require a supporting explanation, even 
where we are compliant, are included in our annual report.  There is also a further set of 
provisions that have a “comply or explain” requirement.  The Trust can confirm that it 
complies with these provisions. 
 

Our Members’ Council 

Our Members’ Council has a duty to hold the Non-Executive Directors of the Trust 
individually and collectively to account for the performance of the Board of Directors, and to 
represent the interests of the members of the Foundation Trust as a whole and the interests 
of the public.  As a Trust, we work to ensure our governors are equipped with the skills and 
knowledge they need to fulfil their duties.   
 
The Members’ Council also has a number of specific duties, including appointing and 
removing the Chair and other Non-Executive Directors, agreeing the remuneration of the 
Chair and other Non-Executive Directors, ratifying the appointment of the Chief Executive, 
and appointing and removing the Trust’s external auditor.  The Members’ Council is also 
presented with the annual report and accounts and the report from our external auditor, and 
provides views on our forward plans.  It also reviews the Trust’s approach to membership 
and the policy for the composition of the Members’ Council and of the Non-Executive 
Directors, and, when appropriate, makes recommendations for the revision of the 
constitution. During 2016/17 the Members Council reviewed and approved the Trust’s 
Constitution. The Council established a membership strategy sub-group and at its meeting 
April 2017 approved a revised Membership Strategy and supporting action plans.  
 
The Members’ Council is made up of elected public representatives of members from 
Barnsley, Calderdale, Kirklees, Wakefield and the rest of South and West Yorkshire, elected 
staff representatives, and appointed members from key local partner organisations.  It 
provides an important link between the Trust, local communities and key organisations, 
sharing information and views that can be used to develop and improve services.  The 
Members’ Council is chaired by the Chair of the Trust, who ensures appropriate links 
between the Members’ Council and the Trust Board. Contact can be made with our 
governors through the membership office, details are available on the Trusts website.   
 
There are 34 places on the Members’ Council made up as in the diagram on the following 
page. 
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Lead Governor 
The role of the Lead Governor is to act as the communication channel for direct contact 
between NHS Improvement and the Members’ Council, should the need arise, chair any 
parts of Members’ Council meetings that cannot be chaired by the person chairing due to a 
conflict of interest in relation to the business being discussed, be a member of Nominations 
Committee, be involved in the assessment of the Chair and Non-Executive Directors’ 
performance and be a member of the Co-ordination Group to assist in the planning and 
setting of the Members’ Council agenda.   
 
Andrew Hill was appointed as Lead Governor by the Members’ Council in July 2016, 
following a recommendation from the Nominations Committee, for a period of two years, 
subject to his re-election as a governor in 2017.  Given the outcome of the election in April 
2017, a process has begun through the Nominations Committee to appoint a new Lead 
Governor from the publicly elected governors on the Members’ Council for approval in July 
2017. 
 

Our governors 
The table below sets out the governors in place as at 31 March 2017:  
 
Name/representing Term of office Members’ Council 

attendance 2016/17 

Lead Governor 
From July 2017 
Andrew Hill 
Elected – public Barnsley 

1 August 2011 for 2.5 years 
Re-elected 1 May 2014 for three 
years 

3 / 4 
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Name/representing Term of office Members’ Council 
attendance 2016/17 

To May 2016 
Michael Smith 
Elected – public Calderdale 

 
1 May 2010 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2013 for three 
years 

 
0 / 0 

Governors 
Shaun Adam 
Elected – public Barnsley 

1 May 2016 for three years 1 / 4 

Marios Adamou 
Elected – staff medicine and 
pharmacy 

1 May 2012 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2015 for three 
years 

2 / 4 

Garry Brownbridge 
Elected – staff psychological 
therapies 

1 May 2014 for three years 
1 / 4 

Jessica Carrington 
Appointed – Wakefield Council 

9 May 2016 for three years 2 / 4 

Bob Clayden 
Elected – public Wakefield 

1 May 2016 for three years 4 / 4 

Jackie Craven 
Elected – public Wakefield 

1 May 2014 for three years 4 / 4 

Andrew Crossley 
Elected – public Barnsley 

1 May 2014 for three years 4 / 4 

Adrian Deakin 
Elected – staff nursing 

1 May 2012 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2015 for three 
years 

3 / 4 

Trudi Enright 
Elected – public Calderdale 

1 May 2016 for three years 1 / 4 

Michael Fenton 
Elected – public Kirklees 

1 May 2014 for three years 1 / 4 

Claire Girvan 
Elected – staff allied health 
professionals 

1 May 2012 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2015 for three 
years 

4 / 4 

Stefanie Hampson 
Appointed – Staff side organisations 

24 February 2016 for three years 3 / 4 

Nasim Hasnie 
Elected – public Kirklees 

1 May 2011 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2014 for three 
years 

4 / 4 

John Haworth 
Elected – staff non-clinical support 

1 May 2012 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2015 for three 
years 

3 / 4 

Chris Hollins 
Elected – public Wakefield 

1 May 2015 0 / 4 

Carol Irving 
Elected – public Kirklees 

1 May 2016 4 / 4 

Ruth Mason 
Appointed Calderdale and 
Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust 

8 November 2011 for three years 
Reappointed 8 November 2014 1 / 4 

Bob Mortimer 
Elected – public Kirklees 

1 May 2009 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2012 for three 
years 
Re-elected 1 May 2015 for three 
years 

4 / 4 

Chris Pillai 
Appointed – Calderdale Council 

8 June 2016 for three years 1 / 4 

Jules Preston 
Appointed – Mid-Yorkshire Hospitals 
NHS Trust 

13 June 2013 for three years 
Reappointed 13 June 2016 for three 
years 

2 / 4 
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Name/representing Term of office Members’ Council 
attendance 2016/17 

Daniel Redmond 
Elected – public Calderdale 

1 May 2014 for three years 3 / 4 

Caroline Saunders 
Appointed – Barnsley Council 

8 June 2016 for three years 1 / 4 

Phil Shire 
Elected – public Calderdale 

1 May 2016 for three years 3 / 4 

Jeremy Smith 
Elected – public Kirklees 

1 May 2016 for three years 4 / 4 

Richard Smith 
Appointed – Kirklees Council 

2 June 2016 for one year 0 / 4 

Hazel Walker 
Elected – public Wakefield 

1 May 2011 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2014 for three 
years 

4 / 4 

Peter Walker 
Elected – public Wakefield 

1 May 2010 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2013 for three 
years 

2 / 4 

David Woodhead 
Elected – public Kirklees 

1 May 2010 for three years 
Re-elected 1 May 2013 for three 
years 
Re-elected 1 May 2016 got three 
years 

1 / 4 

 
The following governors left the Members’ Council during 2016/17. 
 
Name/representing Term of office ended/reason 

Stephen Baines 
Appointed – Calderdale Council 

7 June 2016 
Not re-elected as a Councillor 

Michelle Collins 
Appointed – Wakefield Council 

8 May 2016 
Not re-elected as a Councillor 

Emma Dures 
Appointed – Barnsley Council 

7 June 2016 
Not re-elected as a Councillor 

Susan Kirby 
Elected – public Kirklees 

30 April 2016 
Resigned 

Michael Smith 
Elected – public Calderdale 

30 April 2016 
Not Re-elected 

Tony Wilkinson 
Elected – public Calderdale 

30 April 2016 
Not Re-elected 

Manvir Flora 
Appointed – Staff side organisations 

22 January 2016 
Resigned 

 
Interests declared by governors can be found on the Trust’s website. 
 
Our governors receive no payment for their involvement with the Trust on Members’ Council 
business.  We are required to state in our annual report the expenses paid to our governors 
in the financial year and the sum paid in 2016/17 was £1,461.20 to twelve governors 
(against a total in 2015/16 of £2,268.15). 
 
The election process for the Members’ Council began in February 2017 for the following 
seats: 
 
Public 
• Barnsley – two seats. 
• Calderdale – two seats. 
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• Kirklees – two seats. 
• Wakefield – two seats. 
• Rest of South and West Yorkshire – one seat. 
 
Staff 
• Psychological therapies – one seat. 
• Social care staff working in integrated teams – one seat. 
 
The nominations process ended on 2 March 2017 and the following were elected 
unopposed: 
 
Public 
• Calderdale (two seats for election) – Neil Alexander and Ian Turnock. 
 
An election was held for the remaining seats, the election process opened on the 23 March 
2017 and closed on the 21 April 2017.  The following were elected: 
 
Public 
• Barnsley (two seats for election) – Bill Barkworth and Andrew Crossley (re-elected). 
• Kirklees (two seats for election) – Nasim Hasnie (re-elected) and Tina Harrison. 
• Wakefield (two seats for election) – Jackie Craven (re-elected) and Debika Minocha. 
 
Staff 
• Psychological Therapies (one seat for election) – Lin Harrison. 
 
The public seat for the rest of South and West Yorkshire remains vacant as does the staff 
seat for social care staff working in integrated teams.  There is also one vacant appointed 
seat vacant for Barnsley Hospital NHS Foundation Trust which will be pursued with the 
organisation. 
 

Members’ Council involvement and engagement 
Our Trust Board continues to have regard to the views of its Members’ Council in a number 
of ways by offering a range of events and opportunities for governors to share their views 
and engage with Directors, particularly in the development of the Trust’s annual plan.  As 
part of their role in holding Non-Executive Directors to account, the Chair encourages 
governors to attend public Trust Board meetings.  Those governors who have attended have 
welcomed the opportunity to do so and found attendance useful in helping them to 
understand the way Trust Board works, to understand more about the issues Trust Board 
considers and discusses and to support governors in holding Non-Executive Directors to 
account.  Governors will continue to be encouraged to attend meetings in the future.  
Members of our Board are encouraged by the Chair to attend Members’ Council meetings to 
ensure they understand the views of our governors and of members. 
 
At each meeting of the Members’ Council, the Chair and Chief Executive present an 
overview of the key issues arising from Trust Board meetings together with a strategic 
overview of national, regional and local developments and the potential impact on the Trust.  
At each meeting, there is a round table discussion on key areas, such as the Trust’s plans 
for transformation and the Trust’s Strategy.   
 
Holding non-executive directors to account for the performance of the board is a key area for 
governors, discussion sessions are time tabled to focus on supporting governors to do this.  
Each Non-Executive Director is asked to explain what they bring to the Trust in terms of their 
individual skills and experience, why they became a Non-Executive Director and why this 
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Trust, and their role in the Trust.  This exercise has enabled governors to challenge non-
executive directors on their role and contribution, and will be repeated again in the coming 
year. 
 
A joint meeting is held annually between Trust Board and the Members Council to look at the 
Trust’s forward strategy.  At the meeting in November 2016, governors reviewed the themes 
emerging from the previous year’s strategic meeting and the actions taken by the Trust. 
They reviewed the planning assumptions and considered the impact of the South Yorkshire 
and West Yorkshire Sustainability and Transformation Plans on the Trusts’ strategic 
direction. The contribution from governors has informed and contributed to development of 
the Trust’s annual plan for 2017/18. 
 
All governors have an induction meeting with the Chair at the beginning of their term of office 
and an annual review.  During the year the Members’ Council was also involved in a number 
of other projects, including the following. 
 
Strategy and forward plans 
• Development of the Trust’s Quality Accounts. 
• Forward plan for 2017/18 (joint meeting with Trust Board) in November 2016. 
• Consulted on the transformation of Trust services. 
 
Statutory duties 
• Appointment and re-appointment of Non-Executive Directors. 
• Determination of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration. 
• Received the annual report and accounts. 
• Appointment of the Trust’s external auditor. 
 
Trust activity 
• Engagement on Trust plans for transformation 
• Attendance at members groups across the Trust. 
• Attendance at members’ education events. 
• Involvement in Trust unannounced visits  
 
Personal development 
• Evaluation of the contribution of the Members’ Council and governors both individually 

and collectively. 
• Attendance at NHS Providers governors’ network and regional governors’ meetings. 
• Attendance at the NHS Providers GovernWell training and development modules. 
 
There are three standing working groups: 
• The Nominations Committee is responsible for overseeing the process to appoint the 

Chair, Non-Executive Directors, Deputy Chair/Senior Independent Director and Lead 
Governor.   

• The Co-ordination Group co-ordinates the work and development of the Members’ 
Council.   

• The Quality Group to review and develop the Trust’s Quality Accounts and to review in 
more detail the Trust’s performance, particularly in relation to the quality of our 
services. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 69 of 91 



 

Membership and engagement 

We have a good track record and reputation for public involvement and engagement and 
firmly believe that working with our members, people who use our services and their carers, 
our staff and our stakeholders will help secure the most effective and responsive services for 
local people.  We are determined to make the most of the opportunities that membership 
affords us to engage with people living in the communities we serve to make sure our 
services meet local needs.  The Trust’s approach to membership and engagement is set out 
in its Membership Strategy, which sets out our ambition over the next three years to 
effectively communicate, engage and involve our membership, through three high level 
objectives which are relevant to all stakeholder groups: 
 
1. We will build and maintain membership numbers to meet our annual plan targets, 
ensuring membership is representative of the population the Trust serves. 
2. We will communicate effectively and engage with our public members and our staff 
members, maintaining a two way dialogue and encouraging more active involvement. 
3. We will develop an effective and inclusive approach to give our public members and our 
staff members a voice and opportunities to contribute to the organisation, our services and 
plans for the future. 
 
In summary, membership of the Trust means local people and our staff have a greater say in 
how services are provided in the communities the Trust serves, services take account of 
local needs and they have a sense of ownership of the Trust. Membership is free, with few 
specific requirements (subject to the legal exemptions on eligibility and the Constitution of 
the Trust), has a lower age limit of 11 and no upper age limit, and service users and carers 
are included in the public constituency.  Our public constituencies reflect our geography in 
proportion to the population of each area and, although we aim to retain a membership of 
1% of the populations we serve, the key focus is to encourage members to be engaged and 
involved with our Trust.  As part of our action plan to implement the Membership Strategy we 
undertook cleansing and strengthening of our membership data base. As at 31 March 2017, 
we had 9,654 public members (10,803 in 2015/16).   
 
The Trust evaluates progress in membership recruitment through comparison of 
membership with local population demographics, which allows a focus on areas of under-
representation.  Our membership plays a vital role in helping the Trust to shape its services.  
Key areas for the next twelve months are: 
 
• election of governors to our Members’ Council to ensure sound governance 

arrangements; 
• involvement in Customer Service Excellence Accreditation to help shape an enhanced 

patient experience; 
• implementation of Membership Strategy action plan; 
• on-going development of our governors to reflect governor feedback following 

development sessions;  
• input to transformation work streams to shape future services to ensure they are fit for 

purpose; and  
• supporting staff governors as Freedom to Speak up guardians. 
 
This approach is supported by our vision for volunteering through our members, we now 
have approximately 225 volunteers within the Trust. Volunteer roles include health 
champions, befrienders, co-producers and co-facilitators in recovery colleges, expert patient 
programme volunteers, meet and greet volunteers, horticulture volunteers, conversation 
buddies in speech and language service and catering volunteers.  The Trust achieved the 
Investing in Volunteering accreditation assessment early in 2016.  
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Our staff automatically become members of our Trust; however, they can choose to opt out 
of membership should they wish to do so.  As members, they can influence future plans, use 
their vote to elect a representative onto the Members’ Council or stand for election 
themselves.  Staff are encouraged to be actively involved as members of the Trust and to 
promote membership to friends and family.  As at 31 March 2017 we had 4,643 staff 
members (4,877 in 2016/17). 
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Section 2.5 NHS Single Oversight Framework 
Single Oversight Framework 
NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework provides the framework for overseeing 
providers and identifying potential support needs.  The framework looks at five themes: 
 
• Quality of care 
• Finance and use of resources 
• Operational performance 
• Strategic change 
• Leadership and improvement capability (well-led) 
 
Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4 where ‘4’ 
reflects providers receiving most support, and ‘1’ reflects providers with maximum autonomy.  
A foundation trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where it has been found to be in breach or 
suspected breach of its licence. 
 
The Single Oversight Framework applied from Quarter 3 of 2016/17.  Prior to this, Monitor’s 
Risk Assessment Framework (RAF) was in place.  Information for the prior year and first two 
quarters relating to the RAF has not been presented as the basis of accountability was 
different.  This is in line with NHS Improvement’s guidance for annual reports. 
 

Segmentation 
NHS Improvement has placed the trust in segment 2 – targeted support. The segmentation 
information is the trust’s position as at 31 March 2017.  Current segmentation information for 
NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the NHS Improvement website. 
 

Finance and use of resources 
The finance and use of resources theme is based on the scoring of five measures from ‘1’ to 
‘4’, where ‘1’ reflects the strongest performance.  These scores are then weighted to give an 
overall score.  Given that finance and use of resources is only one of the five themes feeding 
into the Single Oversight Framework, the segmentation of the trust disclosed above might 
not be the same as the overall finance score here. 
 
Area  Metric  2016/17 Q3 score 2016/17 Q4 score 

Financial 
sustainability Capital service capacity 1 1 

 Liquidity 1 1 

Financial efficiency I&E margin 2 1 

Financial controls Distance from financial 
plan  2 1 

 Agency spend 4 4 

Overall scoring  3 3 

 
The overall risk rating for finance and use of resources is 3.  This is very much driven by 
spend against the agency cap which has an individual rating of 4.  All other ratings are 
scored as 1. 
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Section 2.6 Voluntary disclosures 
Equality reporting 
Our Annual Equality Report and other policies recognise that equality and diversity is core to 
the way we work and provide services.  We must maximise people’s potential through 
valuing their diversity and treating them equally.  We acknowledge that people who come 
into contact with our services, or who work for us, are individuals and are not defined by one 
aspect of their lives, whether this is their race, gender, sexual orientation, religion or any of 
the other protected characteristics.  Further detail can be found in our Annual Equality 
Report to Trust Board on 19 July 2016 on the Trusts website and under the social, 
community and human rights issues section (see page 25). 
 

Modern Slavery Act 2015 
The Modern Slavery Act 2015 established a duty for commercial organisations to prepare an 
annual slavery and human trafficking statement. The steps the organisation has taken during 
the financial year to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in any of its 
supply chains or in any part of its own business. Further information is also provided under 
the social, community and human rights issues section (see page 25). 
 
The Trust recognises the importance of good corporate citizenship and maintaining high 
standards of social, ethical and environmental conduct. We are also committed to ensuring 
that our suppliers and contractors throughout the supply chain adopt a similar approach and 
have developed a supplier code of conduct which we expect all our suppliers to adhere to. 
Any breach of the obligations stipulated in this Supplier Code of Conduct is considered a 
material breach of contract by the supplier. 
 

Compliance with the Supplier Code of Conduct 
The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust reserves the right upon 
reasonable notice to check compliance with the requirements of the Supplier Code of 
Conduct. The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust encourages its 
suppliers to implement their own binding guidelines for ethical behaviour.  Included in 
contracts we enter into with providers is the following statement that the supplier agrees that 
it is responsible for controlling its own supply chain and that it shall encourage compliance 
with ethical standards, human rights, health and safety and environmental standards by any 
subsequent supplier of goods and services that are used by the supplier when performing its 
obligations under this Agreement.  
 
• Laws and Ethical Standards: The supplier shall comply with all laws applicable to its 

business. The supplier should adhere to the principles of the United Nations’ Global 
Compact, UN Declaration of Human Rights as well as the 1998 International Labour 
Organisation’s “Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work” in 
accordance with national law and practice, especially: 

• Child Labour: The supplier shall not use child labour younger than the age of 15. In 
no event especially when national law or regulations permit the employment or work of 
persons 13 to 15 age on light work, the employment shall prevent the minor from 
complying with compulsory schooling or training requirements and being harmful to 
their health or development. 

• Forced Labour: The supplier shall make no use of forced or compulsory labour. 
• Compensation and Working Hours: The supplier shall comply with national 

applicable laws and regulations regarding working hours, wages and benefits. 
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• Discrimination: The supplier should promote the diversity and heterogeneity of the 
individuals in the company with regard to race, religion, disability, sexual orientation or 
gender among others. 

• Health and Safety: The supplier shall comply with applicable occupational health and 
safety laws and regulations and provide a safe and healthy working environment to 
prevent accidents and injury to health. 

• Business Continuity Planning: The supplier shall be prepared for any disruptions of 
its business (e.g. natural disasters, terrorism, software viruses, and medical/infectious 
diseases). 

• Improper Payments/Bribery: The supplier shall comply with international anti-bribery 
standards as stated in the United Nations’ Global Compact and local anti-corruption 
and bribery laws. In particular, the supplier may not offer services, gifts or benefits to 
South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust employees in order to 
influence the employee’s conduct in representing the South West Yorkshire 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. 

• Modern Slavery Act: The supplier shall fully comply with all aspects of the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015 which received Royal Assent on 26 March 2015. This Act addresses 
the issues surrounding slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour, human 
trafficking, exploitation, and includes the provision for the protection of victims. 

• Environment: The supplier shall comply with all applicable environmental laws, 
regulations and standards as well as implementing an effective system to identify and 
eliminate potential hazards to the environment. 

• Business Partner Dialogue: The supplier shall communicate the above mentioned 
principles stated in the Code to its subcontractors and other business partners 
involved in the products and services described in the main contract and motivate 
them to adhere to the same standards. 
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Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the 
Accounting Officer of South West Yorkshire Partnership 

NHS Foundation Trust 

The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the South 
West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the 
Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public 
finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement. 
 
NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, 
has given Accounts Directions which require South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and 
on the basis required by those Directions. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis 
and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of South West Yorkshire Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses 
and cash flows for the financial year.  
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements 
of the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to: 
 
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant 

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis; 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual) 
have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial 
statements; 

• ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated 
authorities and guidance; and 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 
The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and 
to enable him to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above 
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
NHS foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
 
 
 
 
Rob Webster 
Chief Executive    Date:  25 May 2017 
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Annual Governance Statement 2016/17 

Scope of responsibility 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control 
that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, 
whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for 
ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as 
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
This Annual Governance Statement reflects the challenging context within which I deliver my 
responsibilities and demonstrates the complexity and diversity of the services the Trust 
provides across a broad geographical area. 
 

The purpose of the system of internal control  
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact 
should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The 
system of internal control has been in place in South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and accounts. 
 

Capacity to handle risk  
Our Board has overall responsibility and accountability for setting the strategic 
direction of the Trust and ensuring there are sound systems in place for the 
management of risk. This includes responsibility for standards of public behaviour and 
accountability for monitoring the organisation’s performance against the Trust’s strategy and 
objectives, ensuring corrective action is in place where necessary. The Trust Board’s attitude 
to risk is based on appropriate tolerance to risk. The Board acknowledges that the services 
provided by the Trust cannot be without risk and ensures that, as far as is possible, risk is 
minimised and managed within a risk tolerance. This is set out in the Trust’s Risk Strategy 
and Risk Appetite Statement. 
 
The Board is supported and governed by an involved and proactive Members’ 
Council, a key part of the Trust’s governance arrangements. Since becoming a 
Foundation Trust in 2009, the Members’ Council has matured, in its role of holding non-
executive directors to account for the performance of the Trust Board. The agendas for 
Members’ Council meetings, produced in partnership with the Members’ Council Co-
ordination Group, focus on its statutory duties, areas of risk for the Trust and on the Trust’s 
future strategy. Training and development ensures governors have the skills and experience 
required to fulfil their duties.  
 
The Board includes an Executive team with the day to day responsibility for managing 
risk. Over the last year, we have had a number of changes within our Executive Director 
team. We now have a new Chief Executive and Director of Finance, and existing executives 
have had revised portfolios that simplify and clarify governance and accountability. Towards 
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the end of 2016/17, we dissolved the separate roles of the Deputy Chief Executive and the 
Director of Health Intelligence and Innovation and successfully appointed to the new post of 
Director of Strategy. The Deputy Chief Executive role is now incorporated in the role of the 
Medical Director. These changes have been managed in a way to minimise disruption and 
maintain the consistency of leadership.  
 
The Members’ Council, Board and Executive team are operating in an environment of 
change and system pressure where risk is constant and at a heightened level.  
 
The Trust operates within a strategic framework that includes a Vision, Mission and 
Values, supported by 3 Strategic Objectives and a number of Priority Programmes. 
This approach is agreed and set by the Board and provides an effective underpinning of the 
Chief Executive objectives and  the objectives of the Executive team determined in line with 
director accountabilities. I review these objectives on an on-going basis with individual 
directors with progress, issues and risks reflected in the Board Assurance Framework and 
organisational risk register.  
 
This approach reflects the Trust’s framework that devolves responsibility and accountability 
throughout the organisation by having robust delivery arrangements. Capacity for delivery is 
assured through business planning processes and control is executed through an 
appropriate scheme of delegation and standing financial instructions.  
 
The Trust works in partnership with health economies in Calderdale, Kirklees, 
Wakefield, Barnsley and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan footprints of 
South Yorkshire and West Yorkshire. We identify and manage risk at those levels as well 
as at Trust level, as reflected in the roles and responsibilities of the Board, of Executives and 
staff within the Trust. This is evident from the Board Assurance Framework and risk 
registers. 
 
The Trust is undertaking a review in 2017 of the management and administration required to 
support the effective delivery, risk management and transformation of services. This 
recognises the context of change within which we operate and the need to reduce costs. 
Risk management is expected to be further strengthened as part of this review.  
 
Risk management training for Trust Board is undertaken bi-annually. The training needs of 
staff are assessed through a formal training needs analysis and staff receive training 
appropriate to their authority and duties. The role of individual staff in managing risk is 
supported by a framework of policies and procedures that promote learning from experience 
and sharing of good practice. The Risk Management Strategy was reviewed and approved 
by Trust Board on 31 January 2017.  
 
Alongside this capacity, the Trust has effective Internal Audit arrangements, with a work plan 
that helps to manage strategic and business risk within the Trust.  
 

The risk and control framework 
The risk and control framework flows from the principles of good governance. It uses 
effective Board and Committee structures, supported by the Trust Constitution, Standing 
Orders and Scheme of Delegation. The Risk Management Strategy describes in detail how 
risk is applied within this framework. 
  
The Audit Committee assures the Board and Members’ Council of the effectiveness of 
the governance structures through a cycle of audit, self-assessment and annual review. 
The latest annual review was agreed by the Board on 25 April 2017.  
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The Audit Committee assessment was supported by an internal audit that was 
undertaken on Risk Management and the Board Assurance Framework in December 
2016 and provided significant assurance. 
 
The cycle of Trust Board meetings continues to ensure that the Trust Board devotes 
sufficient time to setting and reviewing strategy and monitoring key risks. Within each 
quarterly cycle, there is one monthly meeting with a forward-looking focus centred on 
business risk and future performance, one meeting focusing on performance and monitoring, 
and one strategic development session. Trust Board meetings are held in public and the 
Chair encourages governors to attend each meeting. 
 
The Board has recognised the development of stronger partnerships across the geography 
in which we operate. Formal partnership Boards and Committees have reports and minutes 
received by the Board and are reflected in our risks. 
 
The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy sets out specific responsibilities and 
accountabilities for the identification, evaluation, recording, reporting and mitigation 
of risk.  The Trust’s Risk Appetite Statement was defined in line with the ‘Good Governance 
Institute risk appetite for NHS Organisations’ matrix aligned to the Trust’s own risk 
assessment matrix.  The Statement was approved by Trust Board in July 2016 for 
implementation from September 2016.  The Risk Appetite Statement sets out the Board’s 
strategic approach to risk-taking by defining its specific boundaries and risk tolerance 
thresholds under four categories (strategic, clinical, financial or commercial, and compliance 
risks), and supports delivery of the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy and procedures. 
Risks that are significant are monitored by the appropriate Committee. Over the last quarter, 
further work has been undertaken to review risk registers where organisational risks not 
considered significant (level 15 and above) fall outside the Risk Appetite. A risk exception 
report is being developed to go to the relevant sub-committee or forum of Trust Board setting 
out the actions being taken and the consequences of managing the risk to a higher risk 
appetite level.  
 
The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) describes the strategic risks that will 
continue to be managed by the Trust. The BAF is aligned to the three strategic objectives 
of the Trust. This ensures alignment between the business of the Trust and the risks we 
manage across the organisation and the system 
 
As Chief Executive and the Accounting Officer, my accountabilities are secured 
through delegated executive responsibility to the Executive Directors of the Trust for 
the delivery of the organisational objectives, ensuring there is a high standard of public 
accountability, probity and performance management.  In 2016/17, personal objectives were 
set for each director and reflected in the Board Assurance Framework through the strategic 
objectives assigned to each Director.  
 
In support of the BAF, the Trust also has an organisational risk register in place which 
outlines the key strategic risks for the organisation and action identified to mitigate these 
risks. This is reviewed on a monthly basis by the Executive Management Team and 
quarterly by Trust Board, providing leadership for the risk management process. Risk 
registers are also developed at service delivery level within BDUs and within the corporate 
directorates. These are reviewed regularly at the Operational Management Group. 
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The Trust’s main risks in 2016/17 as set out in the organisational risk register can be 
summarised as follows: 
 
Risk Mitigation  
Impact of continued reduction in Local 
Authority budgets (LA as provider) may 
impact upon demand for health and social 
services as a consequence of cost shifting, 
which may impact on capacity and resources 
in integrated teams, waiting times, 
assessment, treatment and management of 
risk. 

Joint arrangements for management and monitoring 
delivery of integrated teams. Monthly review of key 
performance indicators which would indicate LA risk 
transfer such as delayed transfers of care and service 
users in settled accommodation. 

Risk of adverse impact on clinical services if 
the Trust is unable to achieve the transitions 
identified in the Trust’s five year plan. 

Active stakeholder management, to create 
opportunities for partnership and collaboration. 
Increased use of service line management 
information. Increase in joint bids and projects to 
develop strategic partnerships and facilitate the 
transition to new models and sustainable services. 
Active engagement in West Yorkshire and South 
Yorkshire Sustainability and Transformation plans and 
place based plans. 

Risk of financial unsustainability if the Trust 
is unable to achieve the transition identified 
in the five year plan. 

Increased use of service line management 
information. Increase in joint bids and projects to 
develop strategic partnerships which will facilitate 
transition to new models of care and sustainable 
services. Development of pricing strategy to engage 
with commissioners during 2016/17. 

Impact of continued reduction in Local 
Authority budgets (LA as commissioner) may 
have a negative impact on level of financial 
resources available to commission services.  

District Integrated Governance Boards established to 
manage integrated working. In all geographic areas 
the Trust is a partner in developing integrated working 
to reduce overall costs in the system. Monitoring of 
key performance indicators which may indicate LA 
pressures such as delayed transfers of care. 

Risk that Trust’s sustainability will be 
adversely impacted by commissioning 
intentions from CCGs and NHS England due 
to impact of funding restrictions, other 
system pressures and the creation of local 
place based solutions. 

Clear service strategy to engage commissioners and 
service users on the value of services delivered. Bid 
management process reviewed, additional skills 
building and increase in joint bids with partners. 
Horizon scanning for new business opportunities. 

The upgrade to RiO V7 (the mental health 
clinical record database) resulted in system 
functionality and operational issues which 
impacted on the Trust's ability to effectively 
support clinical services operationally as well 
as in the production and submission of 
central returns and accurately recording 
clinical coding information. 

Daily liaison with system supplier regarding issue 
resolution and updates. Co-ordination of reviewing 
and testing resolutions to issues. Training refreshed 
and additional specialist support provided. Internal 
and external review commissioned re lessons learnt.  

Risk that the Trust may deplete its cash 
given the inability to identify sufficient CIPs, 
the current operating environment, and its 
high capital programme committed to, 
leading to an inability to pay staff and 
suppliers without the Department of Health’s 
support. 

Financial planning process including detailed two year 
projections of cash flow. Working capital management 
process including credit control. Capital prioritisation 
process. Disposal of surplus property.  

Risk that the Trust could lose business 
resulting in a loss of sustainability for the full 
Trust from a financial, operational and 
clinical perspective. 

Systematic and integrated monitoring of contract 
performance, changes in specification and 
commissioning intentions. Regular reporting of 
contract risks to the Executive Management Team 
and Board and formulation of proactive contract risk 
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Risk Mitigation  
management plans. Targeted programme of business 
growth focused on specific services and markets 
aligned to Trust Strategy.  

Risk that the long waiting lists to access 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 
(CAMHS) treatment and Autism spectrum 
disorder (ASD) diagnosis and treatment lead 
to a delay in young people starting treatment, 
potentially causing further deterioration in 
their mental health and a breakdown of their 
support networks. Reputational impact in 
respect of commissioners, young people and 
their families. 

Implementation of single point of access. Redesign of 
care pathways and closer working with 
commissioners to manage within available resources 
for ASD. Future in Mind investments in place to 
support CAMHs system. 

Risk of not securing medication wholesale 
supply and pharmacy computer system from 
1 April 2017. 
 

Negotiations with alternative NHS Trust to commence 
both wholesale supply and computer support. 
Transition Board established to oversee negotiations 
and internal design required to facilitate new supply.  

Risk that the Trust’s information systems 
could be the target of cybercrime leading to 
theft of personal data. 

Anti-virus software in place including additional email 
security and data loss prevention. Security patching of 
all servers, client machines and key network devices. 
Appropriately skilled and experienced staff with 
regular attendance at cyber security events. 

 
Given the strategic context within which we operate, the risks outlined above will 
continue into 2017/18 with mitigating actions in place.  The creation of Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans (STP) across West and South Yorkshire will provide a further 
mechanism for managing some risks across organisations.  As the lead Chief Executive for 
the STP in West Yorkshire, I will be able to ensure we are closely engaged in the leadership 
and delivery of these plans. 
 

Our Licence 
The Trust was awarded a Licence by Monitor on 1 April 2013 with no conditions.  
There are currently no risks to compliance with the Licence conditions that apply to 
the Trust, including NHS Foundation Trust condition 4, which applies to Foundation 
Trusts only. 
 
The Trust operates under the Single Oversight Framework issues by NHS Improvement 
which assists the Trust in compliance with the Monitor Licence. 
 
The foundation trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC). The Trust continues to assess its compliance with CQC 
registration requirements through an internal regulatory compliance review process and by 
learning from a regular programme of unannounced visits. Following the CQC visit in March 
2016, the Trust developed a new internal visit programme, which initially targeted those 
services rated as ‘requires improvement’, and between October 2016 and March 2017, 11 
internal visits took place. Feedback reports are received and reviewed by BDU management 
trios, BDU deputy directors and team managers, who develop an action plan to address 
areas for improvement that are monitored through BDU governance functions. Feedback, 
lessons learned and good practice from the process are shared with the Clinical Governance 
and Clinical Safety Committee and used to inform changes to the next planned visit 
programme.  
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The Trust is rated GOOD by the CQC. This includes for being Well-Led. In early 2016, 
the CQC undertook a comprehensive inspection. They visited 14 of our service lines, finding 
significant ‘good’ as well as some ‘outstanding’ practice. The CQC inspection provided an 
overall rating of ‘requires improvement’ including elements of being “well led”. As a learning 
organisation, we welcomed the inspection and independent view of our services and we 
developed action plans to make sure we learned and improved. 
  
In November 2016 – January 2017 we welcomed the CQC back to review those services 
which had previously needed some improvement. The CQC stated they have seen 
significant improvements in our services following their recent re-inspection. They have now 
published our service line reports and we are now rated ‘GOOD’ overall, with ratings of 
‘GOOD’ for being safe, effective, caring and well-led. We are still rated overall as ‘requiring 
improvement’ for being responsive and we will continue to address issues in this area.  
 
Our new ratings chart shows that 90% of the ratings within our service lines were 
found to be ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. The CQC found that, without exception, our staff 
were caring and compassionate as well as respectful and warm towards patients. This 
reflects a values based culture within the Trust. 
  
We’re now looking to bring key partners back together for a Quality Summit. While this isn’t 
mandatory with the re-visit not being a full inspection, we believe it would be beneficial to 
consider the outcome of the re-visit collectively and to co-produce our action plan for 
continuous improvement. 
 
The Trust assesses itself annually against the NHS Constitution. A report was 
presented to Trust Board in December 2016 which set out how the Trust meets the rights 
and pledges of the NHS Constitution.   
 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme 
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, 
employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme 
rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with 
the timescales detailed in the Regulations. 
 

Value Based Culture 
The Trust works hard to provide the highest standards of healthcare to all its service 
users. The promotion of a culture of openness is a prerequisite to improving business 
resilience, patient safety and the quality of healthcare systems. Good governance and this 
risk aware culture is emphasised in the Values of the Trust and reinforced through values 
based recruitment, appraisal and induction. 
 
Learning from incidents and the impact on risk management is critical. The Trust uses 
an e-based reporting system, DATIX, at Directorate and service line level to capture 
incidents and risks, which can be input at source and data can be interrogated through ward, 
team and locality processes. This encourages local ownership and accountability for incident 
and risk management. Data are interrogated regularly to ensure that any risks are identified 
and escalated at the right level. Staff are assured they will be treated fairly and with 
openness and honesty when they report adverse incidents or mistakes, ensuring risks are 
reduced. In 2016/17, 13,126 incidents were reported, of which 89% resulted in low or no 
harm to patients and service users, recognising that the Trust has a risk based culture. 
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The Trust works closely with safety teams in NHS Improvement and uses Root Cause 
Analysis (RCA) as a tool to undertake structured investigation into serious incidents. 
Our aim is to identify the true cause of what happened, to identify the actions necessary to 
prevent recurrence and to ensure that the Trust takes every opportunity to learn and develop 
from an incident and mitigate future risk.  
 
The provision of mental health, learning disability and community services carries a 
significant inherent risk. Unfortunately, serious incidents do occur which require robust 
and well governed organisational controls. During 2016/17, there were 65 serious incidents 
across the Trust compared to 76 in 2015/16. There were no ‘Never Events’ (as defined by 
the Department of Health) relating to serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents 
that should not occur if the available preventative measures have been implemented. 
 
Where harm has taken place, the Trust ensures that communication with staff, service 
users and families is open, honest and occurs as soon as possible following any 
patient safety event.  Our duty of candour is taken extremely seriously and staff understand 
their role in relation to duty of candour; they have the support required to comply with the 
duty and to raise concerns; the duty of candour is met through meaningful and sensitive 
engagement with relevant people; and all staff understand the consequences of non-
compliance. This is monitored through the Executive Management Team and governance 
structures. 
 
The Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee has a leading role to play. It 
scrutinises and monitors quarterly serious incident reports and bi-annual reports on how and 
where lessons have been learnt and practice improved and/or changed. The Committee also 
monitors implementation of recommendations arising from external reviews and reports. In 
the last year, this has included the Trust’s action plan in response to the National Audit on 
Schizophrenia, a review of arrangements for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, 
Better Health Child Programme transition plan and a report on improving the quality of the 
mortality review process. The Committee oversees all work until actions have been 
completed and closed and it is satisfied that risks have been moderated.   
 
The Clinical Risk Scan, chaired by the Director of Nursing and Quality, provides an 
organisational overview of the incident review, action planning and learning processes to 
improve patient safety and provide assurance on the performance management of the 
review process, associated learning, and subsequent impact within the organisation. 
 
The key elements of the Trust’s quality governance arrangements are as follows: 
 
• The Trust’s approach to quality reinforces its commitment to quality care that is safe, 

person-centred, efficient and effective. The Quality Improvement Strategy outlines the 
responsibilities held by individuals, BDUs, the Executive Management Team and Trust 
Board. 

• The Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee is the lead committee for 
quality governance. 

• This is supported by the Patient Safety Strategy to improve the safety culture 
throughout the organisation whilst supporting people on their recovery journey, to 
reduce the frequency and severity of harm resulting from patient safety incidents, to 
enhance the safety, effectiveness and positive experience of the services we provide, 
and to reduce the costs, both personal and financial, associated with patient safety 
incidents. The Trust has also signed up to the national ‘Sign up to Safety’ initiative and 
will deliver against a specific safety improvement plan over the next three years. 

• Monthly compliance reporting against quality indicators within the Integrated 
Performance report. Trust Board also receives a quarterly report on complaints. 
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• CQC regulation leads, monitor performance against CQC regulations and the Trust 
undertakes regular self-assessments. 

• External validation, accreditation, assessment and quality schemes support self-
assessment (for example, accreditation of electroconvulsive therapy (ECT), Psychiatric 
Intensive Care Unit (PICU) and Memory Services, CQC Mental Health Act Visits, 
national surveys (staff and service user), implementation of Essence of Care and 
Productive Ward, etc.). 

• Trust Action Groups provide organisational overview and performance monitoring 
against key areas of governance such as Serious Incidents, Infection Prevention and 
Control, Information Governance, Management of Aggression and Violence, Drugs 
and Therapeutics and Practice Effectiveness. 

• Measures are implemented and maintained to ensure practice and services are 
reviewed and improvements identified and delivered, such as the Trust’s prioritised 
clinical audit and practice evaluation programme. 

• The annual validation of the Trust’s Corporate Governance Statements as required 
under NHS foundation trust condition.  The Board certified that it was satisfied with the 
risks and mitigating actions against each area of the required six areas within the 
statement. 

 
The Trust continues to build on its existing service user insight framework to enhance 
and increase understanding of the Trust’s services, to demonstrate the quality of 
services and to show the actions taken in response to the feedback. A number of 
initiatives have been established to strengthen customer insight arrangements, including the 
following: 
 
• Systematising the collection of service user and care feedback, with a consistent 

approach to action planning and communication of the responses, including 
assessment against the Department of Health’s Friends and Family Test. 

• Review and implementation of the ‘15 Steps Challenge’ across the Trust involving 
service users and carers, and stakeholders, including staff. 

• Insight events for members and the public. 
• Ongoing facilitated engagement events for service users and carers, staff and 

stakeholders in support of the Trust’s transformation programme. 
• Quantitative and qualitative local and national surveys undertaken on a regular basis 

and actions taken. 
• Principle of co-production being embedded throughout the Trust, such as co-

production of training in Recovery Colleges. 
• Accreditation against the Cabinet Office’s Customer Service Excellence award. 
 
This approach has resulted in an increase in the number of issues raised and in the number 
of compliments received, which is a positive development in the context of the 
encouragement the Trust gives to people to offer feedback in all its forms. 
 
The Trust continues to lay the foundations for its ambitious service change 
programme and to develop associated structures to transform the way it delivers 
services.  The programme will ensure the Trust continues to deliver services that meet local 
need, offer the best care and better outcomes, and provide value for money whilst ensuring 
the Trust remains sustainable and viable.  Four work streams provide the framework, 
covering mental health services, learning disability services, general community services 
and forensic services.  Each has a Director sponsor and clinical lead, and is supported by 
robust project management arrangements through the Project Management Office.   
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The Trust continues to develop and create additional capacity in the community and 
different models of delivery and support for service users and carers.  This is through 
initiatives such as Creative Minds and the development of a recovery approach and recovery 
colleges across our districts, as well as continuing to host Altogether Better, a national 
initiative which supports development of community champions.   
 
The Trust continues its commitment towards carbon reduction. South West Yorkshire 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction 
Delivery Plans are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil 
contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this 
organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting 
requirements are complied with. 
 

Equality and Diversity 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under 
equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with and the value of 
diverse thinking and staffing is secured. This is achieved through Trust policies, training 
and audit processes. Early in 2015, Trust Board established an Equality and Inclusion Forum 
to ensure the Trust improves the diversity of its workforce and embeds diversity and 
inclusion in everything it does. 
 
The Forum develops and oversees the Equality First Strategy to improve access, experience 
and outcomes for people from all backgrounds and communities including people who work 
and volunteer for the organisation, those who use Trust services and their families, and 
those who work in partnership with the Trust to improve the health and well-being of local 
communities. Staff survey results in 2016/17 suggests that the overall experience of British 
Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic (BAME) staff working in the Trust is positive, a number of 
scores being better than average.  At the end of 2016, a BAME staff network was 
established to empower and support BAME Staff to achieve their potential and maximise 
their contribution in delivering the Trust’s Mission, Values and Strategic Objectives. 
 
During 2016/17, we have worked with our Members’ Council to develop our Membership 
Strategy which was approved by the Members’ Council in April 2017. The key objectives of 
the strategy, underpinned by a detailed action plan, are: 
 
1. We will build and maintain membership numbers to meet our annual plan targets, 
ensuring membership is representative of the population the Trust serves. 
2. We will communicate effectively and engage with our public members and our staff 
members, maintaining a two-way dialogue and encouraging more active involvement.  
3. Develop an effective and inclusive approach to give our public members and our staff 
members a voice and opportunities to contribute to the organisation, our services, and plans 
for the future. 
 
The Trust has adopted the National Equality Delivery System (EDS2) Framework and 
focussed on improving the following areas, working closely with service users, public and 
commissioners: 
 
1. Better health outcomes for all 
2. Improved patient access and experience 
3. Empowered, engaged and well supported staff 
4. Inclusive leadership at all levels 
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The Trust Board approved a Workforce Strategy in March 2017 which includes objectives, 
linked to the EDS2 Framework, to support a representative workforce in line with the NHS 
Workforce Race Equality Standard. 
 
We ensure Equality Impact Assessments are undertaken and published for all new and 
revised policies and services. This ensures that equality; diversity and human rights issues 
and service user involvement are systematically considered and delivered, through core 
Trust business. 
 

Annual Quality Report  
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year. NHS Improvement (in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor) has 
issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual Quality 
Reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual. We have fully compiled our Annual Report with the guidance 
issued, with our Quality Account being published alongside our Financial Accounts to ensure 
there is a balanced picture of the value delivered by the Trust. Our public and staff members 
are represented by the Members’ Council Quality Group who are fully involved in agreeing 
the indicators within the Quality Account. Public facing and easy read versions of the Quality 
Report are made available and the full report is accessible on the Trust’s website.  
 
The following steps have been put in place to assure the Trust Board that the Quality Report 
presents a balanced view and that there are appropriate arrangements in place to ensure 
the quality and accuracy of performance information.   
 
Governance and leadership of quality reporting 
• Quality metrics are reviewed monthly by Trust Board and the Executive Management 

Team, alongside the performance reviews undertaken by BDUs as part of their 
governance structures.  

• The Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee oversees the development of 
the Quality Report. 

• Corporate leadership of data quality through the Director of Finance, supported by the 
Director of Nursing and Quality. 

• Data quality objectives that are linked to business objectives, supported by the Trust’s 
data quality policy and evidenced through the Trust’s Information Assurance 
Framework. 

• The commitment to, and responsibility for, data quality by all staff is clearly 
communicated through Trust induction, mandatory training for information governance 
and training for the Trust’s clinical information systems.  

• The Director of Nursing and Quality and Director of Finance co-chair the Trust-wide 
Improving Clinical Information and Information Governance Meeting. The group 
ensures there is a corporate framework for management and accountability of data 
quality, with a commitment to secure a culture of data quality throughout the 
organisation.   

• The effectiveness of the Trust’s arrangements is scrutinised by the Audit and Clinical 
Governance and Clinical Safety Committees. 

 
Role of policies and plans in ensuring quality of care provided 
• Good clinical record keeping is part of good clinical practice and provision of quality 

care to the people who use our services.   
• There is comprehensive guidance for staff on data quality, collection, recording, 

analysis and reporting which meets the requirements of national standards, translating 
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corporate commitment into consistent practice, through the Data Quality Policy and 
associated information management and technology policies.  

• There are performance and information procedures for all internal and external 
reporting. Mechanisms are in place to ensure compliance through the Improving 
Clinical Information and Information Governance Meeting with reports to the Audit and 
Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committees on data quality. 

 
Systems and processes 
• There are systems and processes in place for the collection, recording, analysis and 

reporting of data which are accurate, valid, reliable, timely, relevant and complete 
through system documentation, guides, policies and training.   

• Corporate security and recovery arrangements are in place with regular tests of 
business critical systems. These systems and processes are replicated Trust-wide. 

 
People and skills 
• Behaviours and skills are an essential part of good data quality, recording and 

reporting and compliance with policy. 
• Roles and responsibilities in relation to data quality are clearly defined and 

documented.  
• There is a clear training plan for Information Governance and the Trust’s clinical 

information systems (RiO, SystmOne and a small number of additional systems) with 
the provision of targeted training and support to ensure responsible staff have the 
necessary capacity and skills.   

 
Data use and reporting  
• Data provision is reviewed regularly to ensure it is aligned to the internal and external 

needs of the Trust through Executive Management Team meeting and Trust Board, 
with key performance indicators set at both service and Board level.  This includes 
identification of any issues in relation to data collection and reporting and focussed 
action to address such issues 

 
The Trust is committed to a continual improvement in the quality of its data in order to 
support improvement of the service it offers to users of its services and to meet its business 
needs. Regular reviews of the quality of the Trust’s clinical data are undertaken by the 
Improving Clinical Information Group and, where data quality standards are identified as a 
risk factor, these are reported to the Trust’s Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) for further 
investigation.   
 
The Trust’s external auditor, Deloitte, provides external assurance on the Quality Report and 
the findings are presented to the Audit Committee, Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety 
Committee, Trust Board and the Members’ Council. During 2016/17, an Internal Audit of 
data quality within the Trust found significant assurance. 
 

Information Governance 
Information governance compliance is assured through a number of control 
measures to ensure that risks to data security are identified, managed and controlled.  
The Trust has put an information risk management process in place led by the Trust SIRO.  
Information asset owners cover the Trust’s main systems and record stores, along with 
information held at team level. An annual information risk assessment is undertaken. All 
Trust laptops and memory sticks are encrypted and person identifiable information is 
required to be only held on secure Trust servers. The Trust achieved the target of 95% of 
staff completing training on information governance by 31 March 2017.   
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To strengthen its arrangements, the Trust’s approach in 2016/17 has been to review 
guidance and policies, take a targeted approach to providing advice and support to staff 
through proactive monitoring of incidents, providing awareness raising sessions at all levels 
in the organisation, including senior level through Extended Executive Management Team, 
and offering advice and increasing availability of training for staff.   
 
Incidents and risks are reviewed by the Improving Clinical Information and Information 
Governance Meeting which informs policy changes and reminders to staff. 
 
In June 2015 the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) issued an undertaking 
following a series of incidents involving confidential patient data being sent to 
incorrect addresses being reported to them. Reasonable assurance was provided by the 
ICO and the Trust agreed with the recommendations made and is implementing them. One 
of the recommendations in the undertaking was for a consensual data protection audit, 
which was undertaken in November 2016. The final report which provided reasonable 
assurance, was issued to the Trust in February 2017 and the executive summary was 
published on the ICO’s webpage and the Trust’s website. The Audit Committee at its 
meeting on 4 April 2017 received an update on the progress made on the actions identified.  
 
The Trust is required to report any information governance incidents scoring level 2 
or above externally to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).  There have been 
nine such incidents reported in 2016/17, summarised below together with the actions taken: 
 
• 184 system-generated letters pertaining to children’s health were sent to incorrect 

addresses due to an incorrect field being used – actions taken include increased 
validation checking, updating operating procedures to ensure consistency, letters 
hand-delivered to schools for distribution. 

• A doctor who no longer works for the Trust accessed patient data whilst working in an 
independent capacity – actions taken include a review of tasks in the leavers’ process 
to ensure access controls are removed, raising awareness of national and local policy 
on smartcard use; information provided to current employer and the ICO to assist their 
investigations. 

• A letter intended for a patient’s father and step-mother was sent to the patient’s mother 
who opened and read it as it was addressed to ‘the parent/ guardian of <the child>’ – 
actions taken include revised guidance around recording authorised contacts in 
respect of a child, all staff attending RiO Demographics training.  

• A referral form was sent to an incorrect service that is not part of the Trust – action has 
been taken to provide support for the staff member, including proof-reading written 
work. 

• A detailed mental health assessment report was sent to the wrong address as the 
demographic details held locally differed from those on the central NHS Spine 
database - action taken includes synchronising the demographic details to ensure no 
recurrence of the incident.  

• A detailed health report was sent to the wrong address due to a typographic error on 
the covering letter – actions taken include raising awareness of the importance of 
checking correspondence before sending and an amendment being made to the 
system so covering letters are system-generated and address details are auto-
populated. 

• Two separate letters were sent to addresses that the patient had previously objected 
to being used for correspondence – actions taken include adding an alert and raising 
awareness of the need to check for correspondence addresses, which are shown on a 
different part of the record to home addresses. 
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• Detailed health information about the wrong patient was shared with a patient who had 
asked for a copy – actions taken include advising patients wishing to obtain a copy to 
contact the originating team. 

• Student social worker left confidential information about two patients on public 
transport – actions taken include sharing details of the incident with the university, 
which is arranging a fitness to practice investigation 

 
Good information governance will continue to be a feature of the Trust in 2017/18. The 
Information Toolkit was submitted at level 2 – satisfactory. 
 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 
resources  
The governance framework of the Trust is determined by Trust Board. It is described in the 
Trust’s annual report and includes information on the terms of reference, membership and 
attendance at Trust Board and its Committees, including the Nominations Committee, which 
is a sub-group of the Members’ Council. The Trust complies with Monitor’s (now NHS 
Improvement) Code of Governance and further information is included in the Trust’s annual 
report. 
 
The Executive Management Team has a robust governance structure ensuring monitoring 
and control of the efficient and effective use of the Trust’s resources. Financial monitoring, 
service performance, quality and workforce information is scrutinised at meetings of the 
Trust Board, through Executive Management Team meetings, BDU management teams and 
at various operational team meetings. The Trust is a member of the NHS Benchmarking 
Network and participates in a number of benchmarking exercises annually. This information 
is used alongside reference cost and other benchmarking metrics to review specific areas of 
service in an attempt to target future efficiency savings. Work has continued with BDUs to 
implement and utilise service line reporting.   
 
The Trust has a well-developed annual planning process which considers the resources 
required to deliver the organisation’s service plans in support of the Trust’s strategic 
objectives and quality priorities whilst aligning Trust plans with commissioning intentions and 
wider district plans. These annual plans detail the workforce and financial resources required 
to deliver service objectives and include the identification of cost savings. The achievement 
of the Trust’s financial plan is dependent upon the delivery of these savings.   
 
A robust process is undertaken to assess the impact on quality and risks associated with 
cost improvements both prior to inclusion in the annual plan and during the year to ensure 
circumstances have not changed. The process and its effectiveness are monitored by the 
Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee. Quality Impact Assessments take an 
objective view of the impact of cost improvements on the quality of services in relation to the 
Trust’s seven quality priorities (access, listening to and involving service users, care and 
care planning, recording and evaluating care, working in partnership, ensuring staff are fit 
and well to care, and safeguarding). The Assessments are led by the Director of Nursing and 
Quality and the Medical Director with BDU Directors and senior BDU staff, particularly 
clinicians. 
 
As part of the annual accounts review, the Trust’s efficiency and effectiveness of its use of 
resources in delivering clinical services are assessed by its external auditors and the 
auditor’s opinion is published with the accounts. 
 
The Trust over-delivered against its financial control total of £0.5 million by achieving £0.75 
million.  This entitled us to receive Sustainability and Transformation funding of £2.5 million. 
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In total £9 million cost savings were delivered against a target of £10.1 million (89% 
delivery).  Of the £9 million, £7.3 million was delivered recurrently and a further £1.7 million 
non-recurrently. 
 

Review of effectiveness 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed 
by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical 
leads within the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality 
report attached to this Annual report and other performance information available to me. My 
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management 
letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by Trust Board, the Audit Committee and 
the Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee and a plan to address weaknesses 
and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.  
 
The Assurance Framework provides evidence that the effectiveness of controls put in place 
to manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been 
reviewed. The Assurance Framework is approved by Trust Board on an annual basis and 
reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis throughout the year. There were no significant 
gaps identified in the Assurance Framework.  
 
Directors’ appraisals are conducted by the Chief Executive with objectives reviewed on a 
quarterly basis and prioritised in line with the performance-related pay structure agreed by 
the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee. This has provided a strong discipline 
and focus for Director performance. Non-Executive Director appraisals are undertaken by 
the Chair of the Trust. 
 
The Trust has developed a values-based appraisal system for staff with a target for all staff 
in bands 6 and above to have an appraisal in the first quarter of the year and the remainder 
of staff by the end of the second quarter. The Trust has also introduced values-based 
recruitment and selection. 
 
All Committees of Trust Board are chaired by Non-Executive Directors to reflect the need for 
independence and objectivity, ensuring that effective governance and controls are in place.    
The Committees have met regularly throughout the year and their minutes and annual 
reports are received by the Board. Further information on Trust Board Committees is 
contained in the annual report and in the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy. 
 
The Audit Committee is charged with monitoring the effectiveness of internal control systems 
on behalf of the Board and has done so as part of its annual work programme. This was 
reported through its Annual Report to the Board. The Audit Committee was able to provide 
assurance that, in terms of the effectiveness and integration of risk Committees, risk was 
effectively managed and mitigated. Assurance was provided that Committees met the 
requirements of their Terms of Reference, that Committee workplans were aligned to the 
risks and objectives of the organisation, in the scope of their remit, and that Committees 
could demonstrate added value to the organisation. 
 
The role of internal audit at the Trust is to provide an independent and objective opinion to 
the Trust, its managers and Trust Board on the system of control. The opinion considers 
whether effective risk management, control and governance arrangements are in place in 
order to achieve the Trust’s objectives. The work of internal audit is undertaken in 
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compliance with the NHS Internal Audit Standards. The internal audit function within the 
Trust for 2016/17 was provided by KPMG. In February the Audit Committee approved a one 
year extension to KPMG’s contract to 30 June 2017 given the changes in the organisation at 
a senior level and the desire to minimise unnecessary risk to the Trust. 
 
The work undertaken by internal audit is contained in an annual audit plan approved by the 
Audit Committee. Development of the work programme involves pre-discussion with the 
Executive Management Team and with the wider Extended Executive Management Team.  
It is based on an audit of core activity around areas such as financial management, 
corporate governance and Board assurance processes, and audit of other areas following 
assessment and evaluation of risks facing the Trust. This includes priority areas identified by 
the Executive Management Team focusing on risk and improvement areas. Internal audit 
provides the findings of its work to management, and action plans are agreed to address any 
identified weaknesses. Internal audit findings are also reported to the Audit Committee for 
consideration and further action if required. A follow up process is in place to ensure that 
agreed actions are implemented. Internal audit is required to identify any areas at the Audit 
Committee where it is felt that insufficient action is being taken to address risks and 
weaknesses. 
 
From 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, 17 internal audit reviews were presented to the Audit 
Committee. Of these, there were three significant assurance opinions, seven significant 
assurance with minor improvement opportunities, seven partial assurance reports with 
‘improvement required’ in relation to job planning, medicines management, clinical record 
keeping/data quality, agile working/digitalisation, IT capability, patient’s bank. There were no, 
no assurance opinions. These opinions and any resulting actions support the Trust in 
delivering an effective governance system. 
 
The follow up review prior to submission of the Trust’s Information Governance toolkit return 
resulted in a ‘significant assurance’ opinion. 
 
The fieldwork for 3 remaining reports from the 2016/17 plan relating to Delivering Service 
Change, Significant and Serious Untoward Incidents and Estates and IT Efficiency review 
have been completed and the assurance rating is subject to agreement with management. 
 
Action plans are developed for all internal audit reports in response to the recommendations 
and the Audit Committee invites the lead Director for each ‘partial’ or ‘no’ assurance report to 
attend to provide assurance on actions taken to implement recommendations. For all ‘partial’ 
and ‘no’ assurance reports, a further audit is undertaken within six months. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit’s overall opinion for 2016/17 is one of significant assurance with 
minor improvement opportunities given on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control. 
 

Conclusion 
I have reviewed the relevant evidence and assurances in respect of internal control.  The 
Trust, its Board and members of the leadership and management structure are alert to their 
accountabilities in respect of internal control. Throughout the year, the Trust has had 
processes in place to identify and manage risk. 
 
With the exception of the internal control issues outlined in this statement, which are not 
considered significant, the review confirms that the Trust has a generally sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives and that 
those control issues have been or are being addressed. 
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Over the past year, the Trust has undergone significant change. During this time, the system 
of internal control has remained robust and enabled change and risk to be managed 
effectively. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rob Webster 
Chief Executive    Date:  25 May 2017 
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Part 1: 
Chief executive and chair’s Welcome 

Welcome to our Quality Account.  

Our Trust exists to help people fulfil their potential and live well in their communities. We do this with local 
and national partners in a difficult environment. In doing so, we ensure that the quality of the services we 
deliver improve within the finances that we have available. This report forms part of our requirement to 
account for both the quality of our services and the finances that we have managed. It shows our quality 
improvements during 2016-17 and sets out how we maintain safe services and improve our standards. 

Our Board is accountable for the quality of all of the services we provide as a Trust. We set the strategic 
direction and the tone for the organisation. We believe that quality – the safety, effectiveness and 
experience of our services – has improved this year. This is also the view of the Care Quality Commission, 
who produced two reports on our organisation within the last twelve months. These demonstrated the areas 
where things have got better so that the Trust is now rated as “Good”. They also, crucially, detailed the 
areas where we simply must continue to get better. To do so requires that we remain focused on creating 
an open culture within the organisation, one that is guided by our values.  

Last year’s quality account set out a number of priorities. Many of these have been implemented and led to 
tangible changes. Improvements in quality have only been possible because of our staff. Their dedication 
and commitment is a fundamental part of the success of our organisation and will be an essential part of 
our future too.  

As Chair and Chief Executive, we are ambitious for the people we serve and the staff we employ. Across 
West Yorkshire and South Yorkshire we work with some of the most vulnerable and marginalised people in 
society. Communities in Barnsley, Calderdale, Kirklees, Wakefield and beyond, work with kind, caring, 
compassionate and respectful staff. We always have the intention of putting people first and at the centre of 
their own care. This Quality Account shows that we often get this right and that we need to do more to 
make sure we always do - in every service and for every person. 

Increasingly, the NHS is organised in ways that recognises what is obvious for many local people – that 
safe, high quality care relies on many organisations working together. We fully embrace this. For example 
we are playing a full role in local “Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships” across West and South 
Yorkshire. And we are working on joined up services in all of the places we work. Our innovative 
approaches to working with charities, councils, schools, the police and other agencies are central to our 
success and critical to our future. True partnerships will be the measure of whether we can deliver the best 
outcomes for local people and the national direction set out in NHS Five Year Forward View. 

In this period of sustained change and pressure from the consequences of national policy, Brexit, austerity 
and the uncertainty of the post- election period, we will always focus on quality as a touchstone and within 
that we will seek to ensure safety comes first, always. This Quality Account sets out the means for ensuring 
this happens and the distance we still have to travel. 
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Statement of assurance 

This quality account has been prepared in line with the requirements of the NHS Act 2009, regulations of 
the Health and Social Care Bill 2012 and NHS Improvement, the independent regulator of foundation trusts. 
The Board of Directors has reviewed the Quality Account and to the best of our knowledge, we confirm that 
the information contained in this report is an accurate account of our performance and represents a 
balanced view of the quality of services provided by the Trust.   

   

 

Date: 25 May 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chair: Ian Black 

 

 

  Chief executive: Rob Webster 
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Part 2:  
Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance by 
the board  

 

Part 2.1 – Priorities for improvement  
In part two of our Quality Account we will outline our planned improvement priorities for 2017-18 and 
provide a series of statements of assurance from the Board on mandated items, as outlined in the ‘Detailed 
requirements for quality reports 2016-17’ (www.gov.uk/NHSi).  

South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SWYPFT) has used feedback collated through 
the year from engagement events, feedback from regulators and stakeholders and staff and service user 
experience feedback, to inform our quality priorities for the coming year. Against each of our quality 
priorities we’ve set ourselves measures of success. The measures are reviewed and refreshed each year 
to make sure we’re adapting to both local and national intelligence, and progressing against our aim to 
‘improve and be outstanding’.  

 

Our approach to quality improvement 
Improvement and innovation for quality is about making healthcare safe, effective, service user centred, 
timely and efficient. Our key driver is to ensure that we systematically improve quality throughout our 
services, reduce unnecessary clinical and strive to support our service users to achieve positive outcomes 
and live life to the full. 

We believe strong clinical leadership, supported by opportunities for innovation and robust governance 
arrangements will help us deliver a culture where high quality services will flourish. 

Quality improvement is a priority at Board level and throughout the Trust. Quality improvement is routinely 
reported to our Trust Board through the recently revised Integrated Performance Report.   

The Executive Lead is the Executive Director of Nursing and Quality. The Clinical Governance and Clinical 
Safety Committee (CGCSC) is led by the lead Executive Director and a Non-executive Director. This 
committee reports directly to the Trust Board. A number of standing sub-groups who cover quality and 
safety matters report directly to the CGCSC. These sub-groups are chaired by the Medical Director, 
Nursing Director or their deputies. 

A drive for continuous improvement is embedded in our mission and values. Our strategic aim is to ' foster 
a culture of innovation, change and continuous improvement in order to ‘improve and be outstanding’.  As a 
learning organisation we encourage all our staff and service users to make suggestions for quality 
improvement and be involved in implementing the great ideas that are adopted.  

 

Our mission and values 

The Trust exists to help people reach their potential and live well in their community. To do this we have a 
strong set of values that mean: 

• Honest, open and transparent 
• Respectful 
• Person first and in the centre 
• Improve and be outstanding 
• Relevant today, ready for tomorrow 
• Families and carers matter 
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In 2016-17 we have aligned our strategic objectives, priorities and programmes, and quality initiatives and 
we will use these as a framework to focus improvement, innovation and monitor assurance. In addition we 
will ensure all our improvement efforts will make the best use of expertise and resources.  

Our strategic objectives are: 

• Improve people’s health and well being 
• Improve quality and experience of all that we do 
• Improve out use of resources 

 

Our strategic plans for improving quality include: 
  

• Delivering our Care Quality Commission (CQC) action plan  
• Building on our existing work using clinical microsystems  
• Expanding the use of our innovation hub (i-hub)  
• Developing improvement skills, working with our local Academic Health Science Network (AHSN)  
• Revision of our quality improvement monitoring system and visit programme 
• Meeting the targets of our 20+ quality indicators  
• Learning from serious incidents 
• Learning from success 
• Learning through a clinical audit programme  
• Research and development  
• Internal benchmarking and reporting initiatives  

 
 

The diagram on the following page, which is in development, outlines our strategic objectives, priorities, 
programmes and quality initiatives. For the purpose of the Quality Account we have prioritised a selection 
of these quality initiatives as ‘quality priorities’ for 2017-2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 2  
 



 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
 

Sa
fe

  
R

es
po

ns
iv

e 
  

 
 

Improving 
health 
 
  
 
 
Improving 
care 
 
 
 
 
Improving 
use of 
resources 
 

 

W
el

l l
ed

   
C

ar
in

g 
People first 

Quality counts, 
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Digital by default   

Joining up care  

Compassionate 
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVES 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES & QUALITY INITIATIVES 

Improve physical health in mental 
health, safer staffing fill rates, 
quality of clinical record keeping  
 
Reduce harm 
 
Implement suicide prevention 
strategy, mortality reviews 
Clinical risk assessments  

Patient safety 
Older people’s transformation  
Improving autism & ADHD 
Perinatal mental health  
West Yorkshire work – CAMHS, 
forensics, suicide prevention 
Quality priorities 

 

Supporting place 
based plans 
Accountable care in 
Barnsley and 
Wakefield  
New models of care 
and vanguards 

 
Enhancing Liaison services 
Improving people’s 
experience  
Recovery based approaches 
Physical/mental health  

 
Leadership 
development  
Quality 
Improvement  
Membership  
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Operational 
Excellence  

 

Flow & out of area beds 
Workforce – sickness, rostering, 
skill-mix & agency 
Effective use of supplies & 
resources 
CQUIN 
Financial sustainably and CIP 
Clinical record system 
Digital health  
Data driven Improvements & 
innovation 

 

Competency framework for 
community nursing 
Timely assessments & reviews  
Transitions of care  
Development of an integrated 
change framework 
Implementation of IG standards 
Improve the quality of care 
planning   
Clinical supervision  
Developing a skilled workforce  

Improve access to service  
Complaint closure & response times 
Promote the role of freedom to speak up 
guardian  
 

Staff friends and family test  
Patient experience  
Peer support project 
Nursing & AHP strategy  
Share end of life best practice 
 

Review of QI system 
Quality dashboard 
Improving clinical information 
Development of a quality improvement toolkit  
Increasing ‘do and share’ improvements 
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Our quality priorities – summary of performance in 2016-17  

Throughout 2016-17 we measured activity against each of our quality priorities and reported them to our 
Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee. Our progress against these priorities can be found in 
‘Part 3 – Our Performance in 2016-17’. 

Below is a summary of our performance against 2016-17 quality priorities: 

 No. of 
priorities RAG rated summary of performance 

Safe 8 4 rated green, 1 rated amber, 1 rated red, 2 awaiting data 
Effective 6 3 rated green, 2 rated amber, 1 rated red 
Caring 9 5 rated green, 3 rated amber, 1 rated red 
Responsive 4 4 rated green 
Well Led 5 4 rated green, 1 awaiting data 
Total 32 20 rated green, 6 rated amber, 3 rated red, 3 awaiting data 

The full details of  our performance can be found on the table on pages  34-37. 

Quality risks  
• Agency spend 

The Trust had a ceiling for agency expenditure of £5.1m within the period 2016-2017. This was exceeded 
by the Trust in September 2016 and our overall agency spend for 2016-2017 amounted to £9.8m (92%) 
more than the NHSI cap). This impacted on the Trust Use of Resources risk rating within the Single 
Oversight Framework. This led to the Trust receiving a financial risk rating of 3 (1 being the best and 4 the 
weakest rating).  

The Trust returns a supplementary weekly return to NHSI and this now includes long term and high cost 
agency information. A number of actions have been put in place to try and minimise agency usage and 
progress against these actions is reviewed and reported into Executive Management Team (EMT).    

• Care Quality Commission (CQC) improvement actions 
When the CQC re-visited us between December 2016 and February 2017 they identified some regulation 
breaches under the Health and Social Care Act (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. These shortfalls 
potentially impact on the quality of care and safety of our service users.  

The CQC told us that within the Barnsley and Kirklees community health services for people with a learning 
disability or autism, waiting times to see members of the multidisciplinary team or specialist clinics 
remained high. In Barnsley CAMHS waiting times for treatment remained lengthy and in all CAMHS 
services there were lengthy waits for young people who required assessment for autistic spectrum disorder 
and related conditions. In forensic services staff did not have sufficient knowledge and understanding of the 
Mental Capacity Act (MCA) to implement the correct MCA processes in practice. Within our community 
mental health services for people with a learning disability or autism, staff could not quickly access risk 
assessment documentation. CQC found that within our acute inpatient mental health wards for adults of 
working age and psychiatric intensive units, there was a lack of sufficient numbers of suitably qualified, 
competent and skilled staff to meet the needs of service users. This impacted on mandatory training 
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figures, including MHA training and the number of staff receiving regular supervision. We have action plans 
in place to address these risks and have identified these areas within our quality priorities. 

• Out of area beds 
The Trust has been supporitng BDUs to look at how we can reduce the number of service users who 
require out of area bed usage, in line with our prinicple of caring for people as close to their locality as 
possible. Options have been explored, for example, a review of the existing bed base and ‘block 
purchasing’ of beds from another NHS provider, however, a decision was made not to take these 
suggestions forward. The measures that were  taken forward are; 

• Agreements were reached with other NHS providers for ‘spot purchasing.’ This meant beds could 
be purchased on an individual basis as and when needed. 

• We have worked with other STP partners i.e. Leeds and Bradford who have previously found 
themselves in a similar position to ours. This has resulted in some ongoing learning and root cause 
analysis to help understand how we can improve and why difficulties may be occurring. 

• Trust wide ‘patient flow meetings’ have been introduced to look at how we can remove any 
blockages within the system e.g. length of stays and more robust working with community teams. 

• Some work has been carried out to look at thresholds across different wards and responses to 
acuity from a staff and service user perspective. 

• Inpatient areas are introducing ‘formulation meetings’ within 72 hours of a person’s admission. This 
system has been in place on the Barnsley acute wards and PICU for some time and is now being 
piloted in other BDUs. The purpose of the meeting is to look at expectations and roles of the ward, 
community services and others in helping to plan the service user’s recovery. 

• A personality disorder care pathway has also recently been introduced to help improve with flow 
and throughput and to make sure there is a consistent approach in the way these services users 
are cared for and managed. 

• The Trust-wide recruitment programme has led to us meeting our safer staffing fill rates and skill 
mix and this remains ongoing. 

The outcomes from the above actions have been positive and have led to the following: 

• Reduction in length of stay in hospital  
• Reductions in out of area bed usage  
• Teams are now more focussed on supporting recovery so that service users are in hospital no 

longer than they need to be 
• Throughput and service user flow has improved 
• The actions outlined above have resulted in a better whole system approach and improved 

outcomes for service users 

The Trust continues to operate a robust quality impact assessment process that is applied to all cost 
improvement programme changes and service developments before implementation. This rigorous 
challenge process helps safeguard quality and includes review at several organisational levels. 
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Quality priorities 2017-18 

In 2016-17 we revised the framework for our quality priorities and adopted the 5 domains of the Care 
Quality Commission, i.e. SAFE, EFFECTIVE, CARING, RESPONSIVE, and WELL LED. We then mapped 
our quality priorities that were identified for monitoring across to the five domains via the quality account 
process in 2016-17.  

We have triangulated feedback collated through the year from engagement events, feedback from 
regulators and stakeholders, service user feedback and staff feedback to identify our quality priorities for 
2017-18.  

SAFE   Quality domain – Safety 

Quality improvement 
goal 17-18 What we will do Area applicable to 

How progress will be 
measured 

Threshold/KPI 
measure 

Improving physical 
health in mental health 

Undertake assessment 
and treatment for 
people with psychoses 

Trust-wide adult, 
inpatient and 
community teams 

CQUIN performance 
measures CQUIN thresholds 

Safer staffing fill rates 
Meet trust objectives 
as determined by safer 
staffing group. 

Trust-wide inpatient 
areas and community 
teams 

Progress against 
planned objectives 

KPIs 
Trust wide fill 
rates=>90% 
Registered nurse fill 
rates => 80% 

Reduce  harm 

Implementation of our 
patient safety metrics – 
we aim to reduce 
 
•Restraint 
•Falls 
•Pressure ulcers 

Restraint – mental 
health and learning 
disability services 
 
Falls – Trust-wide 
inpatient services 
 
Pressure ulcers - 
Barnsley Community 
health services (CHS)  

Progress through 
planned objectives – 
monitored in Patient 
Safety Group 

Restraint 
1. reduction in overall 
number of restraints 
2. reduction in prone 
restraints lasting more 
than 3 minutes 
Falls -TBC 
Pressure ulcers – 
attributable to Trust = 0 

Implementing Suicide 
Prevention Strategy  

Meet planned 
objectives 

Trust-wide services Progress against 
planned objectives 

Quarterly update report 

Mortality reviews Meet planned 
objectives 

Trust-wide services Progress against 
planned objectives 

Quarterly update report 

Clinical risk 
assessments  

Monitor the completion 
and availability of 
clinical risk 
assessments 

Community learning 
disability services 
Mental health services 

Audit process to be 
established 

To be determined 
following baseline audit 

Improve the quality of 
clinical record keeping 

Revision of standard 
operating procedure 
(SOP) 
 
Implement updated 
SOP 

Trust-wide services 
Monitor assurance  
through clinical record 
keeping audit 

Threshold will be set 
against benchmarked 
audit results 
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EFFECTIVE   Quality domain – Clinical effectiveness 

Quality improvement 
goal 17-18 

What we will do Area applicable to How progress will be 
measured 

Threshold 

Competency framework 
for community nursing 

Meet planned 
objectives 

Barnsley community 
nursing services 

Progress against 
planned objectives 

Quarterly update report 

Timely assessments 
and reviews of care and 
treatment 

Monitor the completion 
and availability of 
clinical risk 
assessments 

Community learning 
disability services. 
 
Mental health services 

Audit process to be 
established 

To be determined 
following baseline audit 

Transitions of care 

Implement our 
processes revised 16-
17 for transitions of 
care.  
Implement CQUIN 
goals 

Adult mental health 
services 
Learning disabilities  
and CAMHS 

CQUIN performance 
measures 

CQUIN thresholds 

Development of an 
integrated change 
framework 

Establish objectives for 
2017-18 

Trust-wide services Meet planned objectives Quarterly update report 

Implementation of 
information governance 
(IG) standards 

Implement actions from 
the IG action plan Trust-wide services 

Performance against the 
action plan 

Downward trend of IG 
incidents 

Improve the quality of 
care planning  

Establish standards for 
care plans, implement 
and audit 

Trust-wide services 
Clinical record keeping 
audit Compliance rate 80% 

Clinical supervision  

Monitoring of access to 
clinical supervision and 
take action where staff 
are unable to access 
supervision 

Acute wards for adults 
of working age 
 
Forensic services 
 

Workforce performance 
wall  80%  

Developing a skilled 
workforce 

 

Meet training target for: 
• MHA/MCA  
• Immediate Life 

Support  (ILS)  
• Mandatory training 

programme 

Forensic services 
 
Acute Wards for 
Adults of Working Age  

Monitor progress against 
uptake of training  

MCA = 80% 
ILS =80% 
Mandatory training = 
80% 
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CARING  Quality domain – Patient experience 

Quality improvement 
goal 17-18 

What we will do Area applicable to How progress will be 
measured 

Threshold 

Staff Friends and 
Family Test 

Monitor and implement 
actions of staff health 
and well- being plan 

Trust-wide services Staff Feedback 

80% of staff 
recommend the Trust 
as a place for care and 
treatment 

Patient experience 

Act on the feedback we 
receive from the 
Friends and Family 
Test and other service 
user experience 
surveys 

Trust-wide services 

We will measure the 
percentage of people 
who are extremely likely/ 
likely to recommend the 
service to their friends 
and family.  
We will review the 
actions taken in 
response to service user 
experience feedback 

Forensic  65% 
 
Learning disabilities  
85% 
 
CHS 98% 
 
Mental health services 
85% 
 
CAMHS  75% 

Peer support project 
Implement objectives 
for 2017-18 Trust-wide services  

Monitor progress against 
objectives Quarterly update report 

Nursing strategy 
Implement objectives 
for 2017-18 

Trust-wide services  Monitor progress against 
objectives 

Quarterly update report 

Allied health 
professionals strategy: 
Into action 

Implement objectives 
for 2017-18 

Trust-wide services  Monitor progress against 
objectives 

Quarterly update report 

Share best practice 
from our End of Life 
Care service and 
spread across the 
Trust 

Implement objectives 
for 2017-18 

Trust-wide services  Monitor progress against 
objectives 

Quarterly update report 

RESPONSIVE  Quality domain – Clinical effectiveness 

Quality improvement 
goal 17-18 

What we will do Area applicable to How progress will be 
measured 

Threshold 

Improve access to 
service 

Improve access waiting 
times 
• Psychology 
• CAMHS (generic 

teams) 
• Specialist 

assessments and 

Psychology – Barnsley, 
Calderdale and 
Kirklees adult 
psychology services 
 
CAMHS – Barnsley, 
Calderdale, Kirklees 
and Wakefield services 

Integrated Performance 
Report  
 

To be agreed 
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The measures identified in the Quality Priorities 2017-18 (above) will be reported and monitored in the 
following ways throughout the year: 

1. Monthly reporting of key performance measures in the Integrated Performance Report to Executive 
Management Team  

2. Bi-monthly reporting of all quality account measures into the Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety 
Committee. 

3. Monthly and/or quarterly reporting into Clinical Governance Group (CGG) 

4. To Clinical Commissioning Groups via Quality Board meetings.   

interventions 
within community 
learning disability 
services 

 
Specialist assessments 
- community learning 
disability services  

Complaint closure and 
response times 

We will improve the 
complaint response 
times  

Trust wide  

Integrated Performance 
Report  
Customer Service 
Report 

To be agreed 

Promote the role of 
freedom to speak up 
guardian 

Implement objectives 
for 2017-18 

Trust wide services Meet planned objectives Quarterly update report 

WELL LED  Quality domain – Clinical effectiveness 

Quality Improvement 
Goal 17-18 

What we will do Area applicable to How progress will be 
measured 

Threshold 

Review of quality 
improvement 
monitoring, review and 
recognition system.  

Implement objectives 
for 2017-18 

Trust wide services Meet planned 
objectives 

Quarterly update report 

Quality dashboard  
development (ongoing 
development of quality 
metrics) 

Implement objectives 
for 2017-18 

Trust-wide services Meet planned 
objectives 

Quarterly update report 

Development of a 
quality improvement 
toolkit 

Implement  objectives 
for 2017-18 

Trust-wide services 
Meet planned 
objectives 

Quarterly update report 

Increasing ‘do and 
share’ improvements 

Implement objectives 
for 2017-18 

Trust-wide services Meet planned 
objectives 

Quarterly update report 
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Patient safety strategy - Sign up to Safety  
The Trust has developed the patient safety strategy 2015-18 to build on the existing robust governance 
processes.  
The aims are to: 

1. Improve the safety culture throughout the organisation whilst supporting people in their recovery 
journey. 

2. Reduce the frequency and severity of harm resulting from patient safety incidents. 
3. Enhance the safety, effectiveness and positive experience of the services we provide. 
4. Reduce the costs, both personal and financial, associated with patient safety incidents. 

The implementation plan (June 2015-June 2016) has progressed with many achievements throughout the 
year. However, the implementation group reflected that we stretched ourselves too thin last year. 
Consequently, the second year plan has been developed with much more focus on a smaller number of 
specific work streams. Some of the actions suggested in year one, when explored further, would not 
provide the outcome we had hoped. The group had robust discussions about ensuring we moved towards 
the aims of the strategy. 

Below are some of the achievements realised during the first year: 

Improve the safety culture throughout the organisation whilst supporting people in their recovery 
journey. 

• The patient safety strategy and implementation plans developed within BDUs and wider pieces of work  
• There has been a 13% increase in incident reporting across the Trust 
• ‘Our learning journey’ reports have been developed and shared across the Trust 
• Encouraged discussion at ward team level about incidents and the Datix dashboards 
• BDU learning lessons events are now established in most BDUs and plans are in place in other areas 
• A Suicide Prevention Strategy has been developed and action plans are being developed to support 

implementation 
• In working towards patient safety related training we are reviewing which training is relevant to staff 

roles  
• Training is available for Datix master classes to assist managers in their role and provide key tips for 

using the system 
• Staff can now request feedback about incidents they submit at the time of reporting on Datix 
• Datix dashboards are available to all Datix users which provide real time data in a visual manner. 

Specialist advisors, Sign up to Safety leads and Safewards have an extra dashboard 
• Produced leaflets to inform families and staff about the Trust’s serious incident investigation process 
• Duty of candour training has been rolled out and the process updated to support clinical staff in meeting 

their role in being open 

Reduce the frequency and severity of harm resulting from patient safety incidents 

• Sign up to Safety plans have been developed and leads identified. 
• Datix dashboards have been developed to display data for each Sign up to Safety measure 
• There is evidence of reduction of severity of harm on the dashboards as a result of implementation of 

the action plans 
• Use of the Safety Thermometer data 
• Compared the Trust serious incidents against National Confidential Inquiry into suicides and homicides 

(NCISH) annual data. The NCISH have reviewed 12 investigation reports and examined issues 
identified against national evidence. 

• Although incident reporting rates have increased by 13% in 2015/16, 85% resulted in no or low harm 
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Enhance the safety, effectiveness and positive experience of the services we provide 

• Safewards is a recognised intervention to incidents of conflict and containment. Early benchmarking 
has showed a decrease in conflict and containment incidents in the wards that have started to 
implement Safewards as opposed to those that have not 

• The Safer Staffing group is undertaking work to review the data available and explore ways to ensure 
staffing levels are met and can respond to demand. There are now regular exception reports 

• Work has taken place to support the role of the volunteer and ensure this is supported by safe and clear 
procedures 

Reduce both personal and financial, associated with patient safety incidents 

• Involving staff in development of new working environments 
• Ensuring the annual ligature audits have taken place and remedial work is actioned. 
• Safewards when implemented can ensure resources are used for interventions other than conflict and 

containment. 
• Sign up to Safety action plans are monitored against reduced levels of harm, this year harm has 

reduced in: 
o Medicine omissions  
o New pressure ulcers that are attributable and avoidable to the Trust 
o Reduction in number of prone restraints  
o Reduction in the number and level of harm from management of violence and aggression 

incidents 

A number of actions from year 1 were identified as ongoing pieces of work and have carried forward into 
year 2.  

The priorities for year 2 include:  

• Understanding our safety culture – developing a Trust wide safety culture survey 
• Improving patient safety communication across the Trust  

o Patient safety communication campaign  
• Focus on improvement methodologies for patient safety 

o Safety huddles  
o Safety conversations 
o Human factors methodology  
o Improve the reporting of patient safety information 
o Improving methods of sharing learning 

• Sign up to Safety – focus on reducing harm in five areas   
• Suicide Prevention Strategy implementation 
• Evaluation of duty of candour requirements 
 

Progress against the year 2 action plan (2017) will be closely monitored through the Patient Safety Strategy 
Implementation Group. Many items relate to embedding patient safety into culture and it is anticipated they 
will be ongoing work-streams beyond December 2017.   
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Duty of candour 
The Trust has embraced being open and has had a ‘Being open’ policy in place since 2008. However, the 
introduction of a statutory duty of candour in November 2014 is seen as an important step towards ensuring 
an open, honest and transparent culture. 

The duty of candour requirements are clearly stated within regulation 20 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. This clearly defines that any incident where moderate or 
more severe harm has been caused meets the requirements for Duty of candour. In interpreting the 
regulation on the duty of candour, the CQC uses the definitions of openness, transparency and candour 
used by Robert Francis in his report: 

• Openness – enabling concerns and complaints to be raised freely without fear and questions to be 
answered.  

• Transparency – allowing information about the truth about performance and outcomes to be shared with 
staff, service users, the public and regulators.  

• Candour – any service user harmed by the provision of a healthcare service is informed of the fact and an 
appropriate remedy offered, regardless of whether a complaint has been made or a question asked about 
it. 

The Trust has reviewed and updated its policy guidance, frequently asked questions and flowchart 
describing the duty of candour process to be followed. Training has been delivered to team managers 
and/or deputies. The patient safety support team has benchmarked the Trust processes against other 
organisations and mapped the process. The team will inform managers of any incidents where the 
provisional level of harm is assessed as being moderate, severe harm or death.  These will usually be 
incidents with severity of yellow, amber and red (however, it should be noted that severity and degree of 
harm are not the same).  Once the degree of harm has been agreed, the duty of candour process is 
monitored and reported within the Trust incident quarterly reports. 

Being open is reflected in the Trust's complaints management processes with the customer services team 
promoted as a single gateway to raise issues and give feedback via phone, text, email, online submission, 
letter or face to face contact. Staff at service level are supported to act locally on feedback and to respond 
in real time wherever possible. Customer services support the resolution of issues and provide intelligence 
on themes arising from complaints and actions taken to promote learning across the organisation. 
Timescales for response are negotiated with complainants on an individual basis and many meet the 
internal 25 working day target. Complaints are monitored by BDUs on a weekly basis with quarterly scrutiny 
by Trust Board.    

In 16-17 the Trust received 260 formal complaints, with the most common themes being communication, 
values and behaviours, service user care, access to treatment, admission and discharge, policy and 
procedures and waiting times. There were 510 issues raised informally, with the Trust promoting a default 
position of putting things right as and when they happen, and learning from the experience of people who 
use services. 516 compliments were recorded and positive practice shared.  Over 200 actions were logged 
with changes implemented in response to feedback, including improved processes for information sharing, 
communication and involvement in care. Fortnightly reporting to BDUs, which is shared with district 
directors, deputies and the senior management team (TRIO), identifies areas of concern which require 
action, and identifies any lessons to inform governance processes. 

Nine complainants asked the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman to review their complaint 
following contact with the Trust during this period.  Such cases are subject to rigorous scrutiny by the 
Ombudsman, including a review of all documentation and the Trust’s complaints management processes. 
The Trust received feedback about 9 cases. Four of these cases were closed with no further action 
required. Five cases were partially upheld with appropriate actions implemented. These include ensuring 
consistent care co-ordination, review of CPA processes, and ensuring complaints are not referenced in 
health records in adult mental health services. The Trust currently has seven further cases pending with the 
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Ombudsman; it can take a number of months before the Ombudsman is in a position to advise the Trust on 
its decisions.  

 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection 
The Trust received an inspection visit from the CQC in March 2016 where they found that a number of our 
core services required improvement, and this led to the organisation receiving an overall rating of ‘requires 
improvement.’ The CQC re-visited us between November 2016 and January 2017 and focussed on those 
core services who had previously received Requirement Notices (with the exception of community-based 
mental health services for adults of working age because the timescales for completion of their required 
actions was not due until March 31 2017). The CQC also undertook a well-led review of the organisation in 
January 2017. The purpose of the CQC re-visit was to check whether our action plan to address areas for 
improvement had been satisfactorily met.   

As an organisation we welcomed the re-visit so we could demonstrate how we had made the necessary 
improvements to improve the quality and safety of the care and services we provide. A lot of hard work and 
effort had been undertaken to make these improvements and the Trust hoped that CQC as our regulatory 
body would acknowledge this in their findings and subsequent reports from these visits. 

The CQC carried out visits to seven of our core services in total. Three of the service reports were 
published in February 2017, three more in March and our final service report was published in April, along 
with our overall service report. At our previous CQC visit in March 2016 six core services had been given a 
‘requires improvement’ rating. Following our re-visit the rating of four of these core services has been 
changed to ‘good.’ This means that overall across the organisation 12 of our 14 core services are now 
rated as ‘good’, meaning our overall rating has also changed to ‘good.’ Within the key CQC domains of 
safe, effective, caring and well-led we received overall good ratings, whilst the responsive domain still 
‘requires improvement.’  The number of key domains rated ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ across our core services 
has increased to 90%. 

We were pleased that  the CQC were able to recognise and acknowledge our achievements and progress. 
Their comments included: 

• All staff were seen to be kind, caring and compassionate as well as respectful and warm.  
• They found a positive culture change and senior leaders to be more visible.  
• Staff know about our values as an organisation and the direction of travel. 
• The positive impact of our BDU trios. 
• Care plans are personalised and holistic with good evidence of service user involvement and 

participation. 
• Improvements in our approach to governance, performance and risk. 
• Improved engagement and communication with staff. 
• Problems with our Rio system are being addressed. 

 

We also acknowledge where further progress and improvements are needed. For example: 

• We need to continue to reduce waiting times in some services. 
• In some areas knowledge, understanding and implementation of the Mental Capacity Act needs to 

be improved. 
• Better recording and monitoring of staff supervision is needed. 
• One area needs to make risk assessment information more easily accessible to staff. 
• Some newly introduced roles and systems need to be further embedded. 
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Our new ratings are now on display and our website is to be updated to reflect the changes. We will 
continue to monitor and update our CQC action plan for those actions outstanding. We are holding a 
Quality Summit in June 2017 in which we will update our partners and stakeholders about the 
improvements and progress we have made. This will also put us in a better position for the future with our 
NHS Improvement rating. We will continue to strive to maintain, sustain and drive through quality 
improvements in our commitment to improve and be outstanding. From April 2017 the CQC are 
introducing their next phase of regulation. This will mean a change in the way they inspect services. 
Because of this the CQC will carry out a well-led review of our services on an annual basis and will visit at 
least one of our core services within the next 12 months. 

SWYPFT CQC ratings charts (April 2017)
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Part 2.2 – Statements of assurance from the board 

Review of services 
During 2016-17 South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SWYPFT) provided and / or 
subcontracted 113 relevant health services. South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has 
reviewed all the data available to us on the quality of care in 113 (100%) of these services.  

The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2016-17 represents 100 percent of the 
total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by the South West Yorkshire 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for 2016-2017. 

Participation in clinical audit  
During the 2016-2017 seven (7) national clinical audits and one (1) national confidential enquiry covered 
relevant services that South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Trust provides. During that period 2016-17 
South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust participated in 7/7 (100%) of the national clinical 
audits and 1/1 (100%) of the national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in. The 
national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that SWYPFT was eligible to participate in during 
2016-2017 are as follows:  
 

 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust participated in during 2016-2017 are as follows. 

 

National clinical audit programme 2016-2017 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data collection was completed during 2016-2017, are listed 
below alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of 
registered cases required by the terms of the audit or enquiry. 

National Clinical Audits SWYPFT  
was eligible to participate in during 
2016-2017 

1) Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR 
programme) 

2) National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 
3) Sentinel Stroke National Audit (SSNAP) clinical audit 
4) Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (POMH) 11c: 

Prescribing antipsychotic medication for people with dementia 
5) POMH 7e: Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium 
6) POMH 16a: Rapid tranquillisation 
7) POMH 1g and 3d: Prescribing high dose and combined 

antipsychotics 
National Confidential Inquiries SWYPFT 
was eligible to participate in 2016-17 

1) National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by people with 
mental illness 

National Clinical Audits that SWYPFT 
participated in  
2016-2017 
 

1) Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR programme) 
2) National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 
3) Sentinel Stroke National Audit (SSNAP) clinical audit 
4) Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (POMH) 11c: Prescribing 

antipsychotic medication for people with dementia 
5) POMH 7e: Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium 
6) POMH 16a: Rapid tranquillisation 
7) POMH 1g and 3d: Prescribing high dose and combined antipsychotics 

 
National Confidential Inquiries SWYPFT 
was eligible to participate in 2016-2017 

1) National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by people 
with mental illness 
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The percentage of registered cases required by the terms of the audit is not specified. This is because the 
Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (POMH) audits does not specify a minimum number in their 
sampling framework criteria 

Title Number of cases submitted Commentary 

Learning Disability 
Mortality Review 
Programme (LeDeR) 

Data collection from 1st November 
2016 
17 cases reported, 11 cases from 
SWYPFT and 6 reported by another 
organisation  

Annual report expected September 2017 

POMH 11c: 
Prescribing 
antipsychotic 
medication for people 
with dementia 

Data collection April 2016 
120 cases submitted from 4 areas.  
Report received December 2016 

The national benchmark report and local executive 
summary has been disseminated to relevant 
clinicians, for development and implementation of 
action plan.  
Of the 6 indicators, 2 indications were green, 2 
indications amber and 2 indicators for long term 
monitoring were red.  
At this time there are no further plans to undertake 
a fourth national audit. 

POMH 7e: Monitoring 
of patients prescribed 
lithium 

Data collection June 2016 
183 cases submitted from 4 areas.  
Report received February 2017 

The national benchmark report and local executive 
summary has been disseminated to relevant 
clinicians, for development and implementation of 
action plan.  
Overall all the criteria have decreased in 
compliance achieved from previous audits however 
SWYPFT is above the national average for most 
criteria. 
At this time there are no further plans to undertake 
a sixth national audit. 

POMH 16: Rapid 
tranquillisation 

Data collection November 2016 
65 cases submitted from 4 areas 
Report expected June 2017 

The national report has not yet been received 

Sentinel Stroke 
National Audit 
Programme (SSNAP)  

Ongoing data collection  
373 cases  
National reports reported 3 times per 
year 

August to December 2016 data report to be 
reported in March 2017. 
Overall the results continue to be positive. Action 
plans updated quarterly. 

POMH 1g and 3d: 
Prescribing high dose 
and combined 
antipsychotics 

Data collection February 2017 
235 cases 
Report expected July 2017  

The national report has not yet been received 

National Chronic 
Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease 
Audit (COPD) 

Data collection January to July 2017 The audit will produce site level reports following 
the close of the data collection period, and national 
reports will be published later in 2017. 

 
The reports of seven (7) national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016-2017 and South 
West Yorkshire NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of health 
care provided. 
 

• Each clinical audit has a project lead in the governance group. This lead is responsible for 
presenting the audit results to their business delivery unit. Areas of concern or high risk are 
escalated to the deputy district director for immediate action. 

• The members of the governance group or another lead will action the plan against the audit 
recommendations. 

• Implementation of the action plan is monitored by the Quality Improvement and Assurance Team 
and reported to the Trust Clinical Governance Group. 

• Outcomes from clinical audits are reported to the Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety 
Committee. 
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National confidential inquiry (NCI) 2016-2017 

The national confidential inquiries that South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in, and for which data collection was completed during 2016-17, are listed below alongside the 
number of cases submitted to each inquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by 
the terms of that inquiry.  

 

Local clinical audit 
During 2016-2017 the Clinical Audit and Practice Evaluation (CAPE) prioritised plan had a total of 148 
projects listed. The reports of 75 local clinical audits / practice evaluations were reviewed by the provider in 
2016-2017. There are 47 projects in progress and 26 have either been deferred into 2017-2018 or removed 
from the programme. South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following 
actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided. 
 

• Each clinical audit has a project lead in the governance group. This lead is responsible for 
presenting the audit results to the business delivery unit. Areas of concern are escalated to the 
deputy district director for immediate action. 

• The members of the governance group or another lead will action the plan against the 
recommendations. 

• Implementation of the action plan is monitored by the Quality Improvement and Assurance Team 
and reported to the Trust Clinical Governance Group. 

• Outcomes from audits are reported to the Clinical Governance and Clinical Safety Committee. 
 

Participation in clinical research  
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-contracted by SWYPFT in 2016-
17 that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee 
was 261.  

 

 

Title Number of 
cases 
submitted  

Number of 
cases 
completed 

Commentary 

National Confidential Inquiry into 
Suicide and Homicide by people 
with mental illness 

24 19 (79%) 5 questionnaires continue to be 
processed 
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Goals we agreed with our commissioners 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation Payment Framework (CQUIN) 
A proportion of income in 2016-17 was conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation 
goals agreed between South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and any person or body 
we entered into contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of relevant health services, 
through Commissioning for Quality and Innovation Payments Framework. 

Further details of the agreed goals for 2016-17 and for the following 12 month period are available 
electronically at www.swyt.nhs.uk. 

An overall total of £4,493,876 was available for CQUIN to SWYPFT in 
2016-17 conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation 
goals across all of its CQUIN’s, and a total of £3,881,121 (86%) is 
expected to be received for the associated payment. Please note this is 
the Trust positon as at 12th April 2017 and is subject to change as 
we are awaiting national data. 

 

By comparison an overall total of £4,720,416 was available for CQUIN to 
SWYPFT in 2015-16 conditional upon achieving quality improvement 
and innovation goals across all of its CQUIN’s, and a total of £3,660,958  
(78%) was be received for the associated payment.    
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Service Goal 
Expected financial 
value of indicator if 
fully achieved 

Percent achieved 
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Mental health 
and learning 
disabilities 

Improving the health and wellbeing of NHS 
Staff £695,133 100% 

Improving physical healthcare to reduce 
premature mortality in people with severe 
mental illness (PSMI) 

£231,711 54% 

Mental Health Currency £528,741 68% 

Care Planning £412,885 94% 

NHS Safety Thermometer £148,914 40% * 

Learning Disability Outcome Measures £242,795 100% 

CAMHS-WAKEFIELD ONLY £56,930 100% 

TOTAL £2,317,109 83% 

The Trust mt 
90% of its quality 
innovation goals 
in 2014-15 

 

The Trust met 86% 
of its quality 
innovation goals in 
2016-17 
 

 

 

 

 

86% 
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*please see section 3 where you will find an explanation of our performance against these CQUIN’s.  

 

Care Quality Commission (CQC)  
South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission and its current registration status is that it is registered in respect of the following regulated 
activities: 

• Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 
• Diagnostic and Screening Procedures 
• Nursing Care 
• Treatment of disease, disorder or injury 

Lo
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Service Goal 
Expected financial 
value of indicator if 
fully achieved 

Percent achieved 
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 s
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Secure 
services 

MH2 Recovery Colleges for Medium and Low 
Secure Patients £227,409 100% 

MH3 Reducing Restrictive Practices within 
Adult Low and Medium Secure Services 

£227,409 100% 

Care and Treatment Reviews Task and 
Finish Group 
All providers within Yorkshire and Humber of 
medium or low secure learning disability 
services 

£113,704 100% 

TOTAL £568,522 100% 

Lo
ca

lit
y 

Service Goal 
Expected financial 
value of indicator if 
fully achieved 

Percent achieved 

B
ar

ns
le

y 

Mental health, 
learning 
disability  and 
community 
health services 

Improving the health and wellbeing of NHS 
Staff 

£321,649 100% 

Improving physical healthcare to reduce 
premature mortality in people with severe 
mental illness (PSMI) 

£321,649 61% 

Mental Health Currency £192,989 50% * 

Falls and Patient Safety Improvement 
Programme £385,979 100% 

Community Nursing Review £385,979 100% 

TOTAL £1,608,245 86% 
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There are no conditions attached to the registration other than the specified locations from which the 
regulated activities may be carried on at or from. 

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against South West Yorkshire Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust during 2016-17. 

South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in special reviews or 
investigations by the Care Quality Commission relating to the following areas during 2016-17. 

 

NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity  
South west Yorkshire partnership NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during 2016-17 to the 
Secondary Users Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest 
published data.  
The percentage of records in the published data:  
 
which included the patient’s valid NHS number was:  
• 99.9% for admitted patient care  
• 100% for outpatient care and  
• N/A for accident and emergency care. 

which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was: 
• 99.8% for admitted patient care;  
• 100% for outpatient care; and  
• N/A for accident and emergency care. 
 

Information Governance Toolkit attainment  
South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust Information 
Governance Assessment Report overall score for 2016-17 is 68% and is 
graded satisfactory.  

Clinical Coding accuracy  
Our latest audit of clinical coding showed 95% of primary diagnoses and 
100% of primary procedures were coded accurately. 

  

South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has not been subject to the Payment by Results 
clinical coding audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission. 
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Quality of data  
Improving data quality remains one of the Trust’s key strategic priorities. There was continued focus in 
2016-17 on improving the quality of clinical record keeping (three priority areas were identified and are 
being monitored on an ongoing basis). This underpins the delivery of safe effective care and assures the 
Executive Management Team (EMT) and the Trust Board that data taken from the clinical record and used 
for activity and performance monitoring and improvement is robust.  

South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Trust will take the following action in 2016-17 to further improve 
data quality:   

Bringing clarity to quality We will continue to improve the training, guidance and support available to help staff and 
services understand and improve data quality. 

Measuring quality 

We will continue to develop a wide range of team, service line, BDU and Trust level operational 
and performance reports.  
Service line reporting and electronic dashboards will include key performance indicators. This 
will enable users to look at performance at team, service line, BDU and Trust levels. Internal and 
external benchmarking will be used. 

Publishing quality The Trust will continue to publish its data to the Secondary Uses Service, NHSI, CQC, the 
Department of Health, Commissioner, partners and the Members’ Council. 

Partnership for quality We’ll continue to work with partner organisations to make sure we meet our respective quality 
and performance requirements and that duplication of data collection and inputting is minimised. 

Leadership for quality 

The Data Quality Steering Group will oversee the development and delivery of the 2017-18 data 
quality improvement programme and will provide progress updates to the executive 
management team. 
BDUs will develop and deliver individual BDU-level improvement plans. 

Innovation for quality 

We’ll continue to optimise our clinical information systems (RiO and SystmOne) and exploit new 
technology to make these systems easy to access and use. We are currently undertaking a re-
procurement process of our mental health clinical information system (currently RiO) and are 
looking to ensure innovation for quality is embedded within any future mental health system. 

Safeguarding quality The Trust’s executive management team will continue to review key performance information 
and take action where data quality issues arise.  
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Part 2.3 – Reporting against core indicators  

 

Patients on Care Programme Approach who were followed up within 
seven days 

Indicator 
NHS Outcomes 
Framework 
Domain 

Health and Social Care Information Centre SWYPFT performance data 
 
Goal = 95% 

The percentage 
of patients on 
Care 
Programme 
Approach who 
were followed up 
within 7 days 
after discharge 
from psychiatric 
in-patient care 
during the 
reporting period. 

1: Preventing 
people from dying 
prematurely  
 
2: Enhancing 
quality of life for 
people with long-
term conditions 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

SWYPFT 2013-14 92.11% 93.81% 91.92% 95.18% 

SWYPFT 2014-15 96.78% 96.19% 96.33% 98.02% 

SWYPFT 2015-16 98.66% 97.98% 95.64% 97.44% 

SWYPFT 2016-17 96.9% 97.8% 97.4% 97.5% 

NHS England (NHSE) 
data  
2016-17 

96.2% 96.8% 96.7% Data not 
available 

NHSE provider lowest 
performance (2016-
17) 

28.6% 76.9% 73.3% 
Data not 
available 

NHSE provider 
highest performance 
2016-17 

100% 100% 100% 
Data not 
available 

 

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for 
the following reasons: 

• This information is taken from the clinical record. 
• Clinical staff are given training and guidance to input data onto the system. No staff member is allowed 

to use the system until they have received this training. 
• Data is clinically validated before it is submitted to the Health and Social Care Information Centre. 
• Performance data is reviewed monthly by the Executive Management Team and the Trust Board. 

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve 
this percentage, and therefore the quality of its services: 

• An Improving Clinical Information Group sponsored and chaired by the Director of Nursing, Clinical 
Governance and Safety, that meets quarterly to focus on the quality of clinical data. Each Business 
Delivery Unit has developed a robust process to improve the quality of their clinical data.  

• Each Business Delivery Unit is provided with performance and quality reports on a monthly basis. The 
senior management team scrutinize the reports for any downward trends, investigate and take 
appropriate action to prevent further deterioration in quality. 
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Percentage of admissions to acute wards for which the Crisis 
Resolution Home Treatment Team acted as a gatekeeper 

Indicator 

NHS 
Outcomes 
Framework 
Domain 

Health and Social Care Information Centre SWYPFT performance data 

The percentage of 
admissions to acute 
wards for which the 
Crisis Resolution 
Home Treatment Team 
acted as a gatekeeper 
during the reporting 
period 

2: Enhancing 
quality of life 
for people with 
long-term 
conditions 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

SWYPFT 2013-14 99.7% 99.5% 99.7% 99.2% 

SWYPFT 2014-15 99.54% 98.55% 100% 99.15% 

SWYPFT 2015-16 95.81% 97.29% 96.04% 98.32% 

SWYPFT 2016-17 96.9% 99.3% 99.3% 99.3% 

NHS England 
(NHSE) data 2016-
17 

98.1% 98.4% 98.7% 
Data not 
available 

NHSE provider 
lowest performance 
2016-17 

78.9% 76% 88.3% Data not 
available 

NHSE provider 
highest 
performance 2016-
17 

100% 100% 100% 
Data not 
available 

 

South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 
considers that this data is as described for the following 
reasons: 

• This information is taken from the clinical record 
• Clinical staff are given training and guidance to input 

data onto the system. No staff member is allowed to use 
the system until they have received this training 

• We have an emergency code 25 that staff use for all 
gate kept admissions - this information can be extracted 
directly from the electronic record system 

• Data is clinically validated before it is submitted to the 
Health and Social Care Information Centre 

• Performance data is reviewed monthly by the Executive 
Management team and the Trust Board 

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve 
this percentage, and therefore the quality of its services: 

• A Data Quality Group sponsored and chaired by the Director of Nursing, Clinical Governance and 
Safety, that meets quarterly to ensure a focus on the quality of clinical data. Each Business Delivery 
Unit has developed a robust process to improve the quality of their clinical data. 

• We undertake a weekly audit of our gate kept admissions to validate the gate keeping function.  
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• Each business delivery unit is provided with performance and quality reports on a monthly basis. 

The senior management team scrutinize the reports for any downward trends, investigate and take 
appropriate action to prevent further deterioration in quality. 

 

Readmission rates  

Please note: This information is not made available to SWYPFT by the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre. The HSCIC monitor re-admissions within 30 days, in SWYPFT we monitor re-admissions within 28 
days and hence the data is not comparable.  

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for 
the following reasons  

• 90.2% of people were not readmitted. 
• Our transformation work is, in part, focused on developing our care pathways to help reduce the 

number of readmissions to hospital 
• This information is taken from the clinical record 
• Clinical staff are given training and guidance to input data onto the system. No staff member is 

allowed to use the system until they have received this training 
• Data is clinically validated before it is submitted to the Health and Social Care Information Centre 

 
The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to 
improve this score, and so the quality of its services, by: 

• A Data Quality Group sponsored and chaired by the Director of Nursing, Clinical Governance and 
Safety, that meets quarterly to ensure a focus on the quality of clinical data. Each Business Delivery 
Unit has developed a robust process to improve the quality of their clinical data 

• Each business delivery unit is provided with performance and quality reports on the monthly basis. 
The senior management team scrutinize the reports for any downward trends, investigate and take 
appropriate action to prevent further deterioration in quality.  

 

 

 

 

Indicator 
NHS Outcomes 
Framework 
Domain 

                            SWYPFT data   

2011-
12 

2012-
13 

2013-
14 

2014-
15 

2015-
16 

2016-
17 

The data made available to the National Health 
Service trust or NHS foundation trust by the Health 
and Social Care Information Centre with regard to the 
percentage of patients aged— (i) 0 to 14; and (ii) 15 or 
over, readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the 
trust within 28 days of being discharged from a 
hospital which forms part of the trust during the 
reporting period.  

3: Helping people 
to recover from 
episodes of ill 
health or following 
injury  

6.15% 6.86% 7.02% 8.7% 9.7% 9.8% 
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Staff experience – staff survey 2016  

  SWYPFT 

2015 

SWYPFT 

2016 

Average (median)  for 
combined MH/LD & 

community Trusts 2016 

Comment 

KF26 

 

 
Percentage of staff 

experiencing 
harassment, bullying 
or abuse from staff in 

last 12 months 
(lower score is better) 

19% 21% 21% Despite the 
Trust’s 2% 

increase against 
this indicator the 
Trust remains in 

line with the 
national average 

score 

KF21 
 

Percentage of staff 
believing that the  

organisation provides 
equal opportunities for 
career progression or 

promotion 
(higher score is 

better) 

92% 90% 88% Despite the 
Trust’s 2% 
decline against 
this indicator the 
Trust remains 
above the 
national average 
for this score 

 

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for 
the following reasons: 

• The data was taken from the national staff survey, which uses approved survey contractors, 
external to the organisation and the information is provided anonymously. 

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust will take the following actions to improve our 
performance and therefore the quality of its services:  

• Continue to undertake our internal well-being at work survey on a six monthly basis which provides 
us with timely information from a broader range of staff compared with the national staff survey. 

Indicator NHS Outcomes 
Framework 
Domain 

2012 
(score 
out of 
5) 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2016 
National 
average 

The data made available to the National 
Health Service trust or NHS foundation 
trust by the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre with regard to the 
percentage of staff employed by, or under 
contract to, the trust during the reporting 
period who would recommend the trust as 
a provider of care to their family or friends.  

4: Ensuring that 
people have a 
positive 
experience of care  

3.72 3.75 3.6 3.75 3.77 3.8 
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• The Well Being in Partnership group has developed an action plan to oversee the improvement 

work needed.  
• The action plan progress will be reported into Executive Management Team, Trust Board and 

Members’ Council, Trust’s Partnership Forum (staff side and partners) and to our Quality Boards. 

 
 
Patient experience of community mental health services indicator 
score with regard to a patient’s experience of contact with a health 
or social care worker during the reporting period. 

Indicator NHS Outcomes 
Framework Domain 

SWYPFT 2016 
Score  
(out of 10) 

National 2016 score 

Highest trust score Lowest trust score 

 

2: Enhancing 
quality of life for 
people with long-
term conditions  
 
4: Ensuring that 
people have a 
positive experience 
of care 
 

7.5 8.5 6.8 

SWYPFT 2015 
score 

National 2015  score 
Highest trust score Lowest trust score 

The data made available to the National 
Health Service trust or NHS foundation 
trust by the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre with regard to the 
trust’s “Patient experience of community 
mental health services” indicator score 
with regard to a patient’s experience of 
contact with a health or social care 
worker during the reporting period. 

8.00 8.2 6.8 

SWYPFT 2014 
score 

National 2014 score 

Highest trust score Lowest trust score 

7.9 8.4 7.3 

SWYPFT 2013 
score 

National 2013 score 

Highest trust score Lowest trust score 

8.6 9.0 8.0 

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for 
the following reasons: it was taken from the national CQC community patient survey, which uses approved 
survey contractors, external to the organisation and the information is provided anonymously. 

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to 
improve this percentage and therefore the quality of its services: triangulating this information with other 
sources of patient and staff experience feedback in order that we can successfully focus our action. 
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The number and percentage of such patient safety incidents that 
resulted in severe harm or death  

Patient Safety Incidents are uploaded to the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) when they 
have been through the internal management review and governance processes. This ensures accuracy of 
data.  Incidents are exported to NRLS when these reviews have been completed, which results in a natural 
delay in uploading patient safety incidents to the NRLS. This data has been prepared on 20 April 2017, and 
it should be noted that the reporting rate to NRLS will increase.   

 

The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for 
the following reason: 

In 2016-17, the Trust uploaded a total of 6,556 patient safety incidents to the NRLS, compared with 
5,938 reported in 2015-16’s Quality Accounts. 95% of the 6,556 incidents resulted in no harm or low 
harm.   

The Trust reported a total of 57 severe harm and patient safety death incidents in 2016-17, compared 
to 60 incidents in 2015-16.Although this is a reduction in the number of severe harm and patient safety 
death incidents, it is difficult to make comparisons in annual figures, because not all incidents reported 
up to 31 March 2016 will have been reviewed and uploaded to the NRLS at the date of the report.   

In relation to the total number of incidents uploaded, the percentage of severe harm incidents has slightly 
increased to 0.38% of all uploaded patient safety incidents compared with 0.35% in 15-16. The number of 
patient safety related deaths has decreased to 0.48% of all uploaded patient safety incidents compared 
with 0.66% in 15-16.  
 
During 2016-17 the Patient Safety Support Team has continued to monitor provisional monthly NRLS data 
released by NHS England and any areas for action are taken. This includes monitoring severe harm or 
death related incidents, and any data quality and processing issues. This may have resulted in a decrease 
in patient safety related deaths that may previously have been uploaded. 

Indicator NHS Outcomes Framework Domain 
 

The data made available to the National Health Service 
trust or NHS foundation trust by the Health and Social 
Care Information Centre with regard to the number and, 
where available, rate of patient safety incidents reported 
within the trust during the reporting period, and the 
number and percentage of such patient safety incidents 
that resulted in severe harm or death. 

5: Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and 
protecting them from avoidable harm  

Period Number of patient safety 
incidents uploaded Severe (no) Severe (%) Death (no) Death (%) 

16-17 Q1 1879 6 0.31% 4 0.21% 

16-17 Q2 1709 8 0.46% 11 0.64% 

16-17 Q3 1623 3 0.18% 9 0.55% 

16-17 Q4 1345 8 0.59% 8 0.59% 

Totals: 6556   25 0.38% 32 0.48% 
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The South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following action in respect 
of the number and percentage of such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm or death:  

• Nationally, it is believed that organisations that report more incidents usually have a better and more 
effective safety culture, with which we agree.  If we understand what our incidents are, we can learn 
and improve our services.  

• Each of our BDU’s have a systematic way for reviewing learning from their incidents and a Trust 
wide Patient Safety Clinical Reference Group coordinate Trust wide learning. 

 

External audit of mandated and local indicators  

As part of the Quality Account report external assurance process, the auditors are required to undertake 
substantive sample testing on two mandated performance indicators (as described in the Risk Assessment 
Framework/ Single Oversight Framework) and one locally selected indicator (to include, but not necessarily 
be limited to, an evaluation of the key processes and controls for managing and reporting the indicators and 
sample testing of the data used to calculate the indicator back to supporting documentation). 

The mandated items selected by the Trust for this process were: 

1. The percentage of patients on Care Programme Approach who were followed up within 7 days after 
discharge from psychiatric in-patient care during the reporting period. 

 

2016-17 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

7 day follow up 96.9% 97.8% 97.4% 97.5% 

 

2. Delayed transfers of Care (DTOC): the percentage of people who were occupying a hospital bed 
when they were ready to be discharged. 

Figures reported to NHSI, using the Risk Assessment Framework/ Single oversight Framework definition 
are as follows: 

2016-17 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

DTOC figures 2.13% 2.63% 3.18% 2.66% 

The ‘Detailed guidance for external assurance on the quality reports 2016-17 also requires trusts to 
calculate the DTOC figures using the following definition –  

Number of patients (acute and non-acute, aged 18 and over) whose transfer of care was delayed, 
averaged over the quarter. The average of the three monthly Situation Report figures is used as the 
numerator and the denominator being the average number of occupied beds. The DTOC figure using this 
calculation is presented below.  
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2016-17 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

DTOC figures 1.92% 2.76% 3.31% 2.85% 

 

Local indicator 

The local item selected by the Trust’s council of members quality sub-group for data quality testing is:  

The impact of the SPA partnership working (SPA in tier 2 at Northorpe Hall) on average waits to 
treatment in Generic CAMHS for Kirklees CCG clients.  

The aim is that the metric would compare the average wait to treatment for Generic CAMHS for those 
whose treatment wait ended in Jan-Feb 16 and Jan-Feb 17.  Treatment is defined as 2 face to face 
contacts. 
In testing this data we were trying to demonstrate the impact on waits and as shown on the table below the 
introduction of the SPA, introduced in April 2016, clearly has a dramatic impact for young people accessing 
the service. 
 

2016-17 Jan & Feb 2016 Jan & Feb 2017 

No of days waiting  162 days 67 days 

 
During the data testing by external auditors there was found to be one instance where the clock was 
stopped due to direct contact with the parent in relation to the treatment of their child, which gave a 
difference of 13 days. This contact was part of the treatment and as there is no national guidance around 
this for children’s services and given that it is not uncommon for treatment sessions to be held with the 
family the Trust understands  why this was recorded as a face to face contact and a clock stop. 
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Performance against indicators set out in The Risk 
Assessment Framework (NHS improvement, 2016) to end 
September 2016 and Single Oversight framework from 1 
October 2016. 

The table below shows our performance against the indicators we submit to NHSI, as required for our 
regulation process and as set out in the Risk Assessment Framework (RAF) and Single Oversight 
Framework (SOF) which replaced the RAF on 1st October 2016. 

Indicator 
 
 

NHSI 
framew

ork 

Trust performance data 2016/17 
Threshold Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4i 

Maximum time of 18 
weeks from point of 
referral to treatment in 
aggregate – patients 
on an incomplete 
pathway  
 

RAF / 
SOF 92% 98.24% 96.95% 97.59% 98.65% 

Care Programme 
Approach (CPA) 
patients 
having formal review 
within 12 months 
 

RAF / 
SOF 95% 98.1% 98.7% 98.49% 98.40% 

Admissions to 
inpatients services 
had access to crisis 
resolution/home 
treatment teams  
 

RAF / 
SOF 95% 96.91% 99.28% 99.28% 99.28% 

Early intervention in 
psychosis - 2 weeks 
(NICE approved care 
package) clock stops  

RAF/SO
F 50% 77.46% 81.97% 82.2% 73.63% 

Care programme 
approach (CPA) 
patients receiving 
follow-up contact 
within seven days of 
discharge 

RAF / 
SOF 95% 96.72% 97.81% 97.37% 97.49% 

Mental health data 
completeness: 
identifiers  
 

RAF / 
SOF 95% 98.1% 99.72% 99.8% 99.74% 99.8% 99.8% 99.7% 99.7% 

Mental health data 
completeness: 
outcomes for patients 
on CPA  
 

RAF 50% 77.5% 77.15% N/A N/A 

Certification against 
compliance with 
requirements 
regarding access to 
health care for people 
with a learning 
disability  

RAF Compliant Compliant Compliant N/A N/A 

Data completeness: 
community services 
(R), comprising:   

RAF  
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referral to treatment 
information  
 

50% 100% 100% N/A N/A 

referral information  
 50% 96.8% 96.8% N/A N/A 
treatment activity 
information 50% 96.8% 96.8% N/A N/A 
IAPT – Treatment 
within 6 weeks of 
referral 
 

RAF / 
SOF 75% 76.12% 83.57% 88.96% 85.98% 

IAPT – Treatment 
within 18 weeks of 
referral 

RAF / 
SOF 95% 98.88% 99.28% 97.99% 99.89% 

Maximum 6 week wait 
for diagnostic 
procedures 

RAF / 
SOF 99% N/A N/A 100% achieved each month since 1st Oct 16. 

Data completeness: 
Priority metrics 
(mental health)1 

SOF 85% N/A N/A 42.1% 42.6% 42.3% 60.8% 60.9% 61.1% 

IAPT - proportion of 
people completing 
treatment who move 
to recovery2 

SOF 50% N/A N/A 48.01% 50.52% 

% clients in settled 
accommodation3 SOF  N/A N/A 83.4% 82.8% 82.7% 82.7% 82.9% 82.9%   

% clients in 
employment4 SOF  N/A N/A 8.9% 8.6% 8.3% 8.2% 8.4% 8.8% 

 

 

 

 

1 NHSI announced a change to reporting definition which took effect from Jan 17.  Oct – Dec data is reported against 
the original definition.  Further clarification regarding reporting definition awaited.  Figure included is based on some 
reporting assumptions.   
2 It is not clear how NHSI will derive the data for the Trust as we provide 2 IAPT MDS submissions – the reported 
position is trust position as derived locally. 
3 Reporting definition issue as 1 above. 
4 Reporting definition issues as 1 and 3 above. 
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Section 3: 
Our performance in 2016-17 

In this section you’ll find more information about the quality of our services. In 2016-17 we set ourselves a set of challenging measures which in some cases 
were higher than the goals set by our commissioners. We’ll take you through these measures and the work we did to improve the quality of our care.   

In 2016-17 we revised the framework for our quality priorities and adopted the 5 domains of the Care Quality Commission, i.e. SAFE, EFFECTIVE, CARING, 
RESPONSIVE, and WELL-LED. We then mapped our quality priorities that were identified for monitoring across to the five domains via the quality account 
process in 2016-17.  

The quality initiatives we undertake against our quality priorities change from year to year, which means we are not able to make a direct comparison of our 
performance against each priority each year, as we are not comparing ‘like for like’. Where we are able to make comparisons across the years we have done 
so. If comparable data is not present this is because we do not have the information to make the comparison. We make these changes to continually strive to 
improve the quality of our care.  

Our quality priorities are underpinned by a number of performance indicators. These include some current Key Performance Indicators and also 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation goals (CQUIN). Note: the figures/ratings used in the Quality Account don’t exactly correlate with achievement of 
CQUIN goals set by commissioners - this is because, for the Quality Account, a rounded average is taken across BDUs and care groups rather than split for 
each care group and BDU.  For a full list of performance indicators please refer to the table on pages 32-35.  

Our Trust provides a wide range of services across a number of communities. These services are commissioned from two separate commissioning groups, 
which are: 

1. Barnsley 

2. A collective group of Calderdale, Kirklees and Wakefield commissioners.  

As commissioners are working for different communities the goals for each area can differ. However, as an organisation, the Trust ensures that a consistent 
quality threshold is applied across all services.  
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 QUALITY ACCOUNT 2016-17 
Note: figures/ratings used do not exactly correlate with achievement of CQUIN targets set by commissioners - this is because for the Quality Account a rounded average is taken across BDUs and care 
groups rather than split down into target achievement in each care group and BDU.  

Quality domain Key Performance Indicators Threshold Reportin
g period 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year end 
position @ Q4/ 

month 12 A M J J A S O N D J F M 

SAFE 
(Quality domain – 

Safety) 

Improving the physical health for patients with 
severe mental illness (PSMI) 

A cardio metabolic assessment and treatment for 
patients with psychoses 

 

 

 

B. Communication with general practitioners 

(for 90% of patients audited during the period, the 
provider has provided to the GP an up-to-date copy of the 
patient’s care plan/CPA) 

CQUIN 
performance 
 
 
Completed 
pathways in 
place and 
disseminated 
to all clinical 
teams  

Quarterly 

Barnsley    

Result expected  
May 2017 

Calderdale    

Kirklees    

Wakefield    

Audit 
90%  

 Barnsley 
65.85% 

 

 

Calderdale 
95% 

 Kirklees 
96% 

Wakefield 
91% 

Suicide strategy implementation Report Annual      

Safer staffing 

Trust overall safer staff fill rates 

Registered nurse staff fill rates 

90% 

Monthly 

108
% 

107
% 

111
% 

111
% 

109
% 

109
% 

113
% 

117
% 

112
% 

116
% 

115
% 

110
%  

80% 98
% 

98
% 

101
% 

98
% 

93
% 

91
% 

95
% 

95
% 

99
% 

94
% 96% 94

%  

Total number of reported incidents 
Total number of incidents resulting in severe harm 
or death 
Total number of incidents resulting in moderate or 
severe harm and death 

Trends 
 

Monthly 
 

1083 1195 1231 1168 1128 1108 1007 1173 1113 1101 923 879  

3 6 1 3 11 8 7 7 8 7 8 7 

17 35 21 21 31 34 31 26 26 34 35 22 
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a - Attributable - A pressure ulcer (Grade 2 and above) that has developed after 72 hours of the first face to face contact with the patient under the care of SWYFT staff. There is evidence in care records of all interventions put in place to 
prevent patients developing pressure ulcers, including risk assessment, skin inspection, an equipment assessment and ordering if required, advice given and consequences of not following advice, repositioning if the patient cannot do this 
independently off-loading if necessary 
b - Avoidable - A pressure ulcer (Grade 2 and above) that has developed after 72 hours of the first face to face contact with the patient under the care of SWYFT staff. Evidence is not available as above, one component may be missing, 
e.g.: failure to perform a risk assessment or not ordering appropriate equipment to prevent pressure damage”             

Quality domain Key Performance Indicators Threshold Reporting 
period 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year end 
position @ Q4/ 
month 12 

A M J J A S O N D J F M 

 
SAFE 

*Number of pressure ulcers attributable to SWYPFT  Trend Monthly 24 40 34 23 38 34 21 33 34 33 32   

*Number of  avoidable pressure ulcers  0 Monthly 0 0 1 1 1 2 0 2 0 1 1   

Mental Health Safety Thermometer (MHST) – 
monitoring of medication omissions Downward 

trend based 
on  Q4 
(15/16) 

performance  

Quarterly 

Calderdale 
11.8% 17.4%   Q3 / 4 data 

awaiting 
confirmation of 
achievement  

Kirklees 
20.7% 19.6%   

Wakefield 
17.7% 16%   

Quality Domain Key Performance Indicators Threshold Reporting 
period 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year end 
position @ 

Q4/ month 12 A M J J A S O N D J F M 

EFFECTIVE 
(Quality domain – 

clinical effectiveness) 

MH clusters – assessment and cluster within 
assessment period (adherence to red rules) 

 

 

Different 
thresholds 

per 
quarter. 
See page 
44-45 for 

detail 

 
 
 

Quarterly 

Barnsley 76.17% 82.21% 81.23% 80.92%  

Calderdale: 70.5% 72.2% 73.8% 73.3% 

Greater Hudd 
84.8% 84.9% 85.3% 85.2% 

North Kirklees 
84% 84.6% 84.2% 84.3% 

Wakefield 
81.3% 84.7% 84.7% 84.7% 

MH clusters – clients reviewed within the reporting 
frequency (clusters 4-17) 

 

 

Quarterly 

Barnsley 60.31% 61.19% 66.19% 65.19%  

Calderdale: 69.5% 66% 67.7% 69.5% 

Greater Hudds:  
72.6% 70% 77.4% 69.8% 
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North Kirklees: 
72.6% 69.4% 73% 68.2% 

 
Wakefield:74.5% 78.3% 80.1% 80.7% 

Increase the use of evidence based practice – 
implementation of NICE quality standards NA Annual      

Transitions –  CAMHS - adults 
NA Annual      

LD / adult interface 
NA Annual      

Improving health and wellbeing of NHS staff: staff 
recommend the Trust as a place to work 80% Quarterly Awaiting data 65.19% 

@m6  66%  

Quality Domain Key Performance Indicators 
 
 

Threshold Reporting 
period 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year end 
position @ 

Q4/ month 12 A M J J A S O N D J F M 

CARING 
(Quality domain –

patient experience) 

Friends and Family Test 
(FFT) 

Mental heath 80% 

Quarterly 

72% 71% 
71% 79%  

Community health 
services 95% 98% 98% 

98% 99%  

Trust-wide 90% 84% 86% 
87% 91%  

CAMHS FFT  75% Quarterly 61% 55% 
54% 70%  

Forensic FFT 60% Annual   47%   

Staff recommend the Trust as a place of care and 
treatment  80% Quarterly Awaiting data 79.26% 

@m6  80%  

Develop volunteering strategy to support patient 
experience. NA Annual      

Accessible patient experience information for 
people with dementia NA Annual      

Quality of care plans 
(80% service users with a care plan meeting required 
standards) 

80% Bi annual  
Calderdale:70% 

 
  

Kirklees: 71%   
Wakefield 91%  
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Key:     Green: achieving target                Amber: within 10% of target             Red =more than 10% away from target           Blue: no information expected in the reporting period

Quality Domain Key Performance Indicators 
 
 

Threshold Reporting 
period 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year end 
position @ 

Q4/ month 12 A M J J A S O N D J F M 

RESPONSIVE 
(Quality domain – 

clinical effectiveness) 

Mental health access - waiting times :  
Early intervention in psychosis 
 

50% Monthly 74
% 

78
% 

80
% 

83
% 

94
% 

73
% 

81
% 

94
% 

69
% 

68
% 

84
% 

68
% 

 

IAPT access standards 
Treatment within 6 weeks of referral  
Treatment within 18 weeks of referral 

75% 
 

95% 
Monthly 

74
% 

74
% 

80
% 

84
% 

81
% 

86
% 

91
% 

86
% 

91
% 

81
% 

85
% 

86
% 

 

99
% 

98
% 

99
% 

100
% 

99
% 

99
% 

95
% 

100
% 

99
% 

99
% 

99
% 

99
% 

Monitoring of access to clinical supervision Upward 
trend 

Quarterly 
(from Q4)      

Quality Domain Key Performance Indicators 
 
 

Threshold Reporting 
period 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year end 
position @ 
Q4/ month 12 

A M J J A S O N D J F M 

WELL LED 
(Quality domain – 

clinical effectiveness) 

Development of quality dashboard NA Annual      

Improving clinical information 
1. Identify  Clinical record keeping (CRK) data 

quality metrics for monitoring 
2. Develop CRK standards  

NA  Annual   
 

 

 
 

Staff training Mental Capacity Act (MCA)  
Deprivation of Liberty safeguards (DoLS) 

80% by 
31.3.2017 From Q3  21% 69%  

CQC action plan progress  NA Monthly 
from M6           
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Priority 1: SAFE 

Why did we focus on this? 
By safe, we mean that people are protected from abuse and avoidable harm. Abuse can be physical, 
sexual, mental or psychological, financial, neglect, institutional or discriminatory abuse.  

 ‘SAFE’ quality initiatives in 2016-17 

The following quality initiatives were prioritised for action in 2016-17 as part of the quality account process. 
A summary of our achievement against these initiatives can be found in the table on pages 34-37.  

 

1a. Improving physical health for patients with severe mental illness 
(PSMI) by undertaking a cardio metabolic assessment and treatment for 
patients with psychoses 

We chose to focus on this subject as people with severe mental illness (SMI) are at increased risk of poor 
physical health, and their life expectancy is reduced by an average of 15 – 20 years mainly due to 
preventable physical illness. Two thirds of these deaths are from avoidable physical illnesses including 
heart disease and cancer, mainly caused by smoking. There is also a lack of access to physical healthcare 
for people with mental health problems – less than a third of people with schizophrenia in hospital receive 
the recommended assessment of cardiovascular risk in the previous 12 months. People with SMI are three 
times more likely to attend A&E with an urgent physical health need and almost five times more likely to be 
admitted as an emergency, suggesting deficiencies in the primary physical healthcare they are receiving. 

Throughout 2016-17 we rolled out an updated electronic cardio metabolic assessment form on Rio, with a 
robust reporting dashboard which shows the completeness of the assessment by locality, team and service 
user. This is being used to good effect, and the number of service users being offered cardio metabolic 
screening and interventions are increasing. Currently 61% of eligible people have an assessment recorded. 
This helps in making sure service user’s physical health is properly monitored and means that any physical 
health problems can be identified at an earlier stage and acted on.   

We undertook a case record audit of 150 service users during February 2017, all risk factors were 
screened and interventions put in place where risks existed. We have not yet received the results of this 
audit from the Royal College of Psychiatrists.  

Planning for next year is underway. The CQUIN standards are higher and we have room to improve our 
practice. The training to staff and the clinical pathway is being refreshed. Performance reporting will be 
reviewed regularly to ensure we understand where the gaps are and where we need to improve our service 
in relation to screening, interventions, and assessment. This will help in monitoring the effectiveness of the 
actions that are currently in place and any further actions that are needed. 

1b. Improving the physical health for patients with severe mental illness 
(PSMI) - Communication with general practitioners  

With over 490,000 people with SMI registered with a GP, it is important to ensure a stronger emphasis on 
collaboration and communication between primary and secondary care. This is necessary given that in the 
longer term and certainly following discharge from secondary care, people with SMI should be supported to 
manage their health within primary care.      
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Progress is evaluated through a record based audit of 100 case notes. The audit showed that 94% of cases 
met the standard set by the Royal College of Psychiatry in communicating with the service users’ GPs. 

Performance for next year includes more challenging standards. These include the sharing of registers of 
service users who have serious mental illness between the Trust and GPs and electronic sharing of 
assessments and letters. We are planning work with commissioners to look at how we can work together in 
moving forward with the CQUIN challenges for 2017-19. 

 

1. Suicide strategy implementation 
Suicide prevention is a national, regional and local priority, reflecting the government's suicide prevention 
strategy 2012, and involving a wide variety of agencies including health care providers, local authorities, 
emergency services and third sector bodies.  Our aim is to draw on a variety of sources to identify best 
practice and to tailor this to meet the needs of the population served by the Trust.  There are 2 main 
objectives; a reduction in the suicide rate in the general population in England and better support for those 
bereaved or affected by suicide. There are 6 key areas upon which efforts are focussed. 
 
 1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups 
2. Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups 
3. Reduce access to the means of suicide 
4. Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide 
5. Support media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour 
6. Support research, data collection and monitoring. 
 
The Trust's suicide prevention strategy incorporates elements of all of these groups. 
 
The suicide prevention strategy implementation group has been formed, initially meeting monthly and now 
quarterly.  Work already ongoing within the Trust to meet the strategy commitments has been identified and 
an action plan addressing each of the commitments within the strategy has been developed.  This has 
been further refined to prioritise particular actions for years 1-3, running from December to November, with 
identified outcomes for each of the domains in the strategy.   
 
Leads have been identified for the 11 domains and small groups of volunteers from a variety of disciplines 
formed to begin to implement them. 
 
An initial focus of the strategy has been to raise the profile of suicide prevention within the Trust and to 
publicise the strategy itself through a variety of means, both electronically and written word but also direct 
engagement of various staff groups and teams. 
 
The Trust has a lead role in the development of a West Yorkshire suicide prevention strategy as part of the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), the Deputy Director Nursing and Quality chairing the project 
group, with a project lead being secondment from the Trust. 
 
Examples of the work commenced in the first 6 months include: 
• Using a variety of means, highlighting across the Trust the central message that suicide is 

preventable. 
• Sharing the strategy within a variety of forums, including BDU learning events and academic 

meetings. 
• Development of an e-survey relating to training in dual diagnosis work. 
• A working group established to address risk formulation as a key element of understanding suicide 

risk. 
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• Exploring attitudes and beliefs relating to suicide within in a wider patient safety culture survey within 

the Trust. 
• Enhancing the quality and depth of data collected in relation to suicides of service users under the 

care of the Trust through the Datix system. 
• Identifying detailed contributory factors to care delivery problems highlighted in serious 

investigations, so that they can be addressed systematically. 
• A research project in collaboration with Huddersfield University, exploring the usefulness of artificial 

intelligence in assisting clinicians in identifying an increased risk of suicide. 
• Collaboration with key partner agencies, both in suicide prevention groups across West Yorkshire 

and participation in national and international forums. 
• Disseminating key messages from the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicides and Homicides by 

people with Mental Illness across the Trust. 
• A ligature assessment review to improve the current process of identifying and addressing ligature 

points across the Trust estate. 
• Reviewing suitability and safety of windows at a multi-storey inpatient unit, in light of a service user 

being able to kick out the frames. 
• Work towards establishing a service to provide support for those bereaved by suicide. 

 
The priorities identified for year 2 of the strategy will be implemented according to the detailed action plan. 
Work will continue to raise the profile and importance of suicide prevention across the Trust and beyond 
and the Trust will continue to be a key partner in the implementation of the STP suicide prevention 
strategy across West Yorkshire. 
 

2. Safer staffing 

At a national level, there continues to be key changes around the delivery of this agenda. Despite the 
national lead on safer staffing having changed to NHS Improvement, there has been no definitive 
publication of safer staffing guidance for inpatient mental health wards. However the first publication for LD 
and adult community has been published with more areas to follow. 

Interest in safer staffing arose from concerns nationally regarding inpatient staffing levels. The Trust is 
expected to publicly declare staffing fill rates for inpatient settings and the focus of much of the work to date 
has been on ensuring safer staffing levels on inpatient wards. However, some early work has begun to 
explore staffing levels in community teams and the community workforce has recently been reviewed in 
detail as part of the Trust’s transformation programme. This has resulted in re-configuration of services and 
job roles in many areas, aimed at improving safety and effectiveness of services.   

Given the limited progress in the area of ‘safe staffing’ guidance we continue to utilise the decision support 
tool adapted previously for our Trust, to look at establishments and rosters on our ward areas. This will also 
cross reference levels and trends of acuity, fill rates and anomalies such as bespoke care packages. 

Significant progress has been made in this area, including: 

• The staff bank centralisation has led to a more cohesive approach to temporary staffing and fill rates 
leading to an increase in the level of fill rates as demonstrated through our monthly publication of 
staffing figures 

• A procurement process has been finalised with a master vendor contract which will give us a more 
robust governance and quality around agency staffing 

• Monies have been invested into areas that have shown a demonstrable and measurable need for 
improvements in staffing numbers and/or skill mix 
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• A business case has been improved around safer staffing from 2015  
• Staffing profiles across some areas have been adapted following a review involving safer staffing lead 
• Centralised band 5 and band 2 recruitment which has resulted in the offer of 141 band 5 and 70 band 3 

posts over the last 12 months. This has included local advertising for non-registered staff which will 
hopefully increase the levels of staff available, in addition to a range of employees who will represent 
their local communities and have a range of life experiences and skills 

• Implementation of a peripatetic workforce consisting of 22 non-registered staff supporting all areas 
across the Trust including reducing the recruitment lag for inpatient areas 

• A new band 4 role has been established to develop the health care support worker’s role into a post 
with enhanced knowledge and skills to support the registered nursing workforce. The Trust is also a 
partner in the new nursing associate pilots in West and South Yorkshire.  

• Developing a career structure to enhance opportunities for staff across all areas is in progress. This will 
include developing ways to respond positively to staff aspirations and for inter-area transfer of staff to 
maintain career development. 

• Analysis of Datix incidents relating to staff allowing us to understand and react to staffing issues. 
• Appointment of a safer staffing lead and development of their portfolio 
 
Current plans will help the Trust prepare for new guidance from NHS England and increase capacity to 
meet demand. Current plans will also provide the platform from which to explore further workforce initiatives 
around the quality of care contact time, multi-professional approaches and use of non-registered staff.  
We will continue to build upon and improve data in exception reports including: 

• Utilise the new dashboards for Datix incidents and reporting 
• Triangulation of Datix, exception reporting and HR information 
• Extend the narrative and analysis of the information to make this more meaningful 
• Extend and maximise functionality within current e-rostering system as part of the centralisation 

programme for the Trust staff bank  
• Continue to provide effective and efficient support to meet establishment templates  
• Project manager to work closely with ‘hotspot’ wards where there is pressure on meeting staffing 

numbers 
• Involvement in the development of a national safer staffing tool for inpatient mental health areas 
• Continue to develop, manage and deploy the peripatetic workforce 
• Continue the safer staffing group, and monitor the action plan and new initiatives  
• Safer staffing project manager will work with practice governance coaches to review safer staffing in the 

community and improve understanding and monitoring of direct care contact time 
• Develop a safer staffing strategy for our community teams through work being directed by the safer 

staffing project manager. This will include a pilot project within a community team to look at the needs 
and viability of a model before rolling it out 

• Support recruitment of allied health professionals (AHPs) and assist in the development of links with 
universities 

• Support the development of the Trust staff bank to enhance the support offered to all areas within the 
Trust 

• Implement national initiatives on safer staffing as and when they arise 
• Explore opportunities and potential benefits of international recruitment. 
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3. Incidents 

For information on our incidents please refer to page 28-29, ‘The number and percentage of such patient 
safety incidents that resulted in severe harm or death’. 

 

4. Pressure ulcers 
Our Barnsley inpatient and community services are involved with the Sign Up to Safety national initiative. 
This initiative is to help NHS organisations and their staff to achieve their patient safety aspirations and 
care for their service users in the safest way possible. The reduction of pressure ulcers was previously a 
CQUIN within the Barnsley BDU although this is not the case at this point in time. However, we value this 
initiative as a good indicator of the care we are providing within this particular area. 

Our target is to reduce the frequency of new pressure ulcers that are attributable to Trust care and 
avoidable by 50%. In order to achieve this we developed a Sign Up to Safety implementation plan which 
was initially set out in June 2015. The plan outlines the actions that are to be taken to try to meet our target. 
These are periodically reviewed and remain ongoing.  

Since we signed up to the initiative in June 2015 we have completed a number of actions to improve our 
quality and performance. These are as follows: 

• All the relevant community localities and inpatient staff have received training in relation to the   
prevention of pressure ulcers and mattress training 

• Service user leaflets have been developed called ‘Are you at risk of pressure ulcers?’ and are available 
within inpatient and community services to increase people’s awareness 

• The tissue viability team alongside community and inpatient ward managers have provided some 
guidance on posters about selecting pressure relieving equipment 

• Guidance has also been provided in similar format about heel protection 

• Universal precautions have been implemented to help with health promotion. For example, repose 
overlays are now provided to assist community based staff in pressure ulcer prevention and these 
universal precautions have also been highlighted on a poster within inpatient areas 

• Ten Topical Negative Pressure (TNP) pumps have been purchased to treat people with existing 
pressure ulcers. 

• In some cases service users refuse the offer of pressure relieving equipment and a pro-forma has been 
developed to document the person’s decision 

Further actions remain ongoing and are intended to be completed by no later than December 2017 and 
remain in progress. These actions include: 

• For all matrons, specialist nurses and allied health professionals to have Waterlow risk assessment 
training 

• Barnsley’s district nursing service is taking part in the national React to Red Skin campaign aimed at 
preventing pressure ulcers. District nurses have been piloting a training pack in one of our areas. As 
part of the campaign NHS England funded a clinical support nurse for six months. The tissue viability 
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team are in the process of reviewing data from the project and considering whether the React to Red 
project could be rolled out within other areas of the Trust 

• There are also plans for the React to Red Skin training to be offered as an e-learning package 

• It is hoped that funding may be obtained to employ a clinical support nurse to deliver React to Red Skin 
training to all care homes in Barnsley, inpatient areas and community teams within the Trust. However, 
this has not been agreed as yet 

• Barnsley Hospital’s traffic light risk assessment tool is going to be linked into the Waterlow assessment 
and scores. This will enable teams to order appropriate equipment for service users being discharged 
from Barnsley Hospital 

The table below provides a breakdown of the pressure ulcer statistics between April 2016-March 2017: 

 

The breakdown for the above table is as follows: 

• Total number of pressure ulcers attributable to the Trust between April 2016-March 2017 was  382 
• The total number of avoidable pressure ulcers was 10 

During the 2017-2018 year Barnsley inpatient and community services will continue to implement its Sign 
Up to Safety plan with the aim of further reducing the frequency of new pressure ulcers that are attributable 
to the Trust and avoidable. A further review of the plan will be undertaken once the current action plan 
timescales have elapsed (December 2017).  

 

5. Mental Health Safety Thermometer (MHST) – monitoring of medication 
omissions 

National drivers  

• NPSA alert NPSA/2010/RRR009.Reducing harm from omitted and delayed medicines in hospital 24 
February 2010. 

Local drivers 

• Datix reports – missed doses is the second highest category after “medication other”. 

•  Identified as outliers on the NHS safety thermometer.  

• Local CQUINs on inpatient areas 

 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Number of 
pressure ulcers 
attributable to  the 
Trust 

 
24 

 
40 

 
38 

 
24 

 
40 

 
39 

 
26 

 
25 

 
34 

 
34 

 
39 

 
19 

Number of 
avoidable pressure 
ulcers 

 
0 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
2 

 
1 

 
2 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
TBC 
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Missed doses continue to be one of the common themes in the Datix reports of medication incidents and 
are one of the more easily preventable.  Usually classed as an administration error, the causes may occur 
at any stage in the multi-disciplinary medication process.  Risk management needs to be built in at every 
step. It may occur for outpatients or inpatients and is relevant to all services. The majority of missed or 
delayed doses are not harmful but there may be potentially serious consequences. This year the 
commissioners have set us a CQUIN target to reduce missed doses within the Trust and a series of 
interventions were rolled out over the year. 

Missed doses can lead to treatment failure.  This may not have immediate consequences but can have 
longer-term problems may occur if several doses are missed. The service users may suffer withdrawal or 
discontinuation symptoms which may lead to concordance issues.  The service users may get the message 
that to miss a few doses is not important; however, this may lead to disruption of therapeutic drug 
monitoring and cause misunderstanding about correct dosages, failure to take their full course of 
medication and the potential impact from this on their symptom management. Side effects may occur when 
treatment restarts and re-titration of dose may be required. Missed doses may contribute to delay in 
recovery and prolonged hospital stays. 

Due to us having higher inpatient missed medication doses the local commissioners set this as a local 
CQUIN target for 2016-17. 

Actions from sign up to safety campaign work 2016: 

• Monitor progress using NHS Safety Thermometer  
• Development of missed dose audit tool to establish target reasons for doses being missed 
• Carry out missed dose audit data collection, report reviewed and briefing produced and circulated. 
• Review and update safe medicines practice safety awareness bulletin 
• Re-issue safety bulletin 
• Review and re-issue delayed and omitted dose safety bulletin with flow chart indicating supply out of 

hours 
• Consider and introduce Yorkshire and Humber e-learning packages for medicines management 
• Review and update medicine code section 13 use of service users’ own medicines 
• Review ward stock lists 
• Review delivery of medicines 
• Review supply “top up” service, to reduce need for medicine charts to leave the wards 
• Consider results of prescription chart audit 2014 in design of new paper based prescription chart to 

reduce risk of missed doses linked to chart design 
• Develop sticker to attach to cards as visual reminder 
• Monthly adherence to inpatient areas completing the Mental Health Safety Thermometer (MHST) 

and inputting their data onto the national site. Post April 2017 the CQUINs will be completed but it is 
envisaged the organisation will continue to complete the MHST monthly 

Actions for 2017-18: 

• Monitoring of ongoing progress monthly via NHS Safety Thermometer data  
• Disseminate information on Safety Thermometer data to practice governance coaches/pharmacy 

team/clinical leads as appropriate to help them in their understanding and performance with teams 
• Posters displayed and updates emailed monthly so staff are kept up to date with their areas of 

improvement and any remaining shortfalls 
• Repeat internal missed dose audit. This will act as a comparative measure with previous audits in 

looking at the effectiveness of the actions taken 
• Develop quarterly reminder posters for individual issues 
• Increase availability of medicines on wards and units by increasing use of service users’ own 

medicines by rolling out procedure for assessment and use of service users’ own medicines on 
admission 
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• Ensure continuity of supply to wards and teams by reviewing pharmacy service and input to ward 

teams 
• Review delivery of medicines and continue to monitor courier service now available. Prescription 

chart audit of new design of prescription chart data collection carried out November 2016, with the 
report completed in March 2017. The results have been disseminated and changes required to the 
drug chart have been made 

• Explore use of technology to prompt administration and highlight doses missed, electronic 
prescribing and administration system included as part of the tender for the new mental health 
clinical system. 

What next?  
The quality initiatives in the SAFE domain which we will undertake in 2017-18 to help us achieve our aim ‘to 
improve and be outstanding’ are: to continue the work we have started on improving the physical health 
needs of people who have mental health problems; improving our safer staffing fill rates; continue to 
improve our strategies to reduce harm, continue with the implementation of our suicide prevention strategy 
and improve clinical record keeping, with a particular focus on clinical risk assessments.     

 

Priority 2: EFFECTIVE 

Why did we focus on this? 
By effective, we mean that people’s care, treatment and support achieves good outcomes, promotes a 
good quality of life and is based on the best available evidence. 

‘EFFECTIVE’ quality initiatives in 2016-17 

The following quality initiatives were prioritised for action in 2016-17 as part of the quality account process. 
A summary of our achievement against these initiatives can be found in the table on pages 34-37. 

1. Mental health clusters 

1A. we will assess and cluster within assessment period (red rules) 

1B. clusters will be reviewed within reporting frequency 

These two measures were intended to help positon the Trust so that it could work towards using 
components of the mental health cluster to provide an outcome measure for services users. The discipline 
in applying the two factors – adhering to red rules, and reviewed within frequency - were both viewed as 
essential components of this.  

For the red rules, it was agreed that we would be in the top 25% nationally which is to be between 71%-
89% of eligible cases having met the rules.  

Performance was measured by attainment for each of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) services 
against a localised target. The results for adherence to Red Rules by CCG are: 

 

 

  
 Page | 45 

   



 

Locality 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Threshold Achievement Threshold Achievement Threshold Achievement Threshold Achievement 

Barnsley 79% 76.1% 79% 82.21% 82% 81.23% 81.23% 80.9% 

Calderdale 72% 70.5% 75% 72.2% 75% 73.8% 75% 73.3% 

Greater 
Huddersfield 81% 84.9% 80% 84.9% 85% 85.3% 80% 85.2% 

North 
Kirklees 81% 84.6% 84% 84.6% 84% 84.2% 77% 84.3% 

Wakefield 87% 84.7% 84% 84.7% 84% 84.7% 84% 84.7% 

 

For the cluster reviews, it was agreed that we would improve on the number of service users reviewed 
within frequency. Our performance is detailed on the table below: 

Locality 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Threshold Achievement Threshold Achievement Threshold Achievement Threshold Achievement 

Barnsley 66% 60.31% 68% 61.19% 70% 66.19% 72% 65.19% 

Calderdale 65% 69.54% 72% 66.21% 70% 67.75 

Better 
than Q3 
(and not 
less than 

Q1) 

69.5% 

Greater 
Huddersfi
eld 

77% 72.59% 80% 70% 73% 77.35% 69.8% 

North 
Kirklees 82% 72.65% 80% 69.44% 73% 73% 68.2% 

Wakefield 82% 74.52% 83% 78.33% 79% 80.6% 80.7% 

 

While we did not manage to meet the set target in each quarter, the figures show that there have been 
improvements, in some areas, in performance. 

An additional benefits of this improvement is that training has been delivered to each team, which has 
resulted in some data cleansing having taken place to improve our service user record system. 
Performance has been monitored in BDU governance groups. 

The Trust is reviewing how best to use the mental health clustering tool (MHCT) as an outcome measure. 
We will continue to deliver training on the MHCT to new staff and refresher training for existing staff.   
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2. Revision of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

process and procedures  

We use NICE guidance and quality standards to drive through improvements in care within our clinical 
settings. The guidance aims to support health and social care professionals and managers in delivering the 
highest quality care and the best value for money. The guidance suggests what an organisation can put in 
place, and what staff can do to use NICE evidence based guidance and quality standards to improve 
specific areas of practice. It also helps us to recognise where there may be some gaps in the 
implementation of the guidance and provides helpful tips, links to other resources and examples of shared 
learning to improve care quality. Therefore it is supporting us to use evidence based practice within our 
various care settings. 

We have undertaken a number of actions to update and improve our NICE processes and procedures and 
how these link into the NICE quality standards. These actions include: 

• The NICE procedure has been updated to reflect the changes to how we review, apply and implement 
NICE guidance. The updated procedure makes reference to the involvement of the Clinical Governance 
Group (CGG) within the new process and this group’s responsibilities. The CCG is now responsible for 
identifying guidance that is relevant to the Trust, making sure it is placed with the appropriate 
teams/individuals and agreeing and monitoring timescales for completion of baseline assessments. 

• There is more emphasis on the NICE agenda within the CGG meetings. This has helped BDUs to have 
more ownership within the process through discussion, identification and filtering of which pieces for the 
NICE guidance and quality standards are relevant to them. This has led to BDUs prioritising their quality 
standard audits for the forthcoming year.  

• The CGG have agreed an annual plan of organisational audit priorities using NICE quality standards to 
provide organisational assurance of compliance with guidelines taking into consideration any risks and 
future assurance requirements. This is overseen by the NSOG for approval. 

• The proposed updated NICE procedure also states the roles and linkages between the BDU and quality 
improvement and assurance team (QIAT) when BDUs are undertaking quality standard audits. For 
example, how the QIAT can support BDUs to ensure the use of appropriate audit tools and data 
collection. 

• QIAT have responsibility for horizon scanning upcoming guidance and this feeds into the NSOG. QIAT 
liaise with the communication team to provide a monthly update of publication of new NICE guidance 
and maintains the NICE guidance database. 

• The NICE Steering and Overview Group terms of reference have been reviewed and clearly define the 
roles and responsibility of the NSOG, the CGG, the membership and reporting arrangements.  

• A new NICE guideline pro-forma has been developed. This provides details of the person carrying out 
the baseline assessment, the number of applicable recommendations that the Trust meets, the number 
they don’t meet and any impact, barriers and risks associated in not meeting the recommendations.  

• The NICE guideline pro-forma also records the actions of the CGG when determining the compliance 
rating with guidance, the risk rating and whether an implementation action plan is needed. The NSOG 
overviews the information from the CGG to confirm the compliance and risk rating, looks at whether the 
organisation is prepared to accept the risks of not meeting recommendations and sets timescales and 
then leads on implementation of any action plan and how this is to be monitored. 

There have been a number of changes to our NICE procedures and processes as outlined above. The 
proposed changes to the NICE procedure will be discussed within the NSOG meeting in May for approval. 
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If approved during the next year we plan to embed these changes into practice. The procedure will be 
reviewed annually by the NSOG to ensure effectiveness. 

 

3. Transitions out of children and young people’s mental health services 
(CYPMHS) 

Young people and carers who use our services and carers have provided information indicating that the 
transition between children and adult services is not always supportive and can be daunting and somewhat 
traumatic for young people as they do not know what kind of service they will receive. Carers can feel 
unsupported and sometimes struggle with the change in focus. There have been gaps identified in service 
provision and at times there are not like for like services available post transition. Thresholds for accessing 
adult services also differ in some areas and historically there have been instances where children have 
been lost within systems, thus placing them at greater risk. There also appears to be a difference in culture 
and practice between adult and children services, with some elements of paternalistic practice within 
CAMHS. 

Given the complexities surrounding the whole transitions agenda, it is important that we work to promote 
safe and smooth transitions for children and young people, their families and carers who utilise our 
services. 

The Trust has developed an overarching Transitions pathway that is compliant with NICE guidance and 
sets out some guiding principles in relation to the transition from child to adult services. Under this will sit 
protocols which will be locally defined to reflect the variation in services across the Trust and local 
agreements which may be in place.  

There is an identified lead for Transitions work across the Trust for CAMHS, supported by a practice 
governance coach and assistant director of nursing and quality. 

Kirklees 0-19 children’s services, including CAMHS, have adopted the ‘Ready Steady Go’ programme 
published by NICE in January 2017. A local working group has been established in Calderdale and some 
service areas are already adopting the ‘Ready Steady Go’ toolkit.  

Barnsley has a named person to support the Transitions agenda along with the identified Trust lead.  

Wakefield CAMHS have undertaken one audit in 2016 in relation to Transitions. They are due to 
undertake a baseline audit against the standards. 

A Trust-wide meeting has been established in order to maintain strategic oversight of the work being 
undertaken. 

Pathway meetings have been developed for CAMHS across the Trust in which Transitions is a standing 
item. 

The CQUIN for Transitions will be implemented from April 2017, as such work is being undertaken to 
identify any problematic areas. 

In 2017-18 we will: 

• Develop local protocols to sit under the overarching Transitions pathway which take account of the 
guiding principles and the CQUIN target 

• Develop a communication  strategy between adult and children’s  services 
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• Develop ways of engaging children, young people , families and carers so they can be more involved 

in work and decision making in relation to issues around transition. 
 

4. Learning disability training  
When CQC visited in March 2016 they identified that staff within community mental health teams should 
be provided with appropriate training to manage service users with comorbidities such as learning 
disabilities. 

Since CQC visited in March 2016, a number of actions have been taken to improve staffing knowledge 
and awareness in relation to identifying and managing service users with comorbidities e.g. learning 
disabilities. Learning disability awareness training has been refreshed and delivered to various teams via 
an e-learning module. This is supported by a classroom based approach to utilising the e-learning 
package along with the option for team based learning where this is requested. 

The green light toolkit is used as a self-assessment tool within community mental health teams. Managers 
from these teams have benchmarked their service against the green light toolkit to monitor their progress 
and to identify where additional training sessions are needed.  

Within the Barnsley BDU there is an established mental health/learning disability interface meeting which 
meets monthly and maintains an action plan to monitor progress against work streams. This meeting also 
enables staff to discuss complex cases so they can get the relevant support from people with the right 
knowledge, skills and experience. The meeting has also been extended so that CAMHS are now also 
involved with the interfaces with LD and mental health services.  

When CQC re-visited our services between December 2016 and February 2017, they did not visit our 
community mental health teams as they had received a good rating from their visit in March 2016. They 
did receive a Requirement Notice in relation to waiting times but at this point we are unsure how CQC will 
follow this up. 

The LD awareness training will continue and be ongoing. There are plans to align the green light toolkit 
self-assessment with transformed services. There are also plans for the Wakefield and 
Kirklees/Calderdale teams to improve the way they interface with LD services and part of this will involve 
closer links and sharing of good practice between these teams and those in Barnsley. 

 

5. Staff Friends and Family Test (Staff FFT) - staff recommend the Trust as 
a place to work 

The staff FFT is undertaken as part of the NHS staff survey – the results we received in February 2015 
were responded to during 2016-17.  Over 80% of our staff recommended the Trust as a place to work.  

Key actions taken as a result of feedback from the 2015 NHS Staff Survey are as follows: 

A. Improved communication between senior management and staff  

Communication between senior management and staff was identified as an area for development. A range 
of new and improved communication channels have been launched in response to staff feedback. These 
include huddles and chief executive listening events, The Brief (information cascade) and weekly emails 
such as The Headlines and The View. The intranet has been recently redeveloped to include new features 
such as a live feed of our i-hub and an interactive poll. The possibility of a staff app is being explored. 
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B. Violence and aggression towards staff 

The percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from service users, relatives or the public in last 12 
months was 19%, this was 4% above the national average for combined mental health, learning disability 
and community trusts. The national average for mental health trusts was 21%.   

Safewards continues to be rolled out with support from the patient safety support team. A key aim is to 
support the use of prone restraint and to reduce the number of violent incidents. We continue to use the 
managing aggression and violence Trust action group to monitor the levels of violence and aggression, and 
training has now achieved the Trust target of 80% this year.  

C. Errors, near misses, incidents 

The fairness and effectiveness of procedures for reporting errors, near misses and incidents was slightly 
below the national average.  

From April 2016 staff reporting incidents have been able to request feedback at the time of reporting. 
Feedback demonstrates that incidents have been taken seriously and highlights the actions taken place as 
a result of reporting. The Trust has also facilitated learning events following serious incidents to the team 
base to enable more staff to attend. Reporting of errors, near misses and incidents has continued to rise. 

 

D. Patient experience information  

The effective use of patient/service user feedback was slightly below the national average. There are a 
number of developments in relation to the use of patient information: 

• The Standard Messaging Service (SMS) /Interactive Voice Messaging (IVM) standard 
system has been purchased and is currently being piloted and is due to go  live Trust wide 
from May 2017.  

• Increased feedback option availability now introduced in line with accessible information 
standards.  

•           Reporting being reviewed and brought into line with quality reporting system.  This will make 
accessing feedback easier for clinical staff enabling increased local quality improvement. 

 

What next? 
The quality initiatives in the EFFECTIVE domain which we will undertake in 2017-18 to help us achieve our 
aim ‘to improve and be outstanding’ are: implementation of the integrated change framework,  competency 
framework for community nursing, information governance action plan and our revised processes for the 
transition of young people into adult services. In addition we will ensure we undertake timely assessments 
and reviews of care in our learning disability services and monitor access to clinical supervision and 
elements of mandatory training and take action as necessary. 
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Priority 3: CARING 

 

Why did we focus on this? 
By caring, we mean that staff involve and treat people with compassion, kindness, dignity and respect. 
We believe that individualised personal care is essential to enable a person’s recovery. Everybody should 
have an appropriate assessment of their needs and an individualised care plan that supports them in 
achieving their goals. 
 

‘CARING’ quality initiatives in 2016-17 

The following quality initiatives were prioritised for action in 2016-17 as part of the quality account process. 
A summary of our achievement against these initiatives can be found in the table on pages 34-37. 

1. Friends and Family Test 

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a tool that supports the fundamental principle that people who use 
NHS services should have the opportunity to provide feedback on their experience. This feedback should 
be used to improve services for service users.  

The FFT question asks if people would recommend the services they have used and offers a range of 
responses from ‘Extremely likely’ to ‘Extremely unlikely’, including a ‘Don’t know’ option. When combined 
with supplementary follow-up questions, the FFT question provides a mechanism to highlight both good 
and poor service user experience.  

The free text comments are a rich source of information, which provide staff with a greater depth of 
understanding about the experiences of their service users. The results are available more quickly than 
traditional survey methods, enabling providers to take swift action when required. The FFT results are also 
a useful source of information which can help to inform choice for service users and the public.  The results 
are available on the NHS England website and the NHS Choices website.  

The FFT was implemented in the Trust in 2015. The Trust is on a progressive journey of continually refining 
and improving systems and processes for the collection of service user feedback. 

In 2016-17, the Trust averaged 492 responses per month. 
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Friends and Family Test responses in 2016-17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The results breakdown as follows: 

Mental health Friends and Family Test 

 
73% would recommend mental health services, 10% would not. 
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Community services Friends and Family Test 

 
98% would recommend community services, 1% would not. 

The quality improvement and assurance team (QIAT) works closely with members of the leadership trios to 
ensure that teams are collecting, reviewing and acting upon feedback. Low responding teams are identified 
and offered advice and support. Areas of concern (areas consistently scoring low) are highlighted and 
offered support to help improve their service.  

It has to be noted that comparing teams’ results is difficult due to the differing collection methodologies. It 
has been acknowledged that responses collected in clinical waiting areas are generally centred on that 
particular waiting environment i.e. availability of refreshments, furniture etc. The majority of comments 
received post-discharge are more general in their content.  

The FFT has now been established for a number of years. The original national focus on it being a 
‘comparable metric’ has diminished, and there is more of a focus upon the FFT being a feedback tool that 
allows providers to make real changes based on the free text comments.  

CAMHS: Throughout 2016-17 the majority of mental health responses were received from CAMHS. 
Despite the high number of responses, the percentage of respondents that were Extremely likely / Likely to 
recommend services was the lowest of any service line in the Trust. After investigation it became evident 
the reason for this was the collection methodology. CAMHS have been using static kiosks in waiting rooms 
which has allowed children to use the machines inappropriately. Unfortunately this was having a 
detrimental effect on the Trust’s results and was giving a false representation of service user satisfaction. 
The kiosks are still in place but the data is now under increased scrutiny to exclude any responses that are 
deemed invalid e.g. contain foul or abusive language, clearly indicate a child has been randomly pressing 
keys on the keyboard, completed the survey very quickly etc. It is clearly a positive indicator that CAMHS 
receive a high number of responses to the FFT, however work is ongoing to improve the validity of the 
responses and offer a range of feedback options for children and young people. 
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Forensic services: It is acknowledged that the FFT is not an ideal question to ask forensic service users. 
All service users within Newton Lodge, The Bretton Centre and Newhaven are detained under the Mental 
Health Act, so to ask them if they would recommend the service leads to a very mixed response. Other, 
more appropriate questions are offered to give a more accurate picture of service user satisfaction with the 
service throughout the year. 

Percentage of people extremely likely / likely to recommend services 
 
 Community 

health Mental health Total 

2014-15 98% 90% 94% 
2015-16 98% 81% 90% 
2016-17 98% 73% 87% 

 
 CAMHS Forensic BDU 
2014-15 69% 55% 
2015-16 67% 45% 
2016-17 59% 47% 

 
Since collection began in 2014-15, community health services have maintained a consistent 
recommendation percentage of 98%. However, in mental health services the recommendation percentage 
has decreased. The free text comments indicate a number of factors that have led to this, these include: 
 

• Waiting lists for accessing services 
• The Trust-wide smoking ban 
• Not enough activities available on inpatient wards 

Despite this, the vast majority of comments received are positive. Feedback generally mirrors CQC 
feedback that Trust staff are caring in their nature, and effective in their roles.  
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Teams display the changes they have made by using the ‘You said, we did’ 
format 

2. Accessible service user experience information for people with 
dementia 

All people who have dementia and who are receiving care from NHS-funded services should have the 
opportunity to provide feedback via the FFT, and be given support and empowered to do so, where this is 
appropriate. Families and carers can offer valuable insights, and consideration should be given to capturing 
their views also. In March 2015 NHS England released updated guidance for the Friends and Family Test 
which details the requirements for ensuring the survey is accessible to all people accessing NHS services. 

Updated guidance has been issued to staff to help collect feedback from people with dementia. Staff are 
encouraged to allow service users to give feedback independently where possible, and if not to provide an 
appropriate level of support. Families and carers are encouraged to give feedback on behalf of the service 
user if this is felt appropriate. To help with this the following has been produced and is available to all staff: 

• Electronic survey available via tablets 
• Easy read version of the FFT with a rephrased question to improve understanding. This will be 

rolled out across the trust with the aim of utilising volunteers in other settings.  
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We will continue to improve accessibility to enable people to give feedback on their care / treatment. 

3. Develop volunteering strategy to support service user experience 
More widespread use of the near-real time feedback approach was recommended in the Francis Report 
to allow staff to access service user feedback much faster than the national service user experience 
surveys allow. The benefits of adopting a near-real time feedback approach, including volunteers are: 

• Easy and fast data collections which causes the least amount of distress to service users 
• With the help of trained volunteers, clinical staff time is not required to collect feedback 
• Fewer staff resources are required as data entry or collation of responses is not necessary 
• Results are local (team/ward based) and received quickly following data collection 
• Volunteers interact with service users during the data collections. For example, they listen to their 

stories, which can contribute towards better service user experiences 
• Less bias is introduced if/when volunteers ask service users for their feedback instead of clinical 

staff at the point of care 

The Trust is currently in the process of ‘recruiting’ volunteers to improve and measure service user 
experience. A role description has been created in coordination with outpatient service managers and 
the head of volunteering services. Service user experience volunteers will help outpatient services with 
the following: 

• Meet and greet service users, carers, family, visitors etc. on arrival 
• Support reception staff 

  
 Page | 56 

   



 
• Help people to seats if required (if someone is disabled for example) 
• Show visitors where amenities are located 
• Guide service users / carers to their clinic room 
• Help provide refreshments 
• Inform visitors of any fire alarm tests planned for the day 
• Support service users to complete accessible information forms 
• Ask service users / carers for their feedback (FFT) on exit 

A number of volunteers have been identified and will start volunteering for the Trust imminently. 
 

For 2017-18 we will pilot the introduction of service user experience volunteers in outpatient settings. If 
successful we will aim to roll out across the Trust and look to introduce volunteers in other settings to 
enhance and collect service user experience. 

 

4. Quality of care plans 

The quality of care planning is linked with CQUIN 4 which states that service users subject to the Care 
Programme Approach will have a care plan that is individualised, underpinned by recovery principles and 
focussed on staying well. However, this is also aligned with our values and principles and is further 
supported by service user feedback, common themes from SI outcomes, recovery principles and is based 
on best practice e.g. NICE, CPA policy and the NHS outcomes framework.  

Our aims are to make sure care plans are person centred, produced in partnership with the service user 
and linked to the documented risk assessment and management plan. We also want to focus on supporting 
the service user to stay well through such things as early relapse signs and plans, crisis and contingency 
planning and through having up to date information about relevant others who are involved with the service 
user and their care. 

An audit plan was set out for 2016-2017. This will mean that two audits will take place, one in quarter two 
(2016), and one in quarter 4. For the audit process RIO records were looked at in relation to the CPA or 
Core Care Plan, Medical Care Plan, additional information from the CPA Review record and Sainsbury Risk 
Assessment. Where applicable, information from the comprehensive assessment or equivalent was also 
considered.  

The auditors consisted of five people from SWYPFT. These consisted of practice governance coaches from 
community and older people’s services, clinical leads and general managers from various BDUs. There 
was also a minimum of two commissioners including clinical leads where possible. One stipulation was that 
the auditors did not audit their own BDU cases.  

The first quarter audit involved the review of 100 random cases of service users who had been on CPA for 
a minimum of 100 days. The cases were across the various parts of the organisation (Kirklees - 45, 
Calderdale - 20 and Wakefield - 35). The audit looked at whether the care plans were person centred, 
linked to risk assessments and contained a staying well plan. Guidance was provided for the auditors about 
how this information could be evidenced within the care planning information and an agreed care planning 
audit form was used to record findings. The following provides a breakdown of findings from the audit: 

• In Kirklees 71% of care plans included all the relevant information. Around a fifth of these care 
plans were not person centred or linked to the risk assessment information 

• 70% of care plans within Calderdale contained the required information. A quarter of these care 
plans were not linked to the risk assessment information and did not include a staying well plan 

• All the relevant information was found in 91% of Wakefield cases. All of these care plans were 
person centred and linked to the risk assessment documentation but in a few instances had no 
staying well plan 
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In the second audit in March 2017 all services reached the threshold and achieved the CQUIN.  

What next?  
The quality initiatives, in the CARING domain, we will undertake in 2017-18 to help us achieve our aim ‘to 
improve and be outstanding’ are to continue to collect feedback from people who use our services and 
staff. This feedback is invaluable for improving the care and treatment we deliver as a Trust. We will 
implement the actions from the nursing strategy which too will support ongoing improvement of high quality 
care. 

 

 

Priority 4: RESPONSIVE 

Why did we focus on this? 
By responsive, we mean that services are organised so that they meet people’s needs. 

‘RESPONSIVE’ quality initiatives in 2016-17 

The following quality initiatives were prioritised for action in 2016-17 as part of the quality account process. 
A summary of our achievement against these initiatives can be found in the table on pages 34-37. 

1. Early intervention in psychosis - 2 weeks (NICE approved care package)  

The access and waiting time standard for early intervention in psychosis (EIP) services requires that from 1 
April 2016 more than 50% of people experiencing first episode psychosis will be treated with a NICE 
approved care package within two weeks of referral.  

Our aim with this initiative was to monitor our performance against this measure and take any necessary 
action. We have subsequently found from the data provided that we have consistently met this standard. 

2. Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

One of the aims of the initiative ‘Achieving better access to mental health services by 2020’ is to enable 
people to have access to psychological therapies in a timelier manner. Two targets within this are for 
people to receive treatment within 6 weeks for 75% of people referred to the IAPT programme, with 95% of 
people being treated within 18 weeks. 

The figures show that for people to receive treatment within 6 weeks there were 2 periods within the first 
quarter when this target was not met however since this time we have consistently met the target. For 
people being treated within 18 weeks we have continually achieved this target. 

3. Clinical supervision 
When CQC visited the Trust in March 2016, they told us that we must make sure staff receive 
appropriate supervision on all wards. This entails clinicians having a minimum of 12 hours supervision 
each year. They also commented that the Trust had no effective systems in place to record when staff 
were having supervision. Clinical supervision is guided by a skilled supervisor, is practice focussed and 
enables staff to reflect on their practices. It is also an important factor in making sure service users 
receive high quality and safe care, as well as being a supportive framework for the wellbeing of our staff.  
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Since our CQC visit in March 2016 we have made a number of improvements with our staff  supervision 
systems. These are as follows: 

• The framework for accessing and delivery of supervision has been changed and updated to reflect the 
changes in how the service is managed. This takes into account such things as the implementation of 
12 hour shifts within inpatient areas 

• The updated framework has encouraged a more flexible approach to supervision. A supervision 
‘passport’ has been introduced whereby staff can access supervision when available and from a range 
of people rather than just one person 

• The ‘passport’ system is used using the following principles, i.e. his type of supervision is correctly 
structured, recorded and follows the established model for delivery as referenced in the Trust’s policy 
on Clinical Supervision 

• Supervisors who are providing this form of supervision are trained and so this style of supervision 
represents only a small percentage of the stipulated 12 hours of supervision per year. At least four 
hours of supervision needs to be provided by the staff member’s regular supervisor with whom the 
individual holds a contract 

• A number of additional staff have now completed training which has led to an increased number of 
clinical supervisors who can provide clinical supervision 

• There is now a Trust-wide list of supervisors that is kept up to date and reviewed regularly for staff to 
view and access 

• There is a centralised Trust supervision database for recording and reporting supervision. This helps 
teams to better monitor their supervision rates and uptakes and to identify where supervision is not 
taking place 

• In some cases clinical supervisors have had to be reminded that they need to be registered on the 
Trust database to be able to access it 

• The database will also be helpful in planning of audit supervision so we can measure ourselves 
against our own expected standards 

• A number of teams have also set up group supervision processes that are generally led by a 
psychologist. This is useful when reflecting on practice and in identifying where good practices have 
been followed and can be shared with others. 

The progress made is reflected in the clinical supervision data during quarters 3 and 4. This can be seen 
in the table below: 

 

 

 

 

 

We will continue to develop our systems and processes so these can embedded into practice. The format 
and frequency of database reports needs finalising. We also need to further establish the ‘train the trainer’ 
approach across the wider Trust. Within the Calderdale and Kirklees BDU there has been a shortage of 
clinical supervisors. Actions are being taken to increase the number of these. We will also need to set a 
trajectory for achievement of our supervision target. 

BDU Had supervision Staff in post Supervision % 
Barnsley District                 462                1082                 42.7% 
Calderdale/Kirklees 
District 

 
                227 

 
                 768 

 
                29.6% 

Forensic Services                 264                  335                 78.8% 
Specialist Services                 123                   390                 31.5% 
Wakefield District                   93                  388                 24.0% 
Grand Total                1168                2963                 39.5% 
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What next? 
The quality initiatives in the RESPONSIVE domain which  we will undertake in 2017-18 to help us achieve 
our aim ‘to improve and be outstanding’ are: To improve the waiting times in our adult psychological 
therapy services in Barnsley and Calderdale and Kirklees, our CAMHS service and specialist assessments 
and interventions in our community learning disability services. 

 

Priority 5: WELL LED 

 

Why did we focus on this? 
By well-led, we mean that the leadership, management and governance of the organisation assures the 
delivery of high-quality person-centred care, supports learning and innovation, and promotes an open and 
fair culture. 
 

‘WELL- LED’ quality initiatives in 2016-17 

 
The following quality initiatives were prioritised for action in 2016-17 as part of the quality account process. 
A summary of our achievement against these initiatives can be found in the table on pages 34-37. 

 

1. Quality dashboard (integrated performance report) 

Good quality information is a driver of performance for clinical teams and helps ensure the right services 
and best possible care is provided to service users. 

A ‘quality dashboard’ is a toolset developed to provide clinicians with the relevant and timely information 
they need to support daily decision making that improves quality of service user care. A dashboard gives 
our clinicians easy access to the wealth of data that is being captured locally, in a visual and usable format, 
whenever they need it.  

The first step we took in the development of the quality dashboard was to identify metrics that we already 
collected, that could be reported monthly in the quality section of our integrated quality report. We aligned 
the metrics to the Trust objectives and CQC domains and allocated each metric a director level ‘owner’. 
This ensures there is appropriate accountability for the delivery of all our metrics and helps identify how 
achievement of our objectives is being measured.  

Some of the quality metrics that are reported monthly as part of the quality dashboard are: 

• Rates of infection 

• Friends and Family Test responses 

• Complaints related to staff attitude 

• Service user safety incidents 
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• Safer staffing fill rates 

• Pressure ulcer incidents 

• Complaints and compliments 

• Information Governance breaches 

The full list can be found on our website. Below is an example of what our quality dashboard looks like. Any 
areas where performance is red has a narrative to explain the risk and mitigating actions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The work on the quality dashboard will continue to develop in 2017-18. We are looking to identify and 
develop more measures that will give us additional information on the quality of clinical care, for example, 
1:1 contact time (between nurse and service user) in our inpatient areas, completion of clinical risk 
assessments, quality of care plans and access to clinical supervision.   

2. Improving clinical information 

Ensuing that there are appropriate standards for clinical record keeping is a key enabler to delivering 
services which are service user centred, clinically effective and safe. Accurate records are essential to 
support high quality treatment and care. Inaccurate records can lead to delays to service users receiving 
treatment, inappropriate care and duplicate records, which all present risk to the service user. 

Clinical records are among the most basic of tools which are used in almost every consultation, providing 
an accurate picture of the care and treatment given to an individual, and assist in making sure they receive 
the best possible care. They also aid effective communication with other health care professionals.  

To improve the quality of clinical record keeping in the Trust we undertook a focused piece of work to 
improve the standards of clinical record keeping (including data quality) across the Trust’s clinical services. 
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The initial focus has been on mental health services, with a plan to move onto community health services in 
2017-18.  

What is a clinical record? 

The clinical record applies to all information written and collated about a client either electronically within 
one of the Trust’s clinical systems or on a paper health record.  High quality clinical record keeping involves 
ensuring that all contacts with a client and the content of the contact are recorded and all information about 
their health is clear and easily accessible to anyone using that record.  In short, good clinical record 
keeping refers to the content and quality of any record for one particular client. 

What is data quality?  

Data quality usually refers to the quality of aggregated outputs from many clinical records and the impact 
this has on analysing the data.  For example, a detailed narrative within a clinical record explaining all 
about the client and the treatment they have received may be a good clinical record but unless it is input 
into structured fields that can be aggregated with other records and analysed, the data quality is poor.   

Data quality is also impacted by the timeliness of input into the individual clinical record.  If the information 
is not recorded until weeks after the contact with a client has occurred it is likely that it will not be included 
in aggregated data that flows to commissioners and other external bodies such as the Health and Social 
Care Information Centre. 

For these reasons during 2015-16, the Trust’s teams identified 2 areas which we thought would have the 
greatest impact and prioritised these for improvement. 

A. We have developed new daily reports by BDU, team and individual health care professional that 
show:  

o Clients who have not had a contact recorded on RiO in the last 12 months (this is also 
highlighting where people put a progress note update but don’t create a contact) 

o Un-outcomed contacts (these won’t get counted in activity reporting, flow in national datasets or 
stop wait time clocks) 

o Unvalidated progress notes (equivalent of not signing clinical paper notes).  This also includes 
administrative entries in progress notes as well as clinical ones. There are a number of actions 
that have been taken to start to address this issue.  

Initial findings are that these reports  work well as a suite of reports as they highlight hot spot areas where 
teams are struggling to maintain their records and also pick up practices such as holding on to clients on 
the caseload that are not active and not putting on or outcoming contacts. 

B. We have developed a standard operating procedure (SOP) for clinical record keeping, which 
articulates the standards that we expect all our staff to achieve. The SOP is currently at 
implementation stage.  

 

3. Improve awareness, training and care practices in relation to the Mental 
Health Act (MHA) and Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 

When CQC visited the trust in March 2016 they identified a number of areas for improvement in relation to 
the MHA and MCA. For example, they told us we must make the MHA and MCA training mandatory for 
specified members of staff. They also said we must make sure that changes to the MHA Code of Practice 
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2015 are understood by staff and implemented within practice. Improvements were also needed in the way 
that consent to treatment and capacity assessments were recorded.  

As a matter of best practice CQC also commented that staff should have systems in place to work in 
accordance with the changes to the MHA 2015, inform service users of their rights under s132 of the MHA 
and record this and record details of decisions within capacity assessments. 

Since CQC visited in March 2016, a number of improvements have been made. In March 2016, EMT 
approved MHA and MCA training and made it mandatory. Following discussions with the Local Authorities 
in June 2016, a monthly MCA training plan was agreed and training flyers completed. We also received 
confirmation and approval from SCIE Head of Digital to confirm that we could adapt their e-learning 
programme for level 1 MCA training. We have interfaced the MHA and MCA training so this training can 
be captured alongside each other. A training analysis was completed to identify the levels of training 
needed for specific staff. A number of different training dates and venues were organised across all areas 
within the trust. Initially training was prioritised for registered nurses within inpatient services.  MCA 
information leaflets have also been distributed to those staff who did not directly care for service users but 
have some form of contact with patient on occasions e.g. administration staff. At the present time we have 
a number of ongoing training courses for those staff who work within community settings. The Trust Board 
have also received the MHA/MCA training. 

From earlier this year individual teams and services can see their MHA and MCA training information on 
their performance dashboards. This is helping teams to be able to monitor their training uptake, and to 
identify where training is not happening. Changes have also been made to the medics induction 
programme that now includes training on various aspects of the MCA such as capacity and consent, best 
interests, DoLS etc. 

A new MHA/MCA sub-group has also been developed and reports into the MHA committee. The MHA 
committee has overview of MHA/MCA mandatory training, the MHA 2015 Code of Practice action plan and 
audit plan and reports to the trust board. From November 2016, MHA/MCA training compliance is also 
reported to the Trust Board via the workforce performance wall of the integrated performance report. 

While we recognise the progress made within these aspects of practice we acknowledge that further work 
is needed. CQC shared this viewpoint when they re-visited some of our core services between December 
2016 and February 2017, and which had been identified as requiring improvement from their previous 
March 2016 visit. For example, they commented about the good quality of the capacity assessments on 
Gaskell ward, one of our psychiatric intensive care units. This good practice has now been shared with 
other inpatient teams for them to implement in practice. The CQC also acknowledged that overall 
MHA/MCA training figures had improved from their previous visit although further improvement was 
needed in certain areas. The CQC also commented that although the MHA training figures remained low 
overall, staff spoken with had a good understanding of the Act and its implementation within practice.  

The CQC also found that requests for second opinion appointed doctors (SOADs) are now happening in a 
more timely manner and that service users within forensic wards are now been read their rights and this is 
being recorded. A number of MHA and MCA audits are now taking place to monitor and identify pockets of 
good practice and areas for improvement. Information about the MHA 2015 changes to the Code of 
Practice is now available on the intranet and discussed within the various BDU governance groups. A 
number of policies have also been updated and now comply with the MHA 2015 Code of Practice although 
others needed updating and/or reviewing. This work has since been completed. 

There were some areas for improvement from the CQC re-visit. Within some acute mental health inpatient 
wards and on the forensic wards staff lacked knowledge and understanding about the MCA policy and 
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processes and how to implement these. Within the forensic wards capacity assessments, best interests 
checklists and decisions also needed to be better recorded.  

Despite the various ongoing MHA/MCA training dates some staff continue to report difficulty in being able 
to access the training. This is because of such things as training dates being cancelled, not enough 
attendees to warrant the training going ahead and staff having to travel long distances to access training. 
In order to rectify this, a wider range of training venues are now available. Training courses are no longer 
cancelled because of a lack of a sufficient number of attendees, and there is a ‘train the trainer’ 
programme so that staff can go back and facilitate the training within their teams. However, there appears 
to have been limited uptake on this; partly through depletion of MHA/MCA training staff and course 
availability because of this. Some staff have also reported arriving slightly late for the training and being 
told to book onto an alternative date. 

There will be an ongoing MHA/MCA training programme throughout 2017-2018 for all levels of staff. This 
will continue to be monitored via the workforce performance walls and MHA Committee.  The training 
programme is being reviewed in April 2017. 

 

4. CQC action plan implementation, monitoring and evaluation 

When CQC visited us in March 2016 they issued a number of Requirement Notices (regulation breaches) in 
relation to our core services and Trust wide issues. They also told us what we ‘must do’ and ‘should do’ to 
improve the quality of care and safety within our services. These focused on the improvements that were 
needed across the five CQC key domains i.e. are services safe, effective, caring, responsive and well-led? 
In order to address the matters raised we developed an internal action plan outlining what specific actions 
were needed and timescales for completion of these actions.   

Having received all the CQC reports from their visit in March 2016, we have since made the following 
progress through establishing the following systems and processes: 

• Each of our core services and Trust-wide leads completed their action plans stating how the issues 
raised were going to be addressed and when by. 

BDUs have been responsible for delivery and monitoring of their own action plans and updated the quality 
improvement and assurance team (QIAT) on a monthly basis. The Clinical Governance Group (CGG) was 
responsible for overview and monitoring of the Trust wide action plan. The group also provided assurance 
that the action plan was being delivered and any concerns were escalated to EMT and CGCSC. 

• Processes were put in place so that any barriers and difficulties in meeting agreed timescales was 
escalated through BDU governance groups to the CGG.  

• A new RAG rating system was introduced to ensure consistency. Quality Academy staff sat in the key 
governance group and CGG meetings to support BDUs in their ratings of how they were progressing 
against their actions and timescales for delivery of these actions. 

• QIAT coordinated all the action plan feedback including identification of any shortfalls. Monthly reports 
were produced for EMT, CGCSC and Trust Board to keep them updated. 

• District directors/deputy district directors were asked to escalate any issues of concern to the QIAT at 
the earliest opportunity in cases where actions could not be progressed or met within given timescales. 

• We implemented a new internal visit programme, including introduction of ‘quality monitoring visits.’ The 
aim of these initial visits was to focus on those care services who received a ‘requires improvement’ 
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rating from the CQC visit and to look at how they were progressing against the actions they needed to 
take. This helped to provide an additional layer of support and assurance, and helped to identify where 
shortfalls existed and needed escalating. 

We kept CQC informed each month about the progress of our action plans. 

• We commenced engagement meetings with the CQC. This enabled us to speak face to face with them 
on various issues, including action plan updates. This really helped CQC to develop their understanding 
around some of the context with certain issues. It also enabled us to demonstrate where progress had 
been made, especially in cases where actions had not been fully completed. 

The Quality Academy support structure is illustrated below: 

 

The CQC revisited us between November 2016 and January 2017 to check whether the necessary actions 
had been completed since their previous visit and within the given timescales. The following findings from 
this visit evidence that introduction of the systems and processes outlined above enabled us to effectively 
monitor and act on any issues with our action plans: 
• The Trust overall rating was changed from ‘requires improvement’ to ‘good.’ 
• Four core services received a rating change to ‘good’ from ‘requires improvement.’ 
• The number of Requirement Notices, ‘must dos’ and ‘should dos’ was significantly reduced in 

number compared to our previous inspection in March 2016. 
We are expecting CQC to carry out annual well-led reviews and to visit at least one of our core services 
during this period. We are using the same systems and processes above to monitor, implement and 
evaluate the few Requirement Notices, ‘must dos’ and ‘should dos’ from the most recent CQC visit. We will 
continue to further embed these systems and processes so we can manage further CQC visits effectively to 
make sure we continue to take any actions needed to continually keep improving. 

What next? 
The quality initiatives in the WELL- LED domain which we will undertake in 2017-18 to help us achieve our 
aim ‘to improve and be outstanding’ are: To develop a quality improvement monitoring, review and 
recognition system with an associated quality dashboard. To assist with improving the culture of 
continuous quality improvement we will develop a quality improvement toolkit, website and encourage 
more ‘do and share’ improvements. 
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Annexes 

Annex 1 Glossary  
BDU Business Delivery Unit: The Trust runs services on a district by district basis with 

support from a central core of support services. These district management units are 
called Business Delivery Units (BDUs). We have six BDUs; Barnsley, Calderdale, 
Kirklees, Wakefield and Forensics and Specialist Services. 

CAMHS Child and adolescent mental health service: Treatment for children and young 
people with emotional and psychological problems. 

CMHT  Community mental health team: A community based multi-disciplinary team who 
aim to help people with mental health problems receive an appropriate community 
environment for as long as possible, and in many cases preventing hospital 
admission. 

CPA Care Programme Approach CPA: CPA is the framework for providing care for 
mental health service users 

CQC  Care Quality Commission The Care Quality Commission is the health and social 
care regulator for England. They look at the joined up picture of health and social 
care. Its aim is to ensure better care for everyone in hospital, in a care home and at 
home 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation. A payment framework that makes a 
proportion of providers' income conditional on quality and innovation. Its aim is to 
support the vision set out in High Quality Care for All (the NHS next stage review 
report) of an NHS where quality is the organising principle. 

DATIX Datixweb is the web based version of the Trust’s risk management system. It 
enables staff to report incidents that happen at the Trust, electronically 

DOH Department of Health: The Government body responsible for delivering a fast, fair, 
convenient and high quality health service in England. 

DTOC Delayed transfer of care – occurs when a service user is ready for transfer from 
acute care, but is still occupying an acute bed. 

FFT  Friends & Family Test: a service user experience and quality improvement tool 
used across the NHS 

IG  Information Governance ensures necessary safeguards for, and appropriate use 
 of, patient and personal information. 

MSO  Medication Safety Officer 

NICE  National Institute for Clinical Excellence: a national group that works with the 
NHS to provide guidance to support healthcare professionals make sure that the 
care they provide is of the best possible quality and value for money 

POMH Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health 

RiO The electronic service user record system that is used in mental health services 
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Annex 2: Statements from our stakeholders 
1. Feedback from Wakefield Council’s Adults and Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

(18.5.17) 

Through the Quality Accounts process the Adults and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee have 
engaged with the Trust to review and identify quality themes and the Trust has sought the views of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the opportunity to provide pertinent feedback and comments. The 
included a joint session with Wakefield Healthwatch on the 25 April 2017. 

The committee agrees with the Trust’s decision to align its strategic objectives, priorities and programmes 
and quality initiatives within a framework of improvement and believes a consistent approach is useful to 
underpin the quality measures against which improvement can be measured.  The Committee is assured 
that the identified priorities are in concert with those of the public and that these have been developed 
through wide consultation with service users and the public in the production of the Quality Account. 

Overall the Committee believes the layout and content of the Quality Account provides relevance and 
clarity to both a professional and public audience.      The Committee is satisfied that the Quality Account 
is supported by relevant data and provides appropriate evidence of the Trust’s quality improvement 
progress.  

The Committee welcomes the decision to revise the framework for the Trust’s quality priorities which are 
now aligned to the 5 domains of the Care Quality Commission: Safe; Effective; Caring; Responsive and 
Well-led.  This framework should allow improvement priorities to be more explicitly aligned to the Trust’s 
core values that reinforce behaviours and ways of working in order to underpin a culture of service 
improvement and better quality care.  

The Committee supports the actions to address the Care Quality Commission’s identified improvement 
areas and welcomes the transition from requires improvement to the Trust being rated as good.  The 
Committee notes that the Trust is still completing actions around breaches in waiting times and more work 
is required in some services around the understanding and appreciation of the Mental Capacity Act.   The 
Committee looks forward to seeing the necessary improvements over the next year in order to address the 
identified shortfalls and the potential impact on the quality of care and safety of the Trust’s services.  

The Committee supports any actions to reduce the number of service users who require out of area bed 
usage, in line with the principle of caring for people as close to their locality as possible.  

The Committee welcomes the decision of the Trust to stretch targets where appropriate in order to sustain 
continued improvement with measures higher than the goals set by commissioners.  

Members firmly believe that listening to and acting on service user feedback is an effective means by 
which to improve services.  The Trust’s organisational focus on customer service underpins this approach.   
The Committee also supports the development of real time feedback for capturing and acting on patient 
experience.  

The Committee has focused on staff engagement as part of its current work programme and has noted the 
results from the 2016 NHS Staff Survey.  There is compelling evidence that highly engaged employees 
have fewer accidents, make better use of resources and deliver better financial performance.  In addition, 
highly engaged employees are more likely to deliver high-quality care, are healthier and happier, with 
lower sickness rates and lower staff turnover - all of which will effectively contribute to the Trust’s quality 
goals. The Committee supports actions to improve performance in this area as outlined in the Quality 
Account including the decision to continue the internal well-being at work survey.  
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The Committee welcomes the renewed emphasis on the suicide strategy implementation and notes that 
suicide is the highest category of serious incidents reported at the most recent Trust Board meeting.  The 
Committee will look in detail at the quality of the plan and how effectively it is being implemented over the 
next year.   

The Committee welcomes any priority for integrating physical and mental health, particularly promoting 
health among people with severe mental illness.  Members therefore welcome the Trust’s focus on 
performance in developing more challenging standards for 2017/18 – including service users registers 
shared between the Trust and GP’s and electronic sharing of assessments and letters.  

The Committee notes the reference in the Quality Account regarding the Transitions out of Children and 
Young People’s Mental Health Services and the actions being put in place to promote safe and smooth 
transitions for children and young people, their families and carers who utilise the Trust’s services.  
However, concerns around transitions for C&YP have been around for some time and various plans and 
strategies do not appear to have fully addressed the problem.  The Committee accepts this is a complex 
area but would hope that significant progress can be made over the year through the actions identified, 
including the development of local protocols, improved communication strategy and developing more 
effective ways of engaging young people and their families.    

The Committee notes that service users subject to the Care Programme Approach will have a care plan 
that is individualised, underpinned by recovery principles and focused on staying well.  It is pleasing to 
note therefore that following audit all the relevant information was found in 91% of Wakefield cases and 
that all of these care plans were person centred and linked to the risk assessment documentation.  

The Committee is grateful for the opportunity to comment on the Quality Account and looks forward to 
working with the Trust in reviewing performance against the quality indicators over the coming year. 

 

2. Feedback from Wakefield Healthwatch  (23.5.17) 

Healthwatch Wakefield is pleased once again to comment on the Quality Account of the South West 
Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (‘the Trust’) for the year 2016/2017. We are pleased to report 
that the Trust has continued to involve Healthwatch Wakefield on a number of issues. 

At the time of writing the opening statements on quality from the Chief Executive and the Chair were not 
available, so we are not able to provide commentary on that part of the account. 

Whilst we have concerns that results in a few of the priorities for 2016/17 fell short of expectations (3 out 
of 32 were rated ‘Red’) it remains encouraging to note good performance in many other areas (20 out of 
32 rated ‘Green’). We are also pleased to see improvements to core services as inspected by the Care 
Quality Commission, with the overall rating of ‘Requires Improvement’ from March 2016 being upgraded to 
‘Good’ a year later. Healthwatch Wakefield would welcome further progress being made in these services, 
especially in the two key domains, Community Mental Health services and Acute Wards, that remain rated 
as requiring improvement. 

In terms of the specific priorities as outlined in last year’s Quality Account, Healthwatch Wakefield 
commends the Trust in regards to the results achieved in many areas. At the time of writing, full year 
results were not available, but it is heartening to see strong performances in quarters one to three. 
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Quality Domain: Safe 

Good results in improving the physical health for patients with severe mental illness were unfortunately 
tainted by a poor audit outcome relating to providing up to date care plans to some GPs. We would ask 
the Trust to ensure that the reasons for this are understood to prevent similar occurrences across other 
geographical areas in the future. 

It is hugely encouraging to see good performance in staffing fill rates, both Registered Nurse and overall 
staff levels, and the 13% increase in incident reporting is to be welcomed. However, we would welcome 
further improvements relating to both pressure ulcer prevention / management, and the Safety 
Thermometer. 

Quality Domain: Effective 

Mixed results here, and we feel there are opportunities to continue to improve, especially in relation to 
improving the health and wellbeing of  Trust staff. Results for staff recommending the Trust as a place to 
work are disappointing. 

Quality Domain: Caring 

Friends and Family Test results for Community Health Services are good, with scope for improvement in 
Mental Health and Trust wide performance in general. Work needs to be done to improve these scores in 
CAMHS, however. 

Quality Domain: Responsive 

Healthwatch Wakefield would like to commend the Trust on achieving excellent results in all aspects on 
this quality priority, including Mental Health access waiting times, IAPT access standards and access to 
clinical supervision, and hope that these results continue throughout 2017/18. 

Quality Domain: Well Led 

We are pleased to see good results in relation to the quality dashboard, improving clinical information and 
CQC action plans, but would like to express grave concerns regarding staff training in the Mental Capacity 
Act and Deprivation of Liberty Standards. The detail behind this (shown on page 61 of the report) provides 
information on some improvements that have already been made, and we note that the Trust have 
acknowledged that further work is needed. We also note that the training programme was to be reviewed 
in April 2017, and we hope this review addresses whatever is required to raise performance against this 
particular priority. 

Quality Priorities for 2017/18 

The infographic on page 6 outlines the extent of the individual pieces of work that will take place over the 
next 12 months to support quality improvements across all of the Trust’s services. Of the many initiatives 
listed here, a number have been selected to be the key priorities for 2017/18. 

The forward priorities have again been clustered against CQC quality domains (Safe, Effective, Caring, 
Responsive and Well Led) and a total of  25 areas have been prioritised. Retaining consistent and 
effective focus on this many is likely to be difficult and we would therefore urge the Trust to ensure that 
sufficient ongoing monitoring and reporting practices are in place throughout the year to ensure nothing is 
neglected. 
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Healthwatch Wakefield is encouraged to note that those priorities from 2016/17 against which the Trust 
underperformed have been retained for 2017/18. We will be happy to continue to support the Trust in 
achieving continuous improvement in any way we can throughout the year. 

Overall Summary 

The draft document that was presented for review is comprehensive and extensive, although some of our 
review task group members felt it could be made easier to follow.  

There is evidence of strong performance against most of the priorities the Trust set for itself, and although 
some of the targets were narrowly missed, we are encouraged by efforts already made, the future plans, 
and the dedication of the team to continue driving through improvements despite the continuing 
challenges in the healthcare macro- and micro-environments.  

Healthwatch Wakefield commends the Trust on its performance in delivering quality healthcare services to 
the people of Wakefield and surrounds, and we look forward to continuing to support and work with the 
Trust to help ensure continuous improvements are sustained. 

 

3. Feedback from Barnsley health watch (23.5.17) 

Barnsley Healthwatch thanks the Trust for the chance to observe and comment on the Trust Quality 
Account 2016-17 report. We have shared this report between our Strategic Advisory Board and volunteer 
members to gather their thoughts and wider observations across the borough. 

We would like to comment on the following: 

Overall the report was informative and positive and provided a good overview of the Trust priorities 
through 2016/17.  

It was however quite difficult to split out references to Barnsley as the majority of the information is 
aggregated across all SWYFT’s business delivery units. We have therefore tried to concentrate our 
comments to reflect situations and issues within the borough. 

We were disappointed to see that waiting time in Barnsley for Learning Difficulties (LD) or Autism 
assessments for Working Age people are still high. As are Barnsley Children and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) treatment waiting times. We are pleased to see the plans to improve these 
services going forward, and also the work towards smooth transitions for children and young people with 
Barnsley having a named person to support the Transitions agenda along with an identified Trust lead. 

We were pleased to see in the report the plans to further continue the good work with the Patient Safety 
Strategy in particular the Suicide Prevention Strategy and action plans to support the implementation of 
this strategy. Healthwatch Barnsley  are supporting the local Mental Health Concordat in the work around 
crisis care plans which links in to the Suicide Prevention work and will continue this work going forward. 

We still have concerns around communications with GPs relating to Care Plans for Mental Health Patients 
on Care Programme Approach (CPA). This was red rag rated in quarter 3 denoting very low level of 
communications 

Also the clustering of mental health patients in relation to diagnosis in Barnsley was amber. We will 
continue to monitor this locally. 
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The level of staff formal clinical supervisions being undertaken for Barnsley was low, although we were 
satisfied to see a plan in place to improve training and supervision and identify good practice to 
disseminate across the Trust. 

Finally we are pleased to observe that following the re-visit from the CQC the rating of ‘requires 
improvement’ has been changed to good and were pleased that CQC were able to recognise and 
acknowledge the achievements and progress to date. 

Healthwatch Barnsley will continue to work with and support the work you are doing across the Borough 
as we move forward together for the benefit of our community. 

 

4. Joint feedback from Calderdale, Kirklees and Wakefield locality Clinical Commissioning 
Groups 

Statement presented by NHS Calderdale Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) in conjunction with 
associate commissioners from NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG, NHS North Kirklees CCG and NHS 
Wakefield CCG. 

South West Yorkshire Partnership Foundation Trust (SWYPFT) 2016/17 Quality account statement. 

Thank you for providing the South West Yorkshire Partnership Foundation Trust (SWYPFT) Quality 
Account 2016/17 for comment. The Quality Account has been shared with members of the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups who attend the SWYPFT Quality Board and their comments incorporated into this 
statement. 

To the best of our knowledge we believe that the information provided is accurate and has been fairly 
interpreted. The quality account provides a balanced summary of the quality of service measured over the 
course of the previous year with good organisational context for how this is managed and the Trust's 
quality ambitions.  

We support the quality priorities identified for 2017/18, most of which link with the CQUIN scheme or 
issues commissioners have discussed through Quality Board, such as safer staffing, mortality reviews, 
information governance issues, Friends and Family Test (FFT) for staff and service users, and complaint 
closures and response times. The quarterly quality report produced by the Trust is reviewed at the Quality 
Board and is used as the basis for discussion about a number of the Trust’s key priorities.  

We support the continuation of the high-level quality priorities and it is pleasing to see that some of the 
CQUINs from previous years are being maintained through quality priorities, for example, quality of care 
plans/record keeping. We also feel the Trust have given an honest account of where there is still 
improvement to be made, for example, Mental Capacity Act and Mental Health Act training. 

SWYPFT should be congratulated for moving the Care Quality Commission (CQC) rating from Requires 
Improvement to Good in less than 12 months and the continued effort to improve those individual service 
areas still rated as Required Improvement. Commissioners welcome the Trust’s offer for us to join the new 
proposed quality monitoring visits to service areas, particularly inpatient wards for adults. 

The work streams under Sign up to Safety are showing some good achievements and we support the 
areas identified as priorities for Year 2 of this programme in particular the continuation of work to address 
medicines omissions. 
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Overall we feel that the challenges ahead have been identified by SWYPFT. We look forward to continuing 
to work closely with the Trust over the coming year in order support the Trust in achieving the quality 
improvement priorities set out in the account. 
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Annex 3: Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the quality report 
The quality report must include a statement of directors’ responsibilities, in the following form of words: 

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. 

NHS Improvement  has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual 
quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS 
foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the quality 
report. 

In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 

• the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2016-17 and supporting guidance 

• the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information 
including: 

o board minutes and papers for the period April 2016  to  March 2017  
o papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2016 to  March 2017 
o feedback from  commissioners dated  23.5.17 
o feedback from local Health watch organisations dated 23.5.17 
o feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 18th May 2017 & 23.5.17 
o the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated June 2016 (Q1), Oct 2016 (Q2), 
Dec 2016 (Q3)  and March 2017 (Q4). 

o The  national community mental health patient survey 2016 
o The national staff survey 2016 
o The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment dated 

25/05/2017 
o CQC Inspection report dated April 2017. 

• the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance over the 
period covered 

• the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate 
• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance 

included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are 
working effectively in practice 

• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and 
reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to 
appropriate scrutiny and review and 

• the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with NHS Improvement  annual reporting 
manual and support guidance  (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) as well as the 
standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality Report  

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the Quality Report. 

By order of the board  Date 25 May 2017 Chairman  
  
 Date 25 May 2017 Chief Executive  
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors of South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust on the quality report 

We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of South West Yorkshire Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust’s quality report for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “quality report”) and certain 
performance indicators contained therein. 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of South West 
Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in reporting 
South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We 
permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2017, to enable the 
Council of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance responsibilities by 
commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors 
as a body and South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report, except 
where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing. 

Scope and subject matter 

The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2017 subject to limited assurance consist of the national priority 
indicators as mandated by NHS Improvement: 

 100% enhanced Care Programme Approach (CPA) patients receive follow-up contact within seven 
days of discharge from hospital; and 

 Minimising delayed transfer of care. 
 

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the “indicators”. 

Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors 

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the quality report in accordance with the 
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by NHS Improvement. 

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether anything has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that: 

 the quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual; 

 the quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the guidance; 
and 

 the indicators in the quality report identified as having been the subject of limited assurance in the 
quality report are not reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the 
Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports. 

We read the quality report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and consider the implications for our report if we become aware 
of any material omissions. 

We read the other information contained in the quality report and consider whether it is materially 
inconsistent with: 

 board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to March 2017; 

 papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to March 2017; 

 feedback from the Commissioners dated 23 May 2017;  

 feedback from local Healthwatch organisation dated 23 May 2017; 

 feedback from the Overview and Scrutiny committee dated 18 and 23 May 2017; 

 the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and 
NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated June 2016 (Q1), Oct 2016 (Q2), Dec 2016 (Q3) and 
March 2017 (Q4); 

 the  national community mental health patient survey 2016; 

 the national staff survey 2016;  

 Care Quality Commission inspection report dated April 2017; and 

 the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated 25 May 2017. 
 



We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with those documents (collectively the “documents”). Our responsibilities do not extend to 
any other information. 

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team comprised assurance 
practitioners and relevant subject matter experts. 

Assurance work performed 

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – “Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information” issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“ISAE 3000”). 
Our limited assurance procedures included: 

 evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for managing and 
reporting the indicators; 

 making enquiries of management; 

 testing key management controls; 

 limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to supporting 
documentation; 

 comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual to the 
categories reported in the quality report; and 

 reading the documents. 

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative 
to a reasonable assurance engagement. 

Limitations 

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial information, given 
the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining such information. 

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the selection of 
different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially different measurements and 
can affect comparability. The precision of different measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the 
nature and methods used to determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the 
precision of these criteria, may change over time. It is important to read the quality report in the context of 
the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

The scope of our assurance work has not included consideration of quality governance or non-mandated 
indicators which have been determined locally by Humber NHS Foundation Trust. 

Conclusion 

Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for 
the year ended 31 March 2017: 

 the quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual; 

 the quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified above; and 

 the indicators in the quality report subject to limited assurance have not been reasonably stated in all 
material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

 
 
Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Newcastle Upon Tyne 
25 May 2017 
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∙  observe the accounts direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant accounting 
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

∙  make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
∙  state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual) have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements;

∙  ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities 
and guidance; and

∙  prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Signed…………………………………………….

The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the accounting officer of the NHS Foundation
Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the
propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued
by NHS Improvement.

STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RESPONSIBILITIES AS THE ACCOUNTABLE
OFFICER OF SOUTH WEST YORKSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

Rob Webster  Chief Executive                                                                         Date 25 May 2017

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with
reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable
him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act.
The accounting officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has given
Accounts Directions which require South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust to
prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis required by
those Directions. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and of its
income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ACCOUNTS

The directors are required under the National Health Services Act 2006 to prepare accounts for each
financial year. The Secretary of State, with the approval of the Treasury, directs that these accounts give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of the income and expenditure of the Trust for
that period.  In preparing those accounts, the directors are required to:

- apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of State with the approval of
the Treasury;

- make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent; and

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the accounts.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust and to enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned direction of the Secretary of State. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the accounts.

By order of the Board

Signed…………… ………………………………...…..  
Rob Webster  Chief Executive                                                                                       Date 25 May 2017

Signed…………… ………………………………...…..  
Mark Brooks  Director of Finance                                                                                  Date 25 May 2017



Opinion

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF SOUTH WEST YORKSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

Opinion on financial statements of South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
In our opinion the financial statements:

•                 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group and Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2017 and of the Group and 
Trust’s income and expenditure for the year then ended;

•                 have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by NHS Improvement – 
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts; and

•                 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006.

The financial statements that we have audited comprise:
•                 the Group and Trust Statements of Comprehensive Income;
•                 the Group and Trust Statement of Financial Position;
•                 the Group and Trust Statements of Cash Flow;
•                 the Group and Trust Statements of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity;
•                 the Statement of Accounting Policies; and
•                 the related notes 1 to 39.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by NHS 
Improvement – Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice. 
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The key risks that we identified in the current year were:
•       Revenue recognition in respect of CQUIN income
•       Accounting for Property valuations

•       Community Hub Project completion and ongoing work at Chantry and Trinity

Within this report, any new risks are identified with 
 and any risks which are the same as the prior year identified with 

Significant changes in our 
approach

In 2015/16 we used 1% of operating income as the basis for materiality. We 
reassessed the percentage used to 2% of operating income in the context of our 
cumulative knowledge and understanding of the audit risks faced by the Trust for 
this year.

We confirm that:
•        we have concluded that the Accounting Officer’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is appropriate; and
•        we have not identified any material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this 
statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.

Independence

We are required to comply 
with the Code of Audit Practice 
and Financial Reporting 
Council’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors, and confirm that we 
are independent of the group 
and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with those 
standards.

We confirm that we are independent of the group and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those standards. We also 
confirm we have not provided any of the prohibited non-audit services 
referred to in those standards.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF SOUTH WEST YORKSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

Going concern 

We have reviewed the 
Accounting Officer’s statement 
contained within the annual 
report that the Group is a 
going concern.

The assessed risks of material misstatement described below are those that had the greatest effect on our audit 
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Summary of our audit approach

Key risks

Materiality The materiality that we used in the current year was £4.6m which was determined 
on the basis of 2% of actual total income.

Scoping
All testing of the Group, Trust and Charity was performed by the main audit 
engagement team performed at the Trust’s head offices in Wakefield, led by the 
audit partner.
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There are significant judgements in recognition of revenue from care of NHS Service 
users due to the judgements taken in evaluating the Trust’s entitlement to 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) Income. The key judgement in 
the recognition of the revenue is assessing whether the relevant performance 
criteria have been met

The total CQUIN premium earned in the year was £4.6m (2016: £3.5m). The 
income earned is included in the balance of “Income attributed to CCGs and NHS 
England” disclosed in note 5.1 Income from Activities and recognition governed by 
the accounting policy set out in note 1.4.
This is discussed by the Audit Committee on page 42.
We evaluated the design and implementation of controls over the negotiation, 
agreement and monitoring of CQUIN performance targets and the subsequent 
claiming and recording of earned CQUIN income. 

We tested the recognition of CQUIN Income through the year by confirming the 
amount of CQUIN Income available to the underlying contract challenging on a 
sample basis the CQUIN income agreed with the commissioners throughout the year 
and at the year-end by comparing with internal reporting of performance to confirm 
consistency between internal and external reporting.

The Group holds property assets within Property, Plant and Equipment at a modern 
equivalent use valuation of £110.7m (2015: £113.5m). The valuations are by nature 
significant estimates which are based on specialist and management assumptions 
(including the floor areas for a Modern Equivalent Asset – alternate site basis, the 
basis for calculating build costs, the level of allowances for professional fees and 
contingency, and the remaining life of the assets) and which can be subject to 
material changes in value  In 2016/17 the Trust engaged the District Valuer to revalue its estate as at 31 
December 2016 resulting in impairments of £0.2m and revaluations of £0.5m. These 
movements are disclosed in note 15.1 to the Financial Statements. The movements 
are recognised in comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Management have subsequently obtained an update to the valuation to 
bring this up to 31 March 2017
This risk is discussed by the Audit Committee on page 42.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF SOUTH WEST YORKSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

Risk description

How the scope of our 
audit responded to the 
risk

We have reviewed the Trust’s capital and valuation plans as part of the planning 
processes with input from our property specialists, to review the valuation and 
assess the reasonableness of the key assumptions used. We examined the accuracy 
of the posting of the final valuation to the general ledger and financial statements. 
We also evaluated the objectivity and competence of the District Valuer. We also 
reviewed the work performed by management / the District Valuer to update the 
valuation from 31 December 2016 to 31 March 2017. 

Key observations

We identified that the valuation report for 31 December 2016 initially used 
assumptions that were not appropriate. Following discussions with management and 
the valuer, these were revised and an adjustment made to the valuation of property, 
plant and equipment. We also noted that the Trust did not include the valuation 
movement from 31 December 2016 to 31 March 2017 as it was not material to the 
financial statements. 

Revenue recognition in respect of CQUIN income

Risk description

How the scope of our 
audit responded to the 
risk

Key observations
We consider the income recognised from CQUIN to be appropriate based on the 
Trust’s patient activity and reported performance against the operational targets 
agreed with the Commissioner. 

Accounting for property valuations      
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The Trust has had an extensive £12.3m capital programme, including £6m of spend on 
the Fieldhead development and £2.5m on the Wakefield and Pontefract Hubs. There is a 
risk around the valuation of these assets during the construction phase including whether 
costs should be capitalised and when the asset should be brought into use, and hence 
commence depreciation. In addition, previously capitalised works that are being replaced 
or refurbished need to be appropriately written down  Where existing properties are being modernised, the “modern equivalent asset – 
alternate site basis” valuation rules can lead to a “day one” impairment where the 
accumulated cost of the asset exceeds the cost of a newly built facility, due to the need to 
revalue this. The District Valuer is instructed to revalue new assets. 
This risk is discussed by the Audit Committee on page 42.

We have assessed the decision as to whether expenditure should be classified as capital 
during the construction phase, whether there are indicators of impairment to the asset at 
the balance sheet date where the project remains incomplete, and finally, the valuation of 
the asset upon completion and transfer to operational use. 
We reviewed the transfer of assets under construction to operational assets during the 
year and reviewed the valuation and depreciation treatment of these transfers. 
We reviewed management’s assessment of impairments to the value of cost held in 
assets under construction. 
We reviewed management’s processes to evaluate the value in use of the assets upon 
bringing into service as part of the assessment of the work of the District Valuer. 

2% of total revenue (2016: 1% of total revenue) 

Following discussion and agreement with the Audit Committee, we reassessed the 
percentage used in the context of our cumulative knowledge and understanding of the 
audit risks at the Trust and our assessment of those risks for this year as well as the 
materiality’s adopted for other Foundation Trusts nationally. This level of materiality 
represents an increase from that used in the prior year and is in line with the basis 
adopted across other Foundation Trusts within our portfolio who exhibit similar levels of 
risk.

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied

Operating Income was chosen as a benchmark as the Trust is a non-profit organisation, 
and operating income is a key measure of financial performance for users of the financial 
statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF SOUTH WEST YORKSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Community Hub Project completion and ongoing work at Chantry and Trinity      

Risk description

How the scope of our 
audit responded to the 
risk

Key observations We consider management’s assessment of the valuation of the Fieldhead masterplan site 
as at 31 March 2017 to be appropriate. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £230k 
(2016: £114k), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative 
grounds.  We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

Group materiality £4.6m (2016: £2.3m)

Basis for determining 
materiality

Our application of materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the 
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both 
in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
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An overview of the scope of our audit

 

In our opinion:

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion:
•        the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure 
requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is 
misleading, or is  inconsistent with information of which we are aware from 
our audit;

We have nothing to report in 
respect of these matters.

•        the NHS foundation trust has not made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources; or
•        proper practices have not been observed in the compilation of the financial 
statements.

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether the Annual 
Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are 
satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.

Reports in the public interest or to the regulator

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are also required to report to you if: We have nothing to report in 
respect of these matters.

•        any matters have been reported in the public interest under Schedule 
10(3) of the National Health Service Act 2006 in the course of, or at the end of 
the audit; or

•        any reports to the regulator have been made under Schedule 10(6) of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 because we have reason to believe that the 
Trust, or a director or officer of the Trust, is about to make, or has made, a 
decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, 
unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the National Health Service Act 2006

•       the parts of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006; and
•       the information given in the Performance Report and the Accountability Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement, use of resources, and compilation of financial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF SOUTH WEST YORKSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including group-
wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level. 

The focus of our audit work was on the Trust, with work performed at the Trust’s offices at Fieldhead Hospital 
directly by the audit engagement team, led by the audit director.

The Trust’s subsidiary the South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and Other Charitable funds 
was subject to an independent examination which is not equivalent to a full audit. The Charity represents less 
than 0.5% of group operating income and assets employed. 
We performed specified audit procedures on the Trust’s subsidiary, where the extent of our testing was based on 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement and the materiality of the charity to the group. 

Our audit work was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual entity which were lower than 
group. 

At the group level we also tested the consolidation process.

The audit team included integrated Deloitte specialists bringing specific skills and experience in property 
valuations and Information Technology systems.

Data analytic techniques were used as part of audit testing, in particular to support profiling of population to 
identify items of audit interest. These techniques were limited to the area of journal testing. 

All testing was performed by the group audit engagement team, led by the audit director. 
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Our duty to read other information in the Annual Report

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion, information in the annual report is:

We confirm that we have not 
identified any such inconsistencies or 
misleading statements.

•       materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial 
statements; or
•       apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our 
knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing our audit; or
•       otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any 
inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired during the audit and the 
directors’ statement that they consider the annual report is fair, balanced and 
understandable and whether the annual report appropriately discloses those 
matters that we communicated to the audit committee which we consider should 
have been disclosed.

Paul Hewitson (FCA)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Newcastle Upon Tyne, United Kingdom 

25-May-17

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the Trust’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
the Accounting Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-
financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to 
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF SOUTH WEST YORKSHIRE PARTNERSHIP NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

Respective responsibilities of Accounting Officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities Statement, the Accounting Officer is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). We also comply with International Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK 
and Ireland). Our audit methodology and tools aim to ensure that our quality control procedures are effective, understood and 
applied. Our quality controls and systems include our dedicated professional standards review team.

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors and Board of Directors (“the Boards”) of South West Yorkshire 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, as a body, in accordance with paragraph 4 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Boards those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Boards as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

note £000 £000 £000 £000

Operating Income from continuing operations 5 229,907 226,562 229,818 226,521
Operating Expenses of continuing operations 6 (227,203) (226,149) (227,172) (226,156)
Operating surplus / (deficit) 2,704 413 2,646 365
Finance costs:
Finance income 10 66 90 64 89
PDC Dividends payable (3,110) (2,990) (3,110) (2,990)
NET FINANCE COSTS (3,044) (2,900) (3,046) (2,901)
Gains/(losses) of disposal of assets 13 9 2,743 9 2,743

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR (331) 256 (391) 207

Other comprehensive income
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Impairments 27 (186) (30) (186) (30)
Revaluations 27 465 3,325 465 3,325

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR (52) 3,551 (112) 3,502

The notes numbered 1 to 39 form part of these accounts.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2017

Group Trust

The Group accounts are the consolidation of the Trust (South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust) and the South West Yorkshire Partnership Foundation 
Trust and Other Related Charities  (see note 1.29 for more details).
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 March 

2017
31 March 

2016
31 March 

2017
31 March 

2016
 AS AT 31 March 2017 note £000 £000 £000 £000 
Non-current assets

Intangible assets 14 356 525 356 525
Property, plant and equipment 15 110,693 113,460 110,693 113,460
Investment Property 16 150 150 150 150
Total non-current assets 111,199 114,135 111,199 114,135

Current assets
Inventories 20 166 190 166 190
Trade and other receivables 21 8,634 9,862 8,659 9,865
Non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal 
groups 17 1,768 299 1,768 299

Cash and cash equivalents 22 27,053 27,693 26,373 27,107
Total current assets 37,621 38,044 36,966 37,461

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (18,310) (19,287) (18,283) (19,272)
Provisions 25 (4,307) (5,082) (4,307) (5,082)
Other liabilities 23 (754) (789) (754) (789)
Total current liabilities (23,371) (25,158) (23,344) (25,143)

Total assets less current liabilities 125,449 127,021 124,821 126,453
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 25 (3,243) (4,935) (3,243) (4,935)

Total assets employed 122,206 122,086 121,578 121,518

Financed by
Taxpayers' equity
Public Dividend Capital 43,665 43,492 43,665 43,492
Revaluation reserve 27 18,765 19,452 18,765 19,452
Other reserves 5,220 5,220 5,220 5,220
Income and expenditure reserve 53,928 53,354 53,928 53,354
Others' equity
Charitable fund reserves 628 568 0 0

Total taxpayers' and others' equity 122,206 122,086 121,578 121,518

Signed…………………………………………….
Rob Webster  Chief Executive                                                                         Date 25 May 2017

Group Trust

The financial statements on pages 2 to 41 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on the 25 May 
2017 and signed on their behalf by:
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GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
Public 

Dividend 
Capital

Revaluation 
Reserve

Other 
Reserves

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve Trust Total Charity Reserve Group Total
note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2016 43,492 19,452 5,220 53,354 121,518 568 122,086
Surplus for the year 0 0 0 (95) (95)   (236) (331)   
Transfers between reserves 0 (582) 0 582 0 0 0
Impairments 12 0 (186) 0 0 (186) 0 (186)
Revaluations - property, plant and equipment 27 0 465 0 0 465 0 465
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets 27 0 (384) 0 384 0 0 0
Public dividend capital received 173 0 0 0 173 173
Other reserve movements - charitable funds consolidation 
adjustment

0 0 0 (296) (296) 296 0

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2017 43,665 18,765 5,220 53,928 121,578 628 122,206

Public 
Dividend 

Capital
Revaluation 

Reserve
Other 

Reserves

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve Trust Total Charity Reserve Group Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2015 43,492 16,781 5,220 52,523 118,016 519 118,535
Surplus for the year 0 0 0 441 441 (185) 256
Transfers between reserves 0 (532) 0 532 0 0 0
Impairments 12 0 (30) 0 0 (30) 0 (30)
Revaluations - property, plant and equipment 27 0 3,325 0 0 3,325 0 3,325
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets 27 0 (92) 0 92 0 0 0
Other reserve movements - charitable funds consolidation 
adjustment

0 0 0 (234) (234) 234 0

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2016 43,492 19,452 5,220 53,354 121,518 568 122,086
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TRUST STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
Public 

Dividend 
Capital

Revaluation 
Reserve

Other 
Reserves

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve Trust Total
note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2016 43,492 19,452 5,220 53,354 121,518
Surplus for the year 0 0 0 (391) (391)   
Transfers between reserves 0 (582) 0 582 0
Impairments 12 0 (186) 0 0 (186)
Revaluations - property, plant and equipment 27 0 465 0 0 465
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets 27 0 (384) 0 384 0
Public dividend capital received 173 0 0 0 173
Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2017 43,665 18,765 5,220 53,928 121,578

Public 
Dividend 

Capital
Revaluation 

Reserve
Other 

Reserves

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve Trust Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2015 43,492 16,781 5,220 52,523 118,016
Surplus for the year 0 0 0 207 207
Transfers between reserves 0 (532) 0 532 0
Impairments 12 0 (30) 0 0 (30)
Revaluations - property, plant and equipment 27 0 3,325 0 0 3,325
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets 27 0 (92) 0 92 0
Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2016 43,492 19,452 5,220 53,354 121,518
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

note £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations 2,704 413 2,646 365
Operating surplus/(deficit) 2,704 413 2,646 365
Non-cash income and expense:

Depreciation and amortisation 6 7,010 6,565 7,010 6,565
Net Impairments 6 3,678 (181) 3,678 (181)
Income recognised in respect of capital donations (cash and non-cash) (6) 0
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables 21 (1,547) 869 (1,569) 888
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories 20 24 14 24 14
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 23 (1,372) (1,295) (1,372) (1,295)
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities 23 (35) 38 (35) 38
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 25 (2,467) 1,913 (2,467) 1,913
NHS Charitable Funds - net adjustments for working capital 
movements, non-cash transactions and non-operating cash flows 12 14 0 0

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS 8,007 8,350 7,909 8,307
Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 10 64 89 64 89
Purchase of intangible assets 14 (26) (156) (26) (156)
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (10,059) (11,118) (10,053) (11,118)
Sale of property, plant and equipment and Investment Property 4,299 384 4,299 384
NHS Charitable Funds - net cash flows from investing activities 2 1 0

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities (5,720) (10,800) (5,716) (10,801)
Cash flows from  financing activities

Public dividend capital received  173 0 173 0
PDC Dividend paid (3,100) (3,016) (3,100) (3,016)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities (2,927) (3,016) (2,927) (3,016)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (640) (5,466) (734) (5,510)
Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April 27,693 33,159 27,107 32,617
Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March 27,053 27,693 26,373 27,107

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2017

Group Trust
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies

1 Accounting Policies
NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, is responsible for issuing an accounts
direction to NHS Foundation Trusts under the NHS Act 2006. NHS Improvement has directed that the financial
statements of NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health Group
Accounting Manual (DH GAM) which shall be agreed with the Secretary of State. Consequently, the following
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual
2016/17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in
dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

These accounts are prepared and presented in GBP in round thousand pounds.

1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.2 Acquisitions and discontinued operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they
transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

1.3.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has
made in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

The Trust applies estimates for the pension provision and injury provision based on average life expectancy.  

The holiday pay accrual is based on an actual data collection at 31st March 2017.  A sample of the workforce was 
taken on their outstanding leave and applied across the Trust to calculate the accrual.

The redundancy provision is based on detailed working papers and review as linked to the Trust Annual Plan and 
Cost Improvement Programme (CIP) and the impact of decommissioning intentions by commissioners. 

The estimate of income arising from the achievement of Trust Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 
targets are based upon current performance information and discussions with Commissioners.

The value of property plant and equipment is reviewed each year by an appropriately qualified independent 
valuer. Based upon this review the Trust considered whether or not there is evidence that a material change in 
valuation has occurred and, in which case, the movement is recognised within the Trust Accounts. The Trust 
estate was revalued by the District Valuer as at 31st December 2016 and as a result the revaluation was 
recognised in these accounts. This has been reviewed as at 31st March 2017 and as there has been no material 
movement in the indices no further adjustment has been made.

1.3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

For 2016 / 2017 no key assumptions have been made, or are required, as to future estimation uncertainty further
than those already declared in their separate notes.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

1.4 Revenue (Income)
The main source of revenue (income) for the Trust is from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), which are
government funded commissioners of NHS health and patient care. Revenue is recognised in the period in which
services are provided and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. Where income is received
for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

Income from the sale of non current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met,
and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

1.5 Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period
is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the
following period.

Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible for the NHS Foundation Trust to
identify its share of the underlying liabilities. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for
as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in the scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. Employer's pension cost contributions
are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to operating expenses at the time the
Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.6 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of these goods and services.

Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such
as property, plant and equipment.

1.7 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:
● it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
● it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to, the Trust;
● it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
● the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
● the item has a cost of at least £5,000; or
● Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250,
where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to
have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or
● Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.  All assets are measured subsequently at Valuation.

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of
financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure
that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting
period.  Fair values are determined as follows:
● Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and
● Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost or Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA).

The Trust has obtained the valuation for specialised assets based on the optimised MEA assumption as suggested
in IAS 16 (Property, Plant and Equipment).  In practical terms, this means assessing if:
● the location of the services could be moved to a more cost effective locality;
● the building layout is inefficient, what would the floor space be in order to deliver the same services; and
● the building footprint reduced, could the land area reduce accordingly.

During 2016 / 2017 the periodic revaluation of estate has been completed by the District Valuer. This was a desktop
exercise with the exception of any buildings with material works (major capital schemes) completed since 31 March
2016 .

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses
immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 (Borrowing Costs) for assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and
depreciation commences when they are brought into use.

Subsequent Expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving
from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be
determined reliably.

Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for
recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised.

Other Expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs
and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation 
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner
that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an
asset is the period over which the Trust expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This
is specific to the Trust and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and
residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives or, where shorter, the lease term.

Revaluation Gains and Losses
An increase in carrying value arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an
impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to
the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease is recognised as an impairment
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter,
to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive
income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Impairments 
At each reporting period end, the Trust checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible
non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.  

In accordance with the DH GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of service
potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation
reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to
operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

If there has been an impairment loss, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount, with the loss charged to
the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of other impairments are treated as revaluation
gains.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

Derecognition (Non-current assets held for sale)
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  This condition is regarded as met when:  

●  the sale is highly probable;
● the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition and management is committed to the sale;
● an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
● the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;

● is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification; and
● the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant 
changes made to it.

Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the 'fair value less
costs to sell' falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions
have been met.  Fair value is open market value including alternative uses.

The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying
amount and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. On disposal, the balance for the asset on
the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings. For donated and government-granted assets, a transfer
is made to or from the relevant reserve to the profit/loss on disposal account so that no profit or loss is recognised
in income or expenses. The remaining surplus or deficit in the donated asset or government grant reserve is then
transferred to retained earnings. 

Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for
sale. Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised
when it is scrapped or demolished.

1.8 Intangible assets

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from
the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust; where
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at least £5000.  

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists, research and similar items are
not capitalised as intangible assets.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating
of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and
equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is
capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

● the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
● the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
● the Trust has the ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
● the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or 
use it; and
● the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce
and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequently, intangible assets, other than software licences, are measured at current value in existing use. When
no active market exists, intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in
use where the asset is income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same
manner as for Property, Plant and Equipment. The Trust currently has no intangible assets other than Software
licences which are carried at depreciated historic cost.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or 'fair value less costs to sell'.

Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.

1.9 Investment Property

1.10 Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses as they are incurred.  The Trust currently has no borrowing costs.

1.11 Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the
donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the
condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of
property, plant and equipment.

The Trust has 1 donated asset, this was a piece of equipment purchased by the Trust charity for a ward in 2016/17.

1.12 Revenue government and other grants 
Government grants are grants from government bodies other than revenue from commissioners or NHS bodies for
the provision of services. Revenue grants are treated as deferred income initially and credited to income to match
the expenditure to which they relate.  

1.13 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to
the lessee.  The Trust currently has no finance leases.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated. These separate
components are assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

Trust property, classed as Investment Property under IAS 40 (Investment Property), is valued at fair value (being 
current market value). These assets are revalued annually with any gain / losses actioned through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Trust as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.14 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out (FIFO) cost formula.
This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of inventory.  

1.15 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than
24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management.

1.16 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation, of uncertain timing or
amount, as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 1.37% in real terms
for voluntary early retirement and injury benefit and 2.2% in real terms, for the remaining provisions. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous
contract is considered to exist where the Trust has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Trust has developed a formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the
direct expenditures arsing from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the
restructuring and not associated with ongoing activities of the entity.

1.17 Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability
remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust
is disclosed in the notes to the accounts (Note 25) but is not recognised in the Trust's accounts.

1.18 Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

1.19 EU Emissions Trading Scheme
The Trust is not a member of the EU Emission Trading Scheme in 2016 / 2017.

1.20 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is
disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Trust. A
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. (see note 26.2)

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.21 Financial instruments and financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust's normal purchase, sale or usage
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the
goods or services is made.

De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the
Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement
Financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables.
Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust's loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and
other receivables.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured
subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Other financial liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged
to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, The Trust assesses whether any financial assets are impaired.
Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the
asset's original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a bad debt provision.
The Trust assess financial assets (Non NHS debtors) beyond their due date and, as appropriate, provide for these
through the use of the bad debt provision. Any financial asset deemed irrecoverable and not already provided for is
written down directly.

1.22 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input
tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included
in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.23 Foreign Exchange
The Trust's functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign
currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31
March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the Trust’s surplus/deficit in the
period in which they arise.

1.24 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts
since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. Details of third party assets are given in Note 22 to the accounts
in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury's FReM.

1.25 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities
at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Presentation).

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend capital
dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net
assets of the NHS Foundation Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all
assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets (including lottery funded assets), (ii) average daily
cash balances held with the Government Banking Service (GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits,
excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC
dividend balance receivable or payable.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for
the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the 'pre-audit' version of the annual
accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the
audit of the annual accounts.

1.26 Taxpayers Equity - Other Reserve
The Other Reserve within tax payers equity was created as part of the Trust's predecessor organisation, South
West Yorkshire Mental Health NHS Trust, in 2002. This has remained following authorisation of South West
Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust in 2009 by Monitor.

1.27 Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntaily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts
include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset
for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

1.28 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Foundation Trusts not been
bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). However,
the note on losses and special payments is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which
reports amounts on an accruals basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

Details of losses and special payments are given in note 36 to the accounts.

1.29 Consolidation

NHS Charitable Fund
The NHS Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee to South West Yorkshire Partnership Foundation Trust and
Other Related Charities. The Trust has assessed its relationship to the charitable fund and determined it to be a
subsidiary because the Trust has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the charitable fund so
as to obtain benefits from its activities for itself, its patients or its staff.

The charitable fund's statutory accounts are prepared to 31 March in accordance with the UK Charities Statement of
Recommended Practice (SORP) which is based on UK Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102. On consolidation,
necessary adjustments are made to the charity's assets, liabilities and transactions to:

● recognise and measure them in accordance with the Trust's accounting policies; and
● eliminate intra-group transactions, balances, gains and losses.

Subsidiaries, Associates, Joint Ventures and Joint Operations
The Trust has a single subsidiary, the NHS Charitable Fund, as described above and has entered into no other
arrangements which give rise to associates, joint ventures or joint operations.

Charity Reserve
The Charity Reserve is the balance of funds held by the charity, with both restricted and unrestricted funds. This
reserve is used for the furtherance of the objectives of the charity.
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued)

1.30 Accounting standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted

The DH GAM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016/17.  These standards 
are still subject to HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual adoption, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for implementation 
in 2018/19, and the government implementation date for IFRS 16 still subject to HM Treasury adoption.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - effective 2018 / 2019
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers - effective 2017 / 2018
IFRS 16 Leases - effective 2018 /  2019
IFRIC 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration - effective 2017 / 2018

IFRS 15 will require the Trust to review its contracts, so as to identify any contractual performance obligations to ensure 
that the timing of recognition of this revenue is when the obligations are satisfied.  The Trust will be assessing all its 
contracts in due course.

IFRS 16 removes the distinction between operating and finance leases this means that the current operating leases 
shown in note 9.1 which are currently off balance sheet will be shown in the Trust Balance Sheet.  Further work to 
assess the impact of this and the other standards are ongoing.

1.31 Going Concern
These accounts are prepared on a going concern basis (Note 38). The detail behind this assumption is included in the
notes to the accounts.  This was confirmed by the Trust Board in April 2017.
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2. Pooled budget

The Group & Trust has no pooled budgets.

3. Operating segments

4.    Income generation activities

The Group & Trust does not undertake any significant income generation activities.

5 OPERATING INCOME 
Year Ended Year Ended

5.1 Income from activities comprises 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Total Total 
£000 £000 

NHS Foundation Trusts 381 382
NHS Trusts 0 0
CCGs and NHS England 195,047 193,739
Local Authorities 14,388 16,154
Department of Health - other 0 0
NHS Other 61 104
Non NHS: Other  4,090 2,854

Total income from activities 213,967 213,233

Year Ended Year Ended
5.2 Analysis of income from activities 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Total Total 
£000 £000 

Block Contract income  - Mental Health Services 158,048 155,618
Income from CCGs & NHS England - Community Services 36,476 41,854
Income not from CCG's, NHS England or PCTs - Community 
Services 17,759 14,832

Other non-protected clinical income 1,684 929
Total income from activities 213,967 213,233

Group Group Trust Trust
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

5.3 Other Operating Income 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Total Total Total Total 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Other operating income
Research and development 139 113 139 113
Education and training 3,454 3,169 3,454 3,169
Received from other bodies:  Donation of physical assets (non-cash) 0 0 6 0
Sustainability and Transformation Fund income 2,523 0 2,523 0
Other * 7,410 7,257 7,410 7,295
Income in respect of staff costs where accounted for on a 
gross basis  2,319 2,711 2,319 2,711
NHS Charitable Funds : Incoming Resources excluding 
investment income 95 79 0 0

Total other operating income 15,940 13,329 15,851 13,288

Total Operating Income 229,907 226,562 229,818 226,521

Revenue is mostly from the supply of services.  Revenue from the sale of goods and services is not material.

Group Group Trust Trust
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Total Total Total Total 

* Analysis of Other Operating Income: Other £000 £000 £000 £000 
Estates recharges 364 572 364 572
IT recharges 50 95 50 95
Pharmacy sales 11 72 11 72
Staff contributions to employee benefit schemes 2,759 3,043 2,759 3,043
Catering 252 214 252 214
Property rentals 43 66 43 66
Other 3,931 3,195 3,931 3,233
Total 7,410 7,257 7,410 7,295

Group Group Trust Trust
5.4 Income from activities from Commissioner Requested 
Services and all other services Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Total Total Total Total 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Income from Commissioner Requested Services 213,967 213,233 213,967 213,233
Income from non-Commissioner Requested Services 15,940 13,329 15,851 13,288

Total Income 229,907 226,562 229,818 226,521

5.5 Operating lease income 

The Group & Trust earned no income from operating leases in  2016/17 or in 2015/16.

The Group & Trust has a single operating segment, Healthcare.

Group & Trust

Group & Trust
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6  Operating Expenses Group Group Trust Trust
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

6.1  Operating Expenses Note 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000 £000 £000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts 112 150 112 137
Services from NHS Trusts 0 40 0 14
Services from CCGs and NHS England 0 132 0 132
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 6,255 3,645 6,255 3,845
Employee Expenses - Executive directors 1,494 1,533 1,494 1,533
Employee Expenses - Non-executive directors 147 143 147 143
Employee Expenses - Staff 169,361 169,754 169,412 169,788
NHS Charitable funds - employee expenses 51 34 0 0
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 4,370 3,953 4,370 3,953
Supplies and services - general 3,776 3,844 3,776 3,844
Establishment 6,068 6,349 6,068 6,349
Transport (Business travel only) 171 158 172 158
Transport (other) 581 661 581 661
Premises - Business rates payable to Local Authorities 1,079 624 1,079 624
Premises - other 8,530 9,786 8,530 9,786
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 21.2 6 (15) 6 (15)
Change in provisions discount rate 25 150 (9) 150 (9)
Drug Costs (non inventory drugs only) 577 988 577 988
Drug Inventories consumed 20.1 3,136 3,121 3,136 3,121
Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments 9.1 7,692 6,747 7,692 6,747
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 15 6,845 6,382 6,845 6,382
Amortisation on intangible assets 14 165 183 165 183
Net Impairments of property, plant and equipment 12 3,678 (181) 3,678 (181)
Audit services- statutory audit 62 62 62 62
Audit services - charitable fund accounts 1 1 0 0
Other auditor remuneration 6.2 21 71 21 71
Clinical negligence - amounts payable to the NHSLA (premiums) 340 290 340 290
Legal fees 187 174 187 174
Consultancy costs 621 1,513 621 1,552
Internal audit costs 124 97 124 97
Training, courses and conferences 676 774 676 774
Patient travel 19 26 19 26
Car parking & Security 17 4 17 4
Redundancy 94 3,123 94 3,123
Early retirements 35 31 35 31
Hospitality 79 87 79 87
Publishing 24 49 24 49
Insurance 287 260 287 260
Other services, eg external payroll 1 14 1 14
Losses, ex gratia & special payments 56 5 56 5
Other 34 1,316 284 1,354
NHS Charitable funds: Other resources expended 281 230 0 0
Total Operating Expenses 227,203 226,149 227,172 226,156
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6.2 Other Audit Remuneration
Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor is analysed as follows:
1. The auditing of accounts of any associate of the 
Trust 0 0
2. Audit-related assurance services 0 0
3. Taxation compliance services 0 0
4. All taxation advisory services not falling within item 3 
above; 0 0
5. Internal audit services (only those payable to the 
external auditor) 0 0
6. All assurance services not falling within items 1 to 5 0 0
7. Corporate finance transaction services not falling 
within items 1 to 6 above 0 0
8. All other non-audit services not falling within items 2 
to 7 above 21 71
Total 21 71

6.3 Auditor Liability

There is no limitation on the Auditor's Liability in 2016/17 or in 2015/16.

6.5 Discontinued operations

6.6 Corporation Tax

The Group & Trust has no Corporation Tax expense during the period.

7.  Employee costs and numbers

7.1 Employee costs
Total Permanently 

Employed
Other Total Permanently 

Employed
Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 133,512 119,604 13,908 133,563 119,655 13,908
Social Security Costs 11,596 10,667 929 11,596 10,667 929
Pension costs - defined contribution plans
employers contributions to NHS Pensions 16,181 15,424 757 16,181 15,424 757
Termination benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0
Agency/contract staff 9,819 0 9,819 9,819 0 9,819
NHS charitable funds staff 51 51 0 0 0 0
Employee benefits expense 171,159 145,746 25,413 171,159 145,746 25,413

Of which are capitalised as part of assets 253 253 0 253 253 0
Total Employee benefits excl. capitalised costs 170,906 145,493 25,413 170,906 145,493 25,413

Group Trust

Total Permanently 
Employed

Other Total Permanently 
Employed

Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 137,532 126,876 10,656 137,566 126,910 10,656
Social Security Costs 9,104 8,299 805 9,104 8,299 805
Pension costs - defined contribution plans
employers contributions to NHS Pensions 16,549 15,714 835 16,549 15,714 835
Termination benefits 3,123 3,123 0 3,123 3,123 0
Agency/contract staff 8,419 0 8,419 8,419 0 8,419
NHS charitable funds staff 34 34 0 0 0 0
Employee benefits expense 174,761 154,046 20,715 174,761 154,046 20,715

Of which are capitalised as part of assets 317 317 0 317 317 0

Total Employee benefits excl. capitalised costs 174,444 153,729 20,715 174,444 153,729 20,715

Year Ended Year Ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Medical Consultant 60 60
Middle Grade Doctor 8 5
Director / Chief Executive 6 7
Total 74 72

Group & Trust

As included within the salaries and wages information above, the Trust made payments in 2016/17 of
greater than £100k to the following staff groups: 

The Group & Trust has no late payments of commercial debts in 2016/17 or in 2015/16.

6.4 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998

The Group & Trust has no discontinued operations during the period.

Year Ended 31 March 2016

Year Ended 31 March 2017
Group Trust

Year Ended 31 March 2017

Year Ended 31 March 2016
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7.  Employee costs and numbers (continued) Group Trust

7.2 Average number of people employed
Total Permanently 

Employed
Other Total Permanently 

Employed
Other

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Medical and dental 155 120 35 155 120 35
Administration and estates 784 728 56 782 726 56
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 900 857 43 900 857 43
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,218 1,203 15 1,218 1,203 15
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 662 632 30 662 632 30
Social care staff 0 0 0 0 0 0
Agency and Contract staff 112 0 112 112 0 112
Bank Staff 180 0 180 180 0 180
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 4,011 3,540 471 4,009 3,538 471

Of which are engaged on capital projects 4 4 0 4 4 0

Group Trust

Total Permanently 
Employed

Other Total Permanently 
Employed

Other

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Medical and dental 154 123 31 154 123 31
Administration and estates 890 822 68 888 820 68
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 1,015 977 38 1,015 977 38
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,366 1,344 22 1,366 1,344 22
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 663 631 32 663 631 32
Social care staff 0 0 0 0 0 0
Agency and Contract staff 102 0 102 102 0 102
Bank Staff 218 0 218 218 0 218
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 4,408 3,897 511 4,406 3,895 511

Of which are engaged on capital projects 6 6 0 6 6 0

Unit of measure is whole time equivalent (WTE).

7.3  Staff sickness absence 
Year Ended Year Ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Number Number

Total days lost 44,714 46,852
Total staff years 3,997 4,129
Average working days lost 11.2 11.3

7.4 Early retirements due to ill health

The source for disclosure of this information is from the central electronic payroll records held at the Department of Health.  The figures quoted are based on a 
reference period January to December, i.e. for 2016-17 January 2016 - December 2016.  

During the year there were 7 early retirements from the NHS Foundation Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (6 during 2015/16).  The estimated additional 
pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £401k (2015/16 £337k).  The cost of these ill-health retirements is borne by the NHS Business Services 
Authority - Pensions Division.

Year Ended 31 March 2017

Year Ended 31 March 2016Year Ended 31 March 2016

Year Ended 31 March 2017

This information although based on Trust data is supplied for the accounts by the Department of Health.

Group & Trust
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7.  Employee costs and numbers (continued)

7.5 Staff exit packages

61 redundancies were actioned by the Trust during the accounting period. The details of these are disclosed below.

Group & Trust

Exit package cost band

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed

Total 
number of 

exit 
packages by 

cost band

Total cost of 
exit packages

Number £'000 Number £'000 Number £'000
Less than £10,001 12 77 0 0 12 77
£10,001 - £25,000 18 305 0 0 18 305
£25,001 - £50,000 17 594 0 0 17 594
£50,001 - £100,000 11 837 0 0 11 837
£100,001 - £150,000 1 132 0 0 1 132
£150,001 - £200,000 2 320 0 0 2 320

Total number of exit packages by type 61 2,265 0 0 61 2,265

Group & Trust

Exit package cost band

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed

Total 
number of 

exit 
packages by 

cost band

Total cost of 
exit packages

Number £'000 Number £'000 Number £'000
Less than £10,001 7 29 22 80 29 109
£10,001 - £25,000 8 124 1 11 9 135
£25,001 - £50,000 6 215 0 0 6 215
£50,001 - £100,000 7 545 0 0 7 545
£100,001 - £150,000 2 248 0 0 2 248
£150,001 - £200,000 2 317 0 0 2 317

Total number of exit packages by type 32 1,478 23 91 55 1,569

The number of other departures agreed include 0 contractual payments made to individuals in lieu of notice. (23 in 2015/16)

Exit Packages: other (non-
compulsory) departure 
payments 

Payments agreed Total value of 
agreements Payments agreed Total value of 

agreements

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

Number £'000 Number £'000

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0
0 0 23 91

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 23 91
of which

0 0 0 0

Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or 
court orders
Non-Contractual payments requiring HMT approval

non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval 
made to individuals where the payment value was 
more than 12 months' of their annual salary

The exit packages here were made either under nationally agreed arrangements or local arrangements approved by the Remuneration and 
Terms of Service Committee.

31 March 2016

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement 
contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual 
costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service 
contractual costs

31 March 2017
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8. Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pensions Schemes. Details of
the benefits payable and rules of the schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers,
General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and
Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of
the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a
defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially
from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM
requires that "the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in
intervening years". An outline of these follows:

a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the
Government Actuary's Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial
assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial
data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on the valuation
data as at 31 March 2016, updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data.
In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19 (Employee Benefits),
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which
forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained
from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the
scheme (taking into account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates
payable by employees and employers.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the 
year ending 31 March 2012.

The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State
for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and
appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer
contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer
cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or
contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this 'employer
cost cap' assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined
by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
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8. Pension costs (continued)
c) Scheme provisions 

National Employment Savings Trust (NEST)

9. Operating leases

9.1 As lessee

There are no contingent rents or sublease payments due or received.

Year Ended Year Ended
Operating lease payments 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Minimum lease payments 7,692 6,747
7,692 6,747

Year Ended Year Ended
Future minimum lease payments due 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000
Payable:
Not later than one year 4,926 5,198
Between one and five years 13,324 14,069
After five years 21,595 23,195
Total 39,845 42,462

Group & Trust

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only,
and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before
these benefits can be obtained:

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump
sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules.  This new provision is known as "pension commutation".

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on
changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the
Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used to replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Vehicles are on a Purchasing and Supply Agency (PASA) NHS master lease agreement with typically three year terms.

Property is on commercial arms length contracts. At the end of the accounting period there were 34 lease properties, all
with different Landlords. The rental periods range from 1 to 20 years. 7 leases relating to LIFT properties in Barnsley have
been included from 2013/14. These expire at the higher end of the rental timeframe.

The 1995/2008 scheme is a “final salary” scheme.  Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and 
of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable
pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual
pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of
fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in
service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The
full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the statement of comprehensive income at the time the
Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC's run by the
Scheme's approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

The Group & Trust has three types of Operating Lease. These are for Photocopiers, Vehicles and Property.
Photocopiers are on an Crown Commercial Services (CCS) framework agreement with the contract negotiated on a five
year lease term against the agreement for all print devices.

From 1 April 2015 there are two separate pension schemes covering NHS workers, the 2015 NHS Pension Scheme and
the 1995/2008 NHS Pension Scheme.

The 2015 NHS Pension Scheme, effective 1 April 2015, is a "Career Average Revalued Earnings" (CARE) scheme. From
the above date, annual pensions are normally based on 1/54th of a member's CARE for each year of service. CARE is
defined as a member's average earnings in a financial year, and is uplifted annually by a percentage determined by the
Treasury. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations are subject to exactly the same
arrangements as all members who are directly employed by the NHS, with effect from the above date.

In 2016/17 the Trust continued its participation of the National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) which is a defined
contribution workplace pension scheme. The scheme is un use for a small number of staff as an alternative to the NHS
Pension Scheme. Employer and employee contributions for the year totalled £28k (2015/16 £20k). NEST is a scheme set
up by government to enable employers to meet their pension duties and is free for employers to use. Members pay a
1.8% charge on contributions plus an annual management charge of 0.3%.
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Group Group Trust Trust
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

10. Finance Income 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest on loans and receivables 64 89 64 89
NHS Charitable funds: investment income 2 1 0 0

Total 66 90 64 89

The Group & Trust has no interest on impaired financial assets included in finance income in 2016/17 or in 2015/16.

11.  Finance Costs - interest expense

The Group & Trust incurred no finance costs in 2016/17 or in 2015/16.

12. Impairment of assets (Property, Plant, and Equipment & intangibles) 

Net Impairment Impairments Reversals Net Impairment Impairments Reversals
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Impairments charged to operating surplus / 
deficit:
Changes in market price 3,678 4,464 (786) (181) 364 (545) 
Total Impairments charged to operating 
surplus / deficit 3,678 4,464 (786) (181) 364 (545)

Loss as a result of catastrophe 725 725 0 0 0 0
Other 471 471 0 0 0 0
Changes in market price (1,010) 867 (1,877) 30 30 0
Total Impairments charged to the revaluation 
reserve 186 2,063 (1,877) 30 30 0

Total Net Impairments  3,864 6,527 (2,663) (151) 394 (545)

In 2016/17 the Trust undertook a desktop revaluation of the Estate, resulting in a net charge of £3,678k. 
In 2016/17 there was a fire in one unit which led to an impairment charge for the ward.

13. Gains/losses on disposal/derecognition of assets

Year Ended Year Ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000
Gains on disposal/derecognition of land and buildings 19 26
Gains on disposal/derecognition of investment properties 0 2,745
Gain on disposal/derecognition of assets held for sale 31 0
Losses on disposal/derecognition of land and buildings 0 (8) 
Losses on disposal/derecognition of other property, plant and equip (41) (13) 
Losses on disposal/derecognition of investment properties 0 (7) 

Total gains/(losses) on disposal of assets 9 2,743

Group & Trust

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Group & Trust
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14  Intangible assets

14.1  Intangible assets 2016/17 Total 
Software  
licences

(purchased)

£000 £000 
Gross cost at 1st April 2016 1,989 1,989

Additions - purchased 26 26
Disposals / derecognition (95) (95)

Gross Cost at 31 March 2017 1,920 1,920

Amortisation at 1st April 2016 1,464 1,464
Provided during the year 165 165
Disposals / derecognition (65) (65)

Amortisation at  31 March 2017 1,564 1,564

Net book value 
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2017 356 356

NBV total at 31 March 2017 356 356

14.2  Intangible assets 2015/16

Total 
Software  
licences

(purchased)

£000 £000 
Gross cost at 1st April 2015 1,833 1,833

Additions - purchased 156 156
Gross Cost at 31 March 2016 1,989 1,989

Amortisation at 1st April 2015 1,281 1,281
Provided during the year 183 183

Amortisation at  31 March 2016 1,464 1,464

Net book value 
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2016 525 525

NBV total at 31 March 2016 525 525

14.3  Intangible assets 

No Intangible Assets were acquired by Government Grant.

Group & Trust

Group & Trust

Intangible Assets are all purchased software licences and are depreciated
over the life of the licence which is currently no more than 5 years. There has
been no revaluation of these assets.
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15.1 Property, plant and equipment 31 March 2017

Group

Total Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

Payments On 
Account

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1st April 2016 128,634 18,169 95,807 2,481 5,073 822 4,446 1,836

Additions - purchased 10,432 0 2,100 7,239 270 0 823 0
Additions - donations of physical assets (non-cash) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve (note 12) (2,063) 0 (2,063) 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to operating expenses 413 413 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to the revaluation reserve 1,877 0 1,877 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 4,035 (4,035) 0 0 0 0
Revaluations (5,439) 465 (5,904) 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale (2,924) (2,089) (835) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (248) (50) (180) 0 (18) 0 0 0

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2017 130,682 16,908 94,837 5,685 5,325 822 5,269 1,836

Accumulated depreciation at 1st April 2016 15,174 70 7,962 0 3,367 677 2,371 727
Provided during the year 6,845 0 5,751 0 342 50 538 164
Impairments charged to operating expenses( note 12) 4,464 0 4,464 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to operating expenses (note 1 (373) 0 (373) 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations (5,904) 0 (5,904) 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale (100) 0 (100) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (117) 0 (110) 0 (7) 0 0 0

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2017 19,989 70 11,690 0 3,702 727 2,909 891
Net book value 

Net book value at 31 March 2017
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2017 110,693 16,838 83,147 5,685 1,623 95 2,360 945
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2017 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NBV total at 31 March 2017 110,693 16,838 83,147 5,685 1,623 95 2,360 945

Trust
Total Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

Payments On 
Account

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1st April 2016 128,634 18,169 95,807 2,481 5,073 822 4,446 1,836

Additions - purchased 10,426 0 2,100 7,239 264 0 823 0
Additions - donations of physical assets (non-cash) 6 0 0 0 6 0 0 0
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve (note 12) (2,063) 0 (2,063) 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to operating expenses 413 413 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to the revaluation reserve 1,877 0 1,877 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 4,035 (4,035) (396) 0 396 0
Revaluations (5,439) 465 (5,904) 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale (2,924) (2,089) (835) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (248) (50) (180) 0 (18) 0 0 0

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2017 130,682 16,908 94,837 5,685 4,929 822 5,665 1,836

Accumulated depreciation at 1st April 2016 15,174 70 7,962 0 3,367 677 2,371 727
Provided during the year 6,845 0 5,751 0 342 50 538 164
Impairments charged to operating expenses( note 12) 4,464 0 4,464 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to operating expenses (note 1 (373) 0 (373) 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations (5,904) 0 (5,904) 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale (100) 0 (100) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (117) 0 (110) 0 (7) 0 0 0

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2017 19,989 70 11,690 0 3,702 727 2,909 891
Net book value 

Net book value at 31 March 2017
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2017 110,687 16,838 83,147 5,685 1,221 95 2,756 945
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2017 6 0 0 0 6 0 0 0

NBV total at 31 March 2017 110,693 16,838 83,147 5,685 1,227 95 2,756 945

Accumulated depreciation on land relates to historic impairments recognised through operating expenditure.

Included within buildings are improvements to buildings which are not owned by the Trust (Leasehold). These assets are not revalued in the year and hence not all accumulated depreciation has been 
reversed out upon revaluation.
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15.2 Property, plant and equipment 31 March 2016

Group
Total Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

Payments On 
Account

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1st April 2015 117,663 18,427 87,087 1,936 5,069 861 2,753 1,530

Additions - purchased 11,133 0 1,863 7,220 51 0 1,693 306
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve (note 12) (30) (30) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 6,675 (6,675) 0 0 0 0
Revaluations 473 0 473 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale (300) (130) (170) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (305) (98) (121) 0 (47) (39) 0 0

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2016 128,634 18,169 95,807 2,481 5,073 822 4,446 1,836

Accumulated depreciation at 1st April 2015 11,906 (0) 5,572 0 3,052 625 2,066 591
Provided during the year 6,382 0 5,503 0 362 76 305 136
Impairments charged to operating expenses( note 12) 364 70 294 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to operating income (note 12 (545) 0 (545) 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations (2,852) 0 (2,852) 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale (1) 0 (1) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (80) 0 (9) 0 (47) (24) 0 0

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2016 15,174 70 7,962 0 3,367 677 2,371 727
Net book value 

Net book value at 31 March 2016
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2016 113,460 18,099 87,845 2,481 1,706 145 2,075 1,109
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2016 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NBV total at 31 March 2016 113,460 18,099 87,845 2,481 1,706 145 2,075 1,109

Trust
Total Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Assets under 
Construction & 

Payments On 
Account

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or valuation at 1st April 2015 117,663 18,427 87,087 1,936 5,069 861 2,753 1,530

Additions - purchased 11,133 0 1,863 7,220 51 0 1,693 306
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve (note 12) (30) (30) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 6,675 (6,675) 0 0 0 0
Revaluations 473 0 473 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale (300) (130) (170) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (305) (98) (121) 0 (47) (39) 0 0

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2016 128,634 18,169 95,807 2,481 5,073 822 4,446 1,836

Accumulated depreciation at 1st April 2015 11,906 (0) 5,572 0 3,052 625 2,066 591
Provided during the year 6,382 0 5,503 0 362 76 305 136
Impairments charged to operating expenses( note 12) 364 70 294 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to operating income (note 12 (545) 0 (545) 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations (2,852) 0 (2,852) 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale (1) 0 (1) 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals (80) 0 (9) 0 (47) (24) 0 0

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2016 15,174 70 7,962 0 3,367 677 2,371 727
Net book value 

Net book value at 31 March 2016
NBV - Owned at 31 March 2016 113,460 18,099 87,845 2,481 1,706 145 2,075 1,109
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2016 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NBV total at 31 March 2016 113,460 18,099 87,845 2,481 1,706 145 2,075 1,109

Accumulated depreciation on land relates to historic impairments recognised through operating expenditure.

Included within buildings are improvements to buildings which are not owned by the Trust (Leasehold). These assets are not revalued in the year and hence not all accumulated depreciation has been 
reversed out upon revaluation.
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15.3 Economic Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
Min Life Max Life

Years Years
Land 
Buildings excluding dwellings 0 90
Plant & Machinery 0 10
Transport Equipment 0 4
Information Technology 0 5
Furniture & Fittings 0 9

15.4 Finance Leases

The Group & Trust hold no finance lease assets.

Group & Trust
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16 Investments

16.1  Investments - Carrying Value
Property* Property*

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

At Carrying Value
Balance at Beginning of Period 150                  340

Fair value gains (taken to I&E) 0 0
Disposals 0 (190)

Balance at End of Period 150                  150                  

* The Group & Trust has no other investments.

16.2 Investment Property expenses

16.3 Investments in subsidiaries

The Trust is the Corporate Trustee for the NHS Charity, South West Yorkshire Partnership Foundation Trust
and Other Related Charities, registered charity number 1055931 by the Charity Commission for England and Wales.  
The Charity operates for the benefit of the Service Users of the Trust.  The Charity is fully consolidated into the Trust 
accounts.

The registered office is Fieldhead Hospital, Ouchthorpe Lane, Wakefield, WF1 3SP.

The following are summary statements before group eliminations which have been consolidated into these
accounts in 2016/17.

Summary Statement of Financial Activities
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000
Total Incoming Resources 400 318
Staff Costs (51) (34)
Resources expended with bodies outside the NHS (288) (235)
Net movement in funds 61 49

Summary Statement of Financial Position 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 680 586
Trade and other receivables 0 0
Trade and other payables (52) (18)
Net Assets 628 568
Other restricted income funds 433 338
Unrestricted income funds 195 230
Total Charitable Funds 628 568

Group & Trust

Estate which the Trust Board has declared surplus to requirements is recorded as investment property under 
IFRS and its value is updated annually to the current market value as part of the wider estate revaluation.  

Restricted income funds include the linked charities of Creative Minds and the Mental Health Museum.  The 
majority of the restricted funds relate to Creative Minds (£431k).

The Group & Trust incurred £0k on investment property expenses in 2016/17 (£2k  in 2015/16).  These related 
to the potential sale of the properties.
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17. Non-current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups

17.1 Non-current assets held for sale

Total PPE: Land PPE: Buildings
£000 £000 £000

NBV of non-current assets for sale at 1 April 2016 299 130 169
Plus assets classified as available for sale in the year 2,824 2,089 735
Less assets sold in year (1,355) (506) (849)
NBV of non-current assets for sale at 31 March 2017 1,768 1,713 55

Total PPE: Land PPE: Buildings
£000 £000 £000

NBV of non-current assets for sale at 1 April 2015 0 0 0
Plus assets classified as available for sale in the year 299 130 169
Less assets sold in year 0 0 0
NBV of non-current assets for sale at 31 March 2016 299 130 169

The assets are held at the lower of costs to sell rather than fair value in use, with the expected recoverable amount being higher   
value stated in the accounts.

17.2 Liabilities in disposal groups

The Group & Trust has no liabilities in disposal groups in 2016/17 or in 2015/16.

18.   Other assets

The Group & Trust has no other assets in 2016/17 or in 2015/16.

19. Other Financial Assets

The Group & Trust has no other financial assets in 2016/17 or in 2015/16.

20. Inventories

20.1. Inventory Movements
Total Drugs Other
£000 £000 £000

Carrying Value at 1 April 2016 190 69 121
Additions 3,475 3,149 326
Inventories recognised in expenses (3,499) (3,136) (363)
Carrying Value at 31 March 2017 166 82 84

Total Drugs Other
£000 £000 £000

Carrying Value at 1 April 2015 204 71 133
Additions 3,375 3,119 256
Inventories recognised in expenses (3,389) (3,121) (268)
Carrying Value at 31 March 2016 190 69 121

Group & Trust

Other Inventories is stock held at the Community Equipment Stores (Loans Service) in Barnsley.

Group & Trust

Under the Trust accounting policies, inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in first out basis. 

Group & Trust

The assets relate to 2 properties which are expected to complete sales in 2017/18. One sale is agreed and is expected to 
complete in Q3 2017/18 following planning permission. The other asset is been actively marketed and expect to complete by Q3 
2017/18.
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21.  Trade and other receivables

21.1 Trade and other receivables Group Group Trust Trust
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Current

NHS Receivables 2,138 2,623 2,138 2,623
Receivables due from NHS charities – Revenue 0 0 25 3
Other receivables with related parties 1,285 1,368 1,285 1,368
Provision for impaired receivables (98) (92) (98) (92)
Prepayments 1,015 892 1,015 892
Accrued income 3,244 1,332 3,244 1,332
VAT receivable 380 302 380 302
Other receivables - revenue 670 662 670 662
Other receivables - capital 0 2,775 0 2,775
NHS Charitable funds: Trade and other receivables 0 0 0 0

TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 8,634 9,862 8,659 9,865

The Group & Trust have no non current trade and other receivables as at 31 March 2017 (£0 (zero) as at 31 March 2016).

21.2  Provision for impairment of receivables
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Balance at start of period 92 107
Increase in provision 48 65
Amounts utilised 0 0
Unused amounts reversed (42) (80)

Balance at 31 March 98 92

21.3 Analysis of impaired receivables
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 
Ageing of impaired receivables

0 - 30 days 21 17
30-60 Days 5 1
60-90 days 1 8
90- 180 days 15 20
over 180 days 56 46

Total 98 92

Group Group Trust Trust
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Ageing of non-impaired receivables past their due date £000 £000 £000 £000 
0 - 30 days 770 1,840 1,270 1,840
30-60 Days 207 221 208 221
60-90 days 101 195 99 195
90- 180 days 146 103 143 103
over 180 days 149 70 154 70

Total 1,373 2,429 1,874 2,429

21.4   Finance lease receivables

Group Group Trust Trust
22. Cash and cash equivalents 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1st April 27,693 33,159 27,107 32,617
Net change in year (640) (5,467) (734) (5,510)

Balance at 31 March 27,053 27,693 26,373 27,107

Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand 823 699 143 113
Cash with the Government Banking Service 26,230 26,994 26,230 26,994

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 27,053 27,693 26,373 27,107

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows 27,053 27,693 26,373 27,107

Third party assets (Patient Monies) held by the Trust

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

Bank balances 176 213
Monies on deposit 93 79

Total third party assets 269 292

The Group & Trust has no finance lease receivables.

Third party assets have been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.

Group & Trust

Group & Trust

Group & Trust

The Trust assess financial assets (Non NHS debtors including salary overpayments) beyond their due date and, as appropriate, provide for these through the use of the  
bad debt provision.
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23. Trade and other payables

23.1 Trade and other payables Group Group Trust Trust
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Current 

NHS payables - capital 0 87 0 87
NHS payables - revenue 2,179 1,054 2,179 1,054
Amounts due to other related parties - revenue 2,299 2,625 2,299 2,625
Other trade payables - capital 1,158 698 1,158 698
Other trade payables - revenue 2,737 2,751 2,737 2,751
Social Security costs 2,245 1,894 2,245 1,894
Other taxes payable 1,367 1,480 1,367 1,480
Other payables 109 87 109 87
Accruals 6,159 8,576 6,159 8,576
PDC dividend payable 30 20 30 20
NHS Charitable funds: Trade and other payables 27 15 0 0

TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18,310 19,287 18,283 19,272

The Group & Trust had no non current trade and other payables as at 31 March 2017 (£0 (zero) as at 31 March 2016).

23.2  Better Payment Practice Code

31 March 2017 31 March 2017
Number £000

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 37,235 97,271
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target 35,537 93,256
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 95% 96%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 760 11,968
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 682 10,810
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 90% 90%

31 March 2016 31 March 2016
Number £000

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 37,378 61,027
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target 35,842 56,473
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 96% 93%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 760 11,898
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 697 10,614
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 92% 89%

Better Payment Practice Code - measure of 
compliance

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date
or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

Group & Trust
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23.3 Early retirements detail included in NHS payables 

The Group & Trust had no early retirement costs included in payables as at 31 March 2017 (£0 (zero) as at 31 March 2016).

23.4 Other liabilities

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000 

Current 
Deferred Income 754 789
TOTAL OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 754 789
Non-current
Deferred Income 0 0
TOTAL OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 0 0

23.5 Other Financial Liabilities

The Group & Trust had no other financial liabilities as at 31 March 2017 (£0 (zero) as at 31 March 2016).

24. Borrowings

The Group & Trust had no borrowings as at 31 March 2017 (£0 (zero) as at 31 March 2016).

Group & Trust



page 34

South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts 2016/17

25.   Provisions

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions relating to other staff 59 58 574 558
Legal claims 29 88 706 1,048
Redundancy 4,161 4,880 490 1,940
Other

Injury Benefit 58 56 1,473 1,389
Other 0 0 0 0

Total 4,307 5,082 3,243 4,935

Total Pensions relating to 
other staff

Legal claims Redundancy Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2016 10,017 616 1,136 6,820 1,445
Change in the discount rate 150 42 0 0 108
Arising during the year 4,383 34 251 4,062 36
Utilised during the year (accruals) (44) (15) (14) 0 (15)
Utilised during the year (cash) (2,382) (44) (31) (2,264) (43)
Reversed unused (4,574) 0 (607) (3,967) 0
At 31 March 2017 7,550 633 735 4,651 1,531

Expected timing of cash flows:
Not later than one year; 4,307 59 29 4,161 58
Later than one year and not later than five years; 1,661 234 706 490 231
Later than five years (see note 31.3). 1,582 340 0 0 1,242
Total 7,550 633 735 4,651 1,531

26.  Contingencies

26.1   Contingent liabilities

The Group & Trust had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2017 (none as at 31 March 2016).

26.2   Contingent assets

The Group & Trust had 1 contingent asset as at 31 March 2017 (1 as at 31 March 2016).

The Group & Trust contingent asset relates to the expected sale of non Trust estate for which the Trust is entitled to a proportion of the 
land receipt. 

£4,682K is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2017 (£2,943k at 31 March 2016) in respect of
clinical negligence liabilities of the NHS Trust.

Pensions relating to former directors and staff - these provisions relate to the expected pension payments to former employees. The
total value is based upon a standard life expectancy of the former employee. Should this life expectancy be different the value and
timing of the payments will be affected. The value of the pension payment is also affected by annual pension increases, determined by
the NHS Pensions Agency.

Legal claims - these provisions relate to public and employer's liability claims. The value and timing of the payments is uncertain until
the claims have been fully investigated and any settlements agreed.

Other - injury benefits are payable by the NHS Pensions Agency. The total value of the provision is based upon a standard life
expectancy of the former employee. Should this life expectancy not be achieved the value and timing of the payments will be affected.
The value of the pension payment is also affected by annual pension increases, determined by the NHS Pensions Agency.

Redundancy - This provision, totalling £4.7m, relates to approximately 142 posts during 2017 / 2018 and a further 13 redundancies
during 2018 / 2019. These are estimates based upon the Trust Annual Plan and Cost Improvement Programme and decommissioning
intentions of commissioners. 

Other - There is a £500k provision in relation to a potential fine relating to Information Governance breaches

Group & Trust
Non-current

Group & Trust
Current

Group & Trust
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27. Revaluation reserve

Total 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Revaluation 
Reserve -

property, plant 
and equipment

£000 £000 
As at 1 April 2016 19,452 19,452
Impairments (186) (186)
Revaluations 465 465
Transfers to other reserves (582) (582)
Asset disposals (384) (384)
Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2017 18,765 18,765

£000 £000 
As at 1 April 2015 16,781 16,781
Impairments (30) (30)
Revaluations 3,325 3,325
Transfers to other reserves (532) (532)
Asset disposals (92) (92)
Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2016 19,452 19,452

28. Finance lease obligations

29.   Finance lease commitments

30.  Capital commitments

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

Property, plant and equipment 10,726 1,787
Intangible assets 0 0
Total 10,726 1,787

The Group & Trust had no finance lease obligations.

The Group & Trust had not entered into any new finance leases during the year.

Contracted capital commitments at the year end not otherwise included in these financial statements:

Group & Trust

Group & Trust

These capital commitments relate to on-going developments for the non-secure unit at the Fieldhead site 
with the main Trust Contractor. Work commenced in July 2016 and is currently expected to complete in 
January 2019.

The transfers to other reserves relate to revaluation balances for assets that were 
disposed of in year and have been transferred to the Income and Expenditure reserve.
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31.   Financial Instruments

31.1   Financial assets Group Group Trust Trust

Total
Loans and 

receivables Total
Loans and 

receivables
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Assets as per SoFP
Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets (at 31 
March 2017) 3,995 3,995 4,020 4,020
Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in hand at 31 March 2017) 26,373 26,373 26,373 26,373
NHS Charitable funds: financial assets (at 31 March 2017) 680 680 0 0

Total at 31 March 2017 31,048 31,048 30,393 30,393

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets (at 31 
March 2016) 7,336 7,336 7,339 7,339
Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in hand at 31 March 2016) 27,107 27,107 27,107 27,107
NHS Charitable funds: financial assets (at 31 March 2016) 586 586 0 0

Total at 31 March 2016 35,029 35,029 34,446 34,446

There is no difference between carrying amount and fair value

31.2   Financial liabilities
Group Group Trust Trust

Total
Other financial 

liabilities Total
Other financial 

liabilities
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Liabilities as per SoFP
Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets (31 March 
2017) 14,641 14,641 14,641 14,641
Provisions under contract (at 31 March 2017) 7,550 7,550 7,550 7,550
NHS Charitable funds: financial liabilities (at 31 March 2017) 27 27 0 0

Total at 31 March 2017 22,218 22,218 22,191 22,191

Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets (31 March 
2016) 19,272 19,272 19,272 19,272

Provisions under contract (at 31 March 2016) 10,017 10,017 10,017 10,017
NHS Charitable funds: financial liabilities (at 31 March 2016) 15 15 0 0

Total at 31 March 2016 29,304 29,304 29,289 29,289

31.3 Maturity of Financial liabilities Group Group Trust Trust
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000
In one year or less 19,029 24,369 19,002 24,354
In more than one year but not more than two years 625 2,642 625 2,642
In more than two years but not more than five years 982 1,292 982 1,292
In more than five years (see note 25) 1,582 1,001 1,582 1,001
Total 22,218 29,304 22,191 29,289
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32.  Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures) requires disclosure of the role that
financial instruments have had during the year in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking
its activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with Clinical
Commissioning Groups and the way those Clinical Commissioning Groups are financed, the Trust is not
exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments play a much
more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial
reporting standards mainly apply. The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to
change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters
defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Board of
Directors.  Trust treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors.

Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has
negligible exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

Interest rate risk
The Trust currently has no long term borrowing. 

Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2017 are in income from
customers, as disclosed in the Trade and other receivables note.

Liquidity risk
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with clinical commissioning group's, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from
internally generated resources; future capital expenditure will be funded in the same way or from funds
obtained within its prudential borrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity
risks.

33.  Events after the reporting period
The Group & Trust has no events after the reporting period

34.   Private Finance Initiative contracts
The Group & Trust has no Private Finance Initiative Contracts.
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35.  Related party transactions

35.1 Related Party Transactions
Income Expenditure

£000 £000
Value of transactions with other related parties in 2016/17

Department of Health 0 0
Other NHS Bodies 204,625 10,524
Other   0 0
Total 204,625 10,524

Income Expenditure
Value of transactions with other related parties in 2015/16 £000 £000

Department of Health 0 28
Other NHS Bodies 200,703 10,529
Other   0 0
Total 200,703 10,557

35.2 Related Party Balances
Receivables Payables 

£000 £000
Value of transactions with other related parties in 2016/17

Department of Health 0 30
Other NHS Bodies 3,957 2,941
Other   0 0
Total 3,957 2,971

Receivables Payables 
Value of transactions with other related parties in 2015/16 £000 £000

Department of Health 0 23
Other NHS Bodies 2,522 2,328
Other   0 0
Total 2,522 2,351

During the year Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them have undertaken
material transactions with South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, these are noted below.

Rob Webster, Chief Executive. Independent Chair of Panel for assessing clinical commissioning group learning disability
commissioning (NHS England), Visiting Professor, Leeds Beckett University, Honorary Fellow, Queen's Nursing Institute,
Honorary Fellow, Royal College of General Practitioners, Lead Chief Executive, West Yorkshire and Harrogate
Sustainability and Transformation Plan.

Ian Black, Chair of the Trust  is a Non-Executive Director of Benenden Healthcare Society, Chair Benenden Wellbeing 
Limited, Non-Executive Director,Seedrs (with small shareholding), Chair, Family Fund, Chair, Keegan and Pennykidd 
(insurance brokers), Trustee and Director, NHS Providers, Chair, Finance and General Purposes Committee, NHS 
Providers, Director, Lightcliffe Golf Club, Driving Member, Whiteknights, a charity delivering blood and organs on behalf of 
hospitals in West and North Yorkshire and has a private shareholding in Lloyds Banking Group PLC.

Group & Trust

Group & Trust

Dawn Stephenson, Director of Corporate Development is a voluntary Trustee for Kirklees Active Leisure and Governor,
Membership Council, Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust (and member of Remuneration and Terms of
Service sub-committee)

Sean Rayner, District Service Director, Barnsley and Wakefield is a Trustee of Barnsley Premier Leisure. Barnsley Premier
Leisure provided services to the Trust in 2016/17 to the value of £243,832 (2015/16 £179,977).

Laurence Campbell, Non Executive Director is Director, Trustee and Treasurer, Kirklees Citizen's Advice Bureau and Law
Centre, includes NHS complaints advocacy for Kirklees Council.

Rachel Court, Non Executive Director is Director, Leek United Building Society, Director, Leek United Financial Services
Ltd, Director, Invesco Perpetual Life Ltd, Director, Invesco UK Ltd, Chair, PRISM, Governor Calderdale College, Magistrate
and Chair, NHS Pension Board.

Charlotte Dyson, Non Executive Director is Independent marketing consultant, Beyondmc (marketing consultancy work for
Royal College of Surgeons, Edinburgh), Lay Chair, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust Advisory Appointments Committee
for consultants (occasional), Lay member, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust Clinical Excellence Awards Committee, Lay
member, Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Lay member, Advisory Committee Clinical Excellence Awards, Yorkshire
and Humber Sub-Committee and Lay member, Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh, MRSC Part B OSCE.

Julie Fox, Non Executive Director is Trustee and Advisory Board member, Peer Power (social justice organisation
supporting young people), Director, Just Us Associates and daughter appointed as Independent Hospital Manager.

Christopher Jones, Non Executive Director is Director and part owner, Chris Jones Consultancy Ltd and Trustee, Children's
Food Trust.
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

Total number 
of cases

Total value of 
cases

Total number 
of cases

Total value of 
cases

Numbers £000s Numbers £000s
Losses:
1. Losses of cash due to:

a. theft, fraud etc 1 0 1 0
b. overpayment of salaries etc 2 0 0 0
c. other causes 3 1 4 0

2. Fruitless payments and constructive losses 0 0 0 0
3. Bad debts and claims abandoned 8 15 0 0
4. Damages to buildings, property etc. (including stores losses) 0 0 0 0
Total Losses 14 16 5 0
Special Payments
5. Compensation under legal obligation 0 0 0 0
6. Extra contractual to contractors 0 0 0 0
7. Ex gratia payments

a. loss of personal effects 50 6 37 4
d. other negligence and injury 0 0 4 1
e. other employment payments 1 34 0 0

8. Special severance payments 0 0 0 0
9. Extra statutory and regulatory 0 0 0 0
Total Special Payments 51 40 41 5

Total Losses and Special Payments 65 56 46 5

All amounts are reported on an accruals basis but exclude provisions for future losses.

38.  Going Concern
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group & Trust have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

36.  Losses and Special Payments

There were no personal injury cases where the net payment exceeded £300,000.

There were no compensation under legal obligations cases where the net payment exceeded £300,000.

There were no fraud cases where the net payment exceeded £300,000.

There were no clinical negligence cases where the net payment exceeded £300,000.

Group & Trust

There has been no fruitless payments where the net payment exceeded £300,000.

37.  Gifts

The Trust has made no gifts in 2016/17 (0 (zero) in 2015/16)
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39 Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers 

39.1 Remuneration
The Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers are set by the 'Remuneration and Terms of Services Committee' which is a sub-committee of the Trust Board. The members of this committee in 2016/17 were:
Ian Black (Chair of the Committee to December 2016, Chair of the Trust ), Jonathan Jones (Non-Executive Director of the Trust to December 2016), Rachel Court (Chair of the Committee from January 2017) (Non-Executive Director)
Charlotte Dyson (from January 2017)(Non-Executive Director), Rob Webster(from May 2016) (Chief Executive) (non-voting member) with Alan Davis (Director of Human Resources, Organisational Development & Estates) in 
attendance and Bernie Cherriman-Sykes (to September 2016) and Emma Jones (from October 2016) as the committee secretary. 
The Trust follows national guidance on pay and terms and conditions for Senior Managers and the contracts are substantive contracts with NHS termination arrangements.

Salary Taxable Benefits Annual 
Performance 

related bonuses

Other 
Remuneration

Expenses Pension - 
Related 
Benefits

Total

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

Rounded to 1 
decimal place 

£000

(bands of £5000)
£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

Rounded to 1 
decimal place 

£000

(bands of 
£2500)
£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

Ian Black, Chair 40 - 45 13.7 2.1 55 - 60 1
Laurence Campbell, Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 0.6 15 - 20 2
Rachel Court, Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 1.0 10 - 15 3
Charlotte Dyson, Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 1.7 15 - 20 4
Julie Fox, Deputy Chair, Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 0.6 15 - 20 5
Christopher Jones, Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 0.8 10 - 15 6
Jonathan Jones, Non-Executive Director (left 31/12/16) 5 - 10 5 - 10 7
Adrian Berry, Medical Director / Deputy Chief Executive (from 01/10/16) 35 - 40 0.9 115 - 120 1.5 77.5 - 80.0 235 - 240 1
Timothy Breedon, Director of Nursing, Clinical Governance and Safety 110 - 115 0.7 0.3 27.5 - 30.0 140 - 145 2
Mark Brooks, Director of Finance and Resources (from 01/06/16) 100 - 105 0.4 0.2 25.0 - 27.5 130 - 135 3
Jon Cooke, Interim Director of Finance (to 31/05/16) 20 - 25 20 - 25 4
Alan George Davis, Director of Human Resources, Organisational Development and Estates 110 - 115 1.9 27.5 - 30.0 145 - 150 5
James Drury, Acting Director of Strategy (01/04/16-31/01/17) 75 - 80 1.5 0.4 47.5 - 50.0 130 - 135 6
Alexandra Farrell, Deputy Chief Executive, Interim Chief Executive (01/04/16-15/05/16) (Retired 31/05/16) 25 - 30 27.5 - 30.0 55 - 60 7
Carol Harris, Director of Forensic and Specialist Services 95 - 100 0.5 97.5 - 100.0 195 - 200 8
Kate Henry, Director of Marketing, Engagement and Commercial Development 95 - 100 0.2 17.5 - 20.0 110 - 115 9
Sean Rayner, District Service Director, Barnsley and Wakefield 100 - 105 5.3 0.8 0 105 - 110 10
Diane Smith, Director of Service Innovation and Health Intelligence (left 31/12/16) 70 - 75 85 - 90 0.6 20.0 - 22.5 175 - 180 11
Dawn Stephenson, Director of Corporate Development 80 - 85 31.4 0.3 0 110 - 115 12
Karen Taylor, District Service Director, Calderdale and Kirklees 95 - 100 1.3 25.0 - 27.5 125 - 130 13
Salma Yasmeen, Director of Strategy (from 12/01/17) 15 - 20 0 - 2.5 15 - 20 14
Rob Webster, Chief Executive (from 16/05/16) 150 - 155 0.6 1.5 72.5 - 75.0 220 - 225 15

Salary Taxable Benefits Annual 
Performance 

related bonuses

Other 
Remuneration

Expenses Pension - 
Related 
Benefits

Total

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

Rounded to 1 
decimal place 

£000

(bands of £5000)
£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

Rounded to 1 
decimal place 

£000

(bands of 
£2500)
£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

Peter Aspinall, Non-Executive Director (left 30/04/15) 0 - 5 0.4 0 - 5 1
Ian Black, Chair 40 - 45 13.0 1.5 55 - 60 2
Laurence Campbell, Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 0.6 15 - 20 3
Rachel Court, Non-Executive Director (from 01/10/15) 5 - 10 0.6 5 - 10 4
Charlotte Dyson, Non-Executive Director (from 01/05/15) 10 - 15 1.2 10 - 15 5
Julie Fox, Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 1.3 15 - 20 6
Christopher Jones, Non-Executive Director (from 01/08/15) 5 - 10 0.4 5 - 10 7
Jonathan Jones, Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 10 - 15 8
Helen Wollaston , Non-Executive Director (left 31/07/15) 5 - 10 1.5 5 - 10 9
Adrian Berry, Medical Director 35 - 40 2.9 115 - 120 1.1 195.0 - 197.5 350 - 355 1
Timothy Breedon, Director of Nursing, Clinical Governance and Safety 105 - 110 1.0 5 - 10 0.2 2.5 - 5.0 120 - 125 2
Nette Carder, Interim District Director, CAMHS and forensic services (left 25/03/16) 170 - 175 170 - 175 3
Jon Cooke, Interim Director of Finance (from 04/01/16) 35 - 40 35 - 40 4
Alan George Davis, Director of Human Resources and Workforce Development 105 - 110 1.5 5 - 10 0 115 - 120 5
Alexandra Farrell, Deputy Chief Executive ( and Director of Finance to 31/12/15) 120 - 125 5 - 10 0.3 0 130 - 135 6
Carol Harris, Director of Forensic and Specialist Services (from 21/03/16) 0 - 5 2.5 - 5.0 5 - 10 7
Kate Henry, Interim Director of Marketing, Engagement and Commercial Development (from 05/05/15) 85 - 90 85 - 90 8
Steven Peter Michael, Chief Executive  (left 31/03/16) 170 - 175 2.2 10 - 15 0.7 0 185 - 190 9
Sean Rayner, District Service Director, Barnsley and Wakefield 100 - 105 5 - 10 0 105 - 110 10
Diane Smith, Director of Service Innovation and Health Intelligence 90 - 95 5 - 10 0.7 12.5 - 15.0 110 - 115 11
Dawn Stephenson, Director of Corporate Development 80 - 85 23.3 5 - 10 0.7 0 110 - 115 12
Karen Taylor, District Service Director, Calderdale and Kirklees 95 - 100 5 - 10 1.3 0 105 - 110 13

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£000's)
Median Total Remuneration* £'s
Remuneration Ratio

Other remuneration for 2016/17 relates to payment for substantive posts and redundancy payment (2015/16 relates to payment for substantive clinical posts held within the Trust).

Expenses for 2016/17 are predominately the reimbursement of travel expenses.
The benefits in kind relate to child care vouchers, relocation expenses, cycle to work scheme, staff lease cars, NHS Phone Scheme or expenses paid in accordance with the Trust's Removal Expenses Policy (which includes 
provision of accommodation).

Signed…………………………………………….
Rob Webster  Chief Executive                                                                         Date 25 May 2017

Name and Title

 31/03/2017

31/03/2017 31/03/2016

Name and Title

 31/03/2016

* The median remuneration is the total remuneration of Trust staff member(s) lying in the middle of the linear distribution of the total staff, excluding the highest paid director. This is based on annualised, full-time equivalent 
remuneration as at the reporting period date.

170 - 175 185 - 190
28,374 27,840

6.1 6.7

The Remuneration Ratio is a comparison of the highest paid employee and the median remuneration of all staff.  The Median Total Remuneration and the Remuneration Ratio do not include the value of Pension Related Benefits in their 
calculation.

The Trust operates a Performance Related Pay scheme (PRP) for Directors.  No payments have been made under the scheme relating to 2015/16 or are expected to made relating to 2016/17.                                                                                      
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39.2 Pension Benefits

Normal 
retirement 

age

Real increase/ 
(decrease) in 
pension and 
related lump 

sum at 
retirement age

Total accrued 
pension and 
related lump 

sum at 
retirement 
age at 31 

March 2017

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2017

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2016

Real Increase 
(Decrease) in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value

Employers 
Contribution to 

Stakeholder 
Pension

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

(bands of 
£5000)
£000

£000 £000 £000
Rounded to 1 
decimal place 

£000
Adrian Berry, Medical Director / Deputy Chief Executive (from 01/10/16) 55 15 - 20  290 - 295 1,393 1,273 120 0
Timothy Breedon, Director of Nursing, Clinical Governance and Safety 65 0 - 5 90 - 95 589 540 49 0
Mark Brooks, Director of Finance and Resources (from 01/06/16) 65 0 - 5 15 - 20 212 181 26 0
Alan George Davis, Director of Human Resources, Organisational Development and Estates 60 5 - 10 205 - 210 1,107 1,029 78 0
James Drury, Acting Director of Strategy (01/04/16-31/01/17) 60 5 - 10  35 - 40 146 112 28 0
Alexandra Farrell, Deputy Chief Executive, Interim Chief Executive (01/04/16-15/05/16) (Retired 
31/05/16) 60 5 - 10 150 - 155 777 727 50 0
Carol Harris, Director of Forensic and Specialist Services 60 15 - 20 140 - 145 641 536 104 0
Kate Henry, Director of Marketing, Engagement and Commercial Development 60 0 - 5 10 - 15 95 84 11 0
Sean Rayner, District Service Director, Barnsley and Wakefield 60 0 - 5 150 - 155 739 709 30 0
Diane Smith, Director of Service Innovation and Health Intelligence (left 31/12/16) 60 5 - 10 145 - 150 0 0 0 0
Dawn Stephenson, Director of Corporate Development 60 (0 - 5) 140 - 145 734 721 14 0
Karen Taylor, District Service Director, Calderdale and Kirklees 55 5 - 10 175 - 180 876 818 58 0
Rob Webster, Chief Executive (from 16/05/16)* 60 11 - 15 75 - 80 365 292 64 0
Salma Yasmeen, Director of Strategy (from 12/01/17) 60 0 - 5 40 - 45 195 189 1 0

* The pension value for Rob Webster is the latest data provided by the NHS Business Services Authority, this is subject to an ongoing query.

As Non-Executive members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive members.

Signed…………………………………………….
Rob Webster  Chief Executive                                                                         Date 25 May 2017

Name and title

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued
benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when
the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies. The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 the other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years
of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real Increase in CETV - This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the 
value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.



 



 


	We aim to ensure that everyone who needs to, can access Trust services and that we have a workforce which represents the communities we serve, that is free from discrimination and harassment in line with our values.
	Delivery against this agenda is regularly monitored by the Trust’s Equality and Inclusion Forum. The Forum was established to support a values based approach to equality and inclusion, rather than a traditional compliance based approach. It is chaired...
	Scope of responsibility
	The purpose of the system of internal control
	Capacity to handle risk
	The risk and control framework
	Our Licence
	Value Based Culture
	Equality and Diversity
	Annual Quality Report
	Information Governance
	Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
	Review of effectiveness
	Conclusion
	02 Quality Account 2016-17 FINAL 2.pdf
	 Agency spend
	 Care Quality Commission (CQC) improvement actions
	 Out of area beds

	04 Audited Accounts 2016-17.pdf
	Intro
	page 1a
	page 1b
	Opinion
	Opinion 2
	Opinion 3
	Opinion 4
	Opinion 5
	Opinion 6
	page 2
	page 3
	page 4
	page 5
	page 6
	page 7
	page 8
	page 9
	page 10
	page 11
	page 12
	page 13
	page 14
	page 15
	page 16
	page 17
	page 18
	page 19
	page 20
	page 21
	page 22
	page 23
	page 24
	page 25
	page 26
	page 27
	page 28
	page 29
	page 30
	page 31
	page 32
	page 33
	page 34
	page 35
	page 36
	page 37
	page 38
	page 39
	page 40
	page 41


